FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT



WZ Franchise, LLC a Georgia limited liability company 6056 S. Durango Drive Las Vegas, Nevada, 89113 Phone: (702) 736-3878 wingzonefranchise@capriottis.com www.wingzone.com

You will operate a retail restaurant which serves chicken wings, boneless wings, chicken tenders and sandwiches, related food products, beverage products, and merchandise in a casual sit-down and/or takeout format under the name "WING ZONE®."

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a WING ZONE restaurant ranges from \$420,800 to \$751,000 for a traditional location and \$109,000 to \$194,000 for a Virtual Kitchen location. This includes \$80,000 for a traditional location and \$62,000 for a Virtual Kitchen location that must be paid to the franchisor or affiliate. If you want development rights, you must pay us a development fee equal to \$30,000 (the initial franchise fee for the first Restaurant), plus the \$6,000 Development Services Fee for the first Restaurant, plus a deposit of \$10,000 of the initial franchise fee (which is \$30,000) for each additional Restaurant you commit to develop. The total investment necessary to begin operation if you acquire development rights (with a minimum required commitment of 3 WING ZONE restaurants) is \$440,800 to \$771,000 for traditional locations and \$129,000 to \$214,000 for Virtual Kitchen locations. This includes \$100,000 and \$82,000, respectively, that must be paid to the franchisor or affiliate.

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and other information in plain English. Read this disclosure document and all accompanying agreements carefully. You must receive this disclosure document at least 14 calendar days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make any payment to, us or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. **Note, however, that no governmental agency has verified the information contained in this document.**

The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship. Don't rely on the disclosure document alone to understand your contract. Read all of your contract carefully. Show your contract and this disclosure document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant.

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help you make up your mind. More information on franchising, such as "A Consumer's Guide to Buying a Franchise," which can help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is available from the Federal Trade Commission. You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or by writing to the FTC at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20580. You can also visit the FTC's home page at www.ftc.gov for additional information. Call your state agency or visit your public library for other sources of information on franchising.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.

Issuance date of this Franchise Disclosure Document: August 3, 2023

How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to find more information:

QUESTION	WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION
How much can I earn?	Item 19 may give you information about outlet sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also try to obtain this information from others, like current and former franchisees. You can find their names and contact information in Item 20 or Exhibit F.
How much will I need to invest?	Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the franchisor or at the franchisor's direction. Item 7 lists the initial investment to open. Item 8 describes the suppliers you must use.
Does the franchisor have the financial ability to provide support to my business?	Item 21 or Exhibit G includes financial statements. Review these statements carefully.
Is the franchise system stable, growing, or shrinking?	Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the number of company-owned and franchised outlets.
Will my business be the only WING ZONE business in my area?	Item 12 and the "territory" provisions in the franchise agreement describe whether the franchisor and other franchisees can compete with you.
Does the franchisor have a troubled legal history?	Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or its management have been involved in material litigation or bankruptcy proceedings.
What's it like to be a WING ZONE franchisee?	Item 20 or Exhibit F lists current and former franchisees. You can contact them to ask about their experiences.
What else should I know?	These questions are only a few things you should look for. Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in this disclosure document to better understand this franchise opportunity. See the table of contents.

What You Need To Know About Franchising Generally

<u>Continuing responsibility to pay fees</u>. You may have to pay royalties and other fees even if you are losing money.

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor to change its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes may require you to make additional investments in your franchise business or may harm your franchise business.

<u>Supplier restrictions</u>. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or a limited group of suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive than similar items you could buy on your own.

<u>Operating restrictions</u>. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions. Some examples may include controlling your location, your access to customers, what you sell, how you market, and your hours of operation.

<u>Competition from franchisor</u>. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you may have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to continue to operate your franchise business.

When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your landlord or other creditors.

Some States Require Registration

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to register before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in this document. To find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact your state, use the agency information in Exhibit A.

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments be made to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda. See the Table of Contents for the location of the State Specific Addenda.

Special Risks to Consider About *This* Franchise

Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted:

- 1. Out-of-State Dispute Resolution. The Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement require you to resolve disputes with the franchisor by arbitration and/or litigation only in its then-current home state (currently Nevada). Out-of-state arbitration or litigation may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for disputes. It may also cost more to arbitrate or litigate with the franchisor in its then-current home state (currently Nevada) than in your own state.
- 2. **Spousal Liability.** The franchisor may require your spouse to sign a personal guarantee making your spouse individually liable for your financial obligations under the franchise agreement. The guarantee will place your spouse's marital and personal assets at risk if your franchise fails.

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. Check the "State Specific Addenda" (if any) to see whether your state requires other risks to be highlighted.

THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS APPLY ONLY TO TRANSACTIONS GOVERNED BY THE MICHIGAN FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW

The state of Michigan prohibits certain unfair provisions that are sometimes in franchise documents. If any of the following provisions are in these franchise documents, the provisions are void and cannot be enforced against you:

- (A) A prohibition on the right of a franchisee to join an association of franchisees.
- (B) A requirement that a franchisee assent to a release, assignment, novation, waiver, or estoppel which deprives a franchisee of rights and protections provided in this act. This shall not preclude a franchisee, after entering into a franchise agreement, from settling any and all claims.
- (C) A provision that permits a franchisor to terminate a franchise prior to the expiration of its term except for good cause. Good cause shall include the failure of the franchisee to comply with any lawful provision of the franchise agreement and to cure such failure after being given written notice thereof and a reasonable opportunity, which in no event need be more than 30 days, to cure such failure.
- (D) A provision that permits a franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise without fairly compensating the franchisee by repurchase or other means for the fair market value at the time of expiration of the franchisee's inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings. Personalized materials which have no value to the franchisor and inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings not reasonably required in the conduct of the franchise business are not subject to compensation. This subsection applies only if: (i) the term of the franchise is less than 5 years; and (ii) the franchisee is prohibited by the franchise or other agreement from continuing to conduct substantially the same business under another trademark, service mark, trade name, logotype, advertising, or other commercial symbol in the same area subsequent to the expiration of the franchise or the franchisee does not receive at least 6 months advance notice of franchisor's intent not to renew the franchise.
- (E) A provision that permits the franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise on terms generally available to other franchisees of the same class or type under similar circumstances. This section does not require a renewal provision.
- (F) A provision requiring that arbitration or litigation be conducted outside this state. This shall not preclude the franchisee from entering into an agreement, at the time of arbitration, to conduct arbitration at a location outside this state.
- (G) A provision which permits a franchisor to refuse to permit a transfer of ownership of a franchise, except for good cause. This subdivision does not prevent a franchisor from exercising a right of first refusal to purchase the franchise. Good cause shall include, but is not limited to:
- (i) The failure of the proposed transferee to meet the franchisor's then-current reasonable qualifications or standards.
- (ii) The fact that the proposed transferee is a competitor of the franchisor or subfranchisor.
- (iii) The unwillingness of the proposed transferee to agree in writing to comply with all lawful obligations.
- (iv) The failure of the franchisee or proposed transferee to pay any sums owing to the franchisor or to cure any default in the franchise agreement existing at the time of the proposed transfer.

- (H) A provision that requires the franchisee to resell to the franchisor items that are not uniquely identified with the franchisor. This subdivision does not prohibit a provision that grants to a franchisor a right of first refusal to purchase the assets of a franchise on the same terms and conditions as a bona fide third party willing and able to purchase those assets, nor does this subdivision prohibit a provision that grants the franchisor the right to acquire the assets of a franchise for the market or appraised value of such assets if the franchisee has breached the lawful provisions of the franchise agreement and has failed to cure the breach in the manner provided in subdivision (c).
- (I) A provision which permits the franchisor to directly or indirectly convey, assign, or otherwise transfer its obligations to fulfill contractual obligations to the franchisee unless provision has been made for providing the required contractual services.

If the franchisor's most recent financial statements are unaudited and show a net worth of less than \$100,000, the franchisor shall, at the request of a franchisee, arrange for the escrow of initial investment and other funds paid by the franchisee until the obligations to provide real estate, improvements, equipment, inventory, training, or other items included in the franchise offering are fulfilled. At the option of the franchisor, a surety bond may be provided in place of escrow.

The fact that there is a notice of this offering on file with the attorney general does not constitute approval, recommendation, or endorsement by the attorney general.

Any questions regarding this notice should be directed to:

State of Michigan Consumer Protection Division
Attn: Franchise
670 G. Mennen Williams Building
525 West Ottawa
Lansing, Michigan 48909
(517) 335-7567

Despite subparagraph (f) above, we intend to enforce fully the arbitration sections contained in our Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement. We believe that subparagraph (f) is unconstitutional and cannot preclude us from enforcing our arbitration sections. If you acquire a franchise, you acknowledge that we will seek to enforce the arbitration sections as written, and that the terms of the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement will govern our relationship with you, including the specific requirements of the arbitration sections.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ITEM 1	THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS, AND	
1121/11	AFFILIATES	1
ITEM 2	BUSINESS EXPERIENCE	
ITEM 3	LITIGATION	
ITEM 4	BANKRUPTCY	
ITEM 5	INITIAL FEES	
ITEM 6	OTHER FEES	
ITEM 7	ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT	
ITEM 8	RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES	
ITEM 9	FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS	
ITEM 10	FINANCING	
ITEM 10	FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS, AND	20
111211111	TRAINING	26
ITEM 12	TERRITORY	
ITEM 12	TRADEMARKS	
ITEM 13	PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION	
ITEM 15	OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE	71
TTENT 13	FRANCHISED BUSINESS	12
ITEM 16	RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL	
ITEM 17	RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION	
ITEM 17	PUBLIC FIGURES	
ITEM 19	FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS	
ITEM 19	OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION	
ITEM 20 ITEM 21	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
ITEM 21 ITEM 22	CONTRACTS	
ITEM 22 ITEM 23	RECEIPTS	
11 EWI 23	RECEIPTS	63
<u>Exhibits</u>		
A.	State Franchise Regulators and Agents for Service of Process	
B.	Franchise Agreement	
C.	Development Rights Agreement	
D.	State-Specific Information	
E.	Table of Contents of the Manual	
F.	Information Regarding Current and Past Franchisees	
G.	Financial Statements	
H.	Mutual Release	
I.	ACH Transfer Agreement	
J.	Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire	
K.	Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement	
L.	Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations	

ITEM 1 THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS, AND AFFILIATES

For ease of reference in this disclosure document, WZ Franchise, LLC will be referred to as "we" or "us," and the person who is considering the franchise will be referred to as "you." If the franchisee will operate through a corporation, partnership, or limited liability company, "you" also includes the franchisee's owners or partners relating to certain provisions of the franchise agreement and related documents that will apply to your shareholders, partners, members, managers, officers, and directors. Those provisions will be noted.

We are a Georgia limited liability company. We were originally established as a Georgia corporation (under the name WZ Franchise Corporation) in September 1998 but converted to a Georgia limited liability company, and changed our name accordingly, on December 18, 2020. We operate under the names WZ Franchise, LLC and WING ZONE. Our principal business address is 6056 S. Durango Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113. We offer franchises for WING ZONE Restaurants and have done so since September 1998. We also offered franchises for the right to operate full-service Wing Zone restaurants—under the name "Wing Zone Grill & Tap"—offering chef-inspired food and alcoholic beverages from 2010 to 2013. As of the date of this disclosure document, 2 of these full-service franchise locations remain operational in Georgia and Louisiana.

We do not conduct business under any other name, do not offer franchises in any other line of business, and have no other business activities. We do not conduct, and have never conducted, a business of the type described in this disclosure document. We have no predecessors to disclose in this Item. As a result of an acquisition that closed on December 22, 2020, our new direct parent company is Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, which in turn is majority-owned and controlled by our new indirect and ultimate parent company, Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. Our parent companies' principal business addresses are the same as ours.

We have 3 affiliates disclosable in this Item 1:

- (1) Our affiliate, Wing Enterprises, LLC ("WEI"), was originally established as a Florida corporation (under the name Wing Enterprises Inc.) in March 1997 but converted to a Florida limited liability company, and changed its name accordingly, on December 18, 2020. Its principal place of business is the same as ours. WEI owns and controls the intellectual property utilized by all WING ZONE franchises and licenses it to us. WEI does not conduct the type of business the franchisee will operate and has not offered franchises for WING ZONE Restaurants or in any other line of business.
- Our affiliate, WZ International, LLC ("WZI"), was originally established as a Georgia corporation (under the name WZ International Corp.) in May 2009 but converted to a Georgia limited liability company, and changed its name accordingly, on December 18, 2020. Its principal place of business is the same as ours. WZI offers franchises internationally for restaurants similar to the type being franchised under this disclosure document and has been doing so since 2009. As of December 31, 2022, WZI had one area developer operating in Malaysia; 2 master franchisees operating in Panama and Philippines; and 7 subfranchisees operating in Panama. As of December 31, 2022, there were 25 total WING ZONE Restaurants operating in these countries. WZI and its master franchisees offer WING ZONE franchises. Except as noted above, WZI has not offered or sold franchises in any line of business. It has never operated a WING ZONE Restaurant.
- (3) Our affiliate, Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc., which also is our new indirect and ultimate parent company whose principal business address is the same as ours, currently operates and franchises "CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP®" restaurants. The CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP® system is

a casual-restaurant chain that serves various submarine, deli sandwiches and related items in a sit-down, delivery, and/or take-out format. Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. has offered CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP® franchises since January 2008. As of December 31, 2022, there were 135 franchised CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP® restaurants in operation, with another 29 franchise agreements signed for restaurants that had not yet opened as of December 31, 2022. Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. has never operated or offered franchises for WING ZONE Restaurants or offered franchises in any other line of business.

Our agents for service of process are identified by state in Exhibit A. If a state is not listed, we have not appointed an agent for service of process in that state in connection with the requirements of franchise laws. There may be states in addition to those listed above in which we have appointed an agent for service of process. There may also be additional agents appointed in some of the states listed.

WING ZONE franchisees operate restaurants serving chicken wings, boneless wings, chicken tenders, chicken sandwiches, related food products, beverage products, and merchandise. The restaurants focus on dine-in, carry-out, and delivery services. Our operating system includes a recognized design, decor, color scheme, recipes, uniform standards, specifications, rules and operational procedures, techniques, philosophies, quality and uniformity of products and services offered, and inventory and management control procedures (the "System"). We grant franchises to operate WING ZONE restaurants ("Restaurants") using the System and the trade names, trademarks, service marks, emblems, slogans, and copyrights we authorize. You must offer a standard menu of our products, which are offered for sale to the general public.

Your Restaurant may operate at a type of non-traditional location that we call a "Virtual Kitchen." A Virtual Kitchen is characterized by, among other things, the preparation of diverse products under one or more brands in a common venue (which may be stationary or mobile) and the sale and delivery of such products principally or exclusively off-premises through third-party delivery systems. If your Restaurant will operate at a Virtual Kitchen, we and you will sign a Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations, attached as Exhibit L to this disclosure document, to reflect certain changes to our standard franchise agreement ("Franchise Agreement") for that venue. Our Franchise Agreement is attached as Exhibit B to this disclosure document.

This disclosure document describes many of the things you may want to know about owning and operating a Restaurant. You will use the System to operate a Restaurant. We will provide you with initial basic training and continuing advice and assistance in the operation of your franchise, merchandising and advertising, all as described in this disclosure document.

You must operate the Restaurant according to our Franchise Agreement and the standards and specifications in our confidential operations manual ("Manual").

We will grant you a license to use the service marks "WING ZONE" and other trade names, trade dresses, service marks, trademarks, copyrights, symbols, logos, characters, designs, illustrations, art works, titles, and slogans we periodically specify ("Marks").

If you are renewing your franchise because its current term is about to expire, you will sign our Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement (Exhibit K), which, among other things, modifies certain provisions in our standard Franchise Agreement that do not apply to you because your Restaurant already is open.

The primary market for the products and services offered by WING ZONE Restaurants is the general public. The products and services offered by WING ZONE Restaurants are not seasonal. The restaurant market, as a whole, is well-developed and highly competitive and includes retail units, mobile

food trucks, and kiosks selling various types of food. You will have to compete with numerous other independent and chain-affiliated restaurants, many of which are franchised. Many restaurant franchise systems, in particular, have already established national and international brand recognition.

You must comply with all local, state, and federal laws and regulations applicable to the operation of your business, including health regulations. You must obtain a food handler or similar permit and business license in your state and follow any Occupational Safety & Health Administration guidelines, Americans With Disabilities Act guidelines, and any other laws and regulations which apply to restaurants specifically and businesses generally. The preparation and handling of food are federally regulated by the Pure Food and Drugs Act of 1906, the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, and by rules and policies of the Food and Drug Administration. State requirements relating to food safety typically pertain to sanitation and food handling. Local inspectors may also enforce sanitation and food-handling rules created on the state and/or local level. The location, construction, and operation of a Restaurant may also be affected by a variety of state and local zoning, land use, planning, handicap access, minimum wage, and labor laws and regulations. We urge you to make inquiries, including seeking advice from an attorney, about these laws and regulations. You alone are responsible for investigating, understanding, and complying with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, and requirements applicable to you and your WING ZONE Restaurant, despite any advice or information that we may give you.

We also may grant multi-unit development rights to qualified franchisees, which then may develop a specific number of WING ZONE Restaurants (a minimum of 3) within a designated territory according to a pre-determined, mandatory development schedule. Those franchisees may open and operate their WING ZONE Restaurants directly or through "Approved Affiliates," which are entities whose majority ownership is owned and controlled by you or your owners. Our Development Rights Agreement (Exhibit C), which we sometimes reference as "DRA," governs a franchisee's multi-unit development rights and obligations. If you sign a Development Rights Agreement, you (or your Approved Affiliate) also will sign a Franchise Agreement for your first WING ZONE Restaurant at the same time.

The then-current form of Franchise Agreement that you and your Approved Affiliates sign for future WING ZONE Restaurant franchises to be developed under the DRA may differ substantially and materially year to year from the first Franchise Agreement you sign for your first WING ZONE Restaurant to be developed (as noted above, our current version of Franchise Agreement is disclosed in this Disclosure Document as Exhibit B).

ITEM 2 BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Manager and Chief Executive Officer: Ashley I. Morris

Ashley I. Morris has been one of our Managers and our Chief Executive Officer since December 2020. Mr. Morris also has served as Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of Directors of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since January 2008 and was its President from January 2008 to December 2011.

Manager and President: Jason M. Smylie

Jason M. Smylie has been one of our Managers and our President since December 2020. Mr. Smylie also has been President of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since January 2016 and a member of its Board of Directors and its Chief Information Officer since July 2009.

Chief Operations Officer and Chief Development Officer: David Bloom

David Bloom has been our Chief Operations Officer and Chief Development Officer since December 2020. He also has been Chief Operations Officer of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since June 2020 and its Chief Development Officer since January 2017.

Chief Financial Officer: Brent Erwin

Brent Erwin has served as our Chief Financial Officer since July 2022, having served as our Senior Vice President of Finance from December 2020 to July 2022. He also has been Chief Financial Officer of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since July 2022 and was its Senior Vice President of Finance from November 2018 to July 2022. From October 2016 through August 2018, Mr. Erwin was the Senior Director, Operations Finance for Levy Restaurants in Chicago, Illinois. (He was in between positions from August 2018 to November 2018.)

Chief Restaurant Officer: Michael Meche

Michael Meche has served as our Chief Restaurant Officer since March 2023 and has held the same position with Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since that date. He was Vice President of Franchise Operations for Papa John's International, Inc. in Dallas, Texas from July 2022 to March 2023 and its Vice President of Corporate Operations from April 2016 to September 2022.

Chief Technology Officer: Scott Wessel:

Scott Wessel has served as our Chief Technology Officer since January 2023 and has held the same position with Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since that date. He was an IT Consultant for MGM Resorts International in Las Vegas, Nevada from April 2022 to January 2023, Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer for MGM Resorts International from March 2021 to April 2022, and Senior Vice President, Technology & Digital Solutions for MGM Resorts International from June 2019 to March 2021. Mr. Wessel was Senior Vice President, Digital & Technology Solutions for MGM Macau in Macau S.A.R. China from April 2014 to June 2019.

Senior Vice President of Marketing: Jane McPherson

Jane McPherson has been our Senior Vice President of Marketing since December 2020. She also has served as Senior Vice President of Marketing of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since August 2017.

Senior Vice President of Supply Chain: Ami Lindsay

Ami Lindsay has been our Senior Vice President of Supply Chain since December 2020. She also has served as Senior Vice President of Supply Chain of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since January 2019 and was its Vice President of Supply Chain from December 2015 to January 2019.

Vice President of Real Estate: Dennis Watts

Dennis Watts has been our Vice President of Real Estate since December 2020. He also has served as Vice President of Real Estate of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since March 2018.

Vice President of Development: Raymond "Bruce" Evans

Bruce Evans has been our Vice President of Development since December 2020. He also has served as Vice President of Development of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since December 2013.

Training Program Director: Ron Martinez

Ron Martinez has been our Training Program Director since December 2020. He also has served as Training Program Director of Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. in Las Vegas, Nevada since February 2018, was its Senior Training Manager from January 2015 to February 2018, and was its Training Manager from March 2012 to January 2015.

ITEM 3 LITIGATION

No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item.

ITEM 4 BANKRUPTCY

No bankruptcy information is required to be disclosed in this Item.

ITEM 5 INITIAL FEES

Franchise Agreement

The initial franchise fee due under each Franchise Agreement (where no development rights are granted) is a lump sum payment of \$40,000, payable in full when you sign the Franchise Agreement. The initial franchise fee is fully earned when paid and non-refundable in consideration of our administrative and other expenses incurred in granting the franchise and for our lost or deferred opportunity to franchise others.

You also must pay a Development Services Fee for each Restaurant you develop for our costs incurred in site selection assistance, layout and design assistance, plan review, and lease review assistance. This fee is \$10,000 and is due in a lump sum when you sign the Franchise Agreement. This fee is fully earned and non-refundable.

Unless your Restaurant operates at a Virtual Kitchen location or at or within a "Non-Traditional Venue" (defined below), you must spend at least \$30,000 on a Shop Launch Marketing Plan. You must pay us this amount in 2 equal installments. The first \$15,000 is due no later than 4 weeks before the Restaurant opens. The second \$15,000 installment is due no later than 10 weeks after the Restaurant opens. We will create the Shop Launch Marketing Plan in collaboration with you and implement the Plan on your behalf. This payment is non-refundable.

If your Restaurant operates at a Virtual Kitchen location or at or within a Non-Traditional Venue, you must spend at least \$12,000 on a Shop Launch Marketing Plan. This amount is due no later than 4 weeks before the Restaurant opens. We will create the Shop Launch Marketing Plan in collaboration with you and implement the Plan on your behalf. This payment is non-refundable. A "Non-Traditional Venue" means a captive-venue location, including airports, hospitals or medical centers, limited-access highway food facilities, bus or train locations, entertainment and sports complexes, convention centers, military facilities, schools, colleges, and universities, office facilities, department and retail super-stores, off-site

sales accounts, convenience stores, supermarkets, shopping malls, and home-improvement retailers, as well as any type of location known colloquially as a "virtual kitchen," a "ghost kitchen," a "ghost operation," or a similar type of location that operates on a delivery and/or pick-up-only basis.

If you sign the Franchise Agreement in connection with your purchase of the Restaurant from an existing franchisee (or, if applicable, from us or our affiliates), you must pay us \$7,500 to purchase marketing and advertising for the Restaurant's "Transfer Marketing Plan," which covers marketing activities during the first 2 to 3 months after the transfer is completed.

Development Rights Agreement

If you sign our DRA because you commit to develop at least 3 WING ZONE Restaurants within a designated territory, the initial franchise fee due for each restaurant slated for development, including the first restaurant, is \$30,000. When you sign the DRA, you (or your Approved Affiliate) also must sign a Franchise Agreement for the first restaurant to be developed and pay us a development fee. The development fee is the sum of the following amounts: (1) the \$30,000 initial franchise fee for the first restaurant to be developed under the DRA (for which you or your Approved Affiliate concurrently signs the Franchise Agreement); (2) the \$10,000 Development Services Fee due for the first restaurant to be developed under the DRA; and (3) a deposit equal to \$10,000 for each additional restaurant (after the first restaurant) which the DRA grants you the right to develop. We will identify the number of Restaurants you must develop, the deadlines for finding their sites and signing their leases, the deadlines for developing and opening them, and the applicable development fee before you sign the DRA.

The development fee is not refundable under any circumstances, even if you do not comply or attempt to comply with the Development Schedule and we then terminate the DRA. While the Development Fee is not refundable, each time you sign a Franchise Agreement for the next restaurant to be developed within the Territory under the DRA, we will apply the deposit related to that restaurant (which is part of the Development Fee) toward the initial franchise fee due for that restaurant (leaving \$20,000 of the initial franchise fee due at time of signing).

Except as provided above, the initial franchise fee and development fee are uniform for all franchisees and developers under this offering. We participate in the VetFran program, offering a 15% discount on the initial franchise fee to military veterans providing a copy of their DD214.

We will pay a referral incentive to each existing franchisee that refers to us (by telephone or email introduction to the Franchise Sales Department) a new prospective franchisee (not already in the system) that ultimately signs a Franchise Agreement or Development Rights Agreement with us. We will pay a \$7,500 referral fee only for the first agreement executed as a result of the referral. We will pay \$5,000 of this referral fee within 10 days after the Agreement is signed (if we have received the development fee or franchise fee from the developer or franchisee) and the remaining \$2,500 within 10 days after the developer or franchisee opens its first Restaurant. We may end or change this referral incentive at any time in our sole judgment. We do not expect or want the referring franchisee to be involved in the franchise sales process.

ITEM 6 OTHER FEES

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4
Type of Fee ⁽¹⁾	Amount	Due Date	Remarks
Royalty Fee	6% to 7% of weekly Gross Sales ^(2,3)	Due weekly on Wednesday ("Due Date") on account of Gross Sales for the 7 days ending on the preceding Monday	Upon 30 days' written notice, we may begin calculating the Royalty Fee bi-weekly as of the 15th and the last day of each calendar month, in which event the Due Date for the Royalty Fee will be the 5th day after the end of the bi-weekly period.
Marketing Fund	Up to 4% of weekly Gross Sales ⁽²⁾ We currently charge 3.5% of weekly Gross Sales	Due weekly on Wednesday ("Due Date") on account of Gross Sales for the 7 days ending on the preceding Monday	You must make contributions to the Marketing Fund.
Technology Fee	0.65% of Gross Sales	Payable when you pay your Royalty Fee ⁽²⁾	While we do not currently charge this fee, we have the right to begin collecting it on 30 days' prior written notice to you.
			Tech Fees are for technology expenditures we deem best for the franchise system (as well as company- and affiliated-owned WING ZONE Restaurants), including mobile training and operational performance software, cloud-based franchise-management solutions, IT phone support and database maintenance, digital marketing, online ordering and loyalty subscriptions, iPad mobile device management, and e-learning solutions. (4)

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4
Type of Fee ⁽¹⁾	Amount	Due Date	Remarks
Cooperative Advertising	Up to 2% of your monthly Gross Sales ⁽²⁾	As determined by the Cooperative	The Franchise Agreement allows us to require you to contribute up to 2% of your Restaurant's Gross Sales.
Shop Launch Marketing Plan	\$15,000	Upon demand	This is the second installment of the \$30,000 you must pay us to purchase marketing and advertising for the Shop Launch Marketing Plan, which covers marketing activities during the first 4 to 6 months of operation. It is due no later than 10 weeks after the Restaurant opens. (This applies when your Restaurant does not operate at or within a Non-Traditional Venue such as a Virtual Kitchen.)
Training for Additional Team Members/Managers in Las Vegas, Nevada	\$1,000 per person per 5 days ⁽⁶⁾ We have the right to increase to \$5,000 per person per 5 days	Upon commencement of training	You pay for additional training if you request it
Training for Additional Team Members/Managers at your location ⁽⁶⁾	\$2,000 per person per 5 days ⁽⁶⁾ We have the right to increase to \$7,500 per person per 5 days	Upon commencement of assistance	You pay for additional training if you request it. This is also the rate we charge you if we must spend more than 2 weeks assisting you in opening the Restaurant.
Extensive On-Site Training Program	\$10,000	Upon demand	We have the right to require your managerial personnel to participate in, and complete successfully, an additional extensive onsite training program at the Restaurant for up to 6 weeks after the Restaurant has opened for business.

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4
Type of Fee ⁽¹⁾	Amount	Due Date	Remarks
Copy of Manual	Paper Copy \$1,000 (electronic copy available at no charge)	10 days after billing	Cost of replacement copy
Approval of New Supplier	Our costs incurred in approving supplier	Upon submission of sufficient background information on the supplier	See Item 8
Transfer Fee	Greater of \$10,000 or 5% of the sales price (but not to exceed \$20,000)	At time of approved transfer	No transfer fee if 100% of interest in franchise is transferred to a corporation, partnership, or limited liability company controlled by you.
Renewal Fee	\$10,000	Upon signing new successor franchise agreement	
Relocation Fee	\$5,000	As incurred	Due if you wish to relocate the Restaurant's premises.
Audit	Costs of audit plus interest	10 days after billing, with interest beginning from the date of underpayment	Costs of audit payable only if audit shows an underpayment of any amount owed to us of 3% or more.
Bookkeeping Services	\$100 per hour	When billed	Payable if you fail to provide timely financial reports twice in a 24-month period and we require you to use our bookkeeper.
Guest Complaint Resolution	Currently \$50 per hour (not to exceed \$150 per hour)	As incurred	Due if you do not resolve guest complaints twice in 24-month period, and we require you to use our complaint resolution system.
Administrative/Late Fee	\$250	When billed	Due for each late or dishonored payment.
Interest	Lesser of 1.5% per month or highest commercial contract interest rate law allows	When billed	Due on past due amounts.
Costs and Attorneys' Fees	Will vary based on circumstances	As incurred	Due when you do not comply with Franchise Agreement or Development Rights Agreement.

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4
Type of Fee ⁽¹⁾ Indemnification	Amount Will vary based on circumstances	Due Date As incurred	Remarks You must reimburse us if we are held liable for claims arising from our operation of your franchise.
			You have the same indemnification obligations under the Development Rights Agreement.

Note 1: All fees are imposed by and are payable to us and are non-refundable unless otherwise noted. Unless otherwise negotiated with you, all fees outlined in Item 6 are uniformly imposed on franchisees. You may not withhold all or any part of the fees due to us or any buying group on the grounds of nonperformance.

Note 2: The term "Gross Sales" means the total of all revenue and other consideration you generate from operating the Restaurant whether from sales for cash or credit, and irrespective of collection, including sales of merchandise, products and services, excluding only (or, if applicable, reduced only by) the following: sales tax if paid to the appropriate government authorities; proceeds from the sale of equipment not in the ordinary course of business; promotional discounts you initiate and formally request and we pre-approve in writing, provided physical evidence of the promotion is retained; discounts granted on food purchased by employees for their own consumption; and any other exclusions or reductions we specifically identify (although without any obligation to do so) in the Manual. All transactions first will be (and must be) entered into the Information System at the full (non-discounted) retail price, plus all related fees and charges, for purposes of calculating Gross Sales. For the avoidance of doubt, Gross Sales are not reduced by the amount paid to, retained or collected by, or shared with third-party food ordering and delivery systems with which your Restaurant does business.

Note 3: Your Royalty Fee is 7% of monthly Gross Sales if you sign individual Franchise Agreements to operate 1 to 2 Restaurants. You will pay 6% of monthly Gross Sales if you sign a Development Rights Agreement to operate 3 or more Restaurants. However, if you default under the Development Rights Agreement and do not open at least 3 Restaurants, we have the right immediately to increase the Royalty Fee to 7% of Gross Sales under all of your existing Franchise Agreements.

Note 4: WING ZONE Restaurants that we or our affiliates own will pay Tech Fees on the same percentage basis as franchisees. We have the right to allocate and spend Tech Fees in our sole judgment, including for salaries, wages, and benefits, direct technology program costs, and overhead expenses for these activities. Despite payment of the Tech Fees to us, you must pay third-party vendors for the costs of and support services for your Restaurant's computer system. We have no obligation to account to you or other franchisees for our use of Tech Fees or to ensure that you or the Store benefits directly or pro rata based on your payments of Tech Fees.

Note 5: Beginning after the Shop Launch Marketing Plan ends, you must spend at least 1.5% of monthly Gross Sales (though we recommend that you spend up to 4% of monthly Gross Sales) towards local marketing efforts.

Note 6: The fee for 2 people to attend the full initial training program, and for 2 people to attend the hourly team-member training program, before the Restaurant opens is included in the initial franchise

fee. We provide your Managing Owner and a second attendee a full initial training program at a designated WING ZONE training restaurant. If your Managing Owner will not be the Restaurant's full-time general manager, we will require at least 2 other people with primary responsibility for operating your Restaurant to attend training (in addition to your Managing Owner). If we determine that the required attendees cannot complete initial training to our satisfaction, we have the right to postpone the Restaurant's opening until 2 trained candidates are available. Two additional people must attend and satisfactorily complete an hourly team-member training program. We also have the right to postpone the Restaurant's opening if we determine that a person in our training program (i) falsified any documentation, (ii) made any material misrepresentation, (iii) was not approved under our standard application procedures, (iv) failed to complete all the training hours in our training program, or (v) failed to pass our training program examinations. We have the right to expel that person from our training program or postpone the opening until a qualified, trained candidate is available. You must pay any damages we experience due to the expulsion and will be charged for then-current training costs.

You must pay salaries and benefits, travel, lodging, meals, and other associated expenses incurred by you and your trainees/attendees.

If you request our trainers to provide additional or supplemental training and we have the resources to accommodate this request, fees you will incur include a fee of \$1,000 per trainer per 5 days for training in Las Vegas. If you request that our trainers provide additional or supplemental training at your location and we have the resources to accommodate this request, fees you will incur include a fee of \$2,000 per 5 days of training, and you will be invoiced for travel-related expenses (flight, car, hotel, per diem) and other associated expenses.

ITEM 7 ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

(FOR A "TRADITIONAL" WING ZONE RESTAURANT)

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column5
Type of Expenditure	\mathbf{Amount}^1	Method of Payment	When Due	To Whom Payment is Made
Franchise Fee ²	\$40,000	Lump Sum	When you sign Agreement	Us
Development Services Fee ³	\$10,000	Lump Sum	When you sign Agreement	Us
Architectural/ Engineering Fees and Project Management ⁴	\$15,000 - \$32,500	Vendor's Terms	As Incurred	Kitchen Planner/ Architect/ Engineer

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column5
Type of Expenditure	Amount ¹	Method of Payment	When Due	To Whom Payment is Made
Professional Services ⁵	\$2,000 - \$5,000	As Incurred	As Incurred	Your attorney, accountant, and other professionals
Permits and Licensing ⁶	\$3,000 - \$17,000	As Incurred	As Incurred	Local Municipalities
Rent ⁷	See Note 7	See Note 7	See Note 7	See Note 7
Security Deposits ⁸	\$3,000 - \$15,000	Lump Sum	Per Lease/Utility Company Requirements	Landlord / Utilities
Leasehold Improvements ⁹	\$142,000 - \$290,000	Negotiable	Contract Terms	General Contractor
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment, and Smallwares ¹⁰	\$100,000 - \$175,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Approved Independent Suppliers
Interior Décor	\$4,000 - \$13,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Approved Sign- Maker
Exterior Signage	\$5,000 - \$21,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Approved Sign- maker
Menu Boards	\$800 - \$2,500	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Vendor
POS System ¹¹	\$10,000 - \$25,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Vendor
Training ¹²	\$15,000	As Incurred	As Incurred	Various
Opening Inventory	\$7,000 - \$15,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Vendor
Shop Launch Marketing Plan ¹³	\$30,000	As Incurred	Upon demand	Us
Pre-Opening Mock Operations ¹⁴	\$3,000	As Incurred	Before opening	Various
Insurance (3 Months) ¹⁵	\$1,000 - \$2,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Vendor

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column5
Type of Expenditure	Amount ¹	Method of Payment	When Due	To Whom Payment is Made
Additional Funds – 3 Months ¹⁶	\$30,000 - \$40,000	See Note 16	As Incurred	Various
TOTAL ¹⁷ (excluding real estate purchase and lease costs)	\$420,800 - \$751,000			

- There are no other direct or indirect payments regarding the purchase of the franchise.
- Except for the security deposit and perhaps some utility deposits (see note 8 below), no expenditure in this table is refundable.
- If you are renewing your franchise, you will not incur most of these costs because your Restaurant is already open. However, you must make certain upgrades, modifications, and improvements at your Restaurant to meet our current standards. Your costs will depend on your Restaurant's current condition.

¹The initial fees represent actual amounts; we have estimated all other amounts based on our experience. The low estimate is the lowest for each category.

²We describe the initial franchise fee and development fee, and when these fees are due, in Item 5. No separate initial investment is required when you sign the Development Rights Agreement, although you of course must build the first Restaurant at a cost estimated to range as described in the chart above. Therefore, the total investment necessary to begin operation of your acquired development rights is \$440,800 to \$771,000 (if you commit to develop a minimum of 3 WING ZONE Restaurants).

³This fee is payable when you sign the Franchise Agreement for our costs incurred in providing site selection, layout, and design assistance. However, if you sign a Development Rights Agreement, this fee for the first Restaurant you agree to develop is due when you sign the Development Rights Agreement. We charge the same fee whether your Restaurant will be in a traditional or non-traditional location.

⁴This fee represents the cost of plans and specifications paid to an approved kitchen designer, architect, and engineer. We may require that you use an approved construction management firm to manage the construction process for your location. The cost for the development of construction documents can vary depending on the state or municipality where your Restaurant will be built.

⁵Professional fees are for attorneys, accountants, or other professionals from whom you seek advice.

⁶Permits and licensing are fees paid to various local agencies to secure permits related to the construction of your leasehold space.

⁷A Restaurant occupies approximately 1,200 to 1,400 square feet of leased space, typically in an in-line shopping center in an urban or suburban commercial area. Your investment could be substantially WING ZONE FDD (FINAL 2023)

higher if you decide to buy property or to lease space in a regional shopping mall, enclosed shopping mall, lifestyle center, or high-rent facility. Rent depends on geographic location, space size, local rental rates, other businesses in the area, site profile, and other factors. We cannot estimate precisely your initial real estate investment. While there are exceptions depending on landlord negotiations, our franchisees typically do not pay rent before they open for business.

⁸Landlords typically charge a security deposit equal to 1 month's rent and also may have site lease deposits that vary according to location. Utility and other companies typically charge security deposits that vary by locale and your credit history. Some security deposits will be refundable depending on your agreement with the landlord or the utility and other companies.

⁹The cost of leasehold improvements can vary significantly depending on factors like (i) whether pre-construction demolition of existing walls and partitions is required, (ii) whether the space was previously used as a restaurant and already contains facilities required by code like a grease trap, ventilation system, and fire extinguisher system, (iii) whether the space is in a multi-story or a high-rise building (these spaces can significantly increase your costs), and (iv) regional differences in material costs. The high and the low amounts reflect estimated leasehold improvement costs without any tenant improvement allowances but do include a 10% contingency (of the total estimated cost) for unexpected cost over-runs or delays. Not all of our franchisees receive tenant-improvement allowances. If your landlord provides a tenant-improvement allowance, the amount will be incorporated into your rent.

Although we expect all projects to fall within the indicated range, as we continue to expand into new and higher-cost markets, our experience with these costs could change significantly. Depending on the market in which you develop or the type of Restaurant you develop, you might experience costs exceeding the range listed in the table. Unpredictable and unknown fluctuations in costs due to supply-chain disruptions, supply shortages, inflation, transportation costs, and other economic factors on the national, regional, and local levels also could affect development costs.

¹⁰The high and low amounts represent the price to buy new equipment. This range includes the purchase of audio-visual equipment.

¹¹ This represents the cost for the fully-integrated required point-of-sale (POS) system with our required suite of services. The low end is representative of franchisees that have chosen to utilize the leasing program offered by our POS system vendor.

¹²This represents the training cost for your first Restaurant. You do not pay an initial training fee, but you will pay all personal expenses for the training for you and your employees, including transportation to the training restaurant, lodging, meals, wages, and benefits for you and any of your employees during Pre-Opening Mock Operations. This amount is the estimated cost for 4 people to attend our training program.

¹³You must spend at least \$30,000 on Shop Launch Marketing activities. The Shop Launch Marketing Plan typically covers a 4 to 6-month period. We will make the spend on your behalf. You must pay us \$15,000 4 weeks before the Restaurant opens and another \$15,000 within 10 weeks after the Restaurant opens. Some franchisees have chosen to spend significantly more than \$30,000 towards their shop launch marketing and advertising activities.

¹⁴All restaurants must have at least 2 Pre-Opening Mock Operation and staff training events commonly called a friends and family night. For the friends and family night, we estimate food costs of \$1,500 and approximately 200 salary hours for 3 days of employee pre-opening training.

¹⁵You must purchase insurance we specify, as described in Item 8.

¹⁶ This is an estimate of the funds needed to cover your other pre-opening expenses as well as initial start-up expenses during the first 3 months of operation (other than the items identified separately in the table). This includes rent, utilities, wages, inventory purchases, office supplies, printed materials, phone, facsimile, pre-opening and regular salaries for managers, pre-opening and regular wages of hourly employees, debt service, real estate services, legal, internet expense, accounting expense, and other expenses. We relied on our subsidiaries' many years of experience in franchising restaurants to compile this Additional Funds estimate.

¹⁷You should review these figures carefully with a business advisor before deciding to acquire the franchise. We do not offer financing directly or indirectly for any part of the initial investment. The availability and terms of financing depend on many factors, including the availability of financing, your creditworthiness, collateral, and lending policies of financial institutions from which you request a loan. An estimated initial investment will be incurred for each WING ZONE Restaurant established under a Development Rights Agreement.

The outlined investment is for a traditional WING ZONE Restaurant. If you open a Restaurant in a non-traditional location, such as a regional shopping mall, enclosed shopping mall, lifestyle center, airport, university, or sports arena, or in a Virtual Kitchen or any other type of location that operates on a delivery and/or pick-up only basis, the cost could be significantly lower or potentially higher depending upon the location, the required equipment, design, the use of union labor, and facilities fees paid to the location owner (see the next estimated initial investment chart).

A lower-cost Restaurant is one that will require fewer leasehold improvements, less seating, and fewer equipment purchases. Moderate and higher-cost Restaurants may require extensive interior and exterior renovations, interior finishes, and additional equipment. To avoid excessive construction costs, we strongly recommend you choose contractors carefully by obtaining several competitive bids before construction begins. In compiling these figures, we have relied on our experience in franchising WING ZONE Restaurants. We cannot guarantee that you will not have additional expenses starting the business.

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

(FOR A VIRTUAL KITCHEN TYPE RESTAURANT)

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column5
Type of Expenditure	\mathbf{Amount}^1	Method of Payment	When Due	To Whom Payment is Made
Franchise Fee ²	\$40,000	Lump Sum	When you sign Agreement	Us
Development Services Fee ³	\$10,000	Lump Sum	When you sign Agreement	Us

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column5
Type of Expenditure	Amount ¹	Method of Payment	When Due	To Whom Payment is Made
Kitchen Plans and Architectural/ Engineering Fees ⁴	\$0 - \$5,000	Vendor's Terms	As Incurred	Kitchen Planner/ Architect/ Engineer
Professional Services/ Permits and Licensing ⁵	\$500 - \$5,000	As Incurred	As Incurred	Your attorney, accountant, and other professionals
Rent ⁶	See Note 6	See Note 6	See Note 6	See Note 6
Security Deposits ⁷	\$5,000 - \$15,000	Lump Sum	Per Lease/Utility Company Requirements	Landlord/Utili- ties
Leasehold Improvements ⁸	\$1,000 - \$5,000	Negotiable	Contract Terms	General Contractor
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment, and Smallwares ⁹	\$5,000 - \$50,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Vendor
POS System ¹⁰	\$3,500 - \$12,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Vendor
Training ¹¹	\$15,000	As Incurred	As Incurred	Various
Opening Inventory	\$5,000 - \$7,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Vendor
Shop Launch Marketing Plan ¹²	\$12,000	As Incurred	Upon demand	Us
Pre-Opening Mock Operations ¹³	\$1,000	As Incurred	Before opening	Various
Insurance (3 Months) ¹⁴	\$1,000 - \$2,000	Vendor's Terms	Before opening	Vendor

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column5
Type of Expenditure	Amount ¹	Method of Payment	When Due	To Whom Payment is Made
Additional Funds – 3 Months ¹⁵	\$10,000 - \$15,000	See Note 15	As incurred	Various
TOTAL ¹⁶ (excluding real estate purchase and lease costs)	\$109,000 - \$194,000			

- There are no other direct or indirect payments regarding the purchase of the franchise.
- Except for the security deposit and perhaps some utility deposits (see note 7 below), no expenditure in this table is refundable.
- If you are renewing your franchise, you will not incur most of these costs because your Restaurant is already open. However, you must make certain upgrades, modifications, and improvements at your Restaurant to meet our current standards. Your costs will depend on your Restaurant's current condition.

¹The initial fees represent actual amounts; we have estimated all other amounts based on our experience. The low estimate is the lowest for each category.

²We describe the initial franchise fee and development fee, and when these fees are due, in Item 5. No separate initial investment is required when you sign the Development Rights Agreement. You simply must build the first Restaurant at a cost estimated to range as described in the chart above. Therefore, the total investment necessary to begin operation of your acquired development rights is \$129,000 to \$214,000 (if you commit to develop a minimum of 3 WING ZONE Restaurants).

³This fee is payable when you sign the Franchise Agreement for our costs incurred in providing site selection, layout, and design assistance. However, if you sign a Development Rights Agreement, this fee is for the first Restaurant you agree to develop is due when you sign the Development Rights Agreement. We charge the same fee whether your Restaurant will be in a traditional or non-traditional location.

⁴In developing a Virtual Kitchen, there might be no cost associated with this item. In most cases, there is no traditional build-out which would necessitate full construction documents.

The fee, however, represents the potential cost of plans and specifications paid to an approved kitchen designer, architect, and engineer. The cost for developing construction documents will vary significantly depending on the state, municipality, or facility in which your Virtual Kitchen will be built.

⁵Professional fees are for attorneys, accountants, or other professionals from whom you seek advice.

⁶A Virtual Kitchen occupies approximately 180 to 400 square feet of space, typically as one kitchen within a facility hosting multiple kitchens. These are typically service agreements and not leases as one might have in a typical inline space within a strip center location. Rent depends on the market area and WING ZONE FDD (FINAL 2023)

includes shared service lowering the overhead costs found in traditional locations. These services include facility maintenance, processing of orders and the labor required, cleaning and maintenance, management and coordination of health inspections, on-site support, hood cleaning and maintenance, gas and electrical costs, grease-trap maintenance, dry, cooler, and freezer storage, cold and hot water, trash/recycling service, and internet/WiFi service. Your required labor within the space will be 2 to 3 employees.

⁷ Virtual Kitchen Service Agreements may require as much as 3 times the monthly rent as a security deposit. This depends on the Virtual Kitchen and the Service Agreement.

⁸The cost of leasehold improvements can vary significantly. Although we expect all projects to fall within the indicated range, as we continue to expand into this new and changing space, costs could be higher or unforeseen. Depending on the market or facility in which you develop or the type of Restaurant you develop, you might experience costs exceeding the range listed in the table. Unpredictable and unknown fluctuations in costs due to supply-chain disruptions, supply shortages, inflation, transportation costs, and other economic factors on the national, regional, and local levels also could affect development costs.

⁹The high and low amounts represent the price to buy new equipment. Necessary equipment will depend on the Service Agreement and facility.

¹⁰ This represents the cost for the fully-integrated required point-of-sale (POS) system with our required suite of services. The low end is representative of franchisees that have chosen to utilize the leasing program offered by our POS system vendor. Because a Virtual Kitchen involves the sale and delivery of products principally or exclusively off-premises through third-party delivery systems and does not physically interface with customers like a traditional WING ZONE Restaurant, it does not need as expansive a POS system.

¹¹This represents the training cost for your first Virtual Kitchen. You do not pay an initial training fee but you will pay all personal expenses for the training for you and your employees, including transportation to the training restaurant, lodging, meals, wages, and benefits for you and any of your employees during Pre-Opening Mock Operations.

¹²You must spend at least \$12,000 on Shop Launch Marketing activities. The Shop Launch Marketing Plan typically covers a 4 to 6-month period. We will make the spend on your behalf.

¹³ Virtual Kitchen Pre-Opening Mock Operation and staff training events will vary depending upon the facility. 240 salary hours for 3 days of employee pre-opening training.

¹⁴You must purchase insurance we specify as described in Item 8.

¹⁵ This is an estimate of the funds needed to cover your other pre-opening expenses as well as initial start-up expenses during the first 3 months of operation (other than the items identified separately in the table). This includes rent, utilities, wages, inventory purchases, office supplies, printed materials, phone, facsimile, pre-opening and regular salaries for managers, pre-opening and regular wages of hourly employees, debt service, real estate services, legal, internet expense, accounting expense, and other expenses. We relied on our and our affiliates' many years of experience in operating and franchising restaurants to compile this Additional Funds estimate.

¹⁶You should review these figures carefully with a business advisor before deciding to acquire the franchise. We do not offer financing directly or indirectly for any part of the initial investment. The availability and terms of financing depend on many factors, including the availability of financing, your creditworthiness, collateral, and lending policies of financial institutions from which you request a loan.

An estimated initial investment will be incurred for each WING ZONE Restaurant established under a Development Rights Agreement.

ITEM 8 RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

You must purchase the following goods or services: our then-current trade dress; point-of-sales system, including the computer hardware and software further described in Item 11; restaurant fixtures, furniture, and other equipment as listed in the Manual; and specified light fixtures.

Neither we nor any of our affiliates are an approved supplier or the only approved supplier for any item used in your Restaurant (but nothing in the Franchise Agreement or Development Rights Agreement prohibits us from becoming an approved supplier in the future). Therefore, we and our affiliates do not currently derive any income or revenue based on or as a result of our or their direct sales of any items to you. None of our officers currently owns an interest in any approved supplier.

We and/or our affiliates have the right to derive revenue—in the form of promotional allowances, volume discounts, commissions, other discounts, performance payments, signing bonuses, rebates, marketing and advertising allowances, free products, and other economic benefits and payments—from suppliers that we designate, approve, or recommend for some or all WING ZONE Restaurants on account of those suppliers' prospective or actual dealings with your Restaurant and other WING ZONE Restaurants. That revenue may or may not be related to services we and our affiliates perform. All amounts received from suppliers, whether or not based on your or other franchisees' purchases from those suppliers, will be our and our affiliates' exclusive property, which we and they may retain and use without restriction for any purposes we and they deem appropriate. Any products or services that we or our affiliates sell you directly may be sold to you at prices exceeding our or their costs. In 2022, we received \$29,810 in rebates, which we put in the Marketing Fund, and \$45,000 in rebates and contributions for the 2022 or future franchisee conventions and meetings or other system initiatives.

Collectively, the purchases and leases you must make from us or our affiliates, from designated or approved suppliers, or according to our standards and specifications represent close to 100% of your overall purchases and leases to establish and then operate the Restaurant.

You must participate in our approved guest satisfaction program and redeem all related coupons or offers at your expense.

To ensure you maintain the highest degree of quality and service, you must operate the Restaurant in strict conformity with the methods, standards, and specifications prescribed in the Manual or otherwise in writing. We issue specifications and standards to you and approved suppliers. We reserve the right to modify the System and specifications periodically in order to achieve our quality and uniformity goals. We select suppliers based upon a variety of criteria, including quality, price, customer service, ability to service the entire System, and maintenance of uniformity. We must approve all products or services used in the operation of the Restaurant. You must use only approved or designated suppliers as your exclusive suppliers and service providers (which suppliers may include or be limited to us and/or certain of our affiliates). Our right to designate and approve suppliers and service providers may include construction management and architectural firms that will be involved in the design, construction, and development of your Restaurant.

We have developed and may continue to develop for use in the System certain products, including products which are prepared from highly-confidential recipes and which are our trade secrets. If these products become a part of the System, you must use only our confidential recipes and other proprietary

products and must purchase all of your requirements for these products or services solely from us or authorized suppliers we designate.

You must obtain and maintain at your own expense the insurance coverage that we require. We may regulate the types, amounts, terms, and conditions of insurance coverage required for your Restaurant, including standards for underwriters of policies providing required insurance coverage; our protection and rights under these policies as an additional named insured; required or impermissible insurance contract provisions; periodic verification of insurance coverage you must furnish to us; our right to obtain insurance coverage at your expense if you fail to obtain required coverage; and similar matters relating to insured and uninsured claims.

You currently must maintain the following minimum insurance coverage: Comprehensive General Liability-bodily injury and property damage of \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 aggregate; Liquor Liability of \$1,000,000 aggregate (if applicable); Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability of \$1,000,000 by accident, \$1,000,000 by disease policy limit, and \$1,000,000 by disease each accident; Umbrella Liability of \$1,000,000 in excess of all other liability policies; and Property Insurance for 100% of the replacement cost of all furniture, fixtures, equipment, inventory, building (if applicable), and tenant build-out in the Restaurant. You also must carry Employment Practices Liability of at least \$1,000,000 aggregate, including third-party coverage and Wage & Hour Defense costs of \$100,000; Cyber Liability of \$1,000,000 for all data breaches, identity thefts, phishing attacks, and social engineering and data response/crisis management expenses; Trade Name Restoration coverage of \$500,000 per location to pay for your lost profit from an actual or alleged contamination claim anywhere in the brand; and automobile and drivers' liability insurance with a minimum limit of \$1,000,000 per occurrence (including owned automobiles titled or leased in your name, as well as in the names of your employees while carrying out their duties, which are used at any time, whether principally or occasionally in your business, hired and non-owned coverage)..

Insurance costs will depend on the insurance carrier's charges, terms of payment, and your history. The General Liability policy must name us as additional insured. You must provide us with a new certificate or other proof of insurance within 10 days after renewing the insurance.

You must maintain in sufficient supply and use only those products, materials, supplies, and methods of service that conform to our standards and specifications, must refrain from using nonconforming items or methods without our prior written consent, and must sell, distribute, or deliver only those products that we expressly approve for sale in writing.

You must permit us or our agents to conduct unannounced inspections at any reasonable time and to remove from your Restaurant samples of items (without payment for these items) in amounts reasonably necessary for testing by us or an independent laboratory to determine whether these samples meet our thencurrent standards and specifications. In addition to any other remedies we may have under the Franchise Agreement, we may require you to bear the cost of this testing if the supplier of the item has not previously been approved by us or if the sample fails to conform to our specifications.

We approve products for sale based on timelines of production and delivery (i.e., is the product generally available, are perishable items delivered appropriately, and the like), price, and availability of discounts for volume purchases. The time required for us to evaluate and approve new products is approximately 90 days.

You must refrain from installing or permitting installation on the Restaurant premises, without our prior written consent, any fixtures, furnishings, signs, equipment, or other improvements not previously approved based on our standards and specifications.

We have the right to require you to purchase certain equipment, fixtures, furnishings, signs, supplies, and other products and materials required for the operation of the Restaurant solely from suppliers (including manufacturers, distributors, and other sources) who demonstrate, to our continuing satisfaction, the ability to meet our then-current standards and specifications for those items and whom we have first approved in writing. These items will include help-wanted or other visual aid signs and all building materials required for constructing the leased premises. If you desire to purchase any products from an unapproved supplier, you must submit to us a written request for this approval and have this supplier acknowledge in writing that you are a franchisee and that we are not liable for debts you incur. You must allow our representatives to inspect the supplier's facilities and have samples from the supplier be delivered, at our option, either to us or to an independent, certified laboratory designated by us for testing. A charge not to exceed the reasonable cost of the inspection and the actual cost of the test must be paid by either you or the supplier. We may also require that the supplier comply with any other reasonable requirements that we deem appropriate, including payment of reasonable continuing inspection fees and administrative costs. We reserve the right, at our option, to reinspect the facilities and products of any approved supplier and to revoke our approval upon the supplier's failure to continue to meet any of our then-current criteria or for any other business reason we deem appropriate. We will notify you and/or the supplier in writing of our decision, typically in no less than 90 days. If, in providing services to you, any third-party vendor might obtain access to confidential information as described in the Franchise Agreement, we may require, as a condition of the approval of the provider, the signing of covenants of non-disclosure and non-competition in a form satisfactory to us.

You must submit to us, for our prior written approval, samples of all advertising and promotional plans and materials that you desire to use and which we have not prepared or previously approved. You must display the Marks in the manner we require on all signs and other advertising and promotional materials used in the Restaurant.

You grant us and our agents the right to enter the Restaurant at any reasonable time to inspect, photograph, or videotape the Restaurant, equipment, and operations; must cooperate with our representatives in these inspections by rendering assistance as they may reasonably request; and, upon reasonable notice from us or our agents, and without limiting our other rights under the Franchise Agreement, must take the steps necessary to correct immediately any deficiencies detected during any inspection, including immediately desisting from the continued use of any equipment, advertising materials, products, or supplies that do not conform to our then-current specifications, standards, or requirements.

You must obtain a telephone listing for use in your Restaurant. The telephone listing will belong to us; however, you must pay all telecommunications charges directly to the telecommunications company. We reserve the right to place protective codes restricting access to the telephone listing to protect the System should you no longer operate your Restaurant.

We have the right to require you to upgrade, remodel, and/or re-equip your Restaurant periodically. You may not make any alterations to your Restaurant, or any replacements, relocations, or alterations of fixtures, equipment, or signs, that do not meet our then-current standards and specifications. However, once your Restaurant opens, we will not require you to spend more than \$10,000 on remodeling or new equipment during the first 2 years of the franchise term or more than \$50,000 during any 5-year period (provided, however, these dollar limitations do not apply in connection with your acquisition of a successor franchise, a transfer, updates or changes to the Information System and Computer System, required software upgrades, and a relocation, in all of which cases we may require you to bring the Restaurant into full compliance with our then-applicable specifications and standards for new WING ZONE Restaurants before the Franchise Agreement expires, regardless of cost).

If you do not own your business premises, we first must accept your lease. It is your responsibility to select your own location. We reserve the right to require you and your landlord to provide in the lease that we will have the right at our option and without compensation to you to take assignment of the lease should you materially default under the lease or your Franchise Agreement terminates or is not renewed for any reason. You may not relocate the business premises without our prior written approval.

There currently are no purchasing or distribution cooperatives. We and our affiliates currently negotiate purchase arrangements with suppliers (including price terms) for many of the items and services described earlier in this Item that you may obtain only from designated sources. In doing so, we and our affiliates seek to promote the overall interests of the franchise system and affiliate-owned operations and our interests as the franchisor (and not the interests of any particular franchisee or group of franchisees). We do not provide material benefits to a franchisee (for example, renewal or granting additional franchises) for purchasing particular products or services or using particular suppliers.

The Development Rights Agreement does not require you to buy or lease from us (or our affiliates), our designees, or approved suppliers, or according to our specifications, any goods, services, supplies, fixtures, equipment, inventory, computer hardware and software, or comparable items related to establishing or operating your business under the DRA. However, each site proposed for a WING ZONE Restaurant must satisfy our site-selection criteria and is subject to our written acceptance.

ITEM 9 FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS

This table lists your principal obligations under the franchise and other agreements. It will help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and in other items of this disclosure document.

	OUT I	Section	Disclosure document
	Obligation	in agreement	item
a.	Site selection and acquisition/lease	Franchise Agreement	Items 7, 8, 11, and 12
		Section 3	
		Development Rights	
		Agreement Section 5	
b.	Pre-opening purchases/leases	Franchise Agreement	Items 7, 8, and 11
		Section 8	
		Not applicable under	
		Development Rights	
		Agreement	
c.	Site development and other pre- opening	Franchise Agreement	Items 7, 8, and 11
	requirements	Sections 3 and 8	
		Development Rights	
		Agreement Section 5	
d.	Initial and on-going training	Franchise Agreement	Items 6, 7, and 11
		Section 8	
		Not applicable under	
		Development Rights	
		Agreement	
		Agreement	

		Section	Disclosure document
	Obligation	in agreement	item
e.	Opening	Franchise Agreement Section 8	Items 11 and 12
		Development Rights Agreement Sections 1(a), 2(a), and 5	
f.	Fees	Franchise Agreement Sections 2, 3, 4, and 8	Items 5, 6, 7, 8, and 11
		Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement Section 4	
		Development Rights Agreement Section 4	
g.	Compliance with standards policies/operating manual	Franchise Agreement Section 8	Items 8, 11, and 14
		Not applicable under Development Rights Agreement	
h.	Trademarks and proprietary information	Franchise Agreement Section 5	Items 13 and 14
		Development Rights Agreement Section 3	
i.	Restrictions on products/services offered	Franchise Agreement Section 5	Items 8, 11, 12, and 16
		Not applicable under Development Rights Agreement	
j.	Warranty and customer service requirements	Franchise Agreement Section 5	Item 11
		Not applicable under Development Rights Agreement	
k.	Territorial development and sales quotas	Not applicable under Franchise Agreement	Items 11 and 12
		Development Rights Agreement Sections 1(a), 2(a), and 5	

	Section	Disclosure document
Obligation	in agreement	item
Ongoing product/service purchases	Franchise Agreement	Items 6 and 8
	Sections 5 and 8	
	Not applicable under	
	Development Rights	
	Agreement	
m. Maintenance, appearance and	Franchise Agreement	Items 8, 11, 16, and 17
remodeling requirements	Sections 5 and 8	
	Renewal Rider to Franchise	
	Agreement Section 6(c)	
	Not applicable under	
	Development Rights	
	Agreement	
n. Insurance	Franchise Agreement	Items 7 and 8
	Section 8.8	
	Not applicable under	
	Development Rights	
	Agreement	
o. Advertising	Franchise Agreement	Items 6, 7, 8 and 11
	Sections 5.3 and 8.21	
	Not applicable under	
	Development Rights	
	Agreement	
p. Indemnification	Franchise Agreement	Item 6
	Section 29	
	Development Rights	
	Agreement Sections 10 and	
	11	
q. Owner's	Franchise Agreement	Items 11 and 15
participation/management/staffing	Section 8	
	Not applicable under	
	Development Rights	
	Agreement	
r. Records/reports	Franchise Agreement	Item 6
	Sections 4.5 and 7-9	
	Not applicable under	
	Development Rights	
	Agreement	

		Section	Disclosure document
	Obligation	in agreement	item
s.	Inspections/audits	Franchise Agreement	Item 8
	inspections, addition	Sections 7-9	rem o
		Not applicable under Development Rights	
		Agreement	
t.	Transfer	Franchise Agreement	Item 17
ι.	Tansici	Sections 12-14	item 17
		Development Rights Agreement Section 8	
u.	Renewal	Franchise Agreement	Item 17
u.	Renewal	Section 2	item 17
		Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement Section 3(a)	
		Not applicable under	
		Development Rights	
		Agreement	
v	Post-termination obligations	Franchise Agreement	Item 17
•	Tool termination congunions	Section 11	Tem 17
		Not applicable under	
		Development Rights	
		Agreement	
w.	Non-competition covenants	Franchise Agreement	Item 17
	•	Sections 6 and 8	
		Development Rights	
		Agreement Section 11	
		Franchise Agreement	
		Amendment for Virtual	
		Kitchen Operations Section 2	
х.	Dispute resolution	Franchise Agreement Sections 26-28	Item 17
		Development Rights	
		Agreement Section 11	
y.	Compliance with Customer Complaint	Franchise Agreement	Item 6
	Resolution Procedures	Section 8.3	
		Not applicable under	
		Development Rights	
		Agreement	

	Section	Disclosure document
Obligation	in agreement	item
z. Owner Guaranty	Owner's Guaranty and	Item 15
	Assumption of Obligations	
	Not applicable under Development Rights Agreement	

ITEM 10 FINANCING

We do not offer direct or indirect financing. We do not guarantee your note, lease, or obligation.

ITEM 11 FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS, AND TRAINING

Except as listed below, we are not required to provide you with any assistance.

Pre-Opening Obligations

We will provide certain assistance and services to you. Neither the Franchise Agreement nor any other agreement requires us to provide any other assistance or services to you during the operation of the Restaurant. It is our intention to provide the following assistance and services before the Restaurant opens:

As explained in Section 3 of the Site Selection Addendum to the Franchise Agreement, we have 30 days after receipt of the information regarding Restaurant site selection that you provide to approve or disapprove your selection. You may consider our failure to disapprove a site, after having been provided with all the required information and the passage of 30 days, approval of the selection. If the parties cannot agree on a site, then we may allow you to move to a mutually-acceptable available territory where you may locate a suitable site. If you cannot find a site, we may terminate the Franchise Agreement.

- 1. We will provide you with: (a) the benefit of our knowledge and experience in the installation, commencement, and operation of the System; (b) criteria and guidance for selecting and installing equipment and furnishings (although we will not actually deliver or install these items), appropriate decor and layout, the location and installation of signage, and the System; (c) advisory service regarding the operation of the Restaurant, including preparing, presenting, and handling products and services in accordance with the System and our Manual and training your employees in the Restaurant's proper operation; and (d) assistance in promoting the Restaurant through advertising and public relations as we deem appropriate. (Franchise Agreement Section 7)
- 2. We will provide an initial training program for your Managing Owner and 3 other persons you designate. We will make available any other training programs we deem appropriate. (Franchise Agreement Sections 7.3 and 7.6)
- 3. We will provide up to 4 weeks of training in Las Vegas for your Managing Owner and at least 1 other person and 2 weeks of supervision and assistance to you and your employees at the Restaurant around its opening. However, we may reduce these timeframes for "in-person" training and assistance to the extent we determine to train you through virtual learning, e-learning, and distance learning. (Franchise Agreement Section 7.6)

4. We will provide electronic access to a printable copy of the Manual throughout the franchise term, which will be updated periodically at no additional cost. If you require a paper replacement copy of the Manual, we will loan one to you at a cost of \$1,000. You must return any hard copy version of the Manual to us upon termination or expiration of the Franchise Agreement. The Manual's table of contents is presented as Exhibit E. (Franchise Agreement Section 7.5)

Time to Open

You must open your Restaurant within 12 months after you sign the Franchise Agreement. We estimate the typical length of time between the signing of the Franchise Agreement and the opening of your Restaurant to be 8 to 12 months. Factors affecting time to open include locating a satisfactory restaurant site, attendance at and satisfactory completion of our initial training program, arranging for financing, construction, complying with local ordinances, completing delivery and installation of equipment and signs, and procuring opening inventory. (Franchise Agreement Section 10.1(j))

Developers must open Restaurants according to the Development Schedule in the Development Rights Agreement. If you fail to comply with the Development Schedule, your Development Rights Agreement will be terminated.

Continuing Obligations

We will provide the following assistance to you during the Restaurant's operation:

- 1. Continuing advisory assistance to you in operating, advertising, and promoting the Restaurant as we deem advisable. (Franchise Agreement Section 7.3) This includes recommending prices at which the Restaurant should offer and sell its products and services, although we have the right in our sole judgment to specify maximum, minimum, or other pricing requirements for products and services the Restaurant offers and sells to the maximum extent the law allows.
- 2. Refresher training programs at your expense for you and, at your option, a designated employee. (Franchise Agreement Section 7.3)
- 3. Advertising and promotional plans and materials for local advertising. (Franchise Agreement Section 7)
- 4. Advice and written materials concerning techniques of managing and operating the Restaurant. (Franchise Agreement Section 7)
- 5. Inspections of the Restaurant and evaluations of the products sold and services rendered in the Restaurant as we deem necessary. (Franchise Agreement Section 7.4)

Advertising

You may develop advertising materials for your own use at your own cost. We must approve any advertising materials you develop in advance and in writing. There is no obligation for us to maintain any advertising program or to spend any amount on advertising in your area. At our option, we may assist you in promoting the Restaurant through advertising and public relations. We make no representations, warranties and/or covenants, express or implied, as to the existence, nature and/or extent, if any, of any advertising and/or public relations efforts that may be commenced, participated in and/or allowed by us.

There is no advertising council composed of franchisees that advises us on advertising policy. The Franchise Agreement does not give us the power to form, change, or dissolve an advertising council.

Shop Launch Marketing Plan

You must spend at least \$30,000 in marketing to promote the launch of your Restaurant. You will develop this Shop Launch Marketing Plan in collaboration with our marketing department. This plan typically covers marketing activities over a 4 to 6-month period. You must pay us the \$30,000 in 2 equal installments: \$15,000 is due no later than 4 weeks before the Restaurant opens; the remaining \$15,000 is due no later than 10 weeks after the Restaurant opens. You must obtain our approval of the form, contents, and nature of your marketing activities. We will execute the Shop Launch Marketing Plan for you and pay the vendors on your behalf. (Franchise Agreement Section 8.6)

If your Restaurant operates at a Virtual Kitchen location or at or within a Non-Traditional Venue, you must spend at least \$12,000 in marketing to promote the launch of your Restaurant. You will develop this Shop Launch Marketing Plan in collaboration with our marketing department. This plan typically covers marketing activities over a 4 to 6-month period. You must obtain our approval of the form, contents, and nature of your marketing activities. We will execute the Shop Launch Marketing Plan for you and pay the vendors on your behalf. You must pay us the \$12,000 no later than 4 weeks before the Restaurant opens. (Franchise Agreement Section 8.6)

After activities funded by the Shop Launch Marketing Plan end, you must spend at least 1.5% of your monthly Gross Sales (although we recommend that you spend up to 4% of monthly Gross Sales) towards local marketing efforts. Upon request, you must give us documentation outlining your marketing activities and monthly spend.

If you sign the Franchise Agreement in connection with your purchase of the Restaurant from an existing franchisee (or, if applicable, from us or our affiliates), you must pay us \$7,500 to purchase marketing and advertising for the Restaurant's "Transfer Marketing Plan," which covers marketing activities during the first 2 to 3 months after the transfer is completed. While the Transfer Marketing Plan's activities are being implemented and executed, you have no obligation to spend the 1.5% monthly amount specified above for local marketing.

Cooperative Advertising Associations

We have the right to designate any geographical area as a region for purposes of establishing an advertising association (a "Cooperative"). (Franchise Agreement Section 8.23(b)) A Cooperative may be composed of 2 or more WING ZONE Restaurants operated by us and/or you or one or more other franchisees. If a Cooperative has been or is later established for the geographic area where your Restaurant operates, you must sign the documents we require to become a member of the Cooperative or, if there are no documents to be signed formally, will be bound by the then-current bylaws issued for the Cooperative. There currently are no Cooperatives operating in the WING ZONE system.

- 1. Each Cooperative must be organized and governed in a form and manner, and must commence operation on a date, which we approve in advance and in writing.
- 2. Each Cooperative must be organized for the purposes of, and all contributions to the Cooperative and any earnings on those contributions must be used exclusively to meet costs for, maintaining, directing, and preparing advertising and/or promotional activities for the particular region (including the cost of preparing and conducting television, radio, magazine, and newspaper advertising campaigns; direct-mail and outdoor billboard advertising; marketing surveys and other public relations activities; employing advertising agencies; and providing promotional brochures and other marketing materials to the Restaurants). These monies may also be used to defray our reasonable administrative costs and overhead related to the administration or direction of the Cooperative or its advertising programs. The

Cooperative operates solely as a conduit for the collection and expenditure of advertising contributions for the purposes stated in the Franchise Agreement.

- No advertising or promotional plans or materials may be used by a Cooperative or furnished to its members without our prior review and approval.
- You must pay your proportionate share of the advertising and promotional expenses incurred by the Cooperative and must submit reports we or the Cooperative requires.
- We may grant you an exemption for any length of time from the requirement of membership in a Cooperative, on written request from you stating reasons supporting the exemption. Our decision concerning the request for exemption will be final.

For all Cooperatives, member franchisees' required contributions will be determined by the governing body of the Cooperative. The maximum amount a Cooperative can charge its members is 2% of Gross Sales per month. We or someone we designate will be responsible for administration of the Cooperatives. The Cooperatives will prepare annual or periodic financial statements, which will be available for your review. We have the power to require Cooperatives to be formed (subject to the above), changed, dissolved, or merged. You may obtain an accounting of advertising expenses incurred by the Cooperative by sending a written request to us.

We assume no direct or indirect liability or obligation for the maintenance, direction, or administration of the Cooperative. We do not act as trustee or in any other fiduciary capacity concerning the Cooperative.

Marketing Fund

In 2000, we established The Advertising Fund, now known as the WING ZONE Marketing Fund (the "Marketing Fund") to create, develop, and implement marketing, advertising, and related programs and materials to enhance the goodwill associated with the Marks, to promote the sale of authorized products and services, and to develop and maintain a favorable public image of WING ZONE Restaurants. (Franchise Agreement Section 8.23(a)) You must contribute up to 4% of your Gross Sales to the Marketing Fund. We currently charge 2.5% of your Gross Sales. Marketing Fund contributions are payable when the Royalty Fee is collected. Marketing Fund fees will be in addition to fees payable for local advertising and fees payable for Cooperatives. You must contribute up to 2% of your Gross Sales to a Cooperative formed for your market. All WING ZONE Restaurants located in the U.S. owned by us or any of our affiliates (whether in traditional or non-traditional locations) will contribute to the Marketing Fund on the same basis as you contribute unless we permit a variance on a case-by-case basis. The Marketing Fund will not use funds designated for advertising to solicit the sale of franchises.

We will allocate your contribution to the Marketing Fund between creative and general advertising, as we determine necessary to enhance the effectiveness of advertising and promotional efforts. If any costs can be allocated to more than 1 of the above categories or if any costs appropriately charged to the Marketing Fund do not fall within a particular category, we may allocate those costs to 1 or more categories.

The term "Creative" includes the costs associated with creating, developing, and distributing general advertising, marketing, promotions, public relations, and market research programs and related activities, including costs for preparing television, radio, newspaper, point-of-sale, and other media programs and materials and all related fees and commissions, including fees charged by national spokespersons and commissions charged for creative works. As part of the Creative portion of the Marketing Fund, we may furnish you with marketing, advertising, and promotional materials at cost, plus any related administrative, shipping, handling, and storage charges. The term "General Advertising" WING ZONE FDD (FINAL 2023)

includes all costs associated with placing and purchasing media advertising (e.g., television, print media, and electronic media) and related activities and associated fees and commissions, including commissions charged by media buying companies, in any geographic area in which a Restaurant operates.

We may use funds from the Marketing Fund to pay for all costs and expenses associated with marketing, advertising, and related programs and materials, including the costs of preparing, producing, and distributing marketing, advertising, and related materials, employing advertising agencies and media buying agencies, supporting market research activities, administering the Marketing Fund, and all other related costs and expenses. We will be paid each year from the Marketing Fund for these costs and services (the "Annual Administrative Expense").

The Marketing Fund will be accounted for separately from our other funds and will not, except for the Annual Administrative Expense, be used to defray any of our general operating expenses. Except for the Annual Administrative Expense and the repayment of any advances or loans we may make to the Marketing Fund, neither we nor any of our affiliates will be entitled to derive any income from the Marketing Fund, including commissions or discounts for media purchases from the Marketing Fund. We will contribute any advertising agency commissions and discounts granted to us or any of our affiliates for media purchases from the Marketing Fund to the Marketing Fund or net them against the invoice for these purchases.

All disbursements from the Marketing Fund will be made first from income and then from contributions. We may compromise any claim for past due contributions to the Marketing Fund from any franchisee, provided any compromise of contributions to the Marketing Fund will be proportionate to any compromise at the same time of other amounts the franchisee owes us and our affiliates, and we have the right to charge a proportionate amount of the collection costs against the contributions. In any fiscal year, we may spend amounts that are more or less than the aggregate contributions of all WING ZONE Restaurants to the Marketing Fund in that year, and we may fund any deficits with contributions from future years. The Marketing Fund may borrow from us (on commercially-reasonable terms and rates) or other lenders to cover deficits or cause the Marketing Fund to invest any surplus for future use.

We will prepare an annual financial statement of the revenues and expenses incurred by the Marketing Fund and furnish you a copy upon your written request. We will charge the costs of preparing these financial statements to the Marketing Fund. This annual financial statement need not be audited.

We will have the right to terminate the Marketing Fund at any time after we expend all monies in the Marketing Fund for advertising and/or promotional purposes.

Marketing Fund monies were spent as follows during 2022: 64% on marketing and advertising; 14% on public relations activities; 17% on labor (administrative), equipment, and supplies; and 5% on research and brand strategy.

We assume no other direct or indirect liability or obligation with respect to the maintenance, direction, or administration of the Marketing Fund. We do not act as trustee or in any other fiduciary capacity with respect to the Marketing Fund.

Electronic Cash Register/Point-of-Sale System/Telecommunications

The Franchise Agreement obligates you to install an electronic information system equipped and configured to our specifications. (Franchise Agreement Section 8.18) Before opening, you must install and maintain a Windows-based computer at the Restaurant that is capable of running the software we require and that operates on an Operating System that we deem necessary, other computer-related accessories, peripherals, hardware and software we specify from time to time, and equipment. The computer must have WING ZONE FDD (FINAL 2023)

at least a Broadband Internet connection that permits you to connect to the Internet and to transmit and receive e-mail. The computer must have dedicated access and power lines. You must also maintain a functioning e-mail address for your business. You also must purchase and maintain any phone system we specify. You must purchase our approved "Information System" and WING ZONE-specific suite of services. We have unlimited, independent access to all information on the system. The estimated cost of this equipment is \$10,000 to \$25,000 for a Restaurant at a traditional location and \$3,500 to \$12,000 for a Restaurant at a Virtual Kitchen location.

You must install and maintain our required Information System, which includes between 2 and 4 point-of-sale terminals (depending on the size of your Restaurant) that are capable of running the WING ZONE-specific suite of services and the total Information System, which will include electronic cash registers, ordering stations, point-of-sale server(s) and receipt printer(s), menu-boards, loyalty programs, online ordering systems and services, gift-card programs, credit card processing systems and services, internet navigation software, email, telephone, audio, video, and surveillance systems, and training and operational support aids, which may include camera systems, virtual reality, and augmented reality hardware and software. The Information System is used to compile and manage sales information and other relevant operational data in the Restaurant. You must purchase this software and the related point-of-sale hardware from the Information System dealers and vendors we specify.

You must install and maintain systems that permit us to access and retrieve electronically any information stored in your computer systems (such as the WING ZONE-specific suite of services or other polling system), including information concerning your Restaurant's Gross Sales. There is no contractual limitation on the frequency or cost of these obligations.

You must maintain on-going maintenance and support contracts with the Information System vendor after the initial year of coverage and subscribe to our then-current required POS-related software services. You must subscribe to the current gift card program software and pay the related transaction fees. You must participate in our on-line ordering program and integrate with the POS system and pay all related start-up and monthly costs. Estimated costs for the annual maintenance contract currently are \$720 to \$1,600, depending on the equipment included in your specific system. Estimated monthly costs for our required hosting services and online ordering and customer loyalty currently are \$575.

You must remain PCI-DSS compliant at all times and contract with our approved Internet service provider to establish a fully-managed virtual private network and firewall. Our POS provider will provide the following services to ensure PCI-DSS compliance: managed firewall and support of network; filtering and content control; firewall logging and reporting; PCI compliance assistance from PCI experts; on-line self-assessment questionnaire submission; quarterly PCI vulnerability scanning; system log-in and file integrity monitoring; and PCI compliant multi-factor remote access.

We reserve the right to modify the equipment standards to require new Information System or different electronic data processing and communications equipment or facilities. You must install any other hardware or software for the Restaurant's operation that we may require in the future, at your cost, including point-of-sale software, accounting software, security and video surveillance systems and any enhancements, additions, substitutions, modifications, and upgrades. Specifically, we may require that you install and maintain systems that permit us to access and retrieve electronically any other information stored in your computer systems, including images and information stored in your security and video surveillance systems. There is no contractual limitation on the frequency or cost of these obligations. You may also have to license from us or others we designate any computer software we develop or acquire for use by WING ZONE franchisees.

Table of Contents of the Manual

Attached as Exhibit E is the Table of Contents of the Manual as of the date of this disclosure document. The Manual contains 166 pages.

Training

Your Managing Owner and 1 additional employee must attend and complete to our satisfaction our full initial training program. (Franchise Agreement Sections 8.20 and 8.21) Two additional employees must attend and complete to our satisfaction a 2-week hourly team member training program (1-week virtual training and 1-week in shop training). All franchisees must complete the training program which is approximately 4 weeks in length (1-week virtual training and 3-weeks in-shop training). We expect you to complete all pre-opening required training approximately 2 to 3 weeks before your Restaurant opens. We will conduct training at our designated headquarters and/or at a designated WING ZONE training restaurant. We may substitute virtual learning and "e-learning" for any training that otherwise would occur in person (in which case you must have the support aids necessary to participate in such e-learning, including camera systems and virtual and augmented reality hardware and software).

TRAINING PROGRAM

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column4
	Hours of On- The-Job	Hours of Classroom	
Subject	Training	Training*	Location**
Product Recipes	45	5	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
-			(includes 12 hours e-learning)
Customer Service	20	0	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
			(includes 2 hours e-learning)
Restaurant Management	40	10	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas and WING ZONE Support Center
Prep and Cleaning in	20	1	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
Restaurant			(includes 2 hours of e-learning)
Ordering / Inventory Training	12	12	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
			and WING ZONE Support Center
7000			for Classroom
POS System	15	4	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
			and WING ZONE Support Center for hands-on POS Lab
Finances and Accounting	12	8	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
Finances and Accounting	12	o	and WING ZONE Support Center
			for Classroom
Hiring Employees	0	2	WING ZONE Support Center for
		_	Classroom
Managing Employees	10	3	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
			and WING ZONE Support Center
			for Classroom
Controlling Food Costs	12	2	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
			and WING ZONE Support Center
			for Classroom

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column4
	H	II	
	Hours of On-	Hours of	
	The-Job	Classroom	
Subject	Training	Training*	Location**
Neighborhood Marketing	4	2	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
			and WING ZONE Support Center
			for Classroom
Ordering from Vendors	5	1	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
TOTAL HOURS	195	50	

2-Week Hourly Team Member Training

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column4
	Hours of On-	Hours of	
	The-Job	Virtual/Online	
Subject	Training	Training*	Location
Product Recipes	25	3	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
_			(includes 5 hours e-learning)
Customer Service	20	0	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
			(includes 1 hours e-learning)
Prep and Cleaning in	20	1	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
Restaurant			(includes 1 hours of e-learning)
POS System	10	1	Training Restaurant – Las Vegas
			and WING ZONE Support Center
			for hands-on POS Lab
TOTAL HOURS	75	5	

^{*} For purposes of these charts, web-based training is included as classroom training.

We may adjust the training schedule based upon the participant's progress. We conduct the restaurant and classroom training as needed. There are no regularly-scheduled training programs. Instructional materials include online, recipes/systems procedures binders, and the Manual. Ron Martinez, our current Training Program Director, who has held various training and operations positions within the CAPRIOTTI'S organization for over 10 years and with us for over a year, oversees all franchisee training programs. Having been involved with our restaurant operations for over 10 years, he has specific experience in all of the subjects typically taught during our training program. The rest of our training team and managers also lead all hands-on and instructor-led training; all of them have adequate training and appropriate knowledge to facilitate training in the areas they will teach based on their involvement with our system.

Successful completion of the brand standard e-learning, restaurant, and classroom training is mandatory for your Managing Owner and your Restaurant managers. The initial franchise fee covers the cost of initial training, before the Restaurant opens, for 4 people, including your Managing Owner and your Restaurant managers, but not including your travel, lodging, and related expenses.

Any Restaurant managers you appoint after your Restaurant opens must either be trained by you according to our specifications and guidelines or attend and successfully complete our next-scheduled WING ZONE FDD (FINAL 2023)

ACTIVE\199121593.3

33

training program at our then-current charge. If we determine they need remedial training, they will attend training at your expense. If we train these people in Las Vegas, we currently charge \$1,000 per person per 5 days. If we train these people at your location, we currently charge \$2,000 per person per 5 days. (See Item 6 for additional information about charges for training additional or subsequent trainees.)

You can request on-site training and/or assistance at any time. We will provide it at our option and at your cost (see current costs above), but the Franchise Agreement does not require us to provide it.

In addition, we have the right to require your managerial personnel to participate in, and complete successfully, an extensive onsite training program at the Restaurant for up to 6 weeks after the Restaurant has opened for business. We may charge you \$10,000 for such training.

We may periodically conduct an annual conference, convention, training events, and meetings; if we do, we will determine their duration, curriculum, and location. You must attend up to 2 in-person events each year for a total of up to 6 days (not including travel time). You are responsible for implementing the content of the meetings to your employees, regardless of your attendance.

You must pay all expenses incurred by your trainees or attendees for the initial training program and any other training, conferences, conventions, or other meetings your trainees attend, including their salaries, transportation costs, meals, lodging, and other per-diem expenses. We also may charge up to \$2,500 per person for your management team to attend an annual conference or convention.

Site Selection

You should seek local broker assistance in locating acceptable sites. You, along with the assistance of our real estate department and proprietary site model, select the site for your Restaurant subject to our acceptance. Our review process may involve a physical site inspection. We do not own locations for lease to franchisees.

We will not unreasonably withhold our acceptance of a site if, in our experience, the proposed site is not inconsistent with sites that we regard as favorable or that otherwise have been successful sites in the past for WING ZONE Restaurants. However, we have the absolute right to reject any site not meeting our criteria or to require you to acknowledge in writing that a site you prefer is accepted but not recommended due to its incompatibility with certain factors that bear on a site's suitability as a location for a WING ZONE Restaurant. It is your sole responsibility to undertake site selection activities and otherwise secure premises for your Restaurant. We will use our then-current standards for approving a potential site under both our Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement. (Franchise Agreement Section 1 and Site Selection Addendum)

Factors we consider in evaluating the suitability of proposed Restaurant sites include (1) a site's visibility from adjacent traffic arteries, (2) ease of entry from and exit to adjacent streets, (3) traffic patterns on adjacent arteries, (4) the size, density, and income levels of the population in the surrounding area, (5) daytime population density in the surrounding area, (6) the rental market in the area, and (7) the projected cost of leasehold improvements. If we and you do not agree on a site, you must continue looking for a site that we will approve and pay attention to the deadlines in your Development Rights Agreement and Franchise Agreement because you have certain opening deadlines.

There are site acceptance deadlines (as well as lease signing, Franchise Agreement signing, and opening deadlines) under the Development Rights Agreement, all of which we and you negotiate before the Development Rights Agreement is signed. If you fail to find an acceptable site by the applicable

deadline, the Development Rights Agreement may be terminated. (Development Rights Agreement Sections 1(a), 2(a), 5, and 8)

After signing the Franchise Agreement (if there is no Development Rights Agreement), you have 90 days to find and secure an acceptable site and 12 months to open the Restaurant for business. If you fail to do so, we may terminate the Franchise Agreement. (Franchise Agreement Sections 1 and 10.1(j))

As a multi-unit developer working under a Development Rights Agreement, we will sign the Franchise Agreement for the second and each subsequent Restaurant only after you have found an acceptable site. (The Franchise Agreement for the first Restaurant is signed at the same time you sign the Development Rights Agreement, even if you do not yet have an acceptable site.) In all cases, the lease must have our required form of Lease Rider attached to it.

We will review potential Restaurant sites that you identify within the development territory and have the right, but no obligation, to visit the Territory as we deem necessary to review potential sites for each WING ZONE Restaurant to be constructed and developed. We have the right to condition our acceptance of a proposed site, or a proposed site visit, on your first sending us complete site reports and other materials (including photographs and digital recordings) we request. We agree to use reasonable efforts to review and accept (or not accept) sites you propose within 30 days after we receive all requested information and materials. You have no right to proceed with a site that we have not accepted. (Development Rights Agreement Sections 5(a) and (b))

You also must send us for our written acceptance, which we will not unreasonably withhold, any lease or sublease that will govern your occupancy and lawful possession of each WING ZONE Restaurant site before you sign it. You have no right to sign any lease or sublease that we have not accepted in writing. We have the right (but no obligation) to guide you in the leasing process but will not negotiate the lease or sublease for you or provide any legal advice. (Development Rights Agreement Section 5(c))

The Franchise Agreement requires you to open your Restaurant on or before the scheduled opening date we insert on the Franchise Agreement's signature page but contains no other time restrictions (besides the 12-month opening deadline mentioned above). (Franchise Agreement Section 10.1(j)) We calculate the scheduled opening date by estimating the time it should take you to finish out your Restaurant, usually 20-24 weeks from the time we sign the Franchise Agreement.

Certain new markets may require professional demographic analysis. If we deem that your target market does require this analysis, you will bear the pro-rata cost associated for this service.

The length of time between execution of the Development Rights Agreement or Franchise Agreement and the opening of your first Restaurant is typically 10 to 12 months. Factors affecting this length of time include the selection, approval, and leasing of the Restaurant's site, the time required to obtain necessary permits, construction or remodeling of the facility, local ordinance and/or building code compliance, installation of equipment and signs, completion of our training program, delivery and stocking of inventory, and delaying events arising from factors out of your control.

ITEM 12 TERRITORY

Single-Unit Franchisees under Franchise Agreement

Single-unit franchisees operate their Restaurants at specific sites that we must accept based on our then-current standards for approving sites. Single unit franchisees do not receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets that we own, or from other channels of

distribution or competitive brands that we control. You have no territorial protection whatsoever, and we and our affiliates retain all rights with respect to WING ZONE Restaurants, the Marks, the offer and sale of products and services that are similar to, competitive with, or dissimilar from the products and services your Restaurant offers and sells, and any other activities we and they deem appropriate, whenever and wherever we and they desire, without regard to the competitive impact on your Restaurant. Specifically (but without limitation), we and our affiliates reserve the following rights:

- (a) to own and operate, and to allow other franchisees and licensees to own and operate, WING ZONE Restaurants at any physical locations (other than at your Restaurant's specific premises), in any geographic markets, and on any terms and conditions we and our affiliates deem appropriate;
- (b) to offer and sell and to allow others (including franchisees, licensees, and other distributors) to offer and sell, on any terms and conditions we and our affiliates deem appropriate, products and services that are identical or similar to and/or competitive with those offered and sold by WING ZONE Restaurants, whether such products and services are identified by the Marks or other trademarks or service marks, through any advertising media, distribution channels (including the Internet), and shipping and delivery methods and to any customer, no matter where located;
- (c) to establish and operate, and to allow others (including franchisees and licensees) to establish and operate, anywhere any business (whether operated at a set physical location or through trucks, vans, and other mobile methods) offering identical, similar, and/or competitive products and services under trademarks and service marks other than the Marks;
- (d) to acquire the assets or ownership interests of one or more businesses offering and selling products and services similar to those offered and sold at WING ZONE Restaurants (even if such a business operates, franchises, or licenses a Competitive Business), and operate, franchise, license, or create similar arrangements for those businesses once acquired, wherever those businesses (or the franchisees or licensees of those businesses) are located or operating;
- (e) to be acquired (whether through acquisition of assets, ownership interests, or otherwise, regardless of the transaction form) by a business offering and selling products and services similar to those offered and sold at WING ZONE Restaurants, or by another business, even if such business operates, franchises, or licenses a Competitive Business; and
- (f) to engage in all other activities the Franchise Agreement does not expressly prohibit.

We have no express obligation or implied duty to insulate or protect you from or against erosion in your revenues or market share as the result of your Restaurant's competing with other foodservice businesses, non-traditional locations, or in the ways and to the extent the reserved rights above provide or contemplate. We are not required to pay you if we or our affiliates exercise any of the rights specified above.

Without our written consent, you may not sell menu items through any distribution channel other than a dedicated WING ZONE Restaurant, including sales through other channels of distribution such as the Internet, catalog sales, telemarketing, grocery stores, or other direct marketing sales.

If your existing Restaurant is satisfactorily meeting or exceeding our operational benchmarks and you demonstrate to our satisfaction sufficient capital and managerial resources to operate multiple units, we may approve you for operating an additional restaurant or allow you to enter into a Development Rights

Agreement. You need not achieve any certain sales volume or market penetration to continue operation of your Restaurant.

You may operate the Restaurant only at an accepted site and may not relocate without our written approval, which we may grant or deny as we deem best. Whether or not we would allow relocation depends on the circumstances at the time and what is in the Restaurant's and our system's best interests. Factors include, for example, the new site's market area, its proximity to other WING ZONE Restaurants, whether you are in compliance with your Franchise Agreement, and how long it will take you to open at the new site. We may condition our approval of your relocation request on (1) the new site and its lease being acceptable to us, (2) your paying us a reasonable relocation fee, (3) your reimbursing any costs we incur during the relocation process, (4) your confirming that your Franchise Agreement remains in effect and governs your operation of the Restaurant at the new site with no change in the term or, at our option, your signing our then-current form of franchise agreement to govern your operation of the Restaurant at the new site for a new franchise term, (5) your signing a general release, in a form satisfactory to us, of any and all claims against us and our owners, affiliates, officers, directors, employees, and agents, (6) your continuing to operate the Restaurant at the original premises until we authorize its closure, and (7) your taking, within the timeframe we specify and at your own expense, all action we require to de-brand and de-identify the Restaurant's former premises so that it no longer is associated in any manner (in our opinion) with the franchise system.

While we have the right to do so as described above, we do not operate or franchise, or currently plan to operate or franchise, any business under a different trademark that sells or will sell goods or services similar to those that WING ZONE Restaurants sell. However, as described in Item 1, our ultimate parent company, Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc., whose principal business address is the same as ours, currently operates and franchises, and will continue to operate and franchise, "CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP®" restaurants. The CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP® system is a casual-restaurant chain that serves various submarine, deli sandwiches and related items in a sit-down, delivery, and/or take-out format. All CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP® restaurants—whether owned by Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc., its affiliates, or franchisees—may solicit and accept orders from customers near your Restaurant if they are located in the same market. We and Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. currently share the same principal business address. We expect to maintain separate training facilities for WING ZONE Restaurants and CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP® restaurants. We do not expect any material conflicts between Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and our franchisees, or between WING ZONE Restaurants and CAPRIOTTI'S SANDWICH SHOP® franchisees, regarding territory, customers, and support because the principal products offered by each chain do not materially overlap. However, we intend to use reasonable efforts to resolve any conflicts that might arise in the future.

Development Rights Agreement

The designated Territory under a DRA, which is used when you commit to develop 3 or more WING ZONE Restaurants, will be defined by radius, zip code boundaries, county boundaries, highways, physical landforms, city or municipality boundaries, and other factors we deem appropriate. We base the Territory's size primarily on the number of WING ZONE Restaurants you agree to develop, demographics, the number of distinct development areas and competitive businesses within the Territory, and site availability. We will determine the number of WING ZONE Restaurants you must develop, the deadlines for finding acceptable sites, signing Franchise Agreements and leases, and the deadlines for opening the WING ZONE Restaurants to keep your development rights. We and you then will complete the schedule in the DRA before signing it. Each site proposed for a WING ZONE Restaurant to be developed under the DRA must be acceptable to us. We have the right to terminate the DRA if you do not satisfy your development obligations. You may not develop or operate WING ZONE Restaurants outside the Territory. Our then-current standards for sites will apply.

You will not receive an exclusive territory under the DRA. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets that we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

While the DRA is in effect, we (and our affiliates) will not—except with respect to WING ZONE Restaurants proposed to be located at or within "Non-Traditional Venues" or Restricted Venues (defined below)—establish and operate, or grant to others the right to establish and operate, WING ZONE Restaurants that have their physical locations within the Territory. There are no other restrictions on our and our affiliates' activities in the Territory during the DRA's term.

We (and our affiliates) reserve the right without any restrictions whatsoever to pursue and establish, or franchise or license others to pursue and establish, WING ZONE Restaurants to be located at or within Non-Traditional Venues and Restricted Venues having their physical locations within the Territory but only if you (or your Approved Affiliates) cannot or choose not to pursue the opportunity when it becomes available, no matter the reason for your (or your Approved Affiliate's) decision not to pursue the opportunity.

A "Non-Traditional Venue" is defined in the DRA to mean: (i) a captive-venue location, including airports, hospitals or medical centers, limited-access highway food facilities, bus or train locations, entertainment and sports complexes, convention centers, military facilities, schools, colleges, and universities, office facilities, department and retail super-stores, off-site sales accounts, convenience stores, supermarkets, shopping malls, and home-improvement retailers; and (ii) any type of location known colloquially as a "virtual kitchen," a "ghost kitchen," a "ghost operation," or a similar type of location that operates on a delivery and/or pick-up-only basis.

A "Restricted Venue" is a physical location within the Territory (which need not be a Non-Traditional Venue) for which that location's owner or manager sets financial, experience, or organizational standards for an acceptable operator that you (or your Approved Affiliate) do not and cannot satisfy when the opportunity becomes available.

Our, our affiliate's, or another franchisee's or licensee's establishment and operation of a WING ZONE Restaurant at or within a Non-Traditional Venue or a Restricted Venue physically located in the Territory will not count toward your compliance with the Schedule. However, WING ZONE Restaurants that you (or your Approved Affiliates) establish and operate at or within a Non-Traditional Venue physically located in the Territory will count toward your compliance with the Schedule.

Except as provided above, continuation of your territorial rights does not depend on your achieving a certain sales volume, market penetration, or other contingency, and you have no other options, rights of first refusal, or similar rights to acquire additional franchises. We do not have the right to alter your Territory during the DRA's term.

Despite the development schedule under the DRA, we have the right to delay the construction, development, and/or opening of additional WING ZONE Restaurants within the Territory if at any time we believe that such delay is in the best interests of the WING ZONE Restaurant brand, including for reasons related to lack of sites meeting our criteria, supply-chain issues, or our assessment in our sole judgment that you (or your Approved Affiliate) are not yet operationally, managerially, or otherwise prepared (no matter the reason) to construct, develop, open, and/or operate the additional WING ZONE Restaurant in full compliance with our standards and specifications. We have the right to delay additional development and/or a Restaurant's opening for the time period we deem best if the delay will not in our reasonable opinion cause you to breach your development obligations under the development schedule (unless we are willing to extend the schedule to account for the delay).

Although we have the right to do so, we and our affiliates have not yet established, and have no current plans to establish or operate, other franchises or company-owned outlets or another distribution channel selling or leasing similar products or services under a different trademark (but see discussion above about CAPRIOTTI'S® Restaurants franchised by our parent company).

ITEM 13 TRADEMARKS

Upon execution of the Franchise Agreement, we will grant you the non-exclusive right and privilege to use the Marks in your WING ZONE Restaurant. You may not use any of our Marks as part of your firm or corporate name. You may not use the Marks for the sale of unauthorized products or services or in any manner not authorized in writing by us. Any right or privilege you may have to use our Marks will terminate in full when you are no longer in good standing or upon the expiration or termination of your Franchise Agreement. The Development Rights Agreement does not grant you the right to use the Marks. These rights arise only under Franchise Agreements you sign with us. All rights in and goodwill from the use of the Marks accrue to us.

(a) <u>Registrations and Applications</u>

WEI owns the Marks and licenses them to us to use in the franchise program. Our current Intercompany Intellectual Property License Agreement with WEI began on May 14, 2021, and remains in effect until we and WEI mutually agree to terminate it or WEI terminates the License Agreement for cause. WEI may terminate the License Agreement immediately upon written notice to us if we materially breach the License Agreement and fail to cure the breach within 30 days after receiving written notice, or we cease to be an affiliate of WEI. Termination of the License Agreement automatically terminates your right to use the Marks. The License Agreement has no other material limitations. WEI has registered the following Marks on the Principal Register of the United States Patent & Trademark Office ("USPTO"):

Mark	Registration Number	Date of Registration
WING ZONE	2156732	May 12, 1998
WING ZONE	2702061	April 1, 2003
WING DZONE	3937385	March 29, 2011
FLAVORHOLICS	4053821	November 8, 2011
FLAVOR FUZE	4125209	April 10, 2012
WINGZONE	6965676	January 24, 2023
FLAVOR REALLY FAST	6965677	January 24, 2023
WZ-	6965691	January 24, 2023

Mark	Registration Number	Date of Registration	
WINGZONE FLAVOR REALLY FAST	6965692	January 24, 2023	
WINGZONF	6965693	January 24, 2023	
WingZone Labs	7050601	May 9, 2023	

Renewals and Affidavits

WEI has filed all required affidavits and renewals for the registered Marks that have become due and intends to file all required affidavits and renewals when due for the Marks that remain important to our system.

(b) <u>Determinations</u>

There are no currently effective material determinations of the USPTO, the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board, the trademark administrator of any state, or any court, and no pending infringement, opposition, or cancellation proceedings or material litigation, involving the Marks that significantly limit our rights to use or license the use of the Marks listed in this section in a manner material to you.

(c) Agreements

Except for the Intercompany Intellectual Property License Agreement, no agreement limits our right to use or license the use of the Marks in a manner material to the franchise.

(d) Protection of Rights

We have the right to control any administrative proceeding or litigation involving a Mark we license to you. You must notify us promptly of any use by any person or legal entity other than us or our franchisees of any of the Marks or any variation of the Marks. We will decide the actions to take against the use of any of the Marks by any persons or legal entities other than us or our franchisees. Our current intent is to take strong action (which may include bringing litigation) against that use. Any actions that we take will be at our expense.

You must notify us promptly of any lawsuit or other proceeding brought against you involving any of the Marks, and you must deliver to us copies of any documents concerning the lawsuit or other proceeding that we request. We will decide whether to settle or defend any trademark litigation brought against you. We will do so at our expense, but you must cooperate with us. We do not have to protect your right to use the Marks. We must protect you against claims of infringement from your use of the Marks.

We reserve the right to acquire or develop additional Marks and to use the Marks ourselves, make those Marks available for use by you and other franchisees, or make those Marks available for use by other persons or entities.

We reserve the right to modify, eliminate, or provide a substitute for any Mark. If this happens, you will be responsible for your costs of compliance.

You may not directly or indirectly contest our rights in the Marks.

(e) <u>Superior Prior Rights</u>

We do not know of any superior prior rights that could materially affect your use of the Marks.

(f) <u>Infringing Uses</u>

We do not know of any current infringing uses of the Marks that could materially affect your use of the Marks.

ITEM 14 PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

We hold no patents, and no patents are material to the franchise. We have no pending patent applications that are material to the franchise.

We and our affiliates claim copyrights in the Manual (containing our trade secrets and confidential information), Restaurant blueprints and other design features, signage, advertising and marketing materials, our system website, and similar items used in operating WING ZONE Restaurants. We and our affiliates have not registered these copyrights with the United States Copyright Office but currently need not do so to protect them. You may use copyrighted items only as we specify while operating your Restaurant (and must stop using them at our direction).

There currently are no effective adverse material determinations of the USPTO, the United States Copyright Office, or any court regarding the copyrighted materials. No agreement limits our right to use or allow others to use copyrighted materials. The Intercompany Intellectual Property License Agreement described in Item 13 also covers copyrights and other intellectual property. We do not actually know of any infringing uses of our copyrights that could materially affect your using them in any state. We need not protect or defend copyrights, although we intend to do so if in the system's best interests. We may control any action we choose to bring, even if you voluntarily bring the matter to our attention. We need not participate in your defense and/or indemnify you for damages or expenses in a copyright proceeding.

Under the Franchise Agreement, you must conduct your business in accordance with the Manual. You will receive electronic access to a printable copy of the Manual throughout the franchise term, which will be updated periodically at no charge to you. If you require a paper copy of the Manual, one can be loaned at a cost of \$1,000. You must at all times treat the Manual and any other manual created for or approved for use in the Restaurant's operation and the information contained in the Manual as confidential and must use all reasonable efforts to maintain this information as secret and confidential. You must not at any time copy, duplicate, record, or otherwise reproduce these materials or otherwise make the same available to any unauthorized person.

The Manual will remain our sole property and must be kept in a secure place at the Restaurant. We may revise the contents of the Manual, and you expressly agree to comply with each new or changed standard. You must ensure that your copy of the Manual is kept current and up to date and, if there are any disputes as to the contents of the Manual, the terms of the master copy of the Manual we maintain at our headquarters will control.

The Development Rights Agreement does not grant you rights to use any intellectual property. These rights arise only under Franchise Agreements you sign with us.

Confidential Information

You must preserve in confidence all materials and information we furnish or disclose to you and must disclose this information or materials only to the employees or agents who must have access to it in order to perform their duties. You must not at any time, without our prior written consent, copy, duplicate, record, or otherwise reproduce these materials or information or otherwise make the same available to any unauthorized person. Confidential Information includes site selection models and analysis, store design information, Operations Manual and supplements, training materials, National Marketing Calendar (to include national, regional, or cooperative plans), and the Information System.

You must not, during the franchise term or afterwards, communicate, divulge, or use for the benefit of any other person, persons, partnership, association, or corporation any confidential information, knowledge, or know-how concerning the methods of operating the Restaurant which we may communicate to you or of which we may apprise you by virtue of your operation under the terms of the Franchise Agreement. You may divulge confidential information only to those of your employees who must have access to it in order to perform their duties in operating the Restaurant. Any information, knowledge, know-how, and techniques which we designate as confidential will be deemed confidential for purposes of the Franchise Agreement, except information which you can demonstrate came to your attention before disclosure of it by us, or which, at or after the time of disclosure by us to you, had become or later becomes a part of the public domain through publication or communication by others.

You must take reasonable steps to prevent improper disclosure of confidential information to others and use non-disclosure agreements with those having access to Confidential Information. We may preapprove the forms of non-disclosure agreements you use solely to ensure that you adequately protect confidential information and the competitiveness of WING ZONE Restaurants. Under no circumstances will we control the forms or terms of employment agreements you use with Restaurant employees or otherwise be responsible for your labor relations or employment practices.

ITEM 15 OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISED BUSINESS

If the franchisee executing the Franchise Agreement is an entity such as a corporation, limited liability company, or limited partnership, a personal guarantee in the form attached to the Franchise Agreement must be signed by all stockholders, members, partners, or any other individual requested by us. If the franchisee executing the Franchise Agreement is an individual, a spouse or any other individual must sign the personal guarantee at our request.

You must designate one of your individual owners with at least a 20% ownership interest in you to serve as your "Managing Owner." We must approve the proposed Managing Owner or any change in the Managing Owner. The Managing Owner is responsible for managing the Restaurant. The Managing Owner must have sufficient authority to make business decisions for you and communicate directly with us regarding any Restaurant-related matters (excluding matters relating to labor relations and employment practices). The Managing Owner's decisions will be final and bind you.

The Managing Owner may be the manager of the Restaurant or may designate another person to serve as the manager, provided the Managing Owner ensures that the manager fulfills all of your obligations.

If you propose to change the Managing Owner, you must seek a new individual (the "Replacement Managing Owner") for that role and appoint the Replacement Managing Owner within 30 days after the

former Managing Owner's last day. We must approve in writing the Replacement Managing Owner, who must hold the minimum ownership interest in you that we specify. The Replacement Managing Owner must attend and satisfactorily complete the training we specify. You must pay the Replacement Managing Owner's compensation and travel-related expenses during training.

Besides the Managing Owner, no manager or other employee of yours must have an equity interest in you or the Restaurant. During the franchise term, except as we otherwise approve in writing, your Managing Owner and managerial employees must devote their full-time energy and best efforts to manage and operate the Restaurant. At least 2 people (including your Managing Owner) must complete our initial training program. At least 2 additional people must complete our two-week hourly team member training program. We do not place any limitations on whom you can hire as a non-owner manager.

You must take reasonable steps to prevent improper disclosure of Confidential Information to others and use non-disclosure agreements with those having access to Confidential Information. We may pre-approve the forms of non-disclosure agreements you use solely to ensure that you adequately protect Confidential Information and the competitiveness of WING ZONE Restaurants. Under no circumstances will we control the forms or terms of employment agreements you use with employees or otherwise be responsible for your labor relations or employment practices.

ITEM 16 RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL

You must conduct your business in accordance with the Manual to protect our reputation and goodwill and to maintain high standards of operation under the Marks. You must use the Restaurant premises solely for the Restaurant's operation, must keep the premises open and in normal operation for the minimum hours and days we specify in the Manual or as we may otherwise approve in writing (subject to local ordinances or lease restrictions, if any), and must refrain from using or permitting the use of the premises for any other purpose or activity at any time without first obtaining our written consent. You must not locate or permit to be located on the Restaurant's premises any pay telephones or any coin-operated machines for the vending of any merchandise or the playing of electronic or manual games or for any other similar purpose except as required in the Manual or we otherwise approve in writing.

You must offer and sell all products and perform all services we periodically require for WING ZONE Restaurants. You may not offer or sell any products or perform any services we have not authorized. We have the right to change the types of authorized goods and services you must offer and sell. There are no limits on our right to do so. We have the right to implement price advertising policies and to specify maximum, minimum, or other pricing requirements for products and services the Restaurant offers and sells, including requirements for promotions, special offers, and discounts in which some or all WING ZONE Restaurants participate, in each case to the maximum extent the law allows.

You must not engage in any trade practice or other activity or sell any product or literature which is competitive, harmful to the goodwill of or reflects unfavorably on your reputation, us, the Restaurant, or the products sold there, constitutes deceptive or unfair competition, or otherwise is in violation of any applicable laws. We do not impose any other restrictions in the Franchise Agreement or otherwise as to the goods or services which you may offer or as to the customers to whom you may sell.

If you operate the Restaurant from a Virtual Kitchen location, we may require you to comply with certain operating standards that differ from those that we have implemented for WING ZONE Restaurants that are not operated at Virtual Kitchen locations. For example, we may require you to offer, prepare, and sell Non-Core Products (defined in Item 17.q below) at the location, and those Non-Core Products may change rapidly in the foreseeable future; we may set certain minimum hours of operation; and we may

require you to use vendors and pay for technologies and services that are not standard for WING ZONE Restaurants that are not operated at Virtual Kitchen locations (subject in all cases to any restrictions imposed on you by the services agreement, occupancy agreement, or other agreement under which you have the right to possess and operate the Restaurant at the location).

ITEM 17 RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP

This table lists certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements. You should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this disclosure document.

Franchise Agreement

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
a. Length of the term	Section 2 of Franchise	The initial term is 10 years.
	Agreement	If you have renewal franchise rights and are exercising them because your existing franchise
	Section 3(a) of Renewal Rider to Franchise	will soon expire, the renewal franchise term is 10 years.
	Agreement	While the Franchise Agreement's term is 10 years, the duration of the services agreement, occupancy agreement, or other agreement under which you have the right to possess and operate the Restaurant at a Virtual Kitchen location is likely to be materially shorter.
b. Renewal or extension of the term	Section 2 of Franchise Agreement	If you request business review at least 6 months before franchise term expires and then notify us at least 3 months before franchise term expires, have substantially complied with obligations
	Section 3(a) of Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement	during the franchise term and continue substantial compliance between date of your notice and end of franchise term, and (at our option) either remodel, upgrade, and re-equip or relocate Restaurant, you may acquire a successor franchise for a 10-year term.
		If you have renewal franchise rights and are exercising them for first time because your existing franchise soon will expire, you have no additional renewal franchise rights after the next term expires.

	Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
c.	Requirements for you to renew or extend	Section 2 of Franchise Agreement and Section 3(a) of Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement	Sign then-current franchise agreement and releases (if state law allows) and pay successor franchise fee. "Renewal" means signing our then-current franchise agreement for the 10-year successor franchise term, which could contain materially different terms (including higher fees), except that successor franchise fee is \$10,000.
d.	Termination by you	Section 10.4	Subject to state law, you may terminate if we fail to cure a material breach within 30 days after receiving written notice from you unless the breach cannot reasonably be corrected within 30 days, in which case we will have a reasonable time period to correct the breach.
e.	Termination by us without cause	Section 10	None. We may not terminate your Franchise Agreement without cause.
f.	Termination by us with cause	Section 10 of Franchise Agreement Section 4 of Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations	We can terminate the Franchise Agreement if you default without notice for non-curable defaults and with 5 days' notice for curable defaults. Under Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations, we can terminate the Franchise Agreement upon written notice to you if you breach any services agreement, occupancy agreement, or other agreement under which you have the right to possess and operate the Restaurant at its accepted location and fail to cure the breach within any applicable cure period, or you lose the right (for whatever reason) to operate the Restaurant at the accepted location. While termination of the Development Rights Agreement does not impact any then-effective franchise agreements, termination of a franchise
g.	"Cause" defined – curable defaults which can be cured	Section 10.2	agreement entitles us to terminate the Development Rights Agreement. We will terminate the Franchise Agreement for "cause" if you: fail to timely remodel your premises; fail to pay any monies owed to us, our affiliates, the Marketing Fund, or your designated marketing Cooperative; transfer ownership by persons owning 5% or more of you; threaten public health or safety; make unauthorized use of the System or Marks; have

Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
		continued law violations; engage in discrimination; or have other defaults not outlined above or designated as a non-curable default. You have 5 days to cure these defaults. You have 30 days to cure failure to pay vendors to our System or to use a vendor's required payment method.
		While termination of the Development Rights Agreement does not impact any then-effective franchise agreements, termination of a franchise agreement entitles us to terminate the Development Rights Agreement.
h. "Cause" defined—non-curable defaults	Section 10.1	We can terminate the Franchise Agreement for "cause" which is non-curable if: you declare bankruptcy or assign assets to creditors; you go into receivership; you dissolve; you have a judgment lien placed on your assets; you abandon the Restaurant; you, your Managing Owner, or an owner of 20% or more of the franchise engages in fraud or is convicted of a felony or other crime; you fail to make approved transfer within 90 days of death or incapacity; you have 3 or more defaults within any 24 months; you maintain false books or records; you impair the value of the Marks or System; you underpay royalties by more than 10%; you violate any employment laws; you lose your business licenses; you lose right to occupy premises of Restaurant; or you fail to begin operation of your Restaurant within 12 months of signing the Franchise Agreement. Termination of the Development Rights Agreement does not impact any then-effective franchise agreements.
i. Your obligations on termination/non-renewal	Section 11	Your obligations on termination or non-renewal include: cease operating; cease using the System; return property to us; cancel any assumed names; assign the lease; pay all sums owed; return all manuals, records, files, etc.; and the taking of an inventory. We may acquire your inventory and assets.
j. Assignment of contract by us	Section 12.1	No restriction on our right to assign; we may assign without your approval.

	Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
k.	"Transfer" by you - definition	Section 12.2	Includes transfer of Franchise Agreement, Restaurant, or its profits, losses, or capital appreciation; all or substantially all operating assets; or ownership interest in you or controlling ownership interest in entity with ownership interest in you. Also includes mortgage, pledge, or similar interest in, and foreclosure on, Franchise Agreement, Restaurant, operating assets, or ownership interest and transfer of lease for Restaurant premises.
1.	Our approval of transfer by you	Sections 12.2 through 12.5	We must approve all transfers; no transfer without our prior written consent.
m.	Conditions for our approval of transfer	Sections 12.2 through 12.5	We will approve transfer of non-controlling ownership interest in you if transferee (and each owner) qualifies, is not (and has no affiliate) in a competitive business, and signs our then-current form of guaranty.
			We will not unreasonably withhold approval of transfer of franchise rights or controlling ownership interest if transferee (and each owner) qualifies; you have paid us and our affiliates all amounts due, have submitted all reports, and are not then in breach; transferee and its owners and affiliates are not in a competitive business; training completed; transfer fee paid; transferee may occupy Restaurant's site for expected franchise term; transferee (at our option) assumes your Franchise Agreement or signs our then-current franchise agreement and other documents (which may have materially different terms, including higher fees) for unexpired portion of your original franchise term; transferee agrees to upgrade and remodel; you (and transferring owners) sign general release (if state law allows); we determine that sale terms and financing will not adversely affect Restaurant's operation post-transfer; you subordinate amounts due to you; and you stop using Marks and our other intellectual property (also see (r) below).
n.	Our right of first refusal to acquire your business	Section 14	We may match any offer for your Restaurant or ownership interest in you or entity that controls you.
0.	Our option to purchase your business	Section 11.11	Except in the case of a renewal, we do have an option to purchase your business.

	Provision	Section in franchise or	Summary
		other agreement	,
p.	Your death or disability	Section 13	The Restaurant or an owner's controlling ownership interest must be transferred by estate
			to approved third party within 90 days.
q.	Non-competition covenants during the term of the franchise	Section 6 of Franchise Agreement Section 2(a) of Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual	Subject to state law, no owning interest in, performing services for, or loaning money or guaranteeing loan to competitive business, wherever located or operating; and no diverting business to competitive business. A "Competitive Business" means any business (a) in which the sale of chicken wings or the delivery of food constitutes 25% or more of such business' total gross product sales or (b) granting
		Kitchen Operations	franchises or licenses to others to operate such a business.
			Subject to state law, under Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations, restrictions also apply to offer, preparation, or sale at or from the Restaurant's location of any food products or beverages other than those food products and beverages that we expressly require or authorize you to offer, prepare, and sell, even if such food products and beverages are not associated directly with the "WING ZONE" Mark or are not encompassed within the definition of the term "Competitive Business" above (such food products and beverages are referred to collectively as the "Non-Core Products").
r.	Non-competition covenants after the franchise is terminated or expires	Sections 6 and 11.10 of Franchise Agreement	Subject to state law, for 2 years after franchise term, no owning interest in or performing services for Competitive Business at Restaurant's site, within 5 miles of Restaurant's
		Section 2(b) of Franchise Agreement Amendment	site, or within 3 miles of another WING ZONE Restaurant then in operation or under construction. Subject to state law, under Franchise
		for Virtual Kitchen Operations	Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations, restrictions also apply for 1 year to offer, preparation, or sale of any Non-Core Products at or from the Restaurant's location or at another Virtual Kitchen physically located within 3 miles of the Restaurant's location.
s.	Modification of the Agreement	Section 19	All modifications to the Franchise Agreement must be in writing.
Ь	1-0-001110111		most som withing.

	Provision	Section in franchise or other agreement	Summary
t.	Integration/merger clause	Section 19	Only terms of the Franchise Agreement are binding (subject to state law). Any representations or promises outside of the disclosure document and Franchise Agreement may not be enforceable. Nothing in the Franchise Agreement or in any other related written agreement is intended to disclaim the express representations made in this franchise disclosure document.
u.	Dispute resolution by arbitration or mediation	Section 26	We and you must arbitrate all disputes within 10 miles of where we have our principal business address when the arbitration demand is filed (it currently is in Las Vegas, Nevada) (subject to state law).
v.	Choice of forum	Section 27	Subject to arbitration requirements, litigation generally must be in courts closest to where we have our principal business address when the action is commenced (it currently is in Las Vegas, Nevada) (subject to state law).
w.	Choice of law	Section 21	Except for federal law, Nevada law applies (subject to state law).

This table lists certain important provisions of the development rights agreement. You should read these provisions in the agreement attached to this disclosure document.

Development Rights Agreement

	Provision	Section in the Development Rights Agreement	Summary
a.	Length of the term	6	Term expires on date when final WING ZONE Restaurant under Schedule opens for business or is scheduled to open for business (whichever is earlier).
b.	Renewal or extension of the term	Not applicable	You have no right to renew or extend development rights.
c.	Requirements for you to renew or extend	Not applicable	You have no right to renew or extend development rights.
d.	Termination by you	Not applicable	You have no contractual right to terminate Development Rights Agreement (except as state law allows).
e.	Termination by us without cause	Not applicable	We have no right to terminate Development Rights Agreement without cause.

	Provision	Section in the Development Rights Agreement	Summary
f.	Termination by us with cause	7	We have right to terminate Development Rights Agreement if you commit one of several violations.
g.	"Cause" defined – curable defaults which can be cured	Not applicable	The Development Rights Agreement does not provide for defaults which can be cured.
h.	"Cause" defined—non- curable defaults	7	Non-curable defaults are failure to satisfy development Schedule, breach of any other obligation, our termination of any franchise agreement with you or your Approved Affiliate in compliance with its terms, your (or an Approved Affiliate's) termination of any franchise agreement with us for any (or no) reason, we deliver formal written notice of default to you (or your Approved Affiliate) under a franchise agreement and you (or your Approved Affiliate) fail to cure the default within the required timeframe, or you (or your Approved Affiliate) cease operating any WING ZONE Restaurant without our prior written approval.
i.	Your obligations on termination/non-renewal	1 and 7	Upon termination or expiration of Development Rights Agreement, you will lose all rights to develop WING ZONE Restaurants in your Protected Radius.
j.	Assignment of contract by us	8	No restriction on our right to sell or transfer Development Rights Agreement or our ownership interests without your approval.
k.	"Transfer" by you - definition	8	Includes transfer of Development Rights Agreement or any ownership interest in you or your owner (if that owner is an entity).
1.	Company's approval of transfer	8	No transfers without our prior written consent; development rights are not assignable.
m.	Conditions for Company's approval of transfer	8	Development rights are not assignable; we have the right to grant or withhold consent for any or no reason.
n.	Company's right to acquire your business	Not applicable	The Development Rights Agreement does not contain this provision.
0.	Company's option to purchase your business.	Not applicable	The Development Rights Agreement does not contain this provision.
p.	Your death or disability	Not applicable	The Development Rights Agreement does not contain this provision.

	Provision	Section in the Development Rights Agreement	Summary
q.	Non-competition covenants during the term of the franchise	11	Subject to state law, no owning interest in, performing services for, or loaning money or guaranteeing loan to competitive business, wherever located or operating; and no diverting business to competitive business. A "Competitive Business" means any business (a) in which the sale of chicken wings or the delivery of food constitutes 25% or more of such business' total gross product sales (other than soft drinks) or (b) granting franchises or licenses to others to operate such a business. Subject to state law, under Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations, restrictions also apply to offer, preparation, or sale at or from the Restaurant's location of any food products or beverages other than those food products and beverages that we expressly require or authorize you to offer, prepare, and sell, even if such food products and beverages are not associated directly with the "WING ZONE" Mark or are not encompassed within the definition of the term "Competitive Business" above (such food products and beverages are referred to collectively as the "Non-Core
r.	Non-competition covenants after the franchise is terminated or expires	Not applicable	Products"). The Development Rights Agreement does not contain this provision. You and your owners will be bound by the restrictions under the Franchise Agreement.
s.	Modification of the Agreement	11	No modifications without signed writing.
t.	Integration/merger clause	11	Only terms of the Development Rights Agreement are binding (subject to state law). Any representations or promises outside of the disclosure document and Development Rights Agreement may not be enforceable. Nothing in the Development Rights Agreement or in any other related written agreement is intended to disclaim the express representations made in this franchise disclosure document.
u.	Dispute resolution by arbitration or mediation	11	We and you must arbitrate all disputes within 10 miles of where we have our principal business address when the arbitration demand is filed (it currently is in Las Vegas, Nevada) (subject to state law).

Provision	Section in the Development Rights Agreement	Summary
v. Choice of forum	11	Subject to arbitration requirements, litigation generally must be in courts closest to where we have our principal business address when the action is commenced (it currently is in Las Vegas, Nevada) (subject to state law).
w. Choice of law	11	Except for federal law, Nevada law applies (subject to state law).

ITEM 18 PUBLIC FIGURES

We do not use any public figure to promote our franchise.

ITEM 19 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS

The FTC's Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or potential financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable basis for the information, and if the information is included in the disclosure document. Financial performance information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about possible performance at a particular location or under particular circumstances.

This historical financial performance representation discloses the unaudited average, median, and high/low annual gross sales during 2022 of all similar franchised WING ZONE Restaurants in the United States (a total of 21) that were open and operating during all of 2022. It also discloses the unaudited average, median, and high/low annual gross sales during 2022 of the similar franchised WING ZONE Restaurants in the United States (a total of 14) that had been open for more than 10 years as of December 31, 2022. This financial performance representation does not include the results of the following 13 franchised WING ZONE Restaurants: (a) 4 franchised Restaurants that opened during 2022 (and therefore were not open for the full 2022 calendar year); (b) 5 franchised Restaurants that closed permanently during 2022 (and therefore were not open for the full 2022 calendar year); (c) 2 franchised Restaurants that operate at non-traditional locations on a more limited basis whose performance results are not relevant to a franchisee acquiring a WING ZONE Restaurant franchise for a traditional location; and (d) 2 franchised Restaurants that operated at traditional locations during 2022, one of which was sold to a new franchisee during 2022 after being closed for 75 days (meaning it had different owners during 2022), and the other of which operated with non-standard hours of operation (it operated only after 4:00 p.m.) and therefore is not representative of the franchises for traditional locations granted by this disclosure document.

This financial performance representation also discloses (i) unaudited actual partial operating financial statements for 2022 for each of 11 franchised WING ZONE Restaurants that reported the detailed information to us and (ii) an unaudited actual average and median partial operating financial statement for 2022 for those combined 11 franchised WING ZONE Restaurants. We requested financial reports from all of our franchisees for the type of information disclosed in this Item 19 (not including the gross sales information that we derive from recurring reports and Royalty payments). Only 11 of the 21 franchisees

sent us their operating financial statements. These tables include all of the information supplied to us. We have not independently audited that information.

"Gross Sales" is currently defined in our Franchise Agreement as the total of all revenue and other consideration you generate from operating the Restaurant whether from sales for cash or credit, and irrespective of collection, including sales of merchandise, products and services, excluding only (or, if applicable, reduced only by) the following: sales tax if paid to the appropriate government authorities; proceeds from the sale of equipment not in the ordinary course of business; promotional discounts you initiate and formally request and we pre-approve in writing, provided physical evidence of the promotion is retained; discounts granted on food purchased by employees for their own consumption; and any other exclusions or reductions we specifically identify (although without any obligation to do so) in the Manual. All transactions first will be (and must be) entered into the Information System at the full (non-discounted) retail price, plus all related fees and charges, for purposes of calculating Gross Sales. For the avoidance of doubt, Gross Sales are not reduced by the amount paid to, retained or collected by, or shared with third-party food ordering and delivery systems with which your Restaurant does business.

The unaudited actual average, median, and high/low annual gross sales volumes reported below do not reflect the costs of sales, operating expenses, or other costs or expenses that must be deducted from the gross sales figures to obtain your net income or profit. You should independently investigate the costs and expenses you will incur in operating your WING ZONE Restaurant. Franchisees or former franchisees, listed in this disclosure document, may be one source of this information.

All of the WING ZONE Restaurants whose information is included below are similar to one another in terms of products and services offered and similar to the WING ZONE Restaurants for which we are offering franchises in this disclosure document.

[Table begins on next page]

2022 Franchised Restaurants

		2022 Results for All Franchised
	2022 Results for All Franchised Restaurants Open During all of 2022*	Restaurants Open more than 10 years as of December 31, 2022
	Restaurants Open During an or 2022	December 31, 2022
Number of Restaurants in Range	21	14
Average Unit Volume (\$)	946,071	1,071,394
Highest Sales (\$)	1,921,235	1,921,235
Lowest Sales (\$)	335,594	571,991
Number & Percentage of Restaurants Exceeding the Average	7 / 33%	4 / 29%
Median Unit Volume (\$)	819,058	908,322
Average Unit Volume of Top 25th Percentile** (\$)	1,540,991	1,687,270
Highest Sales (\$)	1,921,235	1,921,235
Lowest Sales (\$)	1,430,693	1,430,693
Number & Percentage of Restaurants in Top 25th Percentile Exceeding the Average	4 / 80%	2 / 50%
Median Unit Volume of Restaurants in Top 25th Percentile (\$)	1,753,453	1,698,575
Average Unit Volume of Bottom 25th Percentile*** (\$)	482,556	687,054
Highest Sales (\$)	571,991	781,609
Lowest Sales (\$)	335,594	571,991
Number & Percentage of Restaurants in Bottom 25th Percentile Exceeding the		
Average	3 / 43%	3 / 75%
Median Unit Volume of Restaurants in Bottom 25th Percentile (\$)	501,844	699,802

^{*}This excludes the Restaurants described at the beginning of this Item 19.

As noted at the beginning of this financial performance representation, the following tables contain (i) unaudited actual partial operating financial statements for 2022 for each of 11 franchised WING ZONE Restaurants that reported the detailed information to us and (ii) an unaudited actual average and median partial operating financial statement for 2022 for those combined 11 franchised WING ZONE Restaurants.

^{**}This includes the top 25% performing Restaurants of the number of Restaurants in the range.

^{***}This includes the bottom 25% performing Restaurants of the number of Restaurants in the range.

The first table below shows Total Sales, Total Prime Cost, Total Cost of Goods Sold, Total Payroll & Related, Total Operating Expense, Total Non-Controllable Expense, Total Rent, Royalty Fees, National Marketing Fees, and EBITDA for each of 8 franchised Restaurants (in no particular order).

The second table below shows Total Sales, Total Prime Cost, Total Cost of Goods Sold, Total Payroll & Related, Total Operating Expense, Total Non-Controllable Expense, Total Rent, Royalty Fees, National Marketing Fees, and EBITDA for each of the remaining 3 franchised Restaurants (in no particular order) as well as the average and median numbers in these categories for the combined 11 franchised Restaurants.

[The first referenced Table begins on next page]

See Note 1								
See Note 1								
(All numbers are	Restaurant							
in \$)	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8
Total Sales	805,327	1,921,235	914,258	1,600,725	1,796,426	694,815	1,430,692	781,472
Total Prime Cost	579,835	1,469,745	658,266	1,192,540	1,360,793	507,215	1,087,326	582,197
Total Cost of Goods Sold (3)	330,184	826,131	374,846	656,297	776,954	291,822	615,198	336,033
Total Payroll & Related (4)	249,651	643,614	283,420	536,243	583,838	215,393	472,128	246,164
Total Operating Expense (5)	121,893	249,029	127,456	197,452	213,827	118,743	216,301	122,366
Total Non- Controllable Expense ⁽⁶⁾	255,750	355,192	290,192	380,786	366,468	205,818	323,561	192,898
Total Rent (7)	30,103	35,522	15,284	62,310	45,983	36,525	37,280	45,983
Royalty Fees (8)	48,320	115,274	54,855	96,044	107,786	41,689	85,842	46,888
National Marketing Fees ⁽⁹⁾	24,160	57,637	27,428	48,022	53,893	20,844	42,921	23,444
EBITDA (10)	73,340	298,759	94,336	238,132	290,972	50,639	146,870	83,287

The 8 WING ZONE Restaurants appearing in the table above actually pay a Royalty Fee of 5% of Gross Sales. However, the table above calculates a Royalty Fee rate of 6% of Gross Sales because that is the Royalty Fee rate that a new franchisee must pay if it is a party to a development agreement with us and is in compliance with its development schedule.

The following line-items calculate (i) the Royalty Fee rate at 7%, as would be payable by a franchisee that operates a single Restaurant under our current form of Franchise Agreement and is <u>not</u> a party to a development agreement with us (or if it is a party to a development agreement with us, it is not in compliance with its development schedule), and (ii) the adjusted EBITDA (see footnote 10) at the 7% (rather than the 6%) Royalty Fee rate:

See Note 1 (All numbers are in \$)	Restaurant #1	Restaurant #2	Restaurant #3	Restaurant #4	Restaurant #5	Restaurant #6	Restaurant #7	Restaurant #8
Royalty Fees at 7%	56,373	134,486	63,998	112,051	125,750	48,637	100,148	54,703
EBITDA (10)	65,287	279,547	85,194	222,125	273,007	43,691	132,563	75,472

[The second referenced Table begins on next page]

See Note 1 (All numbers are in \$)	Restaurant #9	Restaurant #10	Restaurant #11	Average of 11 Franchised Restaurants Operated for a Full Year in 2022	Percentage of Total Sales	Number & Percentage of 11 Franchised Restaurants Exceeding the Average	Median
Total Sales	1,061,301	908,321	1,753,453	1,242,548	100.00%	5 / 45%	1,061,301
Total Prime Cost (2)	774,750	663,074	1,345,424	929,197	74.78%	5 / 45%	774,750
Total Cost of Goods Sold (3)	435,133	381,495	758,368	525,678	42.31%	5 / 45%	435,133
Total Payroll & Related (4)	339,616	281,580	587,056	403,518	32.48%	5 / 45%	339,616
Total Operating Expense (5)	129,098	131,915	246,312	170,399	13.71%	5 / 45%	131,915
Total Non- Controllable Expense (6)	312,142	244,723	327,019	295,868	23.81%	6 / 55%	312,142
Total Rent (7)	42,564	60,153	36,525	40,748	3.28%	5 / 45%	37,280
Royalty Fees (8)	63,678	54,499	105,207	74,553	6.00%	5 / 45%	63,678
National Marketing Fees ⁽⁹⁾	31,839	27,250	52,604	37,276	3.00%	5 / 45%	31,839
EBITDA (10)	131,863	113,855	242,726	160,434	12.91%	4 / 36%	131,863

The 3 WING ZONE Restaurants appearing in the table above actually pay a Royalty Fee of 5% of Gross Sales. However, the table above calculates a Royalty Fee rate of 6% of Gross Sales because that is the Royalty Fee rate that a new franchisee must pay if it is a party to a development agreement with us and is in compliance with its development schedule.

The following line-items calculate (i) the Royalty Fee rate at 7%, as would be payable by a franchisee that operates a single Restaurant under our current form of Franchise Agreement and is <u>not</u> a party to a development agreement with us (or if it is a party to a development agreement with us, it is not in compliance with its development schedule), and (ii) the adjusted EBITDA (see footnote 10) at the 7% (rather than the 6%) Royalty Fee rate:

See Note 1 (All numbers are in \$)	Restaurant #9	Restaurant #10	Restaurant #11	Average of 11 Franchised Restaurants Operated for a Full Year in 2022	Percentage of Total Sales	Number & Percentage of 11 Franchised Restaurants Exceeding the Average	Median
Royalty Fees at 7%	74,291	63,582	122,742	86,978	7.00%	5 / 45%	74,291
EBITDA (10)	121,250	104,772	225,191	148,009	11.91%	4 / 36%	121,250

[Notes begin on next page]

Notes:

- 1. The Restaurants in this category are the 11 franchised Restaurants that participated in a survey we sent to all franchised Restaurants. These 11 franchised Restaurants provided us with historical profit and loss data for all of 2022.
- 2. Total Prime Cost is the sum of Cost of Goods Sold plus Total Payroll & Related.
- 3. Cost of Goods Sold includes the total cost of all food, beverages, and ancillary items used in the Restaurants.
- 4. Total Payroll & Related includes all salary paid to management, hourly wages, taxes, and benefits paid at each franchised Restaurant.
- 5. Total Operating Income equals Total Sales less all other line-items. The financial information in the table does not include interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization, which must be deducted to obtain your net income or profit.
- 6. Total Non-Controllable Expense includes total rent, in some instances personal property tax, electricity, gas, sewer, trash removal, water, local advertising, and accounting fees.
- 7. Rent includes base rent, common area maintenance, insurance, property taxes, and (at some locations) a fee to be included on monument of pylon signs.
- 8. Royalty Fee assumes 6% of Gross Sales that a new franchised Restaurant must pay (see separate notes and line-items appearing in conjunction with tables).
- 9. National Marketing Fees represents all contributions to National Ad Fund.
- 10. EBIDTA: This calculation uses the following formula (Total Sales minus Total Prime Cost minus Total Operating Expense minus Total Non-Controllable Expense = EBITDA).

Some WING ZONE Restaurants have earned these amounts. Your individual results may differ. There is no assurance that you will earn as much.

Written substantiation of all financial performance information presented in this financial performance representation will be made available to you upon reasonable request.

Other than the preceding financial performance representation we do not make any financial performance representations. We also do not authorize our employees or representatives to make any such representations either orally or in writing. If you are purchasing an existing outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet. If you receive any other financial performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it to the franchisor's management by contacting Brent Erwin, Chief Financial Officer, 6056 S. Durango Dr, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113, (702) 736-3878, the Federal Trade Commission, and the appropriate state regulatory agencies.

ITEM 20 OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION

All year-end numbers appearing in the tables below are as of December 31 in each year. The "Company-Owned" outlets referenced in tables 1, 4, and 5 below are (or were) owned by our affiliates.

Table No. 1

Systemwide Outlet Summary For years 2020 to 2022

Column 1 Column 2		Column 3	Column 4	Column 5
		Outlets at the Start of	Outlets at the End	
Outlet Type	Year	the Year	of the Year	Net Change
	2020	32	29	-3
Franchised	2021	29	29	0
	2022	29	28*	-1
	2020	1	1	0
Company- Owned	2021	1	0	-1
	2022	0	1	1
	2020	33	30	-3
Total Outlets	2021	30	29	-1
	2022	29	29	0

^{*} Excluded from this Table 1 are 2 licensed "Ghost Kitchens" (a type of non-traditional location) that opened during 2022 in 1 state and currently are operated by a single licensee under its own form of Ghost Kitchen License Agreement.

Table No. 2

Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (other than the Franchisor)

For years 2020 to 2022

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
State	Year	Number of Transfers
Georgia	2020	0
	2021	1
	2022	0
Maryland	2020	1
	2021	0
	2022	0
North Carolina	2020	0
	2021	0
	2022	1

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
State	Year	Number of Transfers
Virginia	2020	2
	2021	0
	2022	1
Total	2020	3
	2021	1
	2022	2

Table No. 3

Status of Franchised Outlets
For years 2020 to 2022

Col. 1	Col. 2	Col. 3	Col. 4	Col. 5	Col. 6	Col. 7	Col. 8	Col. 9
		041-4-					C1	
		Outlets at Start				Re-	Ceased Operations	Outlets at
		of the	Outlets	Ташаін а	Non-		– Other	End of the
State	Year	Year	Opened	Termina- tions	Renewals	acquired by Franchisor	– Other Reasons	Year
State	2020	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
A 1 a 1 a a a a a								
Alabama	2021	2 2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2022		0	0	1	0	0	1
G 1:6 :	2020	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
California	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	2	0	0	0	0	2
	2020	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Florida	2021	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2022	2	0	0	1	0	0	1
	2020	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Georgia	2021	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2020	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
Illinois	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2020	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
Kentucky	2021	4	0	0	0	0	0	4
	2022	4	1	0	0	0	0	5
	2020	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Louisiana	2021	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2022	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2020	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Maryland	2021	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2022	1	0	0	0	0	0	1

Col. 1	Col. 2	Col. 3	Col. 4	Col. 5	Col. 6	Col. 7	Col. 8	Col. 9
		041-4-					C1	
		Outlets				D.	Ceased	0-41-44
		at Start	0	Tr	NI	Re-	Operations	Outlets at
G	3.7	of the	Outlets	Termina-	Non-	acquired by	– Other	End of the
State	Year	Year	Opened	tions	Renewals	Franchisor	Reasons	Year
	2020	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Mississippi	2021	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
	2022	1	0	0	1	0	0	0
	2020	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
New York	2021	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2020	4	0	1	0	0	0	3
North Carolina	2021	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
	2022	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
	2020	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Ohio	2021	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2020	1	1	0	0	0	0	2
South Carolina	2021	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2020	4	0	2	0	0	0	2
Texas	2021	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2022	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
	2020	5	0	0	0	0	0	5
Virginia	2021	5	0	0	0	0	0	5
	2022	5	1	0	2	0	0	4
	2020	32	1	4	0	0	0	29
Totals*	2021	29	0	0	0	0	0	29
	2022	29	4	0	5	0	0	28*

^{*} Excluded from this Table 3 are 2 licensed "Ghost Kitchens" (a type of non-traditional location) that opened during 2022 in 1 state and currently are operated by a single licensee under its own form of Ghost Kitchen License Agreement.

Status of Company-Owned Outlets For years 2020 to 2022

Table No. 4

Col. 1	Col. 2	Col. 3	Col. 4	Col. 5	Col. 6	Col. 7	Col. 8
State	Year	Outlets at Start of the Year	Outlets Opened	Outlets Reacquired From Franchisee	Outlets Closed	Outlets Sold to Franchisee	Outlets at end of the Year
	2020	1	0	0	0	0	1
Georgia	2021	1	0	0	1	0	0
	2022	0	0	0	0	0	0

Col. 1	Col. 2	Col. 3	Col. 4	Col. 5	Col. 6	Col. 7	Col. 8
State	Year	Outlets at Start of the Year	Outlets Opened	Outlets Reacquired From Franchisee	Outlets Closed	Outlets Sold to Franchisee	Outlets at end of the Year
	2020	0	0	0	0	0	0
Nevada	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	1	0	0	0	0
C 41-	2020	0	0	0	0	0	0
South	2021	0	0	0	0	0	0
Carolina	2022	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2020	1	0	0	0	0	1
Totals	2021	1	0	0	1	0	0
	2022	0	1	0	0	0	1

Table No. 5

Projected Openings As Of December 31, 2022

Column 1	Column 2	Column 2 Column 3	
State	Franchise Agreements Signed But Restaurants Not Open	Projected New Franchised Restaurants in 2021	Projected New Company-Owned Restaurants in 2021
California	1	2	0
Colorado	1	1	0
Georgia	1	1	0
Illinois	0	1	0
Indiana	1	2	0
Nevada	5	5	2
New York	2	2	0
North Carolina	0	1	0
South Carolina	1	3	0
Texas	3	4	0
Utah	0	1	0
Totals	15	23	2

A complete list of Restaurants as of the date of this disclosure document is attached as Exhibit F (including which franchisees have multi-unit development rights). Also in Exhibit F, you will find the name, city, state and the current business telephone number (or, if unknown, the last known home telephone number) of every franchisee who had a Franchise Agreement or Development Rights Agreement terminated, canceled, or not renewed or who otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily ceased to do business under the Franchise Agreement or Development Rights Agreement during our most recently completed fiscal year or who has not communicated with us within 10 weeks of the issuance date of this disclosure document. If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the system.

During the last 3 fiscal years, our franchisees have signed confidentiality provisions. In some instances, current and former franchisees sign provisions restricting their ability to speak openly about their experience with the WING ZONE Franchise System. You may wish to speak with current and former franchisees, but be aware that not all such franchisees will be able to communicate with you.

For information about the WING ZONE Franchisee Advisory Council that we created, please contact Bruce Evans at our principal business address (the Council does not have its own contact address or telephone number). There are no other trademark-specific franchisee organizations associated with our System.

ITEM 21 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached as Exhibit G are the audited consolidated financial statements for Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, our parent company, as of December 25, 2022, and the year then ended, its audited consolidated financial statements as of December 26, 2021, and for the year then ended, its unaudited balance sheet as of June 11, 2023, and its unaudited profit and loss statement for the fiscal year-to-date period ending June 11, 2023. Wing Zone Holdings, LLC was formed on December 16, 2020, and therefore has not been in existence for at least 3 years. Wing Zone Holdings, LLC absolutely and unconditionally guarantees to assume our duties and obligations to you under the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement disclosed to you in this disclosure document. A copy of the Guarantee of Performance also appears in Exhibit G.

ITEM 22 CONTRACTS

The contracts following this Item 22 are listed in the order in which they appear. These are the only contracts which we will enter into with you in this state.

- 1. The Franchise Agreement with Site Selection Addendum
- 2. Development Rights Agreement
- 3. State Riders to Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement
- 4. Mutual Release
- 5. ACH Transfer Agreement
- 6. Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement
- 7. Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations
- 8. Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire

ITEM 23 RECEIPTS

You will find 2 copies of a detachable receipt as the final pages of this disclosure document. Please sign both acknowledging receipt of this disclosure document and return 1 copy to us for our files.

EXHIBIT A

STATE FRANCHISE REGULATORS AND AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

STATE AGENCIES/AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

Listed here are the names, addresses and telephone numbers of the state agencies having responsibility for the franchising disclosure/registration laws. We may not yet be registered to sell franchises in any or all of these states.

If a state is not listed, we have not appointed an agent for service of process in that state in connection with the requirements of the franchise laws. There may be states in addition to those listed below in which we have appointed an agent for service of process.

There also may be additional agents appointed in some of the states listed.

CALIFORNIA

Website: www.dfpi.ca.gov Email: ask.DFPI@dfpi.ca.gov

Commissioner of Department of Financial Protection & Innovation
Department of Financial Protection & Innovation
Toll Free: 1 (866) 275-2677

1011166. 1 (000) 273 207

Los Angeles

Suite 750 320 West 4th Street Los Angeles, California 90013-2344 (213) 576-7500

Sacramento

2101 Arena Boulevard Sacramento, California 95834 (866) 275-2677

San Diego

1455 Frazee Road, Suite 315 San Diego, California 92108 (619) 525-4233

San Francisco

One Sansome Street, Suite 600 San Francisco, California 94104-4428 (415) 972-8559

HAWAII

(for service of process)

Commissioner of Securities Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs Business Registration Division 335 Merchant Street, Room 203 Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 (808) 586-2722

(for other matters)

Commissioner of Securities Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs Business Registration Division 335 Merchant Street, Room 205 Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 (808) 586-2722

ILLINOIS

Illinois Attorney General 500 South Second Street Springfield, Illinois 62706 (217) 782-4465

INDIANA

(for service of process)

Indiana Secretary of State 201 State House 200 West Washington Street Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 (317) 232-6531

(state agency)

Indiana Secretary of State Securities Division Room E-111 302 West Washington Street Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 (317) 232-6681

MARYLAND

(for service of process)

Maryland Securities Commissioner at the Office of Attorney General-Securities Division 200 St. Paul Place Baltimore, Maryland 21202-2021 (410) 576-6360

(state agency)

Office of the Attorney General-Securities Division 200 St. Paul Place Baltimore, Maryland 21202-2021 (410) 576-6360

MICHIGAN

Michigan Attorney General's Office Consumer Protection Division Attn: Franchise Section G. Mennen Williams Building, 1st Floor 525 West Ottawa Street Lansing, Michigan 48933 (517) 335-7567

MINNESOTA

Commissioner of Commerce Department of Commerce 85 7th Place East, Suite 280 St. Paul, Minnesota 55101 (651) 539-1500

NEW YORK

(for service of process)

Attention: New York Secretary of State New York Department of State One Commerce Plaza, 99 Washington Avenue, 6th Floor Albany, New York 12231-0001 (518) 473-2492

(Administrator)

NYS Department of Law Investor Protection Bureau 28 Liberty Street, 21st Floor New York, New York 10005 (212) 416-8236

NORTH DAKOTA

(for service of process)

Securities Commissioner North Dakota Securities Department 600 East Boulevard Avenue, Suite 414 Bismarck, North Dakota 58505 (701) 328-4712

(state agency)

North Dakota Securities Department 600 East Boulevard Avenue, Suite 414 Bismarck, North Dakota 58505 (701) 328-2910

OREGON

Oregon Division of Financial Regulation 350 Winter Street NE, Suite 410 Salem, Oregon 97301 (503) 378-4140

RHODE ISLAND

Securities Division
Department of Business Regulations
1511 Pontiac Avenue
John O. Pastore Complex-Building 69-1
Cranston, Rhode Island 02920
(401) 462-9500

SOUTH DAKOTA

Division of Insurance Securities Regulation 124 S. Euclid, Suite 104 Pierre, South Dakota 57501 (605) 773-3563

VIRGINIA

(for service of process)

Clerk, State Corporation Commission 1300 East Main Street First Floor Richmond, Virginia 23219 (804) 371-9733

(for other matters)

State Corporation Commission Division of Securities and Retail Franchising Tyler Building, 9th Floor 1300 East Main Street Richmond, Virginia 23219 (804) 371-9051

WASHINGTON

(for service of process)

Director Department of Financial Institutions Securities Division 150 Israel Road SW Tumwater, Washington 98501 (360) 902-8760

(for other matters)

Department of Financial Institutions Securities Division P. O. Box 9033 Olympia, Washington 98501-9033 (360) 902-8760

WISCONSIN

(for service of process)

Administrator, Division of Securities Department of Financial Institutions 4822 Madison Yards Way, North Tower Madison, Wisconsin 53705 (608) 266-2139

(state administrator)

Division of Securities Department of Financial Institutions 4822 Madison Yards Way, North Tower Madison, Wisconsin 53705 (608) 266-9555

EXHIBIT B

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT—SUMMARY PAGES

The following is a list of all Fr the Franchise Agreement, eac execute the Restrictive Cov	anchisee's Principals, as defined and designated according to Section 17 h of whom shall (unless executing the Franchisee Guaranty Agreement as to Franchisee or Shareholder/Member/Partner of Franchiset at Exhibit C to the Franchise Agreement.	7 of ent)
Franchicae's Managing Owner	FRANCHISEE is His or her contact information for notic	e ic
NAME	description of the nature of their interest. OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN NATURE OF INTEREST	
Franchisee's Principals:	The following is a list of all shareholders, partners, members or other investors owning a direct or indirect interest in Franchisee and a	er
Facsimile Number: Mobile Telephone: Email:		<u> </u>
Telephone:		
Address for Notice:		
	☐ Corporation ☐ LLC ☐ Limited Partnership	
Franchisee: Type of Entity:	☐ Individual ☐ General Partnership	
Email:	wingzonefranchise@capriottis.com	
Telephone Number: Facsimile Number:	Las Vegas, NV 89113 (702) 736-3878 (702) 736-9878	
Address for Notice:	6056 S. Durango Drive	
Effective Date Franchisor	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	

Location:	
Opening Date:	
Initial Franchise Fee:	
D 1 4 F	
Royalty Fee:	
% of Gross Sales	
Summary Pages and agrees to and intends to	ts to the accuracy of the information contained in these be legally bound by the terms and conditions of the WING E Summary Pages, effective on the Effective Date set forth
FRANCHISOR:	FRANCHISEE:
WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	
By:	By:
Name: David Bloom	Name:
Title: Chief Operating Officer	Title:

(Franchise ID)



FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

by and between

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC

and

for a

WING ZONE RESTAURANT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
1.	GRANT OF FRANCHISE	1
2.	TERM	1
3.	LOCATION; NO PROTECTED TERRITORY	
4.	FRANCHISE FEE AND ROYALTIES.	4
5.	TRADEMARKS, TRADE NAMES, AND TRADE SECRETS	6
6.	RESTRICTIVE COVENANT	8
7.	OBLIGATIONS OF FRANCHISOR.	9
8.	OBLIGATIONS OF FRANCHISEE.	10
9.	EXAMINATION OF FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS RECORDS	22
10.	TERMINATION	23
11.	RIGHTS UPON TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION	26
12.	TRANSFER PROCESS	
13.	TRANSFERS TO FRANCHISEE'S FAMILY UPON DEATH	34
14.	FRANCHISOR'S RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL	34
15.	ASSUMPTION OF MANAGEMENT	
16.	DETERMINATION OF FAIR MARKET VALUE	36
17.	FRANCHISEE INFORMATION.	36
18.	DAMAGES FOR BREACH	37
19.	ENTIRE AGREEMENT	
20.	SEVERABILITY	37
21.	GOVERNING LAW	37
22.	SURVIVAL.	37
23.	LEGAL COUNSEL	
24.	COOPERATION.	
25.	WAIVER OF OBLIGATIONS AND FORCE MAJEURE	
26.	ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES	
27.	CONSENT TO JURISDICTION	
28.	LIMITATIONS ON RECOVERY	
29.	INDEMNIFICATION	
30.	SET-OFF RIGHTS.	
31.	NOTICES	
32.	INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS.	
33.	FRANCHISEE REPRESENTATIONS	
34.	NO WAIVER OR DISCLAIMER OF RELIANCE IN CERTAIN STATES	44

EXHIBITS

- A. Site Selection Addendum
- B. Franchise Guaranty Agreement
- C. Spousal Consent

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

This Franchise Agreement ("this Agreement") made this date	$_{__}$, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, having its principal	place of business at 6056
SOUTH DURANGO DRIVE, SUITE 100, LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 8	9113 ("Franchisor"), and
, a corporation, having its prine	cipal place of business at
("Franchisee").	

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Franchisor and its affiliates are the owners of the trademark, service mark, and logo "WING ZONE," which mark is registered with the USPTO under Registration Numbers 2,156,732, 2,702,061, and 3,937,385, and any other trademarks Franchisor and its affiliates may develop (collectively, the "Marks") and trade secrets, recipes and know-how for use in connection with the unique process and system for the preparation and sale of all of their food products (the "System"), together with all of the goodwill connected therewith; and

WHEREAS, Franchisee hereby acknowledges the requirement of appropriate safeguards for the maintenance and future promotion of the System by reason of its high standards of quality and service, and the fact that Franchisor and its affiliates have created over a period of years a superior reputation, name, identification and consumer demand for their products; and

WHEREAS, Franchisee hereby acknowledges and agrees to the exclusive right of Franchisor and its affiliates in and to the System as it is presently developed, or as the same may be improved upon during the term of this Agreement, including trade secrets, recipes, designs, trademarks, trade names, logos, signs and slogans presently in use and/or developed after the date of this Agreement, all of which may be used by Franchisee only based on the terms of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, Franchisee desires, upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to obtain and enter into the business of operating a restaurant utilizing the System at and from the location agreed upon in this Agreement, under the name "WING ZONE," subject to the training of Franchisor and in accordance with the standards of Franchisor presently in existence and/or as changed or modified at any time after the date of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the foregoing, the mutual agreements contained in this Agreement, and for other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by each of the parties, the parties hereby agree as follows:

- 1. Grant of Franchise. Franchisor hereby grants Franchisee during the term of this Agreement a non-assignable, non-exclusive right to use the Marks as designated and authorized by Franchisor, and the System, in the operation of a restaurant selling chicken wings, boneless wings, chicken sandwiches, chicken tenders, related food products, beverage products, and ancillary merchandise (the "Franchised Restaurant"). The Franchised Restaurant shall be limited to the designated location being specifically set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement or on the Site Selection Addendum (Exhibit A). Franchisee is hereby also granted the right to use the system of operation and method of doing business conceived and designated by Franchisor and its affiliates, and to buy supplies and products and to sell those items and products specified by Franchisor according to the procedures, system and methods defined in this Agreement and the WING ZONE Confidential Operations Manual (the "Manual").
- 2. <u>Term.</u> This Agreement shall be effective for a period of ten (10) years from the date of this Agreement (the "Initial Term"). Franchisee agrees to operate the Franchised Restaurant in INITIALS: _____:

compliance with this Agreement for the entire Initial Term unless this Agreement is properly terminated under Section 10.

When this Agreement expires (unless it is terminated sooner), Franchisee will have the right to acquire a successor franchise to continue operating the Franchised Restaurant as a WING ZONE Restaurant for ten (10) years under Franchisor's then-current form of franchise agreement, but only if Franchisee:

- (i) Has requested in writing a business review at least six (6) months, but not more than nine (9) months, before the end of this Agreement's term and then formally notifies Franchisor of its desire to acquire a successor franchise no less than three (3) months before the end of this Agreement's term;
- (ii) Has substantially complied with all of Franchisee's obligations under this Agreement and all other agreements with Franchisor or its affiliates related to the Franchised Restaurant, as noted in the business review Franchisor conducts:
- (iii) Continues complying substantially with all of its obligations under this Agreement and all other agreements with Franchisor and its affiliates related to the Franchised Restaurant between the time Franchisee formally notifies Franchisor of its desire to acquire a successor franchise and the end of this Agreement's term; and
- (iv) At Franchisor's option, has either (a) remodeled, upgraded, and re-equipped the Franchised Restaurant and otherwise brought the Franchised Restaurant into full compliance with then-applicable specifications and standards for new WING ZONE Restaurants before this Agreement expires (regardless of cost), or (b) agreed to relocate the Franchised Restaurant to a substitute site Franchisor has accepted and constructs and develops a new WING ZONE Restaurant at that site.

To acquire a successor franchise, Franchisee and its owners must (1) sign Franchisor's thencurrent form of franchise agreement (and related documents), which may contain terms and conditions differing materially from any and all of those in this Agreement, including higher Royalty Fees, Marketing Fund contributions, and Tech Fees (described in Section 8.18 below), and will be modified to reflect that it is for a successor franchise; (ii) pay Franchisor a successor-franchise fee equal to Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000); and (iii) sign a general release in the form Franchisor specifies as to any and all claims against Franchisor, its affiliates, and their respective owners, officers, directors, employees, agents, representatives, successors, and assigns. If Franchisee fails to sign and return the documents referenced above, together with the successor-franchise fee, within thirty (30) days after Franchisor delivers them to Franchisee, that will be deemed Franchisee's election not to acquire a successor franchise. If Franchisee (and each of its owners) is not, both on the date Franchisee gives Franchisor written notice of Franchisee's election to acquire a successor franchise (at or after the business review) and on the date on which this Agreement expires, in substantial compliance with this Agreement and all other agreements with Franchisor or its affiliates related to the Franchised Restaurant, Franchisor need not grant Franchisee a successor franchise, whether or not Franchisor had, or chose to exercise, the right to terminate this Agreement during the Initial Term.

3. Location; No Protected Territory.

	3.1 Th	ne street	address	of the	location of t	he Fr	anchised R	estauran ^a	t accepted in	ı this
Agreement is a	s referenced	d on the l	Franchi	se Agre	ement Summ	ary P	ages or the	location	designated is	n the
Site Selection	Addendum	signed	by the	parties	subsequent	to th	e execution	n of this	Agreement	(the
INITIALS::					2					

"Accepted Location"). The Franchisee shall operate the Franchised Restaurant under the terms of this Agreement at the Accepted Location and at no other location without prior written consent of Franchisor. Franchisee may not conduct any other business at or from the Accepted Location. Franchisee may not relocate the Franchised Restaurant to a new site without Franchisor's prior written consent, which Franchisor may grant or deny as it deems best. Franchisor may condition relocation approval on (a) the new site and its lease being acceptable to Franchisor, (b) Franchisee paying Franchisor a reasonable relocation fee, (c) Franchisee reimbursing any costs Franchisor incurs during the relocation process, (d) Franchisee confirming that this Agreement remains in effect and governs the Franchised Restaurant's operation at the new site with no change in the franchise term or, at Franchisor's option, Franchisee signing Franchisor's then-current form of franchise agreement to govern the Franchised Restaurant's operation at the new site for a new franchise term, (e) Franchisee signing a general release, in a form satisfactory to Franchisor, of any and all claims against Franchisor and its owners, affiliates, officers, directors, employees, and agents, (f) Franchisee continuing to operate the Franchised Restaurant at its original site until Franchisor authorizes its closure, and (g) Franchisee taking, within the timeframe Franchisor specifies and at Franchisee's own expense, all action Franchisor requires to de-brand and deidentify the Franchised Restaurant's former premises so that it no longer is associated in any manner (in Franchisor's opinion) with the System.

- 3.2 Franchisee acknowledges that the franchise is nonexclusive, Franchisee has no territorial protection whatsoever, and Franchisor and its affiliates retain all rights with respect to WING ZONE Restaurants, the Marks, the offer and sale of products and services that are similar to, competitive with, or dissimilar from the products and services the Franchised Restaurant offers and sells, and any other activities they deem appropriate, whenever and wherever Franchisor and its affiliates desire, without regard to the competitive impact on the Franchised Restaurant. Franchisor and Franchisee agree that Franchisor's and its affiliates' rights will be as broad as possible. Specifically, but without limitation, Franchisor and its affiliates reserve the following rights:
 - (a) to own and operate, and to allow other franchisees and licensees to own and operate, WING ZONE Restaurants at any physical locations (other than at the Franchised Restaurant's specific premises), in any geographic markets, and on any terms and conditions Franchisor and its affiliates deem appropriate;
 - (b) to offer and sell and to allow others (including franchisees, licensees, and other distributors) to offer and sell, on any terms and conditions Franchisor and its affiliates deem appropriate, products and services that are identical or similar to and/or competitive with those offered and sold by WING ZONE Restaurants, whether such products and services are identified by the Marks or other trademarks or service marks, through any advertising media, distribution channels (including the Internet), and shipping and delivery methods and to any customer, no matter where located;
 - (c) to establish and operate, and to allow others (including franchisees and licensees) to establish and operate, anywhere any business (whether operated at a set physical location or through trucks, vans, and other mobile methods) offering identical, similar, and/or competitive products and services under trademarks and service marks other than the Marks;
 - (d) to acquire the assets or ownership interests of one or more businesses offering and selling products and services similar to those offered and sold at WING ZONE Restaurants (even if such a business operates, franchises, or licenses a Competitive Business (defined in Section 6 below)), and operate, franchise, license, or

create similar arrangements for those businesses once acquired, wherever those businesses (or the franchisees or licensees of those businesses) are located or operating;

- (e) to be acquired (whether through acquisition of assets, ownership interests, or otherwise, regardless of the transaction form) by a business offering and selling products and services similar to those offered and sold at WING ZONE Restaurants, or by another business, even if such business operates, franchises, or licenses a Competitive Business; and
- (f) to engage in all other activities this Agreement does not expressly prohibit.

Franchisor has no express obligation or implied duty to insulate or protect Franchisee from or against erosion in its revenues or market share as the result of the Franchised Restaurant's competing with other foodservice businesses, non-traditional locations, or in the ways and to the extent this Section provides or contemplates. Franchisee waives any right to assert any claim against Franchisor based on the existence, actual or arguable, of any such obligation or duty. Franchisor is not required to pay Franchisee if Franchisor or its affiliates exercise any of the rights specified above.

- 3.3 Franchisor requires Franchisee to make food deliveries and/or utilize delivery services approved by Franchisor from the Franchised Restaurant located at the Accepted Location. Franchisee must comply with the procedures outlined in the Manual, which Franchisor may update from time to time.
- 4. <u>Franchise Fee and Royalties</u>. In consideration of the rights granted within this Agreement, Franchisee shall provide to Franchisor the following:
- 4.1 A one-time nonrefundable franchisee fee of _______ dollars (\$______) (the "Initial Franchise Fee") to be paid simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement. If this is a renewal franchise agreement, the renewal fee specified in Franchisee's expired Franchise Agreement shall be paid in lieu of the Initial Franchise Fee.
- 4.2 A royalty equal to ___ percent (__%) of Franchisee's total Gross Sales ("Royalty Fee"). The payment shall be due weekly on Wednesday ("Due Date") on account of the Gross Sales for the seven (7) days ending on the preceding Monday. Upon thirty (30) days' written notice, Franchisor can commence calculating the Royalty Fee bi-weekly as of the fifteenth (15th) and the last day of each calendar month, in which event the Due Date for the Royalty Fee shall be the fifth (5th) day after the end of the bi-weekly period. In the event Franchisee's restaurant is closed without Franchisor's approval for one (1) or more days ("Unauthorized Closure"), in addition to the Royalty Fee due from operations, Franchisee shall remit a Royalty Fee equal to the product of the average Royalty Fee for the sixty (60) days immediately preceding the date the Unapproved Closure occurred multiplied by the number of days of the Unauthorized Closure. In this event, the aforementioned Due Date shall be on the fifth (5th) day after the end of each reporting period.

On each Due Date, Franchisor will transfer from Franchisee's bank operating account ("Account") the amount reported to Franchisor in Franchisee's sales report or determined by Franchisor by the records obtained by Franchisor through Franchisee's point-of-sale system and Franchisor's approved software. Franchisor shall have the right to obtain directly from Franchisee's point-of-sale system or other software all information contained within this Agreement and compile a Royalty Fee report by accessing this information ("POS Data"). All POS Data must be submitted and/or accessible by the Due Date. If Franchisee has not reported Gross Sales to Franchisor for any fiscal period and

INITIALS: ____: ___

Franchisor is not using POS Data to determine the amount due, Franchisor will transfer from the Account an amount calculated in accordance with its estimate of the Gross Sales during the fiscal period. If, at any time, Franchisor determines that Franchisee has underreported its Gross Sales, or underpaid the Royalty Fee or other amounts due to Franchisor under this Agreement, or any other agreement, Franchisor may initiate an immediate transfer from the Account in the appropriate amount in accordance with the foregoing procedure, including administrative fee and interest as provided in this Agreement. Any overpayment will be credited to the Account effective as of the first reporting date after Franchisor and Franchisee determine that this credit is due.

In connection with payment of the Royalty Fee and other amounts by electronic funds transfer, Franchisee shall: (1) comply with procedures specified by Franchisor in the Manual; (2) perform those acts and sign and deliver those documents as may be necessary to accomplish payment by electronic funds transfer as described in this Section; (3) give Franchisor an authorization in the form designated by Franchisor to initiate debit entries and/or credit correction entries to the Account for payments of the Royalty Fee and other amounts payable under this Agreement, including any administrative fee and interest charges; and (4) make sufficient funds available in the Account for withdrawal by electronic funds transfer no later than the Due Date for payment thereof.

Failure by Franchisee to have sufficient funds in the Account shall constitute a default of this Agreement and may subject this Agreement to termination for cause as described within this Agreement. Franchisee shall not be entitled to set off, deduct or otherwise withhold any Royalty Fees, advertising contributions, Tech Fees, interest charges or any other monies payable by Franchisee under this Agreement on grounds of any alleged non-performance by Franchisor of any of its obligations or for any other reason. For purposes of this payment, "Gross Sales" shall mean the total of all revenue and other consideration generated by Franchisee from operation of the Franchised Restaurant whether from sales for cash or credit, and irrespective of the collection thereof, including sales of merchandise, products and services, excluding only (or, if applicable, reduced only by) the following: sales tax if paid to the appropriate government authorities; proceeds from the sale of equipment not in the ordinary course of business; promotional discounts initiated and formally requested by Franchisee and pre-approved by Franchisor in writing, provided physical evidence of the promotion is retained; discounts granted on food purchased by employees for their own consumption; and any other exclusions or reductions Franchisor specifically identifies (although without any obligation to do so) in the Manual. All transactions first will be (and must be) entered into the Information System at the full (non-discounted) retail price, plus all related fees and charges, for purposes of calculating Gross Sales. For the avoidance of doubt, Gross Sales are not reduced by the amount paid to, retained or collected by, or shared with third-party food ordering and delivery systems with which the Franchised Restaurant does business.

Royalty Fees received by Franchisor based on this Section shall not be deemed trust funds, nor shall Franchisor be required to segregate these funds in any way. Royalty Fees shall be deemed general funds of Franchisor for all purposes and shall be non-refundable to Franchisee.

If Franchisee's Royalty Fee specified at the beginning of this Section 4.2 is six percent (6%) of Franchisee's total Gross Sales but Franchisee (or its affiliate) fails to comply with its development obligations under its separate development agreement with Franchisor, Franchisor may immediately increase the Royalty Fee to seven percent (7%) of Franchisee's total Gross Sales, as provided in the development agreement.

4.3 Franchisee agrees to furnish Franchisor with monthly financial statements in the required format by the twenty-fifth (25th) of each month.

- 4.4 Franchisee agrees to furnish Franchisor with yearly tax returns for the Franchised Restaurant the earlier of the twenty-fifth (25th) of April, or thirty (30) days after the filing of said return with the applicable state and federal tax authorities.
- 4.5 Franchisee agrees to use Franchisor's chart of accounts in operating the Franchised Restaurant to facilitate consistent reporting to and the maintenance of uniform records for Franchisor.
- 4.6 If Franchisee fails to timely deliver any financial report required under this Agreement twice in any twenty-four (24) month period, Franchisor shall have the right to retain a bookkeeper to correct and maintain Franchisee's business records until Franchisor is confident Franchisee's financial reports accurately reflect the condition of the business. Franchisee shall reimburse Franchisor for these bookkeeping services at the rate of the greater of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) an hour or the actual out-of-pocket costs incurred by Franchisor. Franchisee agrees to fully cooperate with Franchisor and agrees to provide all requested information to Franchisor's bookkeeper.
- 4.7 In addition to Franchisor's other remedies, including, without limitation, the right to terminate this Agreement, if Franchisee fails to pay (or make available for withdrawal from its account) when due any amounts that Franchisee owes Franchisor or its affiliates relating to this Agreement or the Franchised Restaurant, those amounts will bear interest, accruing as of their original due dates, at one-and-one-half percent (1.5%) per month or the highest commercial contract interest rate the law allows, whichever is less. In addition, Franchisee must pay Franchisor a Two-Hundred-Fifty Dollar (\$250) administrative fee for each payment not made to Franchisor or its affiliate when due (or for each dishonored payment) to cover the increased costs and expenses incurred due to Franchisee's failure to pay the amounts when due.
- 5. <u>Trademarks, Trade Names, and Trade Secrets</u>. Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisee is required, if possible, to prevent those persons or parties associated with or employed by it from the unauthorized use of the Marks and also to maintain and control the quality of products sold through the use of those Marks.

Franchisee therefore covenants and agrees to perform and abide by the following provisions:

- 5.1 Franchisee shall not use the Marks or any stylistic or colorable variation thereof as: (i) part of a trademark, service mark or trade name of any corporation, partnership, proprietorship or other business entity in which Franchisee owns or holds any interest; or as (ii) the trademark, trade name or assumed name of any business entity except in connection with the terms of this Agreement and the Franchised Restaurant. Specifically, and without limitation, Franchisee may not use the name "WING ZONE" in the name of any corporation, partnership, proprietorship or other business entity in which Franchisee owns or holds any interest.
- 5.2 Franchisee shall not use any of the Marks in connection with any advertising, promotion, sale or distribution of any item or other product not included on Franchisor's approved list or for any service not offered by Franchisor without Franchisor's prior written consent.
- 5.3 Franchisee shall not use or allow the use of Franchisor's Marks in or on any promotional material, advertisement, display, business forms or other printed material without affixing the Marks to these materials in the manner required by Franchisor. All advertising and promotions must conform to the standards and requirements specified by Franchisor. Franchisee must submit to Franchisor, in the manner Franchisor specifies, for prior written approval, samples of all advertising and promotional

		_
INITIALS:		6
IIIIIALS	<u>·</u>	U

plans and materials to be used by Franchisee in the Franchised Restaurant and none of these materials may be used without the express prior written consent of Franchisor.

- 5.4 Franchisee shall use the Marks in the precise form prescribed by Franchisor and shall observe all directions from Franchisor regarding the presentation of the Marks and the manner of their display and use. All paper goods, advertising and promotional materials that have not been furnished by Franchisor shall be submitted by Franchisee to Franchisor for approval before use by Franchisee in the Franchised Restaurant. Franchisor's approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed for more than thirty (30) days after receipt of the proposed advertising material. If Franchisor fails to respond within thirty (30) days, the approval request shall be deemed denied.
- 5.5 Franchisee shall use the Marks only on any goods and/or for any services which are in compliance with the directions and specifications periodically issued by Franchisor and with other quality control measures now in effect or which Franchisor may adopt in the future to promote and defend the goodwill associated with the Marks. Franchisee is prohibited from using the Marks on any goods and/or for any services not in compliance with these directions and specifications issued by Franchisor.
- 5.6 Franchisee shall promptly discontinue use of the Marks, and shall take appropriate action to remove said Marks from the premises upon which its business is located upon the expiration, termination or revocation of this Agreement.
- 5.7 Franchisee understands and agrees that Franchisor has disclosed or will later disclose to Franchisee certain confidential or proprietary information and trade secrets. Except as necessary in connection with the operation of the Franchised Restaurant and as approved by Franchisor, Franchisee shall not, during the Initial Term or at any time after the expiration or termination of this Agreement, regardless of the cause of termination, directly or indirectly, use for its own benefit or communicate or divulge to, or use for the benefit of, any other person or entity any trade secrets, confidential information, knowledge or know-how concerning the recipes, food products, advertising, marketing, designs or methods of operation of the Franchised Restaurant or the System. Franchisee shall disclose to its employees only the confidential, proprietary or trade secret information as is necessary to operate its restaurant hereunder and then only while this Agreement is in effect. Any and all information, knowledge or know-how, including, without limitation, drawings, materials, equipment, marketing, recipes and other data which Franchisor designates as secret or confidential shall be deemed secret and confidential for purposes of this Agreement. Franchisee hereby acknowledges and agrees that all Franchisor's recipes and food preparation techniques are and shall remain trade secrets. Additionally, Franchisee agrees not to make any unauthorized postings of trade secrets on any Internet websites or electronic bulletin boards.
- 5.8 Franchisee and its shareholders agree that, in the event any trade secrets are disclosed in violation of this Agreement, then Franchisee and its shareholders shall be liable for damages with respect to loss of potential franchise fees, loss of royalties, attorneys' fees related to the breach of its promise, costs and any other damages or remedies deemed appropriate.
- 5.9 Franchisor reserves the right to change, revise or substitute different Marks for use in identifying the System, the Franchised Restaurant and the products sold or offered for sale through the Franchised Restaurant if Franchisor, in its sole judgment, determines that change, revision or substitution of different Marks will be beneficial to the System. In these circumstances, the use of the substitute Marks shall be governed by the terms of this Agreement. Franchisee shall comply with each change, revision or substitution and bear all expenses associated therewith. In the event that a court of competent jurisdiction should order, or if Franchisor in its sole judgment should deem it necessary or advisable, Franchisee shall modify or discontinue use of any Mark. Franchisee shall comply with

NITIALS: _____: ____: ____

Franchisor's directions regarding any of these Marks within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice from Franchisor or, if this modification or discontinuance is court-ordered, immediately. Franchisor shall not be obligated to compensate Franchisee for any costs or expenses incurred by Franchisee in connection with any of these modifications or discontinuances. Franchisee shall also use these additional or substitute Marks as Franchisor shall direct.

5.10 Unless otherwise approved in writing by Franchisor, Franchisee shall not establish a separate Website. However, Franchisor shall have the right to require that Franchisee have one (1) or more references or webpage(s), as designated and approved in advance by Franchisor, within Franchisor's principal Website, which is currently www.wingzone.com ("Franchisor's Website"). The term "Website" means an interactive electronic document contained in a network of computers linked by communications software, commonly referred to as the Internet or World Wide Web, including, but not limited to, any account, page, or other presence on a social or business networking media site, such as Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, and on-line blogs and forums ("Networking Media Sites"). Franchisor shall have the right to require that Franchisee not have any Website other than the webpage(s), if any, made available on Franchisor's Website.

Franchisee shall, to the extent allowed by applicable law, take such steps as are necessary to ensure that its employees do not violate Franchisor's policies relating to the use of Networking Media Sites, including, but not limited to, prohibiting employees from posting any information relating to Franchisor, the System, the Marks or the Franchised Restaurants on any Networking Media Site that is inconsistent with such policies.

- 5.11 Franchisee shall not, without Franchisor's prior written approval (which Franchisor may grant or deny as it deems best), use the Marks or any abbreviation or other name associated with Franchisor and/or the System as part of any e-mail address, domain name and/or other identification of Franchisee in any electronic medium. Franchisee agrees not to transmit or cause any other party to transmit advertisements or solicitations by e-mail or other electronic media without first obtaining Franchisor's written consent as to: (i) the content of such e-mail advertisements or solicitations; and (ii) Franchisee's plan for transmitting such advertisements. In addition to any other provision of this Agreement, Franchisee shall be solely responsible for compliance with all laws pertaining to e-mails, including, but not limited to, the U.S. Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003 (known as the "CAN-SPAM Act of 2003").
- 6. **Restrictive Covenant**. Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisor has granted Franchisee the rights under this Agreement in consideration of and reliance upon Franchisee's and its owners' agreement to deal exclusively with Franchisor with respect to the products and services WING ZONE Restaurants offer. Franchisee therefore agrees that, during this Agreement's term, neither Franchisee, its owners, nor any members of Franchisee's or its owners' Immediate Families (defined below) will:
 - (a) have any direct or indirect, controlling or non-controlling interest as an owner—whether of record, beneficial, or otherwise—in a Competitive Business (defined below), wherever located or operating, provided that this restriction will not prohibit ownership of shares of a class of securities that are publicly-traded on a United States stock exchange representing less than three percent (3%) of the number of shares of that class of securities issued and outstanding;
 - (b) perform services as a director, officer, manager, employee, consultant, representative, or agent for a Competitive Business, wherever located or operating;

		0
IITIALS:	•	X

- directly or indirectly loan any money or other thing of value, or guarantee any other person's loan, to any Competitive Business or any owner, director, officer, manager, employee, or agent of any Competitive Business, wherever located or operating; or
- divert or attempt to divert any actual or potential business of the Franchised Restaurant to a Competitive Business.

The term "Immediate Family" includes the named individual, his or her spouse, and all children of the named individual or his or her spouse. The term "Competitive Business," as used in this Agreement, means any business (a) in which the sale of chicken wings or the delivery of food constitutes 25% or more of such business' total gross product sales or (b) granting franchises or licenses to others to operate the type of business described in clause (a), other than a WING ZONE Restaurant operated under a franchise agreement with Franchisor. Franchisee agrees to obtain similar reasonable covenants from its senior personnel, including the Franchised Restaurant's manager, officers, and directors. Franchisor has the right to pre-approve the forms of agreements Franchisee uses solely to ensure that Franchisee adequately protects trade secrets and confidential information and the competitiveness of WING ZONE Restaurants. Under no circumstances will Franchisor control the forms or terms of employment agreements Franchisee uses with Franchised Restaurant employees or otherwise be responsible for Franchisee's labor relations or employment practices.

Upon Franchisor's termination of this Agreement for any reason, Franchisee's termination of this Agreement without cause, or expiration of this Agreement (without the grant of a renewal franchise), Franchisee and its owners agree that neither they nor any member of their Immediate Families will have any direct or indirect, controlling or non-controlling interest as an owner, whether of record, beneficial, or otherwise, or perform services as a director, officer, manager, employee, consultant, representative, or agent, in any Competitive Business located or operating: (i) at the Franchised Restaurant's site; or (ii) within five (5) miles of the Franchised Restaurant's site; or (iii) within three (3) miles of another WING ZONE Restaurant in operation or under construction on the later of the effective date of termination or expiration or the date on which the restricted person begins to comply with this Section, provided that this restriction does not prohibit ownership of shares of a class of securities publicly-traded on a United States stock exchange representing less than three percent (3%) of the number of shares of that class of securities issued and outstanding.

Franchisee, each owner, and their Immediate Families will each be bound by these competitive restrictions for two (2) years beginning on the effective date of this Agreement's termination or expiration. However, if a restricted person does not begin to comply with these competitive restrictions immediately, the two (2) year restrictive period for the non-compliant party will not start to run until the date on which that party begins to comply with the competitive restrictions (whether or not due to the entry of a court order enforcing this provision). The running of the two (2) year restrictive period for a restricted person will be suspended whenever that restricted person breaches this Section and will resume when that person resumes compliance. These restrictions also apply after transfers and other events, as provided below. Franchisee (and its owners) expressly acknowledges that it (and they) possesses skills and abilities of a general nature and has other opportunities for exploiting these skills. Consequently, Franchisor's enforcing the covenants made in this Section will not deprive Franchisee (and its owners) of personal goodwill or the ability to earn a living.

7. **Obligations of Franchisor**. Franchisor agrees:

	7.1	To make available to Franchisee the benefit of its knowledge and experience in
the installation	, comme	ncement and operation of the System.
INITIALS: :		9

INITIALS: ____: __

- 7.2 To make available to the Franchised Restaurant the benefit of its knowledge and experience in: (i) selection and installation of equipment and furnishings; (ii) appropriate décor and restaurant layout; (iii) purchase, location and installation of signs identified with the operation of the Franchised Restaurant; and (iv) the System. Franchisee shall pay Franchisor a one-time nonrefundable Development Services Fee ("Development Services Fee") in the amount of TEN THOUSAND Dollars (\$10,000.00) to be paid simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement for Franchisor's assistance with these matters.
- 7.3 To render advisory service regarding the operation of the Franchised Restaurant, including handling products and services in accordance with the System and Manual, and guidance on the operation of the Franchised Restaurant.
- 7.4 To provide quality control by conducting random, unannounced inspections of the Franchised Restaurant to ensure quality of products and services.
- 7.5 To provide electronic access to the Manual after this Agreement has been signed. If a paper copy is required, one (1) will be loaned to Franchisee for a non-refundable fee of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) and must be returned upon termination of the franchise relationship.
- 7.6 Except to the extent Franchisor determines to train Franchisee through virtual learning, e-learning, and distance learning, as provided in Section 8.20, to provide Franchisee with inperson training in Las Vegas and supervision and assistance to Franchisee and its employees at the Franchised Restaurant around the opening of the Franchised Restaurant ("Pre-Opening Event").
- 7.7 To assist in the set-up of the accounting system to be utilized by the Franchised Restaurant, as Franchisee is required to use Franchisor's chart of accounts.
- 7.8 To review monthly reports and other information of the Franchised Restaurant as may be required by Franchisor.
- 7.9 To render advisory services regarding advertising, promotional plans, and materials for local advertising.
 - 7.10 To provide a list of approved supplies and approved suppliers to Franchisee.

In the event Franchisor is required to expend more than two (2) weeks of effort in assisting Franchisee in opening the Franchised Restaurant (other than training and pre-opening events), Franchisor reserves the right to invoice Franchisee for the additional time at Franchisor's then-current rate for additional training as set forth in the Operations Manual. All obligations of Franchisor under this Agreement are owed solely to Franchisee, and no other party is entitled to rely on, enforce or obtain relief for breach of these obligations, either directly or by subrogation.

If Franchisee fails to pay any sum due Franchisor on the date payment is due, or is otherwise in default under any agreement between Franchisee and Franchisor, Franchisor may, at its sole discretion, withhold any supervisory assistance or other services listed in this Section 7.

8. **Obligations of Franchisee**. Franchisee agrees:

8.1 To specifically follow the requirements and procedures of the System as set forth in the Manual presently in effect and as may periodically be amended in Franchisor's sole judgment.

- 8.2 To hire a manager with full power and authority to control the daily operations of Franchisee's Franchised Restaurant (if the manager is not Franchisee's Managing Owner (defined in Section 8.21 below)). The manager, as with all Franchised Restaurant employees, shall be subject to the control of Franchisee. Franchisee understands that such a manager ensures an appropriate set-up and institutes proper and adequate general business practices, product preparations, service by employees, purchase of supplies and other appropriate standards or procedures to facilitate and assist in the effective operation of the franchise.
- 8.3 To employ the methods of operation specified by Franchisor, the Manual and the System to ensure the highest quality food products and services are provided to the consuming public. Franchisee understands there must be strict adherence, without variation, to the aforesaid method of preparation and presentation of the products sold by Franchisee and to all other requisites and directions set forth by the System now in effect and as modified by Franchisor periodically. Franchisee agrees to comply with all standards, procedures, and requirements for responding to customer complaints, including reimbursing Franchisor promptly if Franchisor resolves a customer complaint because Franchisee fails to do so as or when required.
- 8.4 To comply with all requests of Franchisor with respect to the appearance and use of the Marks licensed under this Agreement, including any requests to change the form or style or discontinue using any of said Marks.
- 8.5 To take necessary measures to obtain all appropriate licenses, permits and approvals to do business at the Accepted Location before opening the Franchised Restaurant and shall present evidence of the same to Franchisor upon obtaining these documents.
- 8.6 Unless the Franchised Restaurant operates at or within a Non-Traditional Venue (defined below), to spend at least thirty-thousand dollars (\$30,000.00) towards the Shop Launch Marketing Plan. Franchisee will pay to Franchisor fifteen-thousand dollars (\$15,000.00) no later than four (4) weeks before the Franchised Restaurant opens. A second payment of fifteen-thousand dollars (\$15,000.00) will be paid to Franchisor no later than ten (10) weeks after the Franchised Restaurant opens. The Shop Launch Marketing Plan will be created by the WING ZONE marketing department in collaboration with Franchisee, and Franchisor will implement the Shop Launch Marketing Plan on Franchisee's behalf. This plan covers marketing activities over the first four (4) to six (6) months of operation. The Shop Launch Marketing Plan for non-traditional locations will be prescribed on a case by case basis as applicable for the particular location.

If the Franchised Restaurant operates at or within a Non-Traditional Venue, Franchisee agrees to spend at least twelve-thousand dollars (\$12,000) towards the Shop Launch Marketing Plan. Franchisee will pay Franchisor this twelve-thousand dollars (\$12,000) no later than four (4) weeks before the Franchised Restaurant opens. The Shop Launch Marketing Plan will be created by the WING ZONE marketing department in collaboration with Franchisee, and Franchisor will implement the Shop Launch Marketing Plan on Franchisee's behalf. This plan covers marketing activities over the first four (4) to six (6) months of operation. A "Non-Traditional Venue" is defined to mean a captive-venue location, including, without limitation, airports, hospitals or medical centers, limited-access highway food facilities, bus or train locations, entertainment and sports complexes, convention centers, military facilities, schools, colleges, and universities, office facilities, department and retail super-stores, mobile units, off-site sales accounts, convenience stores, supermarkets, shopping malls, home-improvement retailers. and any type of location known colloquially as "virtual kitchens," "ghost kitchens," "ghost operations," or locations that operate on a delivery and/or pick up only basis.

11

If Franchisee signed this Agreement in connection with its purchase of the Franchised Restaurant from an existing franchisee (or, if applicable, from Franchisor or its affiliates), Franchisee must pay Franchisor seven-thousand five hundred dollars (\$7,500) to purchase marketing and advertising for the Franchised Restaurant's Transfer Marketing Plan, which covers marketing activities during the first two to three months after the transfer is completed. While the Transfer Marketing Plan's activities are being implemented and executed, Franchisee has no obligation to spend the monthly amounts specified in Section 8.7 below for local marketing.

- 8.7 After the Franchised Restaurant has been in operation for six (6) months and for the remaining portion of this Agreement's term, Franchisor requires that the Franchisee spend at least one and one half percent (1.5%) of the Franchised Restaurant's total Gross Sales each month towards local marketing efforts in the area around the Franchised Restaurant (although Franchisor recommends that the Franchisee spend up to four percent (4%) of the Franchised Restaurant's monthly Gross Sales for such purpose). Upon request, Franchisee agrees to supply Franchisor with documented proof of its spend towards local marketing efforts.
- 8.8 To obtain required insurance coverage before opening the Franchised Restaurant or upon signing the lease, whichever occurs first, from an insurer company with an A.M. Best's Review rating of not less than A-VII, and otherwise acceptable to Franchisor, to insure the premises and cover business operations and product liability with the following minimum limits: Comprehensive General Liability-bodily injury and property damage of \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 aggregate; Liquor Liability of \$1,000,000 aggregate (if applicable); Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability of \$1,000,000 by accident, \$1,000,000 by disease policy limit, and \$1,000,000 by disease each accident; Umbrella Liability of \$1,000,000 in excess of all other liability policies; and Property Insurance for 100% of the replacement cost of all furniture, fixtures, equipment, inventory, building (if applicable), and tenant build out in the Franchised Restaurant. Furthermore, Franchisee must carry Employment Practices Liability of at least \$1,000,000 aggregate, including third party coverage and Wage & Hour Defense cost of \$100,000 naming Franchisor as Co-defendant; Cyber Liability of \$1,000,000 for all data breaches, identity thefts, phishing attacks, and social engineering and data response/crisis management expenses; Trade Name Restoration coverage of \$500,000 per location to pay for Franchisee's lost profit from an actual or alleged contamination claim anywhere in the brand; and automobile and drivers' liability insurance with a minimum limit of \$1,000,000 per occurrence (including, but not limited to, owned automobiles titled or leased in Franchisee's name, as well as in the names of Franchisee's employees while carrying out their duties, which are used at any time, whether principally or occasionally in Franchisee's business, hired and non-owned coverage). Franchisor may at its option modify the types and amounts of required coverage upon written notice to Franchisee. Franchisee must comply with the modified requirements. The General Liability policy must name Franchisor as additional insured. The policies must contain a Waiver of Subrogation in Franchisor's favor, provide for statutory notice of cancellation to Franchisor, and be primary and non-contributory to any insurance Franchisor maintains. Franchisee must deliver a certificate of insurance, reflecting all required insurance coverage, to Franchisor upon signing its lease and 10 days before each renewal. If Franchisee fails to provide Franchisor a certificate, Franchisor reserves the right, but has no obligation, to place coverage on Franchisee's behalf for which Franchisee must reimburse Franchisor, including any administration fee that might apply, immediately upon notification from Franchisor.
- 8.9 To require all employees with permitted access to Franchisor's trade secrets or other confidential or proprietary information as is necessary in order to operate the Franchised Restaurant (as provided in Section 5.7 above) to sign a non-disclosure Agreement. Franchisor has the right to preapprove the forms of non-disclosure agreements Franchisee uses solely to ensure that Franchisee adequately protects trade secrets and other confidential and proprietary information and the

competitiveness of WING ZONE Restaurants. Under no circumstances will Franchisor control the forms or terms of employment agreements Franchisee uses with Franchised Restaurant employees or otherwise be responsible for Franchisee's labor relations or employment practices. Franchisee must keep copies of non-disclosure agreements and send them to Franchisor upon request solely for Franchisor to confirm Franchisee's compliance with its confidentiality obligations.

8.10 To ensure that the highest degree of quality and service is maintained. Franchisee must operate the Franchised Restaurant in strict conformity with the methods, standards and specifications as Franchisor may prescribe in the Manual or otherwise in writing. Franchisor must approve any and all products and services used in the operation of the Franchised Restaurant and suppliers from which products and services are purchased. Franchisee must use only approved or designated suppliers as Franchisee's exclusive suppliers and service providers as required by Franchisor in the Manual, which suppliers may include or be limited to Franchisor and/or certain of its affiliates. Franchisor's right to designate and approve suppliers and service providers for Franchisee may include construction management and architectural firms that will be involved in the design, construction, and development of the Franchised Restaurant. FRANCHISOR MAY, BUT IS NOT REQUIRED TO, NEGOTIATE PURCHASE ARRANGEMENTS WITH SUPPLIERS. If Franchisee proposes to purchase any products, equipment, forms, paper or other products used in the Franchised Restaurant (that Franchisee is not required to purchase from Franchisor or its affiliates) from a manufacturer, distributor, vendor or other supplier that Franchisor has not previously approved, Franchisee shall submit to Franchisor a written request for the approval or shall request the supplier to do so itself. None of these suppliers may be used by Franchisee without first obtaining Franchisor's prior written approval. Franchisor has the right to require, as a condition of its approval, that its representatives be permitted to inspect the supplier's facilities, and that the information, specifications and samples as Franchisor reasonably designates be delivered to Franchisor and/or to an independent, certified laboratory designated by Franchisor for testing before granting approval. A charge not to exceed the actual cost of the inspection(s) and the actual cost of the test(s) shall be paid by Franchisee. Costs shall include all costs incurred by Franchisor, including, but not limited to, Franchisor's oversight and administrative charges. Franchisor has the right to establish, periodically, the criteria used in evaluating alternative suppliers, which criteria may include, but not be limited to, price, quality, purchasing requirements and the economic impact on franchisees as a group from allowing Franchisee to purchase from alternative suppliers. Franchisor reserves the right, at Franchisor's option, to re-inspect the facilities and products of any of these approved suppliers and to revoke its approval upon a supplier's failure to continue to meet any of the foregoing criteria. Franchisor and its affiliates have the right (without liability) to consult with Franchisee's suppliers about the status of Franchisee's account with them and to advise Franchisee's suppliers and others with whom Franchisee, Franchisor, Franchisor's affiliates, and other franchisees deal that Franchisee is in default under any agreement with Franchisor or its affiliates (but only if Franchisor has notified Franchisee of such default).

Franchisor and/or its affiliates may derive revenue—in the form of promotional allowances, volume discounts, commissions, other discounts, performance payments, signing bonuses, rebates, marketing and advertising allowances, free products, and other economic benefits and payments—from suppliers that Franchisor designates, approves, or recommends for some or all WING ZONE Restaurants on account of those suppliers' prospective or actual dealings with the Franchised Restaurant and other WING ZONE Restaurants. That revenue may or may not be related to services Franchisor and its affiliates perform. All amounts received from suppliers, whether or not based on Franchisee's or other franchisees' purchases from those suppliers, will be Franchisor's and its affiliates' exclusive property, which they may retain and use without restriction for any purposes they deem appropriate. Any products or services that Franchisor or its affiliates sell Franchisee directly may be sold to Franchisee at prices exceeding their costs.

- 8.11 To maintain in sufficient supply and use at all times only those products, materials, supplies and methods of service as conform to Franchisor's standards and specifications and must refrain from using nonconforming items or methods without Franchisor's prior written consent. Franchisee also must sell, distribute or deliver only those products that meet Franchisor's standards of quality and quantity and that have been expressly approved for sale in writing by Franchisor; must sell or offer for sale all approved items; must refrain from any deviation from Franchisor's standards and specifications without Franchisor's prior written consent; must discontinue selling and offering for sale any items, products or services which Franchisor may disapprove in writing at any time; and must use only products bearing the approved Marks which meet the specifications of Franchisor.
- To permit Franchisor or its agents to conduct unannounced inspections at any reasonable time. Franchisee must permit Franchisor or its agents, at any reasonable time, to remove from the Franchised Restaurant samples of items without payment for these items, in amounts reasonably necessary for testing by Franchisor or an independent laboratory, to determine whether these samples meet Franchisor's then-current standards and specifications. In addition to any other remedies Franchisor may have under the Franchise Agreement, Franchisor may require Franchisee to bear the cost of this testing if the supplier of the item has not previously been approved by Franchisor or if the sample fails to conform to Franchisor's specifications. Franchisee grants Franchisor and its agents the right to enter the Franchised Restaurant at any reasonable time to inspect, photograph or video the Franchised Restaurant, equipment and operations in the Franchised Restaurant. Franchisee must cooperate with Franchisor's representatives in these inspections by rendering assistance as they may reasonably request. Upon reasonable notice from Franchisor or its agents and without limiting Franchisor's other rights under the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee must take the steps necessary to correct immediately any deficiencies detected during any inspection, including, without limitation, immediately desisting from the continued use of any equipment, advertising materials, products or supplies that do not conform to Franchisor's then-current specifications, standards or requirements.
- 8.13 To allow Franchisor to implement price advertising policies, and to specify maximum, minimum, or other pricing requirements for products and services the Franchised Restaurant offers and sells, including requirements for promotions, special offers, and discounts in which some or all WING ZONE Restaurants participate, in each case to the maximum extent the law allows.
- 8.14 To purchase or lease and install, at Franchisee's expense, all fixtures, furnishings, signs and equipment that Franchisor may reasonably direct in the Manual or otherwise in writing, including any that Franchisor may require in the future, such as security and video surveillance systems and any enhancements, additions, substitutions, modifications and upgrades. Specifically, Franchisor may require that Franchisee install and maintain systems that permit Franchisor to access and retrieve electronically any other information stored in Franchisee's computer systems, including images and information stored in Franchisee's security and video surveillance systems, at the times and in the manner that Franchisor may specify periodically. Franchisee must refrain from installing or permitting to be installed on or about the Franchised Restaurant premises, without Franchisor's prior written consent, any fixtures, furnishings, signs, equipment or other improvements not previously approved as meeting Franchisor's standards and specifications.
- 8.15 To submit to Franchisor, in the manner Franchisor directs, for its prior written approval samples of all advertising and promotional plans and materials that Franchisee desires to use and which have not been prepared or previously approved by Franchisor. Franchisee must display the Marks in the manner required by Franchisor on all signs and other advertising and promotional materials used in the Franchised Restaurant. All advertising and promotions by Franchisee in any manner or medium must be conducted in a dignified manner and must conform to the standards and requirements specified by

Franchisor. Franchisor may, periodically, but shall not be required to, provide Franchisee with advertising assistance. If Franchisee elects to do more advertising than the advertising provided by Franchisor, if any, Franchisee shall be responsible for all costs of this advertising and promotion. All of these advertisements, if any, must be approved by Franchisor in writing before use.

- 8.16 To not engage in any trade practice or other activity which is harmful to the goodwill or reflects unfavorably on the reputation of Franchisor or the System and the products sold from the Franchised Restaurant, which constitutes deceptive practices or unfair competition, or otherwise violates any applicable laws.
- 8.17 It is Franchisee's responsibility to select Franchisee's own location which must be approved by Franchisor. Franchisor must approve the lease if Franchisee does not own the premises, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Before executing the lease, Franchisee shall remit to Franchisor a copy of the proposed lease agreement with all amendments and addendum. The same procedure shall be followed before executing any amendments or extensions of the lease agreement. Franchisor will review and approve the lease to ensure it meets Franchisor's specifications, including the incorporation of Franchisor's standard lease rider included in Exhibit 1 of Exhibit A. The terms of the lease rider are hereby incorporated by reference. Franchisor's review is not a replacement for a review by Franchisee's own attorney.

Franchisor will give Franchisee its then-current criteria for WING ZONE Restaurant sites (including, without limitation, population density and other demographic characteristics, visibility, traffic flow, competition, accessibility, ingress and egress, size, and other physical and commercial characteristics) to help in the site-selection process. However, even if Franchisor recommends or gives Franchisee information regarding a potential site or site criteria, Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisor has made, and will make, no representations or warranties of any kind, express or implied, about the site's suitability for a WING ZONE Restaurant or the likelihood that Franchisor ultimately will accept that site for the Restaurant.

Franchisee must submit all information Franchisor requests when Franchisee proposes a site. Franchisor will not unreasonably withhold its acceptance of a site if, in Franchisor's and its affiliates' experience and based on the factors outlined above, the proposed site is not inconsistent with sites that Franchisor and its affiliates regard as favorable or that otherwise have been successful sites in the past for WING ZONE Restaurants. However, Franchisor has the absolute right to reject any site not meeting its criteria or to require Franchisee to acknowledge in writing that a site Franchisee prefers is accepted but not recommended due to its incompatibility with certain factors that bear on a site's suitability as a location for a WING ZONE Restaurant. Applying criteria appearing effective with other sites might not accurately reflect the potential of all sites, and demographic or other factors included in or excluded from Franchisor's criteria could change, altering a site's potential. The uncertainty and instability of these criteria are beyond Franchisor's control, and Franchisor is not responsible if a particular site fails to meet Franchisee's expectations.

Any guidance or assistance Franchisor provides with respect to the leasing process is not a guarantee or warranty, express or implied, of the Franchised Restaurant's success or profitability or of the suitability of the lease or sublease for Franchisee's business purposes. Franchisor's acceptance of a lease or sublease indicates only that Franchisor believes the site and the lease or sublease terms adequately protect Franchisor's interests and/or the interests of other franchisees in the WING ZONE system, to the extent those interests are implicated in the lease or sublease.

8.18 To acquire and subscribe to Franchisor's required Point-of-Sale System and a WING ZONE-specific suite of services at Franchisee's expense or another system ("Information INITIALS: _____: _____ 15

System") approved by Franchisor in Franchisee's Franchised Restaurant. Franchisee agrees that Franchisor shall have the free and unfettered right to retrieve any data and information from Franchisee's computers and Information System as Franchisor deems appropriate, including electronically polling the daily sales and other data of the Franchised Restaurant ("Data Mining"). Franchisee agrees that the Data Mining to be conducted by Franchisor is necessary for the successful operation of the System, and Franchisee consents to the installation of any and all software and/or hardware as may be necessary to facilitate the Data Mining.

Franchisor shall have the right to specify or require that certain brands, types and/or models of communications, computer systems and hardware be used by Franchisee, including without limitation: (i) back office and point-of-sale systems; menu-boards; loyalty programs; online ordering systems and services; gift-card programs; credit card processing systems and services; internet navigation software; email, telephone, audio, video, and surveillance systems; and training and operational support aids, which may include camera systems, virtual reality, and augmented reality hardware and software, for use at the Franchised Restaurant; (ii) printers and other peripheral hardware or devices; (iii) archival back-up systems; (iv) Internet access mode and speed; and (v) physical, electronic and other security systems (collectively, the "Computer System").

Franchisor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to develop or have developed for it, or to designate: (i) computer software programs that Franchisee must use in connection with the Computer System (the "Required Software"), which Franchisee shall install at its expense; (ii) updates, supplements, modifications or enhancements to the Required Software, which Franchisee shall install at its expense; (iii) the tangible media upon which Franchisee shall record data; and (iv) the database file structure of the Computer System.

Franchisee shall purchase from Franchisor or its affiliate the Computer System and, if applicable, the Required Software. Franchisor shall have the right at any time to remotely retrieve and use such data and information from Franchisee's Computer System or Required Software that Franchisor deems necessary or desirable. Franchisee expressly agrees to strictly comply with Franchisor's standards and specifications for all items associated with Franchisee's Computer System and any Required Software in accordance with Franchisor's standards and specifications. Franchise agrees, at its own expense, to keep the Computer System in good maintenance and repair and install such additions, changes, modifications, substitutions and/or replacements to the Computer System or Required Software as Franchisor directs from time to time in writing. Franchisor may require Franchisee to purchase from Franchisor or an affiliate an annual support package at Franchisor's or the affiliate's then-current prices for such support services. Franchisee agrees that its compliance with this Section shall be at Franchisee's sole cost and expense.

Franchisee and Franchisor acknowledge and agree that changes to technology are dynamic and not predictable during the term of this Agreement. In order to provide for inevitable but unpredictable changes to technological needs and opportunities, Franchisee agrees that Franchisor shall have the right to establish, in writing, reasonable new standards for the implementation of technology in the System; and Franchisee agrees that it shall abide by those reasonable new standards established by Franchisor as if this Agreement were periodically revised by Franchisor for that purpose.

Without limiting the amounts that Franchisor may require Franchisee to spend for the various items and services described above in this Section 8.18, upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Franchisee, Franchisee agrees to begin paying Franchisor a technology fee ("**Tech Fees**") equal to point sixty-five hundredths of one percent (0.65%) of the Franchised Restaurant's Gross Sales. The Tech Fee is due and payable at the same time, in the same manner, and covering the same time period as the Royalty

16

Fee, unless Franchisor otherwise specifies. Franchisor will use Tech Fees to fund the technology expenditures it deems best for the System (as well as company- and affiliated-owned WING ZONE Restaurants), including, without limitation, mobile training and operational performance software, cloud-based franchise-management solutions, IT phone support and database maintenance, digital marketing, online ordering and loyalty subscriptions, iPad mobile device management, and e-learning solutions. Franchisor may allocate and spend Tech Fees in its sole judgment, including for salaries, wages, and benefits, direct technology program costs, and overhead expenses for the activities described above. Franchisor has no obligation to account to Franchisee or other franchisees for Franchisor's use of Tech Fees or to ensure that Franchisee or the Franchise Restaurant benefits directly or pro rata based on Franchisee's payments of Tech Fees.

- 8.19 That Franchisee will, within nine (9) months from the date of written notice from Franchisor, remodel or re-equip the Franchised Restaurant in accordance with the specifications provided by Franchisor. This remodeling and re-equipping may include replacing worn out, obsolete or dated equipment, fixtures, furnishings and signs; structural modifications; redecorating; or purchasing more efficient or improved equipment. Franchisor may require Franchisee to perform remodeling and to purchase equipment at those times as Franchisor deems necessary and reasonable; provided, that Franchisor may not require any remodeling or re-equipping requiring an expenditure in excess of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) during the first two (2) years of the Term or fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00) in any five (5) year period, provided, however, that these dollar limitations do not apply in connection with:
 - (a) Franchisee's acquisition of a successor franchise (as provided in Section 2 above, Franchisor may require Franchisee, as a condition of acquiring a successor franchise, to remodel, upgrade, and re-equip the Franchised Restaurant and otherwise bring the Franchised Restaurant into full compliance with then-applicable specifications and standards for new WING ZONE Restaurants before this Agreement expires (regardless of cost));
 - (b) a Transfer (as provided in Section 12.3(b)(viii) below);
 - (c) updates or changes to the Information System and Computer System;
 - (d) Required Software upgrades; and
 - (e) A relocation (where Franchisee must develop the Franchised Restaurant at the new location in full compliance with Franchisor's requirements).

FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT EQUIPMENT, ALTERATIONS AND RENOVATIONS REQUIRED BY FRANCHISOR MAY INVOLVE SUBSTANTIAL ADDITIONAL INVESTMENT BY FRANCHISEE DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT.

8.20 That if the Franchised Restaurant has not previously opened for business, Franchisor will provide a training program to Franchisee before such opening. At least two people must complete the full WING ZONE training program (including Franchisee's Managing Owner) without charge. In addition, two additional employees must complete an hourly-team-member training program before the Franchised Restaurant opens for business. If Franchisee would like additional employees to attend the training program at the same time as Franchisee's Managing Owner, Franchisor may agree to provide this additional training at the fee determined by Franchisor. The training program is a blended learning training program including internet-based, classroom and on-site training at an approved training restaurant. Each training program may include instruction on sales techniques, products orientation,

accounting procedures, ordering and inventory controls, food preparation and operations management. The training shall be provided at Franchisor's headquarters or designated location(s) and shall also include uncompensated on-the-job training at an approved training restaurant. Franchisor may substitute virtual learning and "e-learning" for any training that otherwise would occur in person. Franchisee must obtain, at Franchisee's expense, access to a computer and high-speed Internet connection to access the online training portal. The training may be presented in installments and Franchisee's Managing Owner and other personnel will be required to attend all installments. Franchisor shall bear the direct training costs and expenses of the training (for instructors, manuals, classrooms), and Franchisee shall bear and pay all indirect training costs and expenses, such as any salary expenses of its employees and all expenses of travel, lodging, meals and other living expenses that Franchisee's Managing Owner and other personnel incur in attending the training program, which shall be borne and paid by Franchisee. Failure by Franchisee's Managing Owner and/or Franchisee's other required attendees to successfully graduate from training shall be grounds for termination of this Agreement. Cheating will also be grounds for immediate termination.

Franchisor has the right to charge the Franchisee for additional or supplemental support or refresher training outside of the standard pre-opening event and WING ZONE training program, as outlined in the Manual.

In addition, Franchisor has the right to require Franchisee's Managing Owner and other managerial personnel to participate in and successfully complete an extensive onsite training program at the Franchised Restaurant for up to six (6) weeks after the Franchised Restaurant has opened for business. Franchisor may charge Franchisee Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000). Franchisee must pay this amount on demand.

- 8.21 To designate an owner holding at least twenty percent (20%) of its ownership interests to serve as its managing owner (the "Managing Owner"). At all times during the Initial Term, the Managing Owner must meet the following qualifications and any other standards Franchisor sets forth from time to time in the Manual or otherwise communicates to Franchisee:
 - (a) Franchisor must approve the proposed Managing Owner in writing before the Effective Date. Franchisor has the right to approve or disapprove, as its deems best, any proposed change in the individual designated as the Managing Owner.
 - (b) The Managing Owner is responsible for managing the Franchised Restaurant. The Managing Owner must have sufficient authority to make business decisions for Franchisee that are essential to the Franchised Restaurant's effective and efficient operation. The Managing Owner must communicate directly with Franchisor regarding any Franchised Restaurant-related matters (excluding matters relating to labor relations and employment practices). The Managing Owner's decisions will be final and will bind Franchisee, Franchisor may rely solely on the Managing Owner's decisions without discussing the matter with another party, and Franchisor will not be liable for actions it takes based on the Managing Owner's decisions or actions.
 - (c) The Managing Owner may be the manager of the Franchised Restaurant or may designate another person to serve as the manager, provided the Managing Owner ensures that the manager fulfills all obligations under this Agreement. The Managing Owner remains fully responsible for the manager's performance.

If	Franchis	ee v	vants	or	need	s to	chang	e th	ne	individual	de	esignated	as	the	Ma	nagir	ng	Own	er,
Fr	anchisee	mus	t find	a	new	indiv	idual	(the	"	Replacemer	nt :	Managing	O	wner	")	for the	hat	role	in

INITIALS: ____: ___

order to protect Franchisor's brand. Franchisee must appoint the Replacement Managing Owner within thirty (30) days after the former Managing Owner no longer occupies that position. Franchisor must approve in writing the Replacement Managing Owner, who must hold the minimum ownership interest in Franchisee that Franchisor specifies. The Replacement Managing Owner must attend and satisfactorily complete the training Franchisor specifies. Franchisee is responsible for the Replacement Managing Owner's compensation and travel-related expenses during training.

8.22 To attend and participate in the Annual Franchise Convention, Regional Meetings, and System-Wide meetings held via web conference or teleconference. The costs of attending the Franchise Convention and Regional Meetings will be Franchisee's sole financial responsibility; provided, however, that attendance at in-person events will not be required at more than two (2) such programs in a calendar year and shall not collectively exceed six (6) business days in duration in any calendar year (not including travel time).

8.23 To make the following contributions and expenditures for marketing and advertising:

(a) Marketing Fund

- (i) Franchisee shall contribute to the National Marketing Fund ("Marketing Fund"), at the same time its pays the Royalty Fee due under Section 4.2, an amount that Franchisor designates periodically, which amount shall not exceed four percent (4%) of the Gross Sales of the Franchised Restaurant for the period. Franchisor shall establish and maintain a bank account for the purpose of administering the Marketing Fund, as described in this Agreement. Franchisee shall make contributions to the Marketing Fund as set out in this Section 8.23. Franchisor has the sole discretion to settle or forgive any accrued and unpaid Marketing Fund contributions owed by any franchisee.
- (ii) Franchisee agrees and acknowledges that contributions to the Marketing Fund are intended to increase recognition of the Marks and to further the public image and acceptance of the System and that Franchisor does not undertake any obligation to ensure that expenditures from the Marketing Fund are proportionate or equivalent to contributions to the Marketing Fund by Franchised Restaurants operating in the geographic area or that Franchisee or the Franchised Restaurant will benefit directly or in proportion to its contribution to the Marketing Fund. Neither Franchisor nor any of Franchisor's respective officers, directors, agents or employees, shall be liable to Franchisee with respect to the maintenance, direction or administration of the Marketing Fund, including the handling of contributions, expenditures, investments or borrowing, except for acts constituting willful misconduct.
- (iii) Franchisor shall make contributions to the Marketing Fund for each WING ZONE Restaurant that Franchisor or its affiliate owns.

INITIALS:	
II II IALD.	

- (iv) While Franchisee is in compliance with Section 8.23, Franchisee will be furnished with advertising materials which were produced with expenditures from the Marketing Fund for distribution to franchisees of the System on the same terms and conditions as the materials are furnished to other franchisees.
- (v) Franchisee shall make its contribution to the Marketing Fund on the date and in the manner designated by Franchisor, including bank drafting. Contributions to the Marketing Fund may be used to defray expenses of Franchisor only to the extent of the administrative costs and overhead that Franchisor may reasonably incur in administering the Marketing Fund.
- The Marketing Fund, all contributions to it and any earnings on (vi) those contributions shall be used exclusively to meet all costs of administering or directing and preparing maintaining. promotional and/or advertising activities. Franchisor has the sole discretion over how and where the Marketing Fund contributions are spent to promote, enhance or further the growth of the System, including, without limitation, promotional marketing and advertising expenses, hiring marketing, public relations and advertising agencies and in-house personnel to assist in developing the System's materials, branding and average unit volumes, expenses associated with listings in telephone books, subsidies of premiere/marquis restaurants designed to garner media attention and promote the brand name, travel expenses in connection with promotions and marketing meetings, training, development of trademarks and trademarked materials, production of circulars, media, advertisements, coupons and promotional materials (including point of purchase materials) and for any other use Franchisor determines. Additionally, Franchisor can use the Marketing Fund to pay for expenses incurred in developing and maintaining the non-franchise sales portion of Franchisor's website. All sums paid by Franchisee into the Marketing Fund shall be maintained in an account separate from the other monies of Franchisor and shall not be used to defray any of Franchisor's expenses, except for the reasonable administrative costs and overhead, if any, as Franchisor may incur in activities reasonably related to the administration or direction of the Marketing Fund and promotion and advertising programs for franchisees and the System, including, among other things, the cost of personnel for creating and implementing advertising, promotional and marketing programs. The Marketing Fund and its earnings shall not otherwise inure to the benefit of Franchisor.
- (vii) It is anticipated that all contributions to and earnings from the Marketing Fund shall be expended for promotional and/or advertising purposes during the taxable year in which the contributions and earnings are received. If, however, Franchisor

determines that funds should be retained and accumulated for major advertising purchases or any other reason, then funds may be held beyond the year of receipt. Generally, if excess amounts remain in the Marketing Fund at the end of the taxable year, all expenditures for the following taxable year(s) shall be made first out of accumulated earnings from the previous year, next out of earnings in the current year and finally from contributions.

- (viii) The Marketing Fund is not and shall not be an asset of Franchisor or its designate. A statement of the operation of the Marketing Fund as shown on the books of the Marketing Fund shall be prepared annually and shall be made available to Franchisee. Upon request, Franchisor shall make available for inspection by Franchisee the books and records of the Marketing Fund. At Franchisor's option, Franchisor can create a separate entity to be the recipient of Franchisee's Marketing Fund contributions and Franchisee agrees, upon Franchisor's request, to tender Marketing Fund payments to said entity.
- (ix) The Marketing Fund is not a trust fund. Franchisor shall have no fiduciary duty to Franchisee in connection with the collection or use of the Marketing Fund monies or any aspect of the operation of the Marketing Fund.
- (b) Regional Cooperative Advertising. Franchisee agrees that Franchisor shall have the right, in Franchisor's sole discretion, to periodically designate a geographical area in which the Franchised Restaurant is located for the purpose of establishing an advertising cooperative (the "Cooperative"). If a Cooperative has been established at the time Franchisee commences operations hereunder, Franchisee shall immediately become a member of the Cooperative. If a Cooperative is established at any later time during the Initial Term, Franchisee shall become a member of the Cooperative no later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the Cooperative commences operation. In no event shall the Franchised Restaurant be required to contribute to more than one (1) Cooperative. The following provisions shall apply to each Cooperative:
 - (i) Each Cooperative shall be organized and governed in a form and manner, and shall commence operation on a date, approved in advance by Franchisor in writing;
 - (ii) Each Cooperative shall be organized for the purposes of producing and conducting general advertising programs and activities for use in and around the applicable geographic area and developing standardized promotional materials for use by the members;
 - (iii) Franchisor-owned and affiliate-owned restaurants shall make contributions to each Cooperative of which it is a member on the same basis as required of comparable franchisees within the System;

- (iv) No advertising programs or materials may be used by the Cooperative or furnished to its members and no advertising or promotional activities may be conducted by the Cooperative, without the prior written approval of Franchisor. All of these programs, materials and planned activities shall be submitted to Franchisor for approval in accordance with the procedure set forth in this Agreement governing advertising approval;
- (v) Each cooperative shall have the right to require its members to make contributions to the Cooperative in amounts determined by the governing body of the Cooperative provided the maximum contribution shall be two percent (2%) of Gross Sales. Franchisor reserves the right to impose a flat-fee contribution, in lieu of a percentage of Gross Sales, which flat fee will not exceed two percent (2%) of Gross Sales;
- (vi) Franchisee shall make its contributions to the Cooperative on the date and in the manner designated by the Cooperative. Franchisee shall also submit statements and reports as may be designed by the Cooperative. The Cooperative shall submit to Franchisor statements and reports as Franchisor may designate;
- (vii) Franchisor, in Franchisor's sole discretion, may, upon written request of a franchisee stating reasons supporting the request, grant to any franchisee an exemption from the requirement of membership in a Cooperative. This exemption may be for any length of time and may apply to one (1) or more Franchised Restaurants owned by the franchisee. If an exemption is granted, a franchisee may be required to expend on local advertising the full amount that would otherwise be payable to the Cooperative. Franchisor, in Franchisor's sole discretion, may also exempt one (1) or more Franchised Restaurants owned or controlled by Franchisor from the requirement of membership in a Cooperative for those periods as Franchisor deems appropriate; and
- (viii) The Cooperative is not a trust fund. Franchisor shall have no fiduciary duty to Franchisee in connection with the collection or use of the Cooperative monies or any aspect of the operation of the Cooperative.
- 9. <u>Examination of Financial and Business Records</u>. Franchisor shall have the right, upon twenty-four (24) hours' notice:
- 9.1 to examine all financial and business records of Franchisee, including, but not limited to, invoices, deposits, withdrawals, bank statements, proofs of purchases and sales, cash register tapes and any other documents, data and/or records relating to the financial affairs or business operations of Franchisee (but excluding aspects relating to labor relations and employment practices); and

		22
IITIALS:	•	')')
HIIALS.	•	44

- 9.2 to have an independent audit made of the books of the Franchised Restaurant.
- (a) If an inspection should reveal that any payments have been understated in any report to Franchisor, then Franchisee shall immediately pay to Franchisor the amount understated upon demand, in addition to the administrative fee and interest on this amount (as provided in Section 4.7) from the date this amount was due until paid.
- (b) If an inspection discloses an understatement in any payment of three percent (3%) or more, Franchisee shall, in addition, reimburse Franchisor for any and all costs and expenses connected with the inspection (including travel, lodging, wage expenses and reasonable accounting and legal costs).
- (c) Franchisor has the right to terminate this Agreement upon discovery of three (3) of these discrepancies in a twenty-four (24) month period.
- (d) If an inspection discloses an understatement in any payment of ten percent (10%) or more, it shall constitute grounds for immediate termination of this Agreement, described in Section 10 hereof. The foregoing remedies shall be in addition to any other remedies Franchisor may have.

10. **Termination**.

- 10.1 <u>Termination Without Right to Cure</u>. Franchisee shall be in default and Franchisor may, at its option, terminate this Agreement and all rights granted in this Agreement, without affording Franchisee any opportunity to cure the default, effective upon the earlier of Franchisee's receipt of notice of termination or five (5) days after delivery of this notice by Franchisor, in accordance with Section 31, upon the occurrence of any of the following events:
 - (a) Franchisee (i) abandons the Franchised Restaurant, meaning Franchisee has deserted, walked away from, or closed the Franchised Restaurant under circumstances leading Franchisor to conclude that Franchisee has no intent to return to the Franchised Restaurant, regardless of how many days have passed since the apparent abandonment, or (ii) fails actively and continuously to operate the Franchised Restaurant (a failure to operate the Franchised Restaurant for five (5) or more consecutive days will be deemed a default under this clause (ii), except where closure is due to fire, riot, flood, terrorist acts, or natural disaster and Franchisee notifies Franchisor within four (4) days after the particular occurrence to obtain Franchisor's written approval to remain closed for an agreed-upon amount of time as is necessary under the circumstances before Franchisor will require Franchisee to re-open);
 - (b) Franchisee, its Managing Owner, or any person or entity owning twenty percent (20%) or more of Franchisee is proven to have engaged in fraudulent conduct, or is convicted of or pleads guilty or no contest to a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, or any other crime or offense, or is the subject of adverse publicity or media attention that is reasonably likely to have an adverse effect on the System, the Marks or the reputation or goodwill associated therewith; provided, that if the act or conviction involves an owner of Franchisee, Franchisor will not terminate this Agreement if Franchisee notifies Franchisor promptly after it learns of the event constituting the default, and within fifteen (15) days of the date of the notice, either the person or entity that committed the wrongful act divests his or its entire interest in Franchisee, or

Franchisee obtains Franchisor's consent for the owner to maintain his or its ownership interest:

- (c) An approved transfer is not effected within ninety (90) days of the death or incapacity of Franchisee or the death, incapacity or dissolution of any owner of an interest in Franchisee;
- (d) Franchisee is given three (3) or more notices of being in default under any of the terms or requirements of this Agreement within any twenty-four (24) month period, whether or not the defaults are timely cured after notice;
- (e) Franchisee knowingly or intentionally maintains false books or records or submits any false records, statement or report to Franchisor;
- (f) Franchisee, by act or omission, materially impairs the value of or the goodwill associated with any of the Marks or the System;
- (g) Franchisee, whether knowingly or unknowingly, underpays the required royalties by ten percent (10%) or more in a payment period;
- (h) Franchisee violates any employment laws, including taking, withholding, misdirecting or appropriating for Franchisee's own use any funds from Franchisee's employees' wages for employees' taxes, FICA, insurance or benefits;
- (i) Franchisee loses or is denied any federal, state or local license Franchisee must possess to operate the Franchised Restaurant;
- (j) Franchisee fails to open Franchisee's Franchised Restaurant within twelve (12) months after the effective date of this Agreement; provided, Franchisor has not agreed in writing to an extension, which extensions shall be granted by Franchisor in Franchisor's sole judgment;
- (k) Franchisee (i) loses the right to occupy the Franchised Restaurant's premises due to its lease default (even if Franchisee has not yet vacated the Franchised Restaurant's premises) or (ii) Franchisee loses the right to occupy the Franchised Restaurant's premises (but not due to its lease default), or the Franchised Restaurant is damaged to such an extent that Franchisee cannot operate the Franchised Restaurant at its existing location over a thirty (30) day period, and Franchisee fails both to relocate the Franchised Restaurant to a substitute site Franchisor accepts and to begin operating the Franchised Restaurant at that substitute site within one hundred twenty (120) days from the first date on which Franchisee could not operate the Franchised Restaurant at its existing location; or
- (l) (i) Franchisee makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or a petition in bankruptcy is filed by Franchisee; (ii) a petition in bankruptcy is filed against and not opposed by Franchisee; (iii) Franchisee is adjudicated as bankrupt or insolvent; (iv) a bill in equity or other proceeding is filed for the appointment of a receiver or other custodian for Franchisee's business or assets if filed and consented to by Franchisee; (v) a receiver or other custodian (permanent or temporary) of Franchisee's assets or property, or any part thereof, is appointed by any court of competent jurisdiction; (vi) a proceeding for a composition with creditors under any state or federal law should be instituted by or

against Franchisee; (vii) a final judgment remains unsatisfied or of record for thirty (30) days or longer (unless an appeal or supersedeas bond is filed); (viii) Franchisee is dissolved; (ix) any portion of Franchisee's interest in the Franchised Restaurant becomes subject to an attachment, garnishment, levy or seizure by any creditor or any other person claiming against or in the rights of Franchisee; (x) any execution is levied against Franchisee's business or property; or (xi) the real or personal property of Franchisee's Franchised Restaurant shall be sold after levy thereupon by any sheriff, marshal or constable.

- Section 10.1, Franchisee shall be in default hereunder for any failure to maintain or comply with any of the terms, covenants, specifications, standards, procedures or requirements imposed by this Agreement or in any Manual, policy and procedure statement or other written document provided by Franchisor or to carry out the terms of this Agreement in good faith. For these defaults, Franchisor will provide Franchisee with written notice and five (5) days to cure or, if a default cannot reasonably be cured within five (5) days, to initiate within that time substantial and continuing action to cure the default and to provide Franchisor with evidence of these actions. If the defaults specified in these notices are not cured within the five (5) day period, or if substantial and continuing action to cure has not been initiated, Franchisor may, at its option, terminate this Agreement upon delivery of written notice to Franchisee. These defaults shall include, without limitation, the occurrence of any of the following events:
 - (a) Franchisee fails to construct, remodel or to commence operating the Franchised Restaurant in accordance with this Agreement;
 - (b) Franchisee fails, refuses or neglects to promptly pay any monies owing to Franchisor, its affiliates, the Marketing Fund, or Franchisee's designated marketing Cooperative when due or to submit the financial or other information required under this Agreement;
 - (c) Any person or entity owning five percent (5%) or more of Franchisee makes a transfer of this interest in violation of this Agreement; provided, however, that Franchisee's right to cure this default shall be conditioned upon Franchisee immediately notifying Franchisor of the improper transfer and taking all actions necessary to either: (i) obtain Franchisor's approval thereof; or (ii) if approval is not desired or the transfer or transferee is not approved by Franchisor, to re-acquire the interest so transferred;
 - (d) A threat or danger to public health or safety results from the construction, maintenance or operation of the Franchised Restaurant;
 - (e) Franchisee misuses or makes any unauthorized use of the System or the Marks;
 - (f) Franchisee, by act or omission in connection with the operation of the Franchised Restaurant, permits a continued violation of any law, ordinance, rule or regulation of a governmental body;
 - (g) Franchisee is found liable by any judicial, administrative or arbitral body for violation of any federal, state or local laws barring discrimination on the basis of race, sex, national origin, age or sexual orientation or found liable for any common law civil claim the facts of which are grounded in allegations of discrimination on the basis of race, sex, national origin, age or sexual orientation;

- (h) Franchisee fails to pay any vendors to the System (other than Franchisor and its affiliates) any amounts due for Franchisee's purchases from them, or to use a vendor's required method of payment, and does not correct the failure within thirty (30) days after delivery of written notice of that failure to Franchisee, unless, in the event of non-payment, (i) Franchisee is in good faith contesting its liability for those amounts, (ii) Franchise notifies Franchisor in writing of the reason for the non-payment, and (iii) Franchisor agrees that Franchisee has a legitimate reason for the non-payment; or
- (i) Any other event of default not specifically enumerated above or in Section 10.1.
- Relief in Equity. Franchisee agrees that neither termination of this Agreement, nor an action at law, nor both, would be an adequate remedy for a breach or default by Franchisee or by any other persons bound by this Agreement, in the performance of any obligation relating to Franchisor's Marks or indicia, the trade secrets revealed to Franchisee in confidence based on this Agreement or the obligations of Franchisee and the other persons upon and after termination of this Agreement. The parties therefore agree that in the event of any of these breaches or defaults, in addition to all other remedies provided elsewhere in this Agreement or by law, Franchisor shall be entitled to relief in equity from a judge or arbitrator, at its option (including a temporary restraining order, temporary or preliminary injunction and permanent mandatory or prohibitory injunction), to restrain the continuation of any such breach or default, to close the Franchised Restaurant, to remove the Marks from the business premises or to compel compliance with such provisions of this Agreement.
- 10.4 <u>Termination by Franchisee</u>. Franchisee may terminate this Agreement if Franchisor commits a material breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement and fails to correct that breach within thirty (30) days after Franchisee delivers written notice to Franchisor of the breach; provided, however, if Franchisor cannot reasonably correct the breach within these thirty (30) days but gives Franchisee, within the thirty (30) days, evidence of Franchisor's effort to correct the breach within a reasonable time period, then the cure period will run through the end of that reasonable time period. Franchisee's termination of this Agreement other than according to this Section 10.4 will be deemed a termination without cause and Franchisee's breach of this Agreement.
- 11. <u>Rights Upon Termination or Expiration</u>. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, all rights granted hereunder to Franchisee shall terminate and revert to Franchisor, and Franchisee shall have the following obligations with respect to the Franchised Restaurant franchised under this Agreement:]
- 11.1 Franchisee shall immediately cease to operate the Franchised Restaurant and will not directly or indirectly represent to the public or hold itself out as a WING ZONE franchisee with respect to such business.
- 11.2 Franchisee shall immediately and permanently cease to use in any manner all confidential information, methods, procedures and techniques used by or associated with the System, the Marks and distinctive forms, slogans, signs, symbols, logos and devices associated with the System.
- 11.3 Franchisee shall immediately return to Franchisor any property held or used by Franchisee which is owned by Franchisor and shall cease to use, and shall either destroy or convey to Franchisor, all signs, advertising materials, displays, stationary, forms and any other materials that bear or display the Marks.

26

- 11.4 Franchisee shall take such actions as may be necessary to cancel any assumed name or similar registration which contains the Mark "WING ZONE" or any other Marks of Franchisor and Franchisee shall furnish Franchisor with evidence satisfactory to Franchisor of compliance with its obligation within thirty (30) days after termination or expiration of this Agreement.
- 11.5 Franchisee shall, if Franchisor so requests, assign to Franchisor any interest which Franchisee has in any lease for the Accepted Location. In the event Franchisor does not elect to exercise its option to acquire any lease for the Accepted Location, and unless otherwise directed by Franchisor, Franchisee shall, within ten (10) days after termination or expiration of this Agreement, make such modifications and alterations to the Accepted Location as may be necessary to distinguish the appearance of the Accepted Location from that of other Franchised Restaurants and shall make such specific additional changes to it as Franchisor may reasonably request.
- 11.6 Franchisee shall promptly pay all sums owed to Franchisor. Such sums shall include all damages, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by Franchisor as a result of the default and termination. Any outstanding obligations to Franchisor shall give rise to and remain, until paid in full, a lien in favor of Franchisor against any and all of the personal property, furnishings, equipment, signs, fixtures and inventory owned by Franchisee located on the Premises on the date this Agreement is terminated.
- 11.7 Franchisee shall pay to Franchisor all damages, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by Franchisor subsequent to the termination or expiration of this Agreement in obtaining injunctive or other relief for the enforcement of any term, covenant or provision of this Agreement.
- 11.8 Franchisee shall immediately deliver to Franchisor all manuals, policy and procedure statements, instructions and other materials related to operating the Franchised Restaurant, including brochures, charts and any other materials provided by Franchisor and all copies thereof, and shall neither retain nor convey to another any copy or record of any of the foregoing.
- 11.9 Franchisor shall have the option, to be exercised within forty five (45) days of termination, to assume Franchisee's assumed name or equivalent registration and business licenses, telephone numbers, white and yellow pages telephone directory listings and advertisements (whether in print or part of an Internet directory) and e-mail addresses and/or Internet domain names which contain the Marks, and Franchisee shall sign all documents necessary to permit Franchisor to assume Franchisee's rights in such items. If Franchisor elects not to exercise this option, Franchisee shall take all action necessary to cancel each of the items listed above and shall furnish Franchisor with evidence satisfactory to prove its compliance within fifteen (15) days after receiving notice of Franchisor's termination or expiration of this Agreement and the expiration of the option granted in this Agreement. In the event Franchisee fails to timely do so, Franchisor shall have the right, for which purpose Franchisee hereby appoints Franchisor as its attorney-in-fact, to obtain such cancellation on Franchisee's behalf and at Franchisee's expense.
- 11.10 Franchisee shall comply with the covenants contained in this Agreement, including the covenants not to compete and the covenants not to use or disclose trade secrets or confidential information.
- 11.11 Except in the case of a renewal, upon termination or expiration of this Agreement for any reason, Franchisor shall have the option to purchase the Franchised Restaurant, or any portion of the assets of the Franchised Restaurant (including any furniture, fixtures, equipment and improvements), which may include, at Franchisor's option, all of Franchisee's leasehold interest in and to the real estate

upon which the Franchised Restaurant is located, but not including any other interest in real property. The purchase price for the assets to be transferred will be determined as follows: Franchisor and Franchisee shall each deliver to each other their respective determinations of the value of the equipment and non-perishable inventory and then an appraiser shall be mutually selected by the parties to determine which value most closely approximates the fair market value. The valuation selected by the appraiser shall constitute the purchase price under this Section. The purchase price shall not include any value for tenant improvements, franchise agreement or goodwill. In the event the parties cannot mutually agree on an appraiser within ten (10) days of Franchisor delivering Franchisor's valuation to Franchisee, each party shall select an appraiser, both of whom then shall mutually agree upon a third appraiser to act as the appraiser, which shall occur within ten (10) days of Franchisor delivering Franchisor's valuation to Franchisee. The purchase price determined in this Agreement shall be adjusted by setting off and reducing the purchase price by an amount then owing by Franchisee to Franchisor or its affiliates, including any amounts paid by Franchisor to cure Franchisee's defaults with third parties such as landlords (the decision to cure amounts to be the sole decisions of Franchisor). The following additional terms shall apply to Franchisor's exercise of this option:

- (a) Franchisor's option will be exercisable by providing Franchisee with written notice of Franchisor's intention to exercise the option no later than thirty (30) days following the effective date of termination, in the case of termination (unless Franchisee terminates without notice or Franchisee terminates for cause, in which case Franchisor shall have thirty (30) days after receipt of actual notice of the termination or such additional time as is reasonably necessary given the circumstances), or at least thirty (30) days before the expiration of the Initial Term, in circumstances where no renewal is granted;
- (b) Franchisor and Franchisee agree that the terms and conditions of this right and option to purchase may be recorded, if deemed appropriate by Franchisor, in the real property records, and Franchisor and Franchisee further agree to sign such additional documentation as may be necessary to effectuate such recording; and
- (c) The closing on the purchase will take place no later than sixty (60) days after delivery to Franchisee of Franchisor's valuation of Franchisee's business. Franchisor has the unrestricted right to assign this option to purchase at any time to a third party, who then will have the rights described in this Section. Franchisor will pay in full the purchase price at the closing or, at Franchisor's option, in twenty-four (24) equal monthly installments, with interest at the rate equal to the prime lending rate as of the closing at Franchisor's primary bank. Franchisee must sign all documents of transfer reasonably necessary for purchase of the Franchised Restaurant by Franchisor or the third-party assignee, which documents shall include all customary representations and warranties from Franchisee as to ownership and condition of, and title to, the assets of the Franchised Restaurant being transferred. All assets must be transferred free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, with all sales and transfer taxes paid by Franchisee.
- 11.12 Franchisee agrees that it shall be obligated to operate the Franchised Restaurant according to this Agreement's terms during the period in which Franchisor or the third-party assignee is deciding whether to exercise its option to purchase and until the closing takes place and that a condition to closing is that the Franchised Restaurant has remained open during that time period. Franchisor or the third-party assignee may decide not to exercise its option to purchase at any time before closing if it determines that any of the conditions noted above have not been or cannot be satisfied. In the event that Franchisor or a third-party assignee does not exercise its right to repurchase the Franchised Restaurant as

28

described above, Franchisee shall be free, after such termination or expiration, to keep or sell to any third party all of the physical assets of Franchisee's Franchised Restaurant; provided, however, that all Marks are removed in a manner approved in writing by Franchisor, all amounts owing to Franchisor have been paid in full and operation of the restaurant post-sale will not violate the restrictive covenant provisions in Section 6 above.

12. **Transfer Process**.

- 12.1 <u>Transfer by Franchisor</u>. Franchisor may change its ownership or form and/or assign this Agreement and any other agreement to a third party without restriction. After Franchisor assigns this Agreement to a third party who expressly assumes this Agreement's obligations, Franchisor no longer will have any performance or other obligations under this Agreement. That assignment will constitute a release and novation with respect to this Agreement, and the new owner-assignee will be liable to Franchisee as if it had been an original party to this Agreement. Specifically, and without limiting the foregoing, Franchisee agrees that Franchisor (and, as applicable, its affiliates) may sell assets (including this Agreement), the Marks, or the System to a third party; offer its ownership interests privately or publicly; merge, acquire other business entities, or be acquired by another business entity; and/or undertake a refinancing, recapitalization, leveraged buyout, or other economic or financial restructuring.
- 12.2 **Transfer by Franchisee and Definition of Transfer**. Franchisee acknowledges that the rights and duties this Agreement creates are personal to Franchisee and its owners and Franchisor has granted Franchisee the rights under this Agreement in reliance upon Franchisor's perceptions of Franchisee's (or its owners') individual or collective character, skill, aptitude, attitude, business ability, and financial capacity. Accordingly, neither: (i) this Agreement or any interest in this Agreement; (ii) the Franchised Restaurant or any right to receive all or a portion of the profits, losses, or capital appreciation relating to the Franchised Restaurant; (iii) all or substantially all of the Franchised Restaurant's operating assets; (iv) any ownership interest in Franchisee (if Franchisee is an entity); nor (v) a controlling ownership interest in an entity with an ownership interest in Franchisee, may be transferred without Franchisor's prior written approval. A transfer of the Franchised Restaurant's ownership, possession, or control, all or substantially all of its operating assets, or the lease for the premises of the Franchised Restaurant may be made only with the concurrent transfer (to the same proposed transferee) of the franchise rights (with the transferee assuming this Agreement or signing Franchisor's then-current form of franchise agreement and related documents, as Franchisor may require). Franchisee may not transfer the lease or any of such other assets separate and apart from the franchise rights. Any transfer without Franchisor's prior written approval is a breach of this Agreement and has no effect, meaning Franchisee (and its owners) will continue to be obligated to Franchisor for all Franchisee's obligations under this Agreement.

In this Agreement, the term "**transfer**" includes a voluntary, involuntary, direct, or indirect assignment, sale, gift, or other disposition, including the following events:

- (a) transfer of record or beneficial ownership of stock or any other ownership interest or the right to receive (directly or indirectly) all or a portion of the profits, losses, or any capital appreciation relating to the Franchised Restaurant;
- (b) a merger, consolidation, or exchange of ownership interests, issuance of additional ownership interests or securities representing or potentially representing ownership interests, or a redemption of ownership interests;

- (c) any sale or exchange of voting interests or securities convertible to voting interests, or any management or other agreement granting the right (directly or indirectly) to exercise or control the exercise of any owner's voting rights or to control Franchisee's (or an entity with an ownership interest in Franchisee) or the Franchised Restaurant's operations or affairs;
- (d) transfer in a divorce, insolvency, or entity dissolution proceeding or otherwise by operation of law;
- (e) transfer by will, declaration of or transfer in trust, or under the laws of intestate succession; or
- (f) pledge of this Agreement (to someone other than Franchisor) or of an ownership interest in Franchisee or its owners as security or collateral, foreclosure upon or attachment or seizure of the Franchised Restaurant, or Franchisee's transfer, surrender, or loss of the Franchised Restaurant's possession, control, or management.

Franchisee may grant a security interest (including a purchase-money security interest) in the Franchised Restaurant's assets (not including this Agreement or the franchise rights) to a lender that finances its acquisition, development, and/or operation of the Franchised Restaurant without having to obtain Franchisor's prior written approval as long as Franchisee gives Franchisor ten (10) days' prior written notice. However, Franchisee may not pledge, hypothecate, or grant a security interest in any property that bears or displays the Marks (unless the Marks are readily removable from such property) and must advise its proposed lenders of this restriction. This Agreement and the franchise rights granted to Franchisee by this Agreement may not be pledged as collateral or be the subject of a security interest, lien, levy, attachment, or execution by Franchisee's creditors or any financial institution. Any security interest that may be created in this Agreement by virtue of Section 9-408 of the Uniform Commercial Code is limited as described in Section 9-408(d) of the Uniform Commercial Code.

In the case of the lease of the premises for the Franchised Restaurant, a prohibited disposition by Franchisee (or its affiliate) of the lease is deemed to include and encompass any act of the Franchisee (or its affiliate) as a result of which Franchisee (or its affiliate) relinquishes the right to possess the premises, including a proposed lease assignment, sublet of the premises, sale or other conveyance of possessory rights to the premises (whether or not with a formal lease assignment or sublet), or negotiated termination of the lease with the landlord or other event that enables another party to take over possession of the premises other than for the operation of a WING ZONE Restaurant. For the avoidance of doubt, Franchisor and Franchisee agree that their intent is to prohibit any action by Franchisee as a result of which the premises of the Franchised Restaurant no longer is used for the operation of a WING ZONE Restaurant by a party acceptable to Franchisor under a binding franchise agreement with Franchisor.

Franchisee acknowledges that its violation of the provisions above regarding a lease disposition would result in immediate and irreparable injury to Franchisor for which no adequate remedy at law will be available because of the uniqueness and distinctiveness of the particular location for a WING ZONE Restaurant in the market area, the potential exclusion of the WING ZONE Restaurant brand from that market area, and the adverse impact on the goodwill of the WING ZONE brand resulting from the cessation of operation of the Franchised Restaurant at the premises. Accordingly, Franchisee hereby acknowledges Franchisor's right to seek an injunction, waives bond, and agrees not to contest any application by Franchisor for such an injunction to prohibit any actual or threatened conduct by Franchisee in violation of the lease disposition restrictions. Further, Franchisee expressly agrees that the

'IALS: _____: ____:

existence of any claims it may have against Franchisor, whether or not arising from this Agreement, will not constitute a defense to the enforcement by Franchisor of Franchisee's lease disposition covenants.

- 12.3 <u>Conditions for Approval of Transfer</u>. If Franchisee (and its owners) is in full compliance with this Agreement, then, subject to this Section 12.3's other provisions:
 - (a) Franchisor will approve the transfer of a non-controlling ownership interest in Franchisee if the proposed transferee and its owners are of good moral character, have no interest in and do not perform services for (and have no affiliates with an interest in or performing services for) a Competitive Business, otherwise meet Franchisor's then-applicable standards for non-controlling owners of WING ZONE Restaurant franchisees, and sign Franchisor's then-current form of Franchise Guaranty Agreement. References to a "controlling ownership interest" in Franchisee or one of its owners (if an entity) mean the percent of voting shares or other voting rights resulting from dividing one hundred percent (100%) of the ownership interests by the number of owners. In the case of a proposed transfer of an ownership interest in Franchisee or one of its owners, whether a "controlling ownership interest" is involved must be determined both immediately before and immediately after the proposed transfer to see if a "controlling ownership interest" will be transferred (because of the number of owners before the proposed transfer) or will be deemed to have been transferred (because of the number of owners after the proposed transfer).
 - (b) If the proposed transfer is of the franchise rights granted by this Agreement or a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee or in an entity owning a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee, or is one of a series of transfers (regardless of the timeframe over which these transfers take place) in the aggregate transferring the franchise rights granted by this Agreement or a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee or in an entity owning a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee, then Franchisor will not unreasonably withhold its approval if all of the following mandatory conditions are met (provided, however, there may be no such transfer until after the Franchised Restaurant has opened for business):
 - (i) (a) the transferee has the necessary business experience, aptitude, and financial resources to operate the Franchised Restaurant, (b) the transferee otherwise is qualified under Franchisor's then-existing standards for the approval of new franchisees or of existing franchisees interested in acquiring additional franchises (including the transferee and its affiliates are in substantial operational compliance, at the time of the application, under all other franchise agreements for WING ZONE restaurants to which they then are parties with Franchisor), and (c) the transferee and its owners are not restricted by another agreement (whether or not with Franchisor) from purchasing the Franchised Restaurant or the ownership interest in Franchisee or the entity that owns a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee;
 - (ii) Franchisee has paid all amounts owed to Franchisor and its affiliates, has submitted all required reports and statements, and is not in breach of any provision of this Agreement or another

- agreement with Franchisor or its affiliates relating to the Franchised Restaurant;
- (iii) neither the transferee nor any of its direct or indirect owners (if the transferee is an entity) or affiliates operates, has an ownership interest in, or performs services for a Competitive Business;
- (iv) the transferee (or its owner) and its management personnel (including managing owner), if different from Franchisee's management personnel, satisfactorily complete Franchisor's then-current initial training program;
- (v) the transferee has the right to occupy the Franchised Restaurant's site for the expected franchise term;
- (vi) the transferee and each of its owners (if the transfer is of the franchise rights granted by this Agreement), or Franchisee and its owners (if the transfer is of a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee or in an entity owning a controlling ownership interest in Franchise), if Franchisor so requires, signs Franchisor's then-current form of franchise agreement and related documents (including a Franchise Guaranty Agreement), any and all of the provisions of which, including the Royalty Fee, Marketing Fund contributions, and Tech Fees, may differ materially from any and all of those contained in this Agreement, provided, however, the term of the new franchise agreement signed will equal this Agreement's unexpired term. However, if the transferee has the right to maintain possession of the Franchised Restaurant for no less than an additional ten (10) years following the transfer's proposed effective date, Franchisor may (but has no obligation to) grant the transferee a full ten (10) year term under the new franchise agreement signed if the transferee commits to repair and/or replace operating assets and upgrade the Franchised Restaurant in accordance with Franchisor's then-current requirements and specifications for new WING ZONE Restaurants within the timeframe Franchisor specifies following the transfer's effective date;
- (vii) Franchisee or the transferee pays Franchisor a transfer fee equal to the greater of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) or five percent (5%) of the sales price (but not to exceed Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000));
- (viii) the transferee agrees to repair and/or replace operating assets and upgrade the Franchised Restaurant in accordance with Franchisor's then-current requirements and specifications for a new WING ZONE Restaurant within the timeframe Franchisor specifies following the transfer's effective date;

- (ix) Franchisee (and its transferring owners) signs a general release, in a form satisfactory to Franchisor, of any and all claims against Franchisor and its affiliates and their respective owners, officers, directors, employees, representatives, agents, successors, and assigns;
- (x) Franchisor has determined that the purchase price, payment terms, and required financing will not adversely affect the transferee's operation of the Franchised Restaurant;
- (xi) if Franchisee or its owners finance any part of the purchase price, they agree that the transferee's obligations under promissory notes, agreements, or security interests reserved in the operating assets or ownership interests in Franchisee are subordinate to the transferee's (and its owners') obligation to pay Royalty Fees, Marketing Fund contributions, and other amounts due to Franchisor and its affiliates and otherwise to comply with this Agreement;
- (xii) Franchisee and its transferring owners (and members of their Immediate Families) agree, for two (2) years beginning on the transfer's effective date, not to engage in any activity proscribed in Section 6 above; and
- (xiii) Franchisee and its transferring owners will not directly or indirectly at any time afterward or in any manner: (i) identify themselves in any business as a current or former WING ZONE Restaurant or as one of Franchisor's franchisees; (ii) use any Mark, any colorable imitation of a Mark, any trademark, service mark, or commercial symbol that is confusingly similar to any Mark, or other indicia of a WING ZONE Restaurant for any purpose; or (iii) utilize for any purpose any trade dress, trade name, trademark, service mark, or other commercial symbol suggesting or indicating a connection or association with Franchisor.

Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisor has legitimate reasons to evaluate the qualifications of potential transferees and to analyze and critique the terms of their purchase contracts with Franchisee and that Franchisor's contact with potential transferees to protect Franchisor's business interests will not constitute improper or unlawful conduct. Franchisee expressly authorizes Franchisor to investigate any potential transferee's qualifications, to analyze and critique the proposed purchase terms, to communicate candidly and truthfully with the transferee regarding Franchisee's operation of the Franchised Restaurant, and to withhold consent, as long as its decision is not unreasonable, even if the conditions in clauses (i) through (xiii) above are satisfied. Franchisee waives any claim that Franchisor's decision to withhold approval of a proposed transfer in order to protect its business interests—if that decision was reasonable despite satisfaction of the conditions in clauses (i) through (xiii) above—constitutes tortious interference with contractual or business relationships. Franchisor may review all information regarding the Franchised Restaurant that Franchisee gives the proposed transferee, correct any information Franchisor believes is inaccurate, and give the proposed transferee copies

of any reports Franchisee has given Franchisor or Franchisor has made regarding the Franchised Restaurant.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 12 or elsewhere in this Agreement, Franchisor need not consider a proposed transfer of a controlling or non-controlling ownership interest in Franchisee, or a proposed transfer of this Agreement, until Franchisee (or an owner) and the proposed transferee first send Franchisor a copy of a bona fide offer to purchase or otherwise acquire the particular interest from Franchisee (or its owner). For an offer to be considered "bona fide," it must include a copy of all proposed agreements between Franchisee (or its owner) and the proposed transferee related to the sale, assignment, or transfer.

- 12.4 Transfer to an Entity. Notwithstanding Sections 12.2 and 12.3 above, if Franchisee is in full compliance with this Agreement, Franchisee may transfer this Agreement, together with all assets associated with the Franchised Restaurant, to a corporation or limited liability company conducting no business other than the Franchised Restaurant and, if applicable, other WING ZONE Restaurants and of which Franchisee owns and controls one hundred percent (100%) of the equity and voting power of all issued and outstanding ownership interests, provided that all Franchised Restaurant assets are owned, and the Franchised Restaurant is operated, only by that single entity. The entity must expressly assume all of Franchisee's obligations under this Agreement, but Franchisee will remain personally liable under this Agreement as if the transfer to the entity did not occur. Transfers of ownership interests in that entity are subject to the restrictions in Sections 12.2 and 12.3.
- 12.5 <u>Effect of Consent to Transfer</u>. Franchisor's consent to any transfer is not a representation of the fairness of any contract terms between Franchisee (or the owner) and the transferee, a guarantee of the Franchised Restaurant's or transferee's prospects of success, or a waiver of any claims Franchisor has against Franchisee (or its owners) or of Franchisor's right to demand full compliance with this Agreement.
- **Transfers to Franchisee's Family Upon Death.** Upon the death or permanent disability of Franchisee (or an individual with a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee), the personal representative of such person shall transfer Franchisee's interest in this Agreement or such interest in Franchisee to an approved third party. Such disposition of this Agreement or such controlling ownership interest (including transfer by bequest or inheritance) shall be completed within a reasonable time, not to exceed ninety (90) days from the date of death or permanent disability (unless extended by probate proceedings) and shall be subject to all terms and conditions applicable to transfers as provided in this Agreement; provided, however, that for purposes of this Section, there shall be no transfer fee charged by Franchisor. Failure to transfer the interest within said period of time shall constitute a breach of this Agreement. The term "permanent disability" shall mean a mental or physical disability, impairment or condition that is reasonably expected to prevent or actually does prevent Franchisee (or an owner of a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee) from supervising the management and operation of the Franchised Restaurant for a period of ninety (90) days from the onset of such disability, impairment or condition. In any event, the Franchised Restaurant must at all times be managed, at the expense of Franchisee, by a designated manager (including a Managing Owner) who has completed all of Franchisor's training requirements.
- 14. <u>Franchisor's Right of First Refusal</u>. If Franchisee, any of its owners, or the owner of a controlling ownership interest in an entity with an ownership interest in Franchisee at any time determines to sell or transfer for consideration the franchise rights granted by this Agreement and the Franchised Restaurant (or all or substantially all of its operating assets), a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee, or a controlling ownership interest in an entity with a controlling ownership interest in

34

Franchisee (except to or among Franchisee's current owners or in a transfer pursuant to Section 13, which are not subject to this Section 14), Franchisee agrees to obtain from a responsible and fully-disclosed buyer, and send Franchisor, a true and complete copy of a bona fide, executed written offer (which, as noted in Section 12.3 above, may be required to include a copy of all proposed agreements related to the sale or transfer) relating exclusively to the rights granted by this Agreement and the Franchised Restaurant, the controlling ownership interest in Franchisee, or the controlling ownership interest in the entity with a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee. The offer must include details of the proposed sale's payment terms and the financing sources and terms of the proposed purchase price and provide for an earnest money deposit of at least five percent (5%) of the proposed purchase price. To be a valid, bona fide offer, the proposed purchase price must be a fixed dollar amount, without any contingent payments of purchase price (such as earn-out payments), and the proposed transaction must relate exclusively to an interest in the rights granted by this Agreement and the Franchised Restaurant (or all or substantially all of its operating assets), a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee, or a controlling ownership interest in the entity with a controlling ownership interest in Franchisee. It may not relate to any other interests or assets. Franchisor may require Franchisee (or its owners) to send Franchisor copies of any materials or information Franchisee sends to the proposed buyer or transferee regarding the possible transaction.

Franchisor may, by written notice delivered to Franchisee within thirty (30) days after Franchisor receives both an exact copy of the offer and all other information Franchisor requests, elect to purchase the interest offered for the price and on the terms and conditions contained in the offer, provided that: (i) Franchisor may substitute cash for any form of payment proposed in the offer; (ii) Franchisor's credit will be deemed equal to the credit of any proposed buyer; (iii) the closing will be not less than thirty (30) days after Franchisor notifies Franchisee of Franchisor's election to purchase or, if later, the closing date proposed in the offer; (iv) Franchisee and its owners must sign the general release described in Section 12.3 above; and (v) Franchisor must receive, and Franchisee and its owners agree to make, all customary representations, warranties, and indemnities given by the seller of the assets of a business or ownership interests in a legal entity, as applicable, including representations and warranties regarding ownership and condition of, and title to, assets and (if applicable) ownership interests; Franchisee's and its owners' authorization to sell, as applicable, any ownership interests or assets without violating any law, contract, or requirement of notice or consent; liens and encumbrances on ownership interests and assets; validity of contracts and liabilities, contingent or otherwise, relating to the assets or ownership interests being purchased; and indemnities for all actions, events, and conditions that existed or occurred in connection with the Franchised Restaurant before the closing of Franchisor's purchase.

Once Franchisee or its owners submit the offer and related information to Franchisor triggering the start of the thirty (30) day decision-period referenced above, the offer is irrevocable for that thirty (30) day period. This means Franchisor has the full thirty (30) days to decide whether to exercise the right of first refusal and may choose to do so even if Franchisee or its owners change its or their mind during that period and prefer after all not to sell the particular interest that is the subject of the offer. Franchisee and its owners may not withdraw or revoke the offer for any reason during the thirty (30) days, and Franchisor may exercise the right to purchase the particular interest in accordance with this Section's terms.

If Franchisor exercises its right of first refusal and closes the transaction, Franchisee and its transferring owners agree that, for two (2) years beginning on the closing date, they (and members of their Immediate Families) will be bound by the non-competition covenants contained in Section 6.

If Franchisor does not exercise its right of first refusal, Franchisee or its owners may complete the sale to the proposed buyer on the original offer's terms, but only if Franchisor approves the transfer in accordance with, and Franchisee (and its owners) and the transferee comply with the conditions in, Sections 12.2 and 12.3 above. This means that, even if Franchisor does not exercise its right of first

refusal (whether or not it is properly triggered as provided above), if the proposed transfer otherwise would not be allowed under Sections 12.2 and 12.3 above, Franchisee (or its owners) may not move forward with the transfer at all. If Franchisee or its owners do not complete the sale to the proposed buyer within sixty (60) days after Franchisor notifies Franchisee that Franchisor does not intend to exercise its right of first refusal, or if there is a material change in the sale's terms (which Franchisee agrees to tell Franchisor promptly), Franchisor will have an additional right of first refusal during the thirty (30) days following either expiration of the sixty (60) day period or Franchisor's receipt of notice of the material change(s) in the sale's terms, either on the terms originally offered or the modified terms, at Franchisor's option. Franchisor has the unrestricted right to assign this right of first refusal to a third party (including an affiliate), who then will have the rights described in this Section.

Assumption of Management. Franchisor has the right (but not the obligation), under the circumstances described below, to enter the Franchised Restaurant and assume the Franchised Restaurant's management, or to appoint a third party to assume its management, for any time period it deems appropriate. If Franchisor, or a third party, assumes the Franchised Restaurant's management, Franchisee must pay Franchisor (in addition to the Royalty Fee, Marketing Fund contributions, and Tech Fees) three percent (3%) of the Franchised Restaurant's Gross Sales, plus Franchisor's (or the third party's) direct out-of-pocket costs and expenses, during this time. If Franchisor (or a third party) assumes the Franchised Restaurant's management, Franchisee acknowledges that Franchiseo (or the third party) will have a duty to utilize only reasonable efforts and will not be liable to Franchisee's creditors for any debts, losses or obligations the Franchised Restaurant incurs, or to any of Franchisee's creditors for any supplies or services the Franchised Restaurant purchases, while Franchisor (or the third party) manages it.

Franchisor (or the third party) may assume the Franchised Restaurant's management, at Franchisee's expense, under the following circumstances:

- 15.1 if Franchisee abandons the Franchised Restaurant; or
- 15.2 if Franchisee fails to comply with any provisions of this Agreement and does not cure the default or breach within the time period Franchisor specifies in its notice to Franchisee.

The exercise of Franchisor's rights under Subsections 15.1 or 15.2 will not affect Franchisor's right to terminate this Agreement.

- 16. **Determination of Fair Market Value**. For the purpose of exercising certain rights to purchase described in this Agreement, fair market value shall be mutually determined by the corporate accountant for Franchisor and the corporate accountant for Franchisee. In the event of a disagreement, the aforesaid accountants shall appoint an independent accountant that has not provided services to either Franchisee or Franchisor for three (3) years before such appointment whose determination shall be binding. In the further event that within thirty (30) days after attempting to choose an independent accountant, the two parties' accountants are unable to agree on a third independent accountant, then each party's accountant shall identify an independent accounting firm, and a firm will be randomly selected from those identified by flipping a coin. The selected accounting firm shall evaluate fair market value, and its determination shall be binding.
- 17. **Franchisee Information**. Franchisee shall furnish to Franchisor the names, addresses and telephone numbers of all shareholders, members, partners, executive officers, members of the Board of Directors and managers (including the Managing Owner), as the case may be, to be included in the Franchise Agreement Summary Pages before opening the Franchised Restaurant. In the event that Franchisee is an entity, before or simultaneous with the date of execution of this Agreement, Franchisee shall provide Franchisor with appropriate minutes and/or resolutions of Franchisee setting forth authority

of Franchisee to enter into this Agreement and the acceptance of all of the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

- Damages for Breach. In the event Franchisee breaches any of the obligations set forth in this Agreement or permits any default to continue after due notice, it shall be liable for all damages resulting therefrom, as well as Franchisor's reasonable attorneys' fees, costs of litigation and any other damages or remedies determined as appropriate by an arbitrator or, where applicable, court of competent jurisdiction. These damages are to be deemed cumulative and in addition to any other rights or remedies to which Franchisor may be entitled. EXCEPT FOR CLAIMS FRANCHISOR HAS FOR VIOLATIONS OF ITS INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, FRANCHISOR AND FRANCHISEE (AND FRANCHISEE'S OWNERS AND GUARANTORS, IF APPLICABLE), HEREBY WAIVE TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW ANY RIGHT TO OR CLAIM FOR ANY PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES AGAINST THE OTHER AND AGREE THAT IN THE EVENT OF A DISPUTE BETWEEN FRANCHISOR AND FRANCHISEE EACH SHALL BE LIMITED SOLELY TO THE RECOVERY OF ANY ACTUAL DAMAGES SUSTAINED BY THE NON-BREACHING PARTY.
- 19. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement shall supersede all prior agreements, representations, warranties and understandings between the parties, except that nothing in this Agreement is intended to disclaim any representations made in the Franchise Disclosure Document. Any modification or waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement shall be effective only if made in writing and signed with the same formality as this Agreement. The rights and interest of Franchisee under this Agreement are and shall remain personal to Franchisee.
- 20. <u>Severability</u>. In the event any one (1) or more of the sections or clauses contained in this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, this Agreement shall be construed as though such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained in this Agreement, and there shall be deemed substituted such other provision as will most nearly accomplish the intent of the parties if permitted by applicable law.
- 21. Governing Law. This Agreement is a Nevada contract and is to be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Nevada, without regard to its conflict of laws rules, except that any Nevada law regulating the offer or sale of franchises, business opportunities, or similar interests, or governing the relationship between a franchisor and a franchisee or any similar relationship, will not apply unless its jurisdictional requirements are met independently without reference to this Section.
- 22. <u>Survival</u>. This Agreement shall survive the death of the parties and the death of the heirs, executors and/or assigns, personal representatives and successors-in-interests of the parties.
- 23. <u>Legal Counsel</u>. Each party has either received independent legal advice before signing this Agreement or has been advised of its rights to have the same and has elected not to retain an attorney. Each of the parties further declares that it has signed this Agreement freely and voluntarily.
- 24. <u>Cooperation</u>. The parties agree to sign any and all documents, papers or other writings that are necessary to give full force and effect to this Agreement.
- 25. <u>Waiver of Obligations and Force Majeure</u>. Franchisor and Franchisee may in writing unilaterally waive or reduce any contractual obligation or restriction upon the other, effective upon delivery of written notice to the other or another effective date stated in the waiver notice. However, no

interpretation, change, termination, or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will bind Franchisor unless in writing, signed by one of Franchisor's officers, and specifically identified as an amendment to this Agreement. No modification, waiver, termination, discharge, or cancellation of this Agreement affects the right of any party to this Agreement to enforce any claim or right under this Agreement, whether or not liquidated, which occurred before the date of such modification, waiver, termination, discharge, or cancellation. Any waiver granted is without prejudice to any other rights Franchisor or Franchisee has, is subject to continuing review, and may be revoked at any time and for any reason effective upon delivery of ten (10) days' prior written notice.

Franchisor and Franchisee will not waive or impair any right, power, or option this Agreement reserves (including Franchisor's right to demand Franchisee's strict compliance with every term, condition, and covenant or to declare any breach to be a default and to terminate this Agreement before the Initial Term expires) because of any custom or practice varying from this Agreement's terms; Franchisor's or Franchisee's failure, refusal, or neglect to exercise any right under this Agreement or to insist upon the other's compliance with this Agreement, including Franchisee's compliance with any of Franchisor's standards and specifications; Franchisor's waiver of or failure to exercise any right, power, or option, whether of the same, similar, or different nature, with other WING ZONE Restaurants; the existence of franchise agreements for other WING ZONE Restaurants containing provisions differing from those contained in this Agreement; or Franchisor's acceptance of any payments from Franchisee after any breach of this Agreement. No special or restrictive legend or endorsement on any payment or similar item given to Franchisor will be a waiver, compromise, settlement, or accord and satisfaction. Franchisor may remove any legend or endorsement, which will have no effect.

Neither Franchisor nor Franchisee will be liable for loss or damage or be in breach of this Agreement if its failure to perform obligations results from: (i) acts of God; (ii) fires, strikes, embargoes, war, terrorist acts or similar events, or riot; (iii) compliance with the orders, requests, or regulations of any federal, state, or municipal government; or (iv) any other similar event or cause. Any delay resulting from these causes will extend performance accordingly or excuse performance, in whole or in part, as may be reasonable. However, these causes will not excuse payment of amounts owed at the time of the occurrence or payment of amounts due afterward. Under no circumstances do any financing delays, difficulties, or shortages excuse Franchisee's failure to perform or delay in performing its obligations under this Agreement.

Arbitration of Disputes. The parties agree that, if any disputes cannot be resolved directly between Franchisee and Franchisor, any action arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the making, performance or interpretation of this Agreement, or the relationship between the parties shall be resolved, except as elsewhere expressly provided in this Agreement, by binding arbitration, on demand of either party, in accordance with the Federal Arbitration Act under the Commercial Arbitration Rules then prevailing of the American Arbitration Association, including, without limitation, the Optional Rules for Emergency Measures of Protection ("AAA"), and not under any state arbitration laws. All proceedings during the arbitration that require the parties' physical presence will be conducted at a suitable location that is within ten (10) miles of where Franchisor has its principal business address when the arbitration demand is filed. The arbitrator will have no authority to select a different hearing locale other than as described in the prior sentence. Judgment on the arbitration award may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction. Franchisee and Franchisor agree that arbitration shall be conducted on an individual basis, and may not be conducted on a class-wide, joint, or consolidated basis. The Federal Arbitration Act shall apply to all arbitration questions. Any award by the arbitrator(s) shall be final, binding and non-appealable, except for errors of law. Unless the parties agree in writing at the time an arbitration proceeding is commenced to the identity of a single arbitrator, each party shall select one (1) arbitrator and the two (2) arbitrators selected shall select a third arbitrator. The third arbitrator selected

38

shall serve as the sole arbitrator in the matter and shall have at least ten (10) years of experience in practicing franchise law as being her or his primary area of practice and her or his decision shall be binding. Franchisee understands that by agreeing to arbitrate it gives up jury and appeal and other rights it might have in court. Franchisee knowingly and voluntarily waives any right to litigate any dispute relating to this Agreement (except as otherwise provided in this Agreement). Franchisee further knowingly and voluntarily waives any right to arbitrate any dispute relating to this Agreement outside of ten (10) miles of where Franchisor has its principal business address when the arbitration demand is filed.

With understanding of the provisions of the above paragraph, Franchisee agrees that Franchisor, at its option, will have the right to seek preliminary injunctive relief from a court of competent jurisdiction to restrain any conduct by Franchisee in the development or operation of the Franchised Restaurant that could materially damage the goodwill associated with the Marks, provided that if Franchisee counters by initiating AAA arbitration in the required forum, Franchisor agrees to arbitrate the entire dispute from that point on, except preliminary injunctive relief (and permanent injunctive relief also, if Franchisee will not agree that the preliminary injunction shall remain effective indefinitely until the arbitrator shall dissolve it), leaving the court action pending, if it chooses, to facilitate enforcement. Franchisee agrees Franchisor will not be required to post a bond to obtain any injunctive relief with respect to use of the Marks or use of Franchisor's trade secrets, including, but not limited to, recipes and/or food preparation techniques.

FRANCHISOR AND FRANCHISEE (AND FRANCHISEE'S OWNERS AND GUARANTORS) IRREVOCABLY WAIVE THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY AND THE RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE IN ANY CLASS ACTION, WHETHER AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, BROUGHT BY FRANCHISOR AND/OR FRANCHISEE. FRANCHISOR AND FRANCHISEE (AND FRANCHISEE'S OWNERS AND GUARANTORS) ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY MAKE THIS WAIVER KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, WITHOUT DURESS, AND ONLY AFTER CONSIDERING THIS WAIVER'S RAMIFICATIONS.

- Consent to Jurisdiction. Subject to the arbitration obligations in Section 26, Franchisee and its owners agree that all judicial actions brought by Franchisor against Franchisee or its owners, or by Franchisee or its owners against Franchisor, its affiliates, or their respective owners, officers, directors, agents, or employees, must be brought exclusively in the state or federal court of general jurisdiction located closest to where Franchisor has its principal business address when the action is commenced. Franchisee and each of its owners irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of such courts and waive any objection they might have to either jurisdiction or venue. Despite the foregoing, Franchisor may bring an action seeking a temporary restraining order or temporary or preliminary injunctive relief, or to enforce an arbitration award, in any federal or state court in the state in which Franchisee resides or the Franchised Restaurant is located.
- 28. <u>Limitations on Recovery</u>. Franchisee agrees that the only person or entity from which it may seek damages or any remedy for any dispute arising under this Agreement, including the breach of this Agreement, is the Franchisor, its successors or assigns. Franchisee agrees that it will not name Franchisor's shareholders, directors, officers, employees or agents in any arbitration or legal action. Franchisee acknowledges that Franchisor has relied on Franchisee's agreement to the provisions of this Section 28 in signing this Agreement.
- 29. <u>Indemnification</u>. As used in this Section, the phrase "Losses and Expenses" shall include, all losses, compensatory, exemplary or punitive damages, fines, charges, costs, lost profits, attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, expert witness fees, expenses, court costs, settlement amounts, judgments, compensation for damages to Franchisor's reputation and goodwill, costs of or resulting from

delays, financing, costs of advertising material and media time/space and costs of changing, substituting or replacing the same, and any and all expenses of recall, refunds, compensation, public notices and other such amounts incurred in connection with the matters described.

29.1 Franchisor shall not be liable by reason of any act or omission of Franchisee in its conduct of the operation of its Franchised Restaurant or for any claim, cause of action or judgment arising therefrom against Franchisee or Franchisor. Franchisee agrees to hold harmless, defend and indemnify Franchisor and its owners, officers, directors, agents and employees ("Indemnitees") from and against any and all Losses and Expenses arising out of or in connection with any claim or cause of action in which Franchisor shall be a named defendant and which arises, directly or indirectly, out of the operation of, or in connection with, the Franchised Restaurant or Franchisee's activities under this Agreement, other than a claim resulting directly from Franchisor's gross negligence.

Franchisee shall promptly pay to Franchisor an amount equal to all taxes levied or assessed, including unemployment taxes, sales taxes, use taxes, withholding taxes, excise taxes, personal property taxes, intangible property taxes, gross receipt taxes, taxes on royalties or any similar taxes or levies, imposed upon or required to be collected or paid by Franchisor or Franchisor's affiliates by reason of the furnishing of products, intangible property (including trademarks and trade names) or services by Franchisor to Franchisee through the sale, license or lease of property or property rights provided by this Agreement.

- 29.2 Franchisee shall promptly notify Franchisor of any action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, inquiry or investigation as described in Section 29.1. If Franchisor is or may be named as a party in any such action, Franchisor may elect (but under no circumstances will be obligated) to undertake the defense and/or settlement thereof. No such undertaking by Franchisor shall, in any manner or form, diminish Franchisee's obligation to indemnify the Indemnitees and to hold them harmless.
- 29.3 With respect to any action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, inquiry or investigation, Franchisor may, at any time and without notice, in order to protect persons or property or the reputation or goodwill of Franchisor or others, order, consent or agree to any settlement or take any remedial or corrective action as Franchisor deems expedient, if, in Franchisor's sole judgment, there are reasonable grounds to believe that:
 - (a) any of the acts or circumstances enumerated in Section 29.1 have occurred; or
 - (b) any act, error or omission of Franchisee may result directly or indirectly in damage, injury or harm to any person or any property.
- 29.4 All Losses and Expenses incurred under this Section 29 shall be chargeable to and paid by Franchisee based on its obligations of indemnity hereunder, regardless of any actions, activity or defense undertaken by Franchisor or the subsequent success or failure of such actions, activity or defense.
- 29.5 Under no circumstances shall the Indemnities be required or obligated to seek recovery from third parties or otherwise mitigate their losses to maintain a claim against Franchisee. Franchisee agrees that the failure to pursue such recovery or mitigate loss will in no way reduce the amounts recoverable by the Indemnitees from Franchisee.

	29.6	The	Indemnitee	s assu	ıme no lia	bility what	soev	er fo	or any ac	ets, errors or	omis	sions
of any persons	with v	whom	Franchisee	may	contract,	regardless	of t	he p	urpose.	Franchisee	shall	hold
INITIALS:: _					40							

harmless and indemnify the Indemnitees and each of them for all Losses and Expenses that may arise out of any acts, errors or omissions of such third parties with whom Franchisee may contract.

- 30. <u>Set-off Rights</u>. At all times, Franchisor may set off any amounts Franchisee or its owners owe Franchisor or its affiliates against any amounts that Franchisor or its affiliates owe Franchisee or its owners, whether in connection with this Agreement or otherwise. Franchisor and its affiliates have no obligation to pay Franchisee or its owners any monies until Franchisor's and its affiliates' set-off rights have been fully quantified.
- 31. Notices. All acceptances, approvals, requests, notices, and reports required or permitted under this Agreement will not be effective unless in writing and delivered to the party entitled to receive the notice in accordance with this Section 31. All such acceptances, approvals, requests, notices, and reports will be deemed delivered at the time delivered by hand; or one (1) business day after deposit with a nationally-recognized commercial courier service for next business day delivery; or three (3) business days after placement in the United States Mail by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, postage prepaid; and must be addressed to the party to be notified as follows: Franchisor will address notices to Franchisee at the location of the Franchised Restaurant that Franchisee is operating, or to the address at the start of this Agreement (until Franchisee designates a different address), or to the Managing Owner's address, at Franchisor's option. All notices to Franchisor shall be addressed to WZ Franchise, LLC, 6056 S. Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, NV 89113. Payments and certain information and reports Franchisee must send Franchisor under this Agreement will be deemed delivered on any of the applicable dates described above or, if earlier, when Franchisor actually receives them electronically (all payments, information, and reports must be received on or before their due dates in the form and manner specified in this Agreement). Notices will be addressed to the addresses above unless and until a different address has been designated by written notice to the other party.
- 32. <u>Independent Contractors</u>. This Agreement does not create a fiduciary relationship between Franchisee and Franchisor (or any of its affiliates). Franchisee has no authority, express or implied, to act as an agent for Franchisor or its affiliates for any purpose. Franchisee is, and will remain, an independent contractor responsible for all obligations and liabilities of, and for all losses or damages to, the Franchised Restaurant and its assets, including any personal property, equipment, fixtures, or real property, and for all claims or demands based on damage to or destruction of property or based on injury, illness, or death of any person resulting directly or indirectly from the Franchised Restaurant's operation.

Franchisor and Franchisee are entering this Agreement with the intent and expectation that they are and will be independent contractors. Further, Franchisor and Franchisee are not and do not intend to be partners, joint venturers, associates, or employees of the other in any way, and Franchisor (and its affiliates) will not be construed to be jointly liable for any of Franchisee's acts or omissions under any circumstances. Franchisor (and its affiliates) are not the employer or joint employer of the Franchised Restaurant's employees. Franchisee's Managing Owner is solely responsible for managing and operating the Franchised Restaurant and supervising its employees. Franchisee agrees to identify itself conspicuously in all dealings with customers, suppliers, public officials, Franchised Restaurant personnel, and others as the Franchised Restaurant's owner, operator, and manager under a franchise Franchisor has granted and to place notices of independent ownership at the Franchised Restaurant and on the forms, business cards, stationery, advertising, e-mails, and other materials Franchisor requires from time to time.

Franchisor (and its affiliates) will not exercise direct or indirect control over the working conditions of Franchised Restaurant personnel, except to the extent such indirect control is related to Franchisor's legitimate interest in protecting the quality of its products, services, or brand. Franchisor (and its affiliates) does not share or codetermine the employment terms and conditions of the Franchised

Restaurant's employees and does not affect matters relating to the employment relationship between Franchisee and the Franchised Restaurant's employees, such as employee selection, promotion, termination, hours worked, rates of pay, other benefits, work assigned, discipline, adjustment of grievances and complaints, and working conditions. To that end, Franchisee must notify Franchised Restaurant personnel that Franchisee is their employer and that Franchisor, as the franchisor of WING ZONE Restaurants, and its affiliates are not their employer or joint employer and do not engage in any employer-type activities for which only franchisees are responsible, such as employee selection, promotion, termination, hours worked, rates of pay, other benefits, work assigned, discipline, adjustment of grievances and complaints, and working conditions. Franchisee also must obtain an acknowledgment (in the form Franchisor specifies or approves) from all Franchised Restaurant employees that Franchisee (and not Franchisor or its affiliates) are their employer.

33. <u>Franchisee Representations</u>.

- 33.1 FRANCHISEE ACCEPTS THE TERMS, CONDITIONS AND COVENANTS CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT AS BEING REASONABLE AND NECESSARY TO MAINTAIN FRANCHISOR'S STANDARDS OF QUALITY, SERVICE AND UNIFORMITY AND TO PROTECT AND PRESERVE THE GOODWILL OF THE MARKS. FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT OTHER FRANCHISES OF FRANCHISOR HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE GRANTED FRANCHISES AT DIFFERENT TIMES AND IN DIFFERENT SITUATIONS. FRANCHISEE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENTS BASED ON WHICH SUCH FRANCHISES WERE GRANTED MAY VARY MATERIALLY FROM THOSE CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATION ARISING HEREUNDER MAY DIFFER SUBSTANTIALLY FROM OTHER FRANCHISEES.
- 33.2 EVEN THOUGH THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS PROVISIONS REQUIRING FRANCHISEE TO OPERATE THE FRANCHISED RESTAURANT IN COMPLIANCE WITH FRANCHISOR'S SYSTEM, FRANCHISOR DOES NOT HAVE ACTUAL OR APPARENT AUTHORITY TO CONTROL, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, THE DAY-TO-DAY CONDUCT AND OPERATION OF FRANCHISEE'S BUSINESS OR EMPLOYMENT DECISIONS.
- 33.3 FRANCHISEE UNDERSTANDS FRANCHISOR RETAINS THE ABSOLUTE RIGHT TO ENTER INTO AGREEMENTS WITH OTHER FRANCHISEES THAT MAY CONTAIN DIFFERENT TERMS THAN THOSE CONTAINED HEREIN OR TO FORGIVE, ABATE OR REDUCE FRANCHISE FEES AND MARKETING FUND OR LOCAL ADVERTISING COOPERATIVE CONTRIBUTIONS IN SUCH MANNER AS FRANCHISOR DEEMS IN FRANCHISOR'S BUSINESS JUDGMENT TO BE THE PROPER WAY TO PROCEED.
- FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE PRESIDENT OF THE 33.4 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA HAS ISSUED EXECUTIVE ORDER 13224 (THE "EXECUTIVE **PROHIBITING** TRANSACTIONS WITH **TERRORISTS AND TERRORIST** ORGANIZATIONS AND THAT THE GOVERNMENT OF THE UNITED STATES HAS ADOPTED AND MAY IN THE FUTURE ADOPT OTHER ANTI-TERRORISM MEASURES (THE "ANTI-**TERRORISM** MEASURES"). FRANCHISOR **THEREFORE REOUIRES CERTAIN** REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES THAT THE PARTIES WITH WHOM IT DEALS ARE NOT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY INVOLVED IN TERRORISM. THEREFORE, FRANCHISEE HEREBY REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT NEITHER FRANCHISEE NOR ANY OF ITS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES OR, AS APPLICABLE, ITS PRINCIPALS, MEMBERS, OFFICERS OR DIRECTORS, NOR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY ASSOCIATED

42

INITIALS:	
INTIALS	·

WITH FRANCHISEE (EACH, INDIVIDUALLY, A "FRANCHISEE PARTY" AND COLLECTIVELY, THE "FRANCHISEE PARTIES") IS:

- (a) A PERSON OR ENTITY LISTED IN THE ANNEX TO THE EXECUTIVE ORDER;
- (b) A PERSON OR ENTITY OTHERWISE DETERMINED ACCORDING TO THE EXECUTIVE ORDER TO HAVE COMMITTED ACTS OF TERRORISM OR TO POSE A SIGNIFICANT RISK OF COMMITTING ACTS OF TERRORISM (SUCH A PERSON OR ENTITY AND THOSE PERSONS AND ENTITIES LISTED IN THE ANNEX TO THE EXECUTIVE ORDER ARE REFERRED TO IN THIS AGREEMENT AS "TERRORISTS");
- (c) A PERSON OR ENTITY WHO ASSISTS, SPONSORS OR WHO SUPPORTS TERRORISTS OR ACTS OF TERRORISM ("SPONSORS OF TERRORISM"); OR
- (d) OWNED OR CONTROLLED BY TERRORISTS OR SPONSORS OF TERRORISM.

FURTHERMORE, FRANCHISEE REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT NEITHER FRANCHISEE NOR ANY FRANCHISEE PARTY WILL, DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT, BECOME A PERSON OR ENTITY DESCRIBED IN CLAUSES (a)—(d) ABOVE.

THE ACKNOWLEDGMENTS IN SECTIONS 33.5 THROUGH 33.7 BELOW APPLY TO ALL FRANCHISES AND FRANCHISES EXCEPT NOT TO ANY FRANCHISES AND FRANCHISES THAT ARE SUBJECT TO THE STATE FRANCHISE REGISTRATION/DISCLOSURE LAWS IN CALIFORNIA, HAWAII, ILLINOIS, INDIANA, MARYLAND, MICHIGAN, MINNESOTA, NEW YORK, NORTH DAKOTA, RHODE ISLAND, SOUTH DAKOTA, VIRGINIA, WASHINGTON, AND WISCONSIN.

- FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS CONDUCTED AN 33.5 INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION OF THE PROPOSED FRANCHISE AND RECOGNIZES THAT THE BUSINESS VENTURE CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT INVOLVES BUSINESS RISKS AND THAT ITS SUCCESS WILL BE LARGELY DEPENDENT UPON THE ABILITY OF FRANCHISEE AS AN INDEPENDENT BUSINESSPERSON OR BUSINESS. FRANCHISOR EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS THE MAKING OF, AND FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS NOT RECEIVED, ANY WARRANTY, GUARANTEE OR REPRESENTATION OTHER THAN THOSE DESCRIBED IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, FROM ANY EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF FRANCHISOR AS TO THE POTENTIAL SALES VOLUMES, PROFITS OR LEVEL OF SUCCESS OF THE BUSINESS VENTURE CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SUITABILITY OF THE ACCEPTED LOCATION OF THE FRANCHISED RESTAURANT. FRANCHISOR HAS NOT REPRESENTED THAT: (I) FRANCHISEE WILL EARN. CAN EARN OR IS LIKELY TO EARN A GROSS OR NET PROFIT: (II) FRANCHISOR HAS KNOWLEDGE OF THE RELEVANT MARKET; OR (III) THE MARKET DEMAND WILL ENABLE FRANCHISEE TO EARN A PROFIT FROM THE FRANCHISED RESTAURANT.
- 33.6 FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT RECEIVED A COPY OF THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT, THE ATTACHMENTS TO IT AND THE AGREEMENTS RELATED TO IT, IF ANY, AT LEAST FIFTEEN (15) CALENDAR DAYS (AND, IN INITIALS: _____: ____ 43

TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING IOWA, MICHIGAN, AND NEW YORK, AT LEAST TEN (10) BUSINESS DAYS) BEFORE THE DATE ON WHICH THIS AGREEMENT WAS SIGNED.

- FRANCHISEE RECOGNIZES THAT THE SYSTEM MAY EVOLVE AND 33.7 CHANGE OVER TIME AND THAT THE LICENSE AND OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISED RESTAURANT INVOLVE SUBSTANTIAL RISK AND ITS SUCCESS IS DEPENDENT PRIMARILY UPON THE BUSINESS ACUMEN AND EFFORTS OF FRANCHISEE AND OTHER FACTORS BEYOND FRANCHISOR'S CONTROL. FRANCHISEE HAS CONDUCTED AN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION OF THE FRANCHISE AND HAD AMPLE TIME AND OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS, INCLUDING LAWYERS AND ACCOUNTANTS, AND HAS NOT RELIED UPON ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED GUARANTEE AS TO POTENTIAL VOLUMES, REVENUES, PROFITS OR SUCCESS OF THE BUSINESS VENTURE CONTEMPLATED BY FRANCHISEE. FRANCHISEE AND FRANCHISOR DO NOT INTEND FOR FRANCHISOR OR FRANCHISOR'S AFFILIATES TO INCUR ANY LIABILITY IN CONNECTION WITH OR ARISING FROM ANY ASPECT OF FRANCHISOR'S SYSTEM OR FRANCHISEE'S USE OF THE SYSTEM OR THE OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISED RESTAURANT, WHETHER OR NOT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE MANUAL.
- 34. No Waiver or Disclaimer of Reliance in Certain States. The following provision applies only to franchisees and franchises that are subject to the state franchise registration/disclosure laws in California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, or Wisconsin:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by Franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by Franchisor, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on Franchisor's behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

[Signature Page Follows]

44

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals the day and year first above written.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC:

By:	
Name: David Bloom	
Title: Chief Operating Officer	
Date:	
FRANCHISEE:	
Зу:	
Name:	
Title:	
Onto	

EXHIBIT A – to the Franchise Agreement

SITE SELECTION ADDENDUM

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC ("Franchisor") and	("Franchisee") have this day
entered into a WING ZONE Franchise Agreement ("Franchise Agreem	nent") and desire to supplement its
terms as set out below in this Site Selection Addendum ("Addendum").	The parties agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

- 1. <u>Time to Locate Site</u>: Within ninety (90) days after the Effective Date of the Franchise Agreement (as defined in this Agreement), Franchisee shall acquire or lease, at Franchisee's expense, commercial real estate that is properly zoned for the use of the business to be conducted by Franchisee under the Franchise Agreement (a "Franchised Restaurant") at a site approved by Franchisor as provided for in this Agreement. Failure by Franchisor to acquire or lease a site for the Franchised Restaurant within the time required in Section 1 hereof shall constitute a default under Section 10.1 of the Franchise Agreement and under this Addendum, and Franchisor, in its sole discretion, may terminate the Franchise Agreement and this Addendum according to the terms of Section 10.1 of the Franchise Agreement.
- 2. <u>Site Selection Assistance</u>: Franchisor shall provide Franchisee with leasing guidelines ("Leasing Guidelines") to assist Franchisee in its site selection. Franchisee must follow the Leasing Guidelines.
- 3. <u>Site Selection Package Submission and Approval</u>: Franchisee shall submit to Franchisor, in the form specified by Franchisor, a copy of the site plan and such other information or materials as Franchisor may reasonably require, together with an option contract, letter of intent or other evidence satisfactory to Franchisor which confirms Franchisee's favorable prospects for obtaining the site. Franchisor shall have thirty (30) days after receipt of such information and materials from Franchisee to accept or reject, as it deems best, the proposed site as the location for the Franchised Restaurant. In the event Franchisor does not reject a proposed site by written notice to Franchisee within said thirty (30) days such site shall be deemed accepted by Franchisor.
- 4. <u>Lease Responsibilities</u>: Within thirty (30) days of site acceptance by Franchisor, Franchisee shall sign a lease which shall be coterminous with the Franchise Agreement, or a binding agreement to purchase the site. Franchisor's acceptance of any lease is conditioned upon inclusion in the lease of Franchisor's standard Franchised Restaurant Lease Rider attached as Exhibit 1 to this Addendum. However, Franchisor shall not be responsible for review of the Lease for any terms other than those contained in the Franchised Restaurant Lease Rider.
- 5. <u>Site Evaluation Services</u>: Franchisor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to perform any on-site evaluation, as Franchisor may deem advisable. If on-site evaluation is deemed necessary and appropriate by Franchisor (on its own initiative or at Franchisee's request) for any Franchised Restaurant to be established, Franchisee shall reimburse Franchisor for all reasonable expenses incurred by Franchisor in connection with such on-site evaluation, including the cost of travel, lodging and meals.
- 6. <u>Accepted Location</u>: After the location for the Franchised Restaurant is accepted by Franchisor according to Sections 1 and 3 of this Agreement, and leased or acquired by Franchisee according to Section 4 hereof, the location shall constitute the Accepted Location described in Section 3.1

INITIALS::	
	Exhibit A-1

of the Franchise Agreement. The Accepted Location shall be specified on a separate piece of paper and be attached as Exhibit 2, which shall become a part of the Franchise Agreement.

This Site Selection Addendum shall be considered an integral part of the Franchise Agreement between the parties and the terms of this Addendum shall be controlling with respect to the subject matter hereof. Except as modified or supplemented by this Addendum, the terms of the Franchise Agreement are hereby ratified and confirmed.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused its duly authorized representative to duly sign and deliver this Addendum on the date first above written.

FRANCHISEE:	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	
Title:	Title:
Date:	Detail

INITIALS: ____: ___:

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC

RIDER

TO THAT CERTAIN I EASE

	TO THAT CERTAIN ELASE	
	DATED, 20	
	(THE "FORM LEASE")	
	BETWEEN	
	A(N)	
	AS LANDLORD	
	AND	
	A(N)	
	AS TENANT	
FOR THE PREMI	ISES ("PREMISES") KNOWN AS:	

In the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions set forth within this Rider and the terms and conditions set forth in the Form Lease to which this Rider is attached, the terms and conditions set forth within this Rider shall govern and control.

- 1. **Permitted Use**. The Premises are leased to Tenant for the operation of a franchised restaurant which sells chicken wings, boneless wings, chicken sandwiches, chicken tenders, related food products, beverage products, and ancillary merchandise. The Tenant may also use the Premises for promotions, celebrations, meetings, and other group functions where Tenant's services and products will be offered or sold.
- 2. <u>Signage</u>. Despite anything contained within the Form Lease to the contrary, Tenant shall, subject to the requirements of local law, have the right to utilize its standard signage and other proprietary marks and identification on both the exterior and within the interior of the Premises as approved by WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company and franchisor of the WING ZONE concept ("Franchisor").
- 3. Assignment and Subletting. Landlord's consent to an assignment of the Form Lease or subletting of the Premises shall not be required in connection with an assignment or subletting as a part of a merger, reorganization or sale of all or substantially all of Tenant's assets or business permitted by Franchisor under its Franchise Agreement with Tenant or an assignment or sublet to the Franchisor, any parent, subsidiary or permitted affiliated corporation of Tenant or Franchisor, or another WING ZONE franchisee. Landlord shall approve as an assignee or sublessee any tenant who has become a transferee of the Franchise Agreement as a result of a permitted merger, reorganization or sale of all or substantially all of Tenant's assets. Tenant shall also have the right, without the consent of Landlord, to assign this Lease to a company incorporated or to be incorporated by Tenant or a partnership formed or to be formed by Tenant, provided that Tenant owns or beneficially controls a majority of the issued and outstanding shares

INITIALS: _	:		
WING 701	TE EA	(EINIAI	2022)

of capital stock of the company or is the managing general partner of the partnership and such company or partnership operates a WING ZONE Restaurant under a Franchise Agreement with Franchisor.

4. <u>Notices; Opportunity to Cure</u>. Copies of any demand letters, default notices or other similar notices of non-compliance ("Notice") sent by Landlord to Tenant shall also be sent to Franchisor at the following address:

David Bloom WZ FRANCHISE, LLC 6056 S. Durango Drive, Suite 100 Las Vegas, NV 89113

In the event Tenant fails to cure or otherwise remedy the subject matter of the Notice, Landlord shall grant Franchisor the identical period of time in which to cure same (said cure period to commence immediately upon written notice from Landlord to Franchisor (at the address set forth in this Agreement) that Tenant has failed to cure in a timely manner) and Landlord agrees to accept the performance of Franchisor within said period of time as performance by Tenant according to the terms of the Form Lease.

- 5. Option to Lease. Landlord hereby agrees that, in the event of (a) the termination or expiration of the Franchise Agreement by and between Tenant and Franchisor; (b) the termination of the Form Lease for any cause whatsoever including, without limitation, a default by Tenant under the Form Lease after expiration of any applicable notice and cure periods; or (c) Tenant's failure to exercise any extension option contained in the Form Lease, Franchisor shall have the option to lease the Premises according to the same terms and conditions as are contained in the Form Lease, in accordance with the following:
 - (a) Landlord agrees to promptly give written notice to Franchisor (at the address set forth in this Agreement) in the event the Form Lease is terminated as the result of a default by Tenant or in the event Tenant fails to exercise any remaining options to extend the term of the Form Lease;
 - (b) If Franchisor elects to lease the Premises, Franchisor shall notify Landlord in writing of its election to exercise this option to lease within 30 days after (1) termination or expiration of the Franchise Agreement; (2) Franchisor's receipt of notice from Landlord that the Form Lease has been terminated; or (3) receipt of notice from Landlord that Tenant has failed to exercise an option to extend the term of the Form Lease;
 - (c) If Franchisor elects to lease the Premises, Franchisor shall sign and deliver to Landlord a lease containing all of the same terms and conditions (including rental rates, terms and remaining options to extend the term of the Lease) as are contained in the Lease; provided, however, that Franchisor's leasehold interest shall not be subject to any defaults or claims that may exist between Landlord and Tenant and any lease shall permit Franchisor to assign the lease or sublease the Premises to a franchisee of Franchisor for use as a WING ZONE franchised location; at which point, the new franchisee shall sign and deliver to Landlord a lease containing all of the same terms and conditions (including rental rates, terms and remaining options to extend the term of the Lease) as are contained in the Lease, and Franchisor shall be released from any and all liability under the lease; and

INITIALS:	

(d) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall affect Landlord's right to recover any and all amounts due under the Form Lease from Tenant or to exercise any right of Landlord against Tenant as provided under the Form Lease.

Landlord acknowledges that it may not, without Franchisor's approval, allow Tenant to effect any disposition of the Premises as a result of which Tenant relinquishes the right to possess the Premises, including a proposed lease assignment, sublet of the Premises, sale or other conveyance of possessory rights to the Premises (whether or not with a formal lease assignment or sublet), or negotiated termination of the lease with Landlord or other event that enables another party to take over possession of the premises other than for the operation of a WING ZONE Restaurant.

- 6. **De-identification**. Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge that in the event the Franchise Agreement expires or is terminated, Tenant is obligated under the Franchise Agreement to take certain steps to de-identify the location as a WING ZONE Franchised Restaurant operated by Tenant. Landlord agrees to cooperate fully with Franchisor in enforcing the provisions of the Franchise Agreement against Tenant, including allowing Franchisor, its employees and agents to enter and remove signs, decor and materials bearing or displaying any marks, designs or logos of Franchisor; provided, however, that Landlord shall not be required to bear any expense thereof. Tenant agrees that if Tenant fails to de-identify the Premises promptly upon termination or expiration as required under the Franchise Agreement, Franchisor may cause all required de -identification to be completed at Tenant's sole cost and expense.
- 7. <u>Assignment of Interest</u>. This Rider is binding and shall inure to the benefit of Landlord, Tenant and Franchisor, their assigns and successors-in-interest. The Franchisor is an intended beneficiary of this Rider with the full right to enforce its terms against both Tenant and Landlord.

LANDLORD:	TENANT:	
By:	By:	
Its:	Its:	
Date:	Date:	
Agreed to:		
FRANCHISOR:		
WZ FRANCHISE, LLC		
Ву:		
Name:		
Title:		
Date:		

INITIALS:::	_
-------------	---

Exhibit 2 – to the Site Selection Addendum

ACCEPTED LOCATION

	The Accepted Location will be at:		
AGREED TO BY:			
FRANCHISEE:	FRANCHISOR:		
	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC		
Ву:	By:		
Title:	Title:		
Date:	Date:		

EXHIBIT B – to the Franchise Agreement

FRANCHISE GUARANTY AGREEMENT

THIS FRANCHISE GUARANTY AGREEMENT is given this date , by

each of the undersigned parties.
In consideration of, and as an inducement to, the execution of that certain Franchise Agreement (the "Agreement") on this date by WZ FRANCHISE, LLC ("Franchisor"), each of the undersigned personally and unconditionally (a) guarantees to Franchisor and its successors and assigns, for the term of the Agreement (including extensions) and afterward as provided in the Agreement, that
undertaking, agreement, and covenant set forth in the Agreement (including any amendments or modifications of the Agreement) and (b) agrees to be personally bound by, and personally liable for the breach of, each and every provision in the Agreement (including any amendments or modifications of the Agreement), including (i) monetary obligations, (ii) obligations to take or refrain from taking specific actions and to engage or refrain from engaging in specific activities, including, but not limited to, the non-competition, confidentiality, and transfer requirements, and (iii) the enforcement and other provisions in the Agreement, including the arbitration provision.

Each of the undersigned consents and agrees that: (1) his or her direct and immediate liability under this Guaranty will be joint and several, both with Franchisee and among other guarantors; (2) he or she will render any payment or performance required under the Agreement upon demand if Franchisee fails or refuses punctually to do so; (3) this liability will not be contingent or conditioned upon Franchisor's pursuit of any legal or equitable remedies against Franchisee or any other person; (4) this liability will not be diminished, relieved, or otherwise affected by any extension of time, credit, or other indulgence which Franchisor may from time to time grant to Franchisee or to any other person, including, without limitation, the acceptance of any partial payment or performance or the compromise or release of any claims (including the release of other guarantors), none of which will in any way modify or amend this Guaranty, which will continue and be irrevocable during the term of the Agreement (including extensions) and afterward, for so long as any performance is or might be owed under the Agreement by Franchisee or its owners, and for so long as Franchisor has any cause of action against Franchisee or its owners; and (5) this Guaranty will continue in full force and effect for (and as to) any extension or modification of the Agreement and despite the transfer of any interest in the Agreement or Franchisee, and each of the undersigned waives notice of any and all renewals, extensions, modifications, amendments, or transfers.

Each of the undersigned waives: (i) all rights to payments and claims for reimbursement or subrogation which any of the undersigned may have against Franchisee arising as a result of the undersigned's execution of and performance under this Guaranty, for the express purpose that none of the undersigned will be deemed a "creditor" of Franchisee under any applicable bankruptcy law with respect to Franchisee's obligations to Franchisor; and (ii) acceptance and notice of acceptance by Franchisor of his or her undertakings under this Guaranty, all presentments, demands, and notices of demand for payment of any indebtedness or non-performance of any obligations hereby guaranteed, protest, notices of dishonor, and notice of default to any party with respect to the indebtedness or nonperformance of any obligations hereby guaranteed, and any other notices and legal or equitable defenses to which he or she may be entitled.

INITIALS:::	
	Exhibit B-1

Franchisor has no present or future duty to the undersigned under this Guaranty, and each of the undersigned waives any right to claim or assert any such duty or obligation and to discover from Franchisor or require Franchisor to disclose to the undersigned any financial or other information concerning Franchisee, any other guarantor, or any collateral securing any of Franchisee's obligations to Franchisor.

If Franchisor is required to enforce this Guaranty in a judicial or arbitration proceeding, and prevails in such proceeding, Franchisor is entitled to reimbursement of its costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, reasonable accountants', attorneys', attorneys' assistants', arbitrators', and expert witness fees, costs of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, other litigation expenses, and travel and living expenses, whether incurred prior to, in preparation for, or in contemplation of the filing of any such proceeding. If Franchisor is required to engage legal counsel in connection with any failure by the undersigned to comply with this Guaranty, the undersigned must reimburse Franchisor for any of the above-listed costs and expenses Franchisor incurs even if Franchisor does not commence a judicial or arbitration proceeding.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has affixed his or her signature on the same day and year as the Agreement was executed.

GUARANTOR(S)		
[Signature of Guarantor]		
[Print Name and Date]		
[Signature of Guarantor]		
[Print Name and Date]		
[Signature of Guarantor]		
[Print Name and Date]		

CHADANTOD(S)

EXHIBIT C – to the Franchise Agreement

SPOUSAL CONSENT

NOTE: THE SPOUSE OF EACH OWNER OF FRANCHISEE MUST SIGN THIS SPOUSAL CONSENT.

The individual(s) listed below represents to WZ FRANCHISE, LLC ("Company") that each is the spouse of the individual(s) who is an owner of the franchisee entity ("Franchisee")
that has signed a Franchise Agreement with the Company dated, 20
In consideration of the Company's grant to Franchisee of the rights under the Franchise Agreement, each of the individual spouses listed below agrees, in consideration of benefits received and to be received by each of them, jointly and severally, and for themselves and their heirs, legal representatives, and assigns, that they and each of them:
1. must be firmly bound by all of the terms, provisions, and conditions in the Franchise Agreement;
2. unconditionally guarantee the full and timely performance by Franchisee of all of Franchisee's obligations under the Franchise Agreement, including, without limitation, any of Franchisee's indebtedness arising under or by virtue of the Franchise Agreement; and
3. agree to be bound by the confidentiality and non-competition covenants in the Franchise Agreement.

INITIALS:	:	
-----------	---	--

EXHIBIT C

DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This Development Rights Agreement (the "DRA") is made by and between W	Z Franchise,
LLC, a Georgia limited liability company whose principal business address is 6056 Sc	outh Durango
Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("we," "us," or "our"), and	, a(n)
("you" or "your"). This DRA is et	ffective as of
the date we sign it, which is set forth next to our signature on the Signature Page at "Effective Date").	the end (the

RECITALS

- A. We have created, designed, and developed a restaurant concept that serves chicken wings, boneless wings, chicken tenders and sandwiches, related food products, beverage products, and merchandise in a casual sit-down and/or take-out format.
- B. We currently use, promote, and license certain trademarks, service marks, and other commercial symbols for this restaurant concept, including "WING ZONE®," and from time to time may create, use, and license new trademarks, service marks, and commercial symbols (collectively, the "Marks").
- C. We offer and grant franchises to operate a "WING ZONE®" Restaurant ("WING ZONE Restaurant") using the WING ZONE business system, business formats, methods, procedures, designs, layouts, trade dress, standards, specifications, and Marks, all of which we periodically may improve, further develop, and otherwise modify.
- D. Simultaneously with signing this DRA, we and you (or your Approved Affiliate, as defined in Section 2 below) also are signing as of the Effective Date a franchise agreement (the "First Franchise Agreement") for the construction, development, and operation of the first WING ZONE Restaurant to be developed within the Territory (defined below). We and you are signing this DRA because you want the right to construct, develop, and operate multiple WING ZONE Restaurants within the Territory over a certain time period (besides the WING ZONE Restaurant covered by the First Franchise Agreement), and we are willing to grant you those development rights if you comply with this DRA's terms.

Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual covenants, agreements, and obligations set forth in this DRA, we and you agree as follows:

1. Grant of Development Rights.

(a) Subject to your strict compliance with this DRA, we grant you the right (directly or through your Approved Affiliates) to construct, develop, and operate _____ (___) new WING ZONE Restaurants (including the WING ZONE Restaurant covered by the First Franchise Agreement), according to the mandatory development schedule described in Exhibit A to this DRA (the "Schedule"), within the geographic area described in Exhibit B (the "Territory").

(b) If you (and your Approved Affiliates, as applicable) are fully complying with all of your (and their) obligations under this DRA, the First Franchise Agreement, and all other franchise agreements then in effect between us and you (and your Approved Affiliates, as applicable) for the construction, development, and operation of WING ZONE Restaurants, then during this DRA's term only, we (and our affiliates) will not—except with respect to WING ZONE Restaurants proposed to be located at or within Non-Traditional Venues or Restricted Venues (both defined below)—establish and operate, or grant to others the right to establish and operate, WING ZONE Restaurants that have their physical locations within the Territory. We (and our affiliates) reserve the right without any restrictions whatsoever to pursue and establish, or franchise or license others to pursue and establish, WING ZONE Restaurants to be located at or within Non-Traditional Venues and Restricted Venues having their physical locations within the Territory but only if you (or your Approved Affiliates) cannot or choose not to pursue the opportunity when it becomes available, no matter the reason for your (or your Approved Affiliate's) decision not to pursue the opportunity.

A "Non-Traditional Venue" is defined in this DRA to mean:

- (i) a captive-venue location, including, without limitation, airports, hospitals or medical centers, limited-access highway food facilities, bus or train locations, entertainment and sports complexes, convention centers, military facilities, schools, colleges, and universities, office facilities, department and retail super-stores, off-site sales accounts, convenience stores, supermarkets, shopping malls, and home-improvement retailers; and
- (ii) any type of location known colloquially as a "virtual kitchen," a "ghost kitchen," a "ghost operation," or a similar type of location that operates on a delivery and/or pick-up-only basis.

A "Restricted Venue" is a physical location within Territory (which need not be a Non-Traditional Venue) for which that location's owner or manager sets financial, experience, or organizational standards for an acceptable operator that you (or your Approved Affiliate) do not and cannot satisfy when the opportunity becomes available.

Our, our affiliate's, or another franchisee's or licensee's establishment and operation of a WING ZONE Restaurant at or within a Non-Traditional Venue or a Restricted Venue physically located in the Territory will not count toward your compliance with the Schedule. However, WING ZONE Restaurants that you (or your Approved Affiliates) establish and operate at or within a Non-Traditional Venue physically located in the Territory will count toward your compliance with the Schedule.

(c) The location exclusivity described in clause (b) above (with the noted exceptions for Non-Traditional Venues and Restricted Venues) is the only restriction on our (and our affiliates') activities within the Territory during this DRA's term. You acknowledge and agree that we and our affiliates have the right to engage, and grant to others the right to engage, in any other activities of any nature whatsoever within and throughout the Territory, including, without limitation, the types of activities in which we and our affiliates reserve the right to engage under Section 3.2 of the First Franchise Agreement. After this DRA expires or is terminated (regardless

of the reason for termination), we and our affiliates have the right, without any restrictions whatsoever, to:

- (i) establish and operate, and grant to others the right to establish and operate, WING ZONE Restaurants having their physical locations within the Territory; and
- (ii) continue to engage, and grant to others the right to engage, in any other activities we (and our affiliates) desire within and throughout the Territory.

YOU ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE UNDER THIS DRA, AND YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THIS DRA ARE SUBJECT TO TERMINATION (WITHOUT ANY CURE OPPORTUNITY) IF YOU DO NOT COMPLY STRICTLY WITH THE DEVELOPMENT OBLIGATIONS PROVIDED IN THE SCHEDULE. WE HAVE THE RIGHT TO ENFORCE THIS DRA STRICTLY.

2. <u>Development Obligations</u>.

- (a) To maintain your rights under this DRA, you (and/or your Approved Affiliates) must, by the deadlines specified in the Schedule, (i) find an acceptable site for each WING ZONE Restaurant required to be developed within the Territory pursuant to this DRA, (ii) sign a separate franchise agreement (and related documents) with us for each such WING ZONE Restaurant and pay us the fees due under that franchise agreement (see Section 4 below), (iii) sign an acceptable lease for each such WING ZONE Restaurant, and then (iv) construct, develop, and open for business each such WING ZONE Restaurant.
- (b) If you or your owners establish a new legal entity to construct, develop, and operate one or more of the WING ZONE Restaurants required to be developed pursuant to this DRA, and either (i) you own 100% of that legal entity or (ii) that legal entity's ownership is completely identical to your ownership, that legal entity automatically will be considered an "Approved Affiliate" under this DRA. However, if you do not own 100% of that new legal entity or that legal entity's ownership is not completely identical to your ownership, you first must seek our approval for that new entity to be permitted to construct, develop, and operate the proposed WING ZONE Restaurant as an Approved Affiliate. We have the right to refuse any such request if you and/or your owners do not (1) own and control at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the new entity's ownership interests and (2) have the authority to exercise voting and management control of the WING ZONE Restaurant proposed to be owned by the new entity.
- (c) You (and/or your Approved Affiliates) will operate each WING ZONE Restaurant under a separate franchise agreement (and related documents) with us. The franchise agreement (and related documents, including Guaranty and Assumption of Obligations) that you and your owners (or your Approved Affiliate and its owners) must sign for each WING ZONE Restaurant to be constructed and developed pursuant to this DRA will be our then-current form of franchise agreement (and related documents, including Guaranty and Assumption of Obligations), any or all terms of which may differ substantially and materially from any or all terms contained in the First Franchise Agreement, provided that the Royalty Fee due for each WING ZONE Restaurant to be developed under this DRA will be six percent (6%) of the WING ZONE Restaurant's "Gross Sales" (as defined in Section 4.2 of the First Franchise Agreement). If you fail to construct and

develop at least three (3) WING ZONE Restaurants under this DRA according to the Schedule, the Royalty Fee on all of your (and your Approved Affiliates') operating WING ZONE Restaurants will immediately rise to seven percent (7%) of Gross Sales for the remainder of their franchise terms.

- (d) Despite any contrary provision contained in the First Franchise Agreement or newly-signed franchise agreements, your (and your Approved Affiliates') WING ZONE Restaurants within the Territory must be open and operating by the dates specified in the Schedule. To retain your rights under this DRA, each WING ZONE Restaurant constructed, developed, and opened pursuant to this DRA must operate continuously throughout this DRA's term in full compliance with its franchise agreement.
- 3. <u>Subfranchising and Sublicensing Rights</u>. This DRA does not give you any right to franchise, license, subfranchise, or sublicense others to construct, develop, and operate WING ZONE Restaurants. Only you (and/or your Approved Affiliates) have the right to construct, develop, open, and operate WING ZONE Restaurants pursuant to this DRA. This DRA also does not give you (or your Approved Affiliates) any independent right to use the WING ZONE® trademark or the other Marks. The right to use the Marks is granted only under a franchise agreement signed directly with us. This DRA only grants you potential development rights if you fully comply with its terms.
- 4. <u>Development Fee</u>. As consideration for the development rights we grant you under this DRA, you must pay us a total of _______ Dollars (\$_______) (the "Development Fee") when you sign this DRA. The Development Fee consists of (a) the Thirty-Thousand Dollar (\$30,000) initial franchise fee due under the First Franchise Agreement, plus (b) the Ten-Thousand Dollar (\$10,000) Development Services Fee due under the First Franchise Agreement, plus (c) deposits equaling Ten-Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) toward the initial franchise fee due for each additional WING ZONE Restaurant you have committed under this DRA to construct, develop, and operate after the first WING ZONE Restaurant. This DRA will not be effective, and you will have no development rights, until we receive the Development Fee. The Development Fee is:
 - (i) consideration for the rights we grant you in this DRA and for reserving the Territory for you to the exclusion of others (except with respect to Non-Traditional Venues and Restricted Venues) while you are in compliance with this DRA;
 - (ii) fully earned by us when we and you sign this DRA; and
 - (iii) not refundable under any circumstances, even if you do not comply or attempt to comply with the Schedule and we then terminate this DRA for that reason.

However, each time you (or your Approved Affiliate) sign a franchise agreement for the next WING ZONE Restaurant to be constructed and developed within the Territory, we will apply the deposit related to that WING ZONE Restaurant (which is part of the Development Fee) toward the initial franchise fee due for that WING ZONE Restaurant (leaving only the Twenty-Thousand Dollar (\$20,000) balance of the initial franchise fee due at signing). The initial franchise fee for each WING ZONE Restaurant to be constructed and developed under this DRA is Thirty Thousand

Dollars (\$30,000). In addition, each time you (or your Approved Affiliate) sign a franchise agreement for the next WING ZONE Restaurant to be constructed and developed within the Territory, you must pay us the Ten-Thousand Dollar (\$10,000) Development Services Fee due under that franchise agreement.

5. Grant of Franchises.

- (a) You must send us a separate application for each WING ZONE Restaurant that you (or your Approved Affiliate) desire to construct and develop within the Territory. You must locate, evaluate, and select the Restaurant's site. You must give us all information and materials we request to assess each proposed Restaurant site. We will not search for or select the site for you. In granting you development rights under this DRA, we are relying on your knowledge of the real estate market in the Territory and your ability to locate and access sites. We have the right (but no obligation) to recommend to you a vendor for site-selection services.
- (b) We will give you our then-current criteria for WING ZONE Restaurant sites (including, without limitation, population density and other demographic characteristics, visibility, traffic flow, competition, accessibility, parking, ingress and egress, size, and other physical and commercial characteristics) to help in the site-selection process. We will not unreasonably withhold site acceptance if, in our and our affiliates' experience and based on the factors identified above, the proposed site is not inconsistent with sites that we and our affiliates regard as favorable or that otherwise have been successful sites in the past for WING ZONE Restaurants. However, we have the absolute right to reject any site not meeting our criteria or to require you to acknowledge in writing that a site you have chosen, while acceptable to us, is not recommended due to its incompatibility with certain factors bearing on a site's suitability as a location for a WING ZONE Restaurant.

We will review potential Restaurant sites that you identify within the Territory and have the right, but no obligation, to visit the Territory as we deem necessary to review potential sites for each WING ZONE Restaurant to be constructed and developed under this DRA. We have the right to condition our acceptance of a proposed site, or a proposed site visit, on your first sending us complete site reports and other materials (including, without limitation, photographs and digital recordings) we request. We agree to use reasonable efforts to review and accept (or not accept) sites you propose within thirty (30) days after we receive all requested information and materials. You have no right to proceed with a site that we have not accepted.

- (c) You also must send us for our written acceptance, which we will not unreasonably withhold, any lease or sublease that will govern your occupancy and lawful possession of each WING ZONE Restaurant site before you sign it. You have no right to sign any lease or sublease that we have not accepted in writing. We have the right (but no obligation) to guide you in the leasing process but will not negotiate the lease or sublease for you or provide any legal advice.
- (d) If we accept the proposed site but you (or your Approved Affiliate) have not yet signed a separate franchise agreement (and related documents, including Guaranty and Assumption of Obligations) for that WING ZONE Restaurant, you (or your Approved Affiliate) must do so on or before the date specified on the Schedule. If you (or your Approved Affiliate) fail to do so, or cannot obtain lawful possession of the proposed site, we have the right to withdraw

our acceptance of the proposed site and exercise any of our other rights under this DRA. After you and your owners (or your Approved Affiliate and its owners) sign the franchise agreement (and related documents), its terms and conditions will control the construction, development, and operation of the WING ZONE Restaurant (except that the required opening date is governed exclusively by the Schedule in this DRA, as provided in Section 2(d) above).

- (e) In addition to our rights with respect to proposed WING ZONE Restaurant sites, we have the right to delay your (and your Approved Affiliates') construction, development, and/or opening of additional WING ZONE Restaurants within the Territory for the time period we deem best if at any time we believe that such delay is in the best interests of the WING ZONE Restaurant brand, including for reasons related to lack of sites meeting our criteria, supply-chain issues, or our assessment in our sole judgment that you (or your Approved Affiliate) are not yet operationally, managerially, or otherwise prepared (no matter the reason) to construct, develop, open, and/or operate the additional WING ZONE Restaurant in full compliance with our standards and specifications. We have the right to delay additional development and/or a WING ZONE Restaurant's opening for the time period we deem best as long as the delay will not in our reasonable opinion cause you to breach your development obligations under the Schedule (unless we are willing to extend the Schedule proportionately to account for the delay).
- 6. <u>Term.</u> This DRA's term begins on the Effective Date and ends on the date when (a) you (or your Approved Affiliate) open for business the final WING ZONE Restaurant to be constructed and developed under the Schedule, or (b) this DRA otherwise is terminated, but in any event this DRA's term will end no later than <i style="color: blue;">insert date.
- 7. <u>Termination</u>. We have the right at any time to terminate this DRA and your rights under this DRA to develop WING ZONE Restaurants within the Territory, such termination to be effective upon our delivery to you of written notice of termination, if:
- (a) you fail to satisfy either your development obligations under the Schedule or any other obligation under this DRA, which defaults you have no right to cure; or
- (b) the First Franchise Agreement or another franchise agreement between us and you (or your Approved Affiliate) for a WING ZONE Restaurant is terminated by us in compliance with its terms or by you (or your Approved Affiliate) for any (or no) reason; or
- (c) we have delivered a formal written notice of default to you (or your Approved Affiliate) under the First Franchise Agreement or another franchise agreement between us and you (or your Approved Affiliate) for a WING ZONE Restaurant, and you (or your Approved Affiliate) fail to cure that default within the required timeframe; or
- (d) you (or your Approved Affiliate), without our prior written approval, cease operating any WING ZONE Restaurant.

No portion of the Development Fee is refundable upon termination of this DRA or under any other circumstances. If we terminate this DRA solely because you fail to satisfy your development obligations under the Schedule, we will keep the full Development Fee but otherwise will not seek to recover damages from you due solely to such failures.

Termination of this DRA under any of clauses (a), (b), (c), or (d) above is not deemed to be the termination of any franchise rights because this DRA grants you no separate franchise rights. Franchise rights arise only under franchise agreements signed directly with us. While you will lose all further rights to develop WING ZONE Restaurants within the Territory if this DRA is terminated, termination of this DRA does not affect any franchise rights previously granted under any then-effective individual franchise agreements.

8. <u>Assignment</u>.

- Your development rights under this DRA are not assignable at all. This means we (a) will not under any circumstances allow the development rights to be transferred. A transfer of the development rights would be deemed to occur (and would be prohibited) if there is an assignment of this DRA, a transfer of a controlling ownership interest in you or in an entity with a controlling ownership interest in you, or any other event attempting to assign the development rights. An assignment (direct or indirect) of only a non-controlling ownership interest in you is permitted (and would not be deemed to be a transfer of your development rights). References to a "controlling ownership interest" in you or one of your owners (if an entity) mean the percent of voting shares or other voting rights resulting from dividing one hundred percent (100%) of the ownership interests by the number of owners. In the case of a proposed transfer of an ownership interest in you or one of your owners, whether a "controlling ownership interest" is involved must be determined both immediately before and immediately after the proposed transfer to see if a "controlling ownership interest" will be transferred (because of the number of owners before the proposed transfer) or will be deemed to have been transferred (because of the number of owners after the proposed transfer).
- (b) We have the right to change our ownership or form and/or assign this DRA to a third party without restriction. Specifically and without limiting the foregoing, you agree that we have the right to sell our assets (including this DRA), the Marks, or the WING ZONE® Restaurant franchise system to a third party; offer our ownership interests privately or publicly; merge, acquire other business entities, or be acquired by another business entity; and/or undertake a refinancing, recapitalization, leveraged buyout, securitization, or other economic or financial restructuring.
- 9. **Representations and Warranties**. You and your owners, jointly and severally, represent, warrant, and covenant to us that your execution and delivery of, and performance of your obligations under, this DRA have not violated and will not violate (a) any other agreement or commitment to which you or they are a party or by which you or they are otherwise bound, or (b) the rights of, or duties owed to, any third party.
- Indemnity. To the maximum extent permitted by law, you and your owners, jointly and severally, agree to indemnify, defend, and forever hold harmless us and our parent and other affiliated entities, and our and their respective officers, directors, owners, principals, employees, agents, representatives, successors, and assigns (collectively, the "WING ZONE Parties"), against, and to reimburse the WING ZONE Parties for, any losses, liabilities, expenses, or damages (actual or consequential), including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys', attorney assistants', accountants', and expert witness fees, collection costs, costs of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, and other litigation and travel and living expenses, which the WING ZONE Parties suffer directly or indirectly arising from or with respect to (a) any breach or alleged breach by you

or your owners of any representation or warranty set forth in this DRA, or (b) any claim or allegation by any third party that our signing this DRA with you or granting you the development rights, or any related activities, violate any law or any rights of, or duty owed to, such third party. This indemnification obligation is in addition to the indemnification obligations currently referenced in Section 11 below.

11. <u>Incorporation of Other Terms</u>. Sections 5.7 and 5.8, 6, 21, 23, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 31, and 33 of the First Franchise Agreement, entitled "Confidential Information," "Restrictive Covenant," "Governing Law," "Legal Counsel," "Waiver of Obligations and Force Majeure," "Arbitration of Disputes," "Consent to Jurisdiction," "Limitations on Recovery," "Indemnification," "Notices," and "Franchisee Representations," respectively, are incorporated by reference in this DRA and will govern all aspects of this DRA and our and your relationship as if fully restated within the text of this DRA (whether or not the First Franchise Agreement is terminated before this DRA expires or is terminated).

This DRA and all exhibits to this DRA constitute the entire agreement between the parties with respect to its subject matter and supersede any and all prior negotiations, understandings, representations, and agreements with respect to its subject matter. Nothing in this or in any related agreement, however, is intended to disclaim the representations we made in the franchise disclosure document that we furnished to you.

12. <u>No Waiver or Disclaimer of Reliance in Certain States</u>. The following provision applies only to developers and franchises that are subject to the state franchise registration/disclosure laws in California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, or Wisconsin:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

[Signature Page Follows]

In Witness Whereof, we and you have signed and delivered this DRA, to be effective as of the Effective Date set forth next to our signature below.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER			
By:	[Name]			
Title:				
Date:, 20**	By:			
	Name:			
**Effective Date	Title:			
	Date:, 20			

EXHIBIT A

TO WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT

DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE

You agree to construct, develop, and open <____ (__)> WING ZONE Restaurants in the Territory, including the WING ZONE Restaurant that is the subject of the First Franchise Agreement, according to the following Schedule:

Restaurant Number	Date by which You Must Identify an Acceptable Restaurant Site (Deadline)	Date by which You Must Sign Franchise Agreement for the Acceptable Restaurant Site and Pay Related Fees (Deadline)	Date by which You Must Sign Lease for the Acceptable Restaurant Site (Deadline)	Date by which Restaurant Must Open for Business at Acceptable Site (Opening Deadline)	Minimum Cumulative Number of Franchised WING ZONE Restaurants to be Open and Operating in Territory No Later Than the Opening Deadline
1		20 days after date in previous column			1
2		20 days after date in previous column			2
3		20 days after date in previous column			3
4		20 days after date in previous column			4

5	20 days after date in previous column		5
WZ FRANCI	HISE, LLC a Georgia	DEVELOPER	

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER
By: Name: Title:	[Name]
Date:, 20	By:

EXHIBIT B

TO WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT

DESCRIPTION AND MAP OF TERRITORY (attached, if applicable)

(If there is any inconsistency between a narrative description and a pictorial identification of the Territory, the narrative description of the Territory will prevail.)

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER
By: Name: Title:	[Name]
Date:, 20	By:

EXHIBIT C

TO WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT

DEVELOPER AND ITS OWNERS

<u>Form</u> . Developer wa vs of the State of corporate, limited liability lowing lists Developer's de shown above:	Developer has not company, or partnershi	p name and (if applicab	any name other the le) T
<u>N</u>	ame	Position(s) Held
ective date shown above, o		ect or indirect owners ar	
ective date shown above, oure of each owner's interest	one of Developer's dire	ect or indirect owners ar	d fully describes
ective date shown above, oure of each owner's interest	one of Developer's dire st (attach additional pag	ect or indirect owners are	d fully describes
ective date shown above, oure of each owner's interest	one of Developer's dire st (attach additional pag	ect or indirect owners are	d fully describes

[Signature Page Follows]

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER	
By:Name:	[Name]	
Title: Date: , 20	Bv:	
······································	Name:Title:	

EXHIBIT D

STATE-SPECIFIC INFORMATION

NO WAIVER OR DISCLAIMER OF RELIANCE IN CERTAIN STATES

The following provision applies only to franchisees and franchises that are subject to the state franchise registration/disclosure laws in California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, or Wisconsin:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

ADDENDUM TO WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

The following are additional disclosures for the WZ Franchise, LLC Franchise Disclosure Document required by various state franchise laws. Each provision of these additional disclosures will not apply unless, with respect to that provision, the jurisdictional requirements of the applicable state franchise registration and disclosure law are met independently without reference to these additional disclosures.

CALIFORNIA

- 1. THE CALIFORNIA FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW REQUIRES THAT A COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE BE DELIVERED TOGETHER WITH THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 14 DAYS PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION OF ANY AGREEMENT.
- 2. Neither the franchisor nor any person in Item 2 of the Disclosure Document is subject to any currently-effective order of any national securities association or exchange, as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. 78a et seq., suspending or expelling such person from membership in such association or exchange.
- 3. OUR WEBSITE, <u>www.wingzone.com</u>, HAS NOT BEEN REVIEWED OR APPROVED BY THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL PROTECTION & INNOVATION. ANY COMPLAINTS CONCERNING THE CONTENT OF THE WEBSITE MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL PROTECTION & INNOVATION AT www.dfpi.ca.gov.
- 4. The following language is added to the "Remarks" column of the line-item titled "Interest" in Item 6 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

The highest interest rate allowed under California law is 10% annually.

5. The following paragraphs are added at the end of Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

<u>California Law Regarding Termination and Nonrenewal</u>. California Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043 provide rights to franchisees concerning transfer, termination, or non-renewal of a franchise. If the Franchise Agreement contains a provision that is inconsistent with the law, then the law will control.

<u>Post-Termination Noncompetition Covenants</u>. The Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement contain a covenant not to compete that extends beyond termination of the franchise. This provision might not be enforceable under California law.

<u>Applicable Law</u>. The Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement require application of the laws of the State of Nevada. This provision might not be enforceable under California law.

The Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement provide for termination upon insolvency, bankruptcy, or re-organization. This provision might not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C.A. Sections 101 et seq.).

<u>Material Modification</u>. Section 31125 of the Franchise Investment Law requires us to give you a disclosure document approved by the Commissioner of Financial Protection & Innovation before we ask you to consider a material modification of your franchise agreement.

Release. You must sign a general release of claims if you renew or transfer your franchise. California Corporations Code section 31512 voids a waiver of your rights under the Franchise Investment Law (California Corporations Code Sections 31000 through 31516). Business and Professions Code Section 20010 voids a waiver of your rights under the Franchise Relations Act (Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043).

The Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement require binding arbitration. Arbitration will occur where we have our principal business address when the arbitration demand is filed (it currently is in Las Vegas, Nevada), with each party bearing its own costs. Prospective franchisees are encouraged to consult private legal counsel to determine the applicability of California and federal laws (such as Business and Professions Code Section 20040.5, Code of Civil Procedure Section 1281, and the Federal Arbitration Act) to any provisions of a franchise agreement restricting venue to a forum outside the State of California.

ILLINOIS

1. The following statements are added to the end of Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

Except for the Federal Arbitration Act that applies to arbitration, Illinois law governs the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement.

In conformance with Section 4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any provision in a franchise agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a forum outside of the State of Illinois is void. However, a franchise agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois.

Franchisees' rights upon termination and non-renewal are set forth in Sections 19 and 20 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act.

In conformance with Section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition, stipulation or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act or any other law of Illinois is void.

MARYLAND

1. The following language is added as the last paragraph of Items 5 and 7 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

Based on our financial condition, the Maryland Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, all initial fees and payments owed by you shall be deferred until we complete our pre-opening obligations under the Franchise Agreement and the outlet is opened. In addition, all development fees and initial payments shall be deferred until the first franchise under a Development Rights Agreement opens.

2. The "Summary" sections of Items 17(c) and (m) in the Franchise Agreement chart in the Franchise Disclosure Document, captioned "Requirements for you to renew or extend" and "Conditions for our approval of transfer," are amended by adding the following:

Any release required as a condition of renewal, sale, and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to any liability under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

3. The "Summary" section of Item 17(h) in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document, captioned "'Cause' defined – non-curable defaults," is amended by adding the following:

Termination upon insolvency might not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C. Sections 101 *et seq.*), but we will enforce it to the extent enforceable.

4. The "Summary" section of Item 17(v) in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document, captioned "Choice of forum," is amended to read as follows:

Subject to arbitration requirements, litigation generally must be in courts located closest to where we have our principal business address when the action is commenced (it currently is in Las Vegas, Nevada), although you may, subject to your arbitration obligations, commence a lawsuit against us in Maryland for claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

5. The "Summary" section of Item 17(w) in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document, captioned "Choice of law," is amended to read as follows:

Except for federal law and claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law, Nevada law applies.

6. The following is added at the end of the charts in Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

You must bring any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law within 3 years after the grant of the franchise.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

MINNESOTA

1. The following paragraphs are added at the end of the charts in Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota law, we will comply with Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.14, Subds. 3, 4, and 5 which require, except in certain specified cases, that you be given 90 days' notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) of the Franchise Agreement and 180 days' notice for non-renewal of the Franchise Agreement.

Minnesota Statutes, Section 80C.21 and Minnesota Rule 2860.4400(J) prohibit us from requiring litigation to be conducted outside Minnesota, requiring waiver of a jury trial, or requiring you to consent to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes. In addition, nothing in the Franchise Disclosure Document or Franchise Agreement can abrogate or reduce any of your rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 80C or your rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by the laws of the jurisdiction.

Any release required as a condition of renewal, sale and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to the extent prohibited by applicable law with respect to claims arising under Minn. Rule 2860.4400D.

NEW YORK

1. The following information is added to the cover page of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

INFORMATION COMPARING FRANCHISORS IS AVAILABLE. CALL THE STATE ADMINISTRATORS LISTED IN EXHIBIT A OR YOUR **PUBLIC** LIBRARY **FOR SOURCES** OF INFORMATION. REGISTRATION OF THIS FRANCHISE BY NEW YORK STATE DOES NOT MEAN THAT NEW YORK STATE RECOMMENDS IT OR HAS VERIFIED THE INFORMATION IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. IF YOU LEARN THAT ANYTHING IN THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT IS UNTRUE, CONTACT THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION AND NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF LAW, **BUREAU OF INVESTOR PROTECTION AND SECURITIES, 28 LIBERTY** STREET, 21ST FLOOR, NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10005. THE FRANCHISOR MAY, IF IT CHOOSES, NEGOTIATE WITH YOU ABOUT ITEMS COVERED IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. HOWEVER, THE FRANCHISOR CANNOT USE THE NEGOTIATING PROCESS TO PREVAIL UPON A PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE TO ACCEPT TERMS WHICH ARE LESS FAVORABLE THAN THOSE SET FORTH IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT.

2. The following is added at the end of Item 3 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

Except as provided above, with regard to the franchisor, its predecessor, a person identified in Item 2, or an affiliate offering franchises under the franchisor's principal trademark:

- A. No such party has an administrative, criminal or civil action pending against that person alleging: a felony, a violation of a franchise, antitrust, or securities law, fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, misappropriation of property, unfair or deceptive practices, or comparable civil or misdemeanor allegations.
- B. No such party has pending actions, other than routine litigation incidental to the business, which are significant in the context of the number of franchisees and the size, nature or financial condition of the franchise system or its business operations.
- C. No such party has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a felony charge or, within the 10 year period immediately preceding the application for registration, has been convicted of or pleaded nolo contendere to a misdemeanor charge or has been the subject of a civil action alleging: violation of a franchise, antifraud, or securities law; fraud; embezzlement; fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of property; or unfair or deceptive practices or comparable allegations.
- D. No such party is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order or decree relating to the franchise, or under a Federal, State, or Canadian franchise, securities, antitrust, trade regulation or trade practice

law, resulting from a concluded or pending action or proceeding brought by a public agency; or is subject to any currently effective order of any national securities association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, suspending or expelling such person from membership in such association or exchange; or is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order relating to any other business activity as a result of an action brought by a public agency or department, including, without limitation, actions affecting a license as a real estate broker or sales agent.

3. The following is added to the end of Item 4 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

Neither the franchisor, its affiliate, its predecessor, officers, or general partner during the 10-year period immediately before the date of the offering circular: (a) filed as debtor (or had filed against it) a petition to start an action under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code; (b) obtained a discharge of its debts under the bankruptcy code; or (c) was a principal officer of a company or a general partner in a partnership that either filed as a debtor (or had filed against it) a petition to start an action under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or that obtained a discharge of its debts under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code during or within 1 year after that officer or general partner of the franchisor held this position in the company or partnership.

4. The following is added to the end of Item 5 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

The initial franchise fee constitutes part of our general operating funds and will be used as such in our discretion.

5. The following is added to the end of the "Summary" sections of Item 17(c), titled "Requirements for franchisee to renew or extend," and Item 17(m), entitled "Conditions for franchisor approval of transfer," in the Franchise Agreement chart in the Franchise Disclosure Document:

However, to the extent required by applicable law, all rights you enjoy and any causes of action arising in your favor from the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder shall remain in force; it being the intent of this proviso that the non-waiver provisions of General Business Law Sections 687.4 and 687.5 be satisfied.

6. The following language replaces the "Summary" section of Item 17(d) in the Franchise Agreement chart in the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled "Termination by franchisee":

You may terminate the agreement on any grounds available by law.

7. The following is added to the end of the "Summary" section of Item 17(j) in the Franchise Agreement chart in the Franchise Disclosure Document, titled "Assignment of contract by franchisor":

However, no assignment will be made except to an assignee who in good faith and judgment of the franchisor, is willing and financially able to assume the franchisor's obligations under the Franchise Agreement.

8. The following is added to the end of the "Summary" sections of Item 17(v), titled "Choice of forum", and Item 17(w), titled "Choice of law" in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document:

The foregoing choice of law should not be considered a waiver of any right conferred upon the franchisor or upon the franchisee by Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York.

NORTH DAKOTA

1. The "Summary" sections of Items 17(c) and 17(m) in the Franchise Agreement chart in the Franchise Disclosure Document are amended by adding the following:

However, any release required as a condition of renewal and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to the extent prohibited by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.

2. The "Summary" section of Item 17(i) in the Franchise Agreement chart in the Franchise Disclosure Document is amended by adding the following:

The Commissioner has determined termination or liquidated damages to be unfair, unjust and inequitable within the intent of Section 51-19-09 of the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law. However, we and you agree to enforce these provisions to the extent the law allows.

3. The "Summary" section of Item 17(r) in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document is amended by adding the following:

Covenants not to compete such as those mentioned above generally are considered unenforceable in North Dakota. However, we will seek to enforce them to the extent enforceable.

4. The "Summary" section of Item 17(v) in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document is amended by adding the following:

To the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, but subject to your arbitration obligations, you may bring an action in North Dakota.

5. The "Summary" section of Item 17(w) in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document is amended by adding the following:

Except for federal law, North Dakota law applies.

RHODE ISLAND

1. The "Summary" section of Item 17(v) in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document is amended to read as follows:

Subject to arbitration requirements, litigation generally must be in courts closest to where we have our principal business address when the action is commenced (it currently is in Las Vegas, Nevada), except that, to the extent required by applicable law, but subject to your arbitration obligations, you may bring an action in Rhode Island for claims arising under the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act.

2. The "Summary" section of Item 17(w) in both the Franchise Agreement and Development Rights Agreement charts in the Franchise Disclosure Document is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Except for Federal Arbitration Act and other federal law, and except as otherwise required by the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act, Nevada law applies.

VIRGINIA

1. The "Summary" section of Item 17(h) in the Franchise Agreement chart in the Franchise Disclosure Document is amended by adding the following:

Pursuant to Section 13.1-564 of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act, it is unlawful for a franchisor to use undue influence to induce a franchisee to surrender any rights given to him under the franchise. If any provision of the franchise agreement involves the use of undue influence by the franchisor to induce a franchisee to surrender any rights given to him under the franchise, that provision may not be enforceable. Pursuant to Section 13.1-564 of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act, it is unlawful for a franchisor to cancel a franchise without reasonable cause. If any ground for default or termination stated in the Franchise Agreement does not constitute "reasonable cause," as that term may be defined in the Virginia Retail Franchising Act or the laws of Virginia, that provision may not be enforceable.

WASHINGTON

1. The following paragraph is added to the end of Item 5 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

Franchisees who receive financial incentives to refer franchise prospects to the Franchisor might be required to register as franchise brokers under the laws of Washington State.

7. The following paragraphs are added to the end of Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW will prevail.

RCW 19.100.180 may supersede the Franchise Agreement in your relationship with the Franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise. There may also be court decisions which may supersede the Franchise Agreement in your relationship with the Franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise.

In any arbitration or mediation involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In addition, if litigation is not precluded by the Franchise Agreement, a franchisee may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.

A release or waiver of rights executed by a franchisee may not include rights under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rule or order thereunder except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel. Provisions such as those which unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period for claims under the Act, or rights or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.

Transfer fees are collectable to the extent that they reflect the Franchisor's reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.

Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of a franchisee, unless the employee's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$100,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of a franchisee under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent

contractor's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). As a result, any provisions contained in the Franchise Agreement or elsewhere that conflict with these limitations are void and unenforceable in Washington.

RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining, or prohibiting a franchisee from (i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a franchisee of the same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the Franchise Agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.

THE FOLLOWING PAGES IN THIS EXHIBIT ARE STATE-SPECIFIC RIDERS TO THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN ILLINOIS

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20, by and between	een WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its principal place of bus 6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("Franchisor	."), and
, acorporation having its principal place of tat("Franchisee").	ousiness
1. BACKGROUND. Franchisor and Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise Agreement dated	time as ranchise activity
2. <u>WAIVER OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES AND JURY TRIAL</u> . The followage is added to the end of Sections 18 and 26 of the Franchise Agreement:	ollowing
However, this Section shall not act as a condition, stipulation, or provisior purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchisee to waive compliance with any provision of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act at Section 705/41 or Illinois Regulations at Section 200.609.	ı
3. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u> . Section 21 of the Franchise Agreement is delereplaced with the following:	ted and
Except for the Federal Arbitration Act that applies to arbitration, Illinois law governs the Franchise Agreement.	7
4. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u> . Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement is in its entirety and replaced with the following language:	deleted
In conformance with Section 4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any provision in a franchise agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a forum outside of the State of Illinois is void. However, a franchise agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois.	ı
5. <u>ILLINOIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE ACT</u> . The following language is as Section 34 of the Franchise Agreement.	s added
34. <u>Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act</u> . In conformance with Section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition, stipulation, or provision	

purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with any provision of the Act or any other law of Illinois is void. However, that Section shall not prevent any person from entering into a settlement agreement or executing a general release regarding a potential or actual lawsuit filed under any provision of the Act, nor shall it prevent the arbitration of any claim pursuant to the provisions of Title 9 of the United States Code.

FRANCHISEE:	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN MARYLAND

FRAN		der (the "Rider") LLC, a Georgia li					
6056	South I	Ourango Drive, S	Suite 100,	Las Vegas, corporatio	Nevada 8 n having its	9113 ("Fra	anchisor"), and
at				("Franchis	ee'').		
this Ri Agree	ment date ider (the ' ment. Th	BACKGROUND. ed "Franchise Agreer is Rider is being or (b) Franchisee's	nent"). This	, 20_ the Rider is annotative (a) Fra	nat has been exed to and anchisee is	signed at the forms part of a resident	he same time as of the Franchise of the State of
adding	2. 1	RELEASES. Sections wing:	ons 2, 3, 12,	and 14 of the	e Franchise	Agreement	are amended by
	assignm	eneral release reneral release renent/transfer will rention and Disclosu	not apply to				
	3.	FEES. Section 4 o	f the Franch	ise Agreemer	nt is amende	d by adding	g the following:
	of the initial commen	the payment provinitial franchise fee obligations to Franced doing busing the fee on the day	due under tanchisee under tess. Franch	this Agreeme nder this Agrisee must p	nt until it ha greement an ay Franchi	as fulfilled and Franchi sor the ful	all of its see has Il initial
adding	4. 'g the follo	TERMINATION. Dwing:	Section 10	.1(l) of the	Franchise A	Agreement	is amended by
	law (11	ntion upon bankru U.S.C. Sections on to the extent ent	101 et seg				
the fol	5. <u>(</u> llowing la	GOVERNING LA anguage:	.W. Section	21 of the Fran	chise Agree	ment is ame	ended by adding
		anything to the counder the Marylan	•		•	11.	o claims
	6.	CONSENT TO J	URISDICT	ION. Section	27 of the	e Franchise	Agreement is

amended by adding the following language:

However, subject to Franchisee's arbitration obligations, nothing in this Section affects Franchisee's right under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law to bring a lawsuit in Maryland for claims arising under that law.

7. <u>LIMITATION OF CLAIMS</u>. Section 28 of the Franchise Agreement is amended by adding the following language:

Any limitation of claims will not act to reduce the three (3) year statute of limitations afforded Franchisee for bringing a claim under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

- 8. REPRESENTATIONS. Sections 33.5 through 33.7 of the Franchise Agreement are hereby deleted.
- 9. <u>NON-WAIVER</u>. The following language is added to the end of Section 33 of the Franchise Agreement:

Such representations are not intended to nor shall they act as a release, estoppel, or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

FRANCHISEE:	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
Ву:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN MINNESOTA

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its principal place of business at 6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("Franchisor"), and, a corporation having its principal place of business
at ("Franchisee").
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . Franchisor and Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise Agreement dated
2. <u>RELEASES</u> . The following is added to the end of Sections 2, 3, 12, and 14 of the Franchise Agreement:
Any release required as a condition of renewal, sale and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to the extent prohibited by the Minnesota Franchises Law.
3. <u>TERMINATION</u> . The following is added to the end of Sections 2 and 10 of the Franchise Agreement:
However, with respect to franchises governed by Minnesota law, Franchisor will comply with Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.14, Subds. 3, 4 and 5 which require, except in certain specified cases, that Franchisee be given 90 days' notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days' notice of non-renewal of this Agreement.
4. <u>INDEMNIFICATION FOR USE OF MARKS</u> . The following sentence is added to the end of Section 5 of the Franchise Agreement:
Provided Franchisee has complied with all provisions of this Agreement applicable

5. <u>WAIVER OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES</u>. If and then only to the extent required by the Minnesota Franchises Law, Section 18 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted.

to the Marks, Franchisor will protect Franchisee's right to use the Marks and will indemnify Franchisee from any loss, costs, or expenses arising out of any claims, suits, or demands regarding Franchisee's use of the Marks in accordance with

6. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. The following statement is added at the end of Section 21 of the Franchise Agreement:

Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C 12, Subd. 1(g).

Nothing in this Agreement will abrogate or reduce any of Franchisee's rights under Minnesota Statutes Chapter 80c or Franchisee's right to any procedure, forum, or remedies that the laws of the jurisdiction provide.

7. <u>INJUNCTIVE RELIEF</u>. The second to the last paragraph of Section 26 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted and replaced with the following:

With understanding of the provisions of the above paragraph, Franchisee agrees that Franchisor, at its option, will have the right to seek preliminary injunctive relief from a court of competent jurisdiction to restrain any conduct by Franchisee in the development or operation of the Franchised Restaurant that could materially damage the goodwill associated with the Marks, provided that if Franchisee counters, by initiating AAA arbitration in the required forum, Franchisor agrees to arbitrate the entire dispute from that point on, except preliminary injunctive relief (and permanent injunctive relief also, if Franchisee will not agree that the preliminary injunction shall remain effective indefinitely until the arbitrator shall dissolve it), leaving the court action pending, if it chooses, to facilitate enforcement. A court will determine if a bond is required to obtain any injunctive relief with respect to use of the Marks or use of Franchisor's trade secrets, including, but not limited to, recipes and/or food preparation techniques.

- 8. <u>WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL</u>. If and then only to the extent required by the Minnesota Franchises Law, the last paragraph of Section 26 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted.
- 9. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u>. The following language is added to the end of Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Minn. Stat. Sec. 80c.21 and Minn. Rule 2860.4400j prohibit Franchisor, except in certain specified cases, from requiring litigation to be conducted outside of Minnesota. Nothing in this agreement will abrogate or reduce any of Franchisee's rights under Minnesota Statutes Chapter 80c or Franchisee's rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies that the laws of the jurisdiction provide.

10. <u>LIMITATION OF CLAIMS; NO IMPLIED COVENANT</u>. The following is added to the end of Section 28 of the Franchise Agreement:

Minnesota law provides that no action may be commenced under Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.17 more than 3 years after the cause of action accrues.

[Signature Page Follows]

FRANCHISEE:	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN NEW YORK

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its principal place of business at
6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("Franchisor"), and, a corporation having its principal place of business
at ("Franchisee").
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . Franchisor and Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise Agreement dated
2. <u>RELEASES</u> . The following is added to the end of Sections 2, 3, 12, and 14 of the Franchise Agreement:
Provided, however, that to the extent required by Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York, all rights you enjoy and any causes of action arising in your favor from the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder shall remain in force; it being the intent of the proviso that the non-waiver provisions of GBL 687 and 687.5 be satisfied.
3. <u>TERMINATION</u> . The following is added to the end of Sections 2 and 10 of the Franchise Agreement:
You may terminate the Franchise Agreement on any grounds available by law under the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York.
4. <u>GOVERNING LAW/CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u> . The following statement is added at the end of Sections 21 and 27 of the Franchise Agreement:
However, to the extent required by Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York, this Section shall not be considered a waiver of any right conferred upon you by the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder.
5. <u>LIMITATION OF CLAIMS; NO IMPLIED COVENANT</u> . The following

To the extent required by Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York, all rights and any causes of action arising in your favor from the

is added to the end of Section 28 of the Franchise Agreement:

provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder shall remain in force; it being the intent of this provision that the non-waiver provisions of GBL Sections 687.4 and 687.5 be satisfied.

FRANCHISEE:	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	3. T
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN NORTH DAKOTA

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20, by and between W
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its principal place of business a 6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("Franchisor"), an
, a corporation having its principal place of busines
at ("Franchisee").
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . Franchisor and Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise Agreement dated
2. <u>RELEASES</u> . The following is added to the end of Sections 2, 3, 12, and 14 of the Franchise Agreement:
(Any release executed will not apply to the extent otherwise prohibited by applicable law with respect to claims arising under the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.)
3. <u>COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE</u> . Section 6 of the Franchise Agreement is amended by adding the following:
Covenants not to compete such as those mentioned above are generally considered unenforceable in the State of North Dakota. However, you acknowledge and agree that we intend to seek enforcement of these provisions to the extent allowed under the law.
4. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u> . The following language is added to the end of Section 21 of the Franchise Agreement:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, North Dakota law will apply to this Agreement.
5. <u>ARBITRATION</u> . The second sentence of Section 26 of the Franchise Agreement is amended to read as follows:
All proceedings during the arbitration that require the parties' physical presence will be conducted at a suitable location the arbitrator chooses that is within ten (10) miles of where Franchisor has its principal business address when the arbitration demand is filed, provided, however, that to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law (unless such a requirement is preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act), arbitration proceedings will be held at a site to which Franchisor

and Franchisee agree.

- 6. <u>WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL</u>. If and then only to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, the last paragraph of Section 26 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted.
- 7. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u>. The following language is added to the end of Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement:

However, to the extent required by applicable law, but subject to Franchisee's arbitration obligations, Franchisee may bring an action in North Dakota.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT FOR USE IN RHODE ISLAND

	This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20, by and between WZ
6056	NCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its principal place of business at South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("Franchisor"), and, a corporation having its principal place of business
at	("Franchisee").
this R Agree the F	1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . Franchisor and Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise ement dated
replac	2. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u> . Section 21 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted and ced with the following:
	Except to the extent governed by the United States Trademark Act of 1946 (Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. sections 1051 <i>et seq.</i>) or other federal law, this Agreement and all claims arising from the relationship between Franchisor and Franchisee will be governed by the laws of the state of Nevada, without regard to its conflict of laws principles, except that: (1) any Nevada law regulating franchise offers and sales or governing the Franchisor-Franchisee relationship will not apply unless its jurisdictional requirements are met independently without reference to this section; and (2) to the extent required by applicable law, Rhode Island law will apply to claims arising under the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act.
Section	3. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u> . The following language is added to the end of on 27 of the Franchise Agreement:
	Nonetheless, subject to Franchisee's arbitration obligations, Franchisee has the right under the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act to sue in Rhode Island for claims arising under that law.

[Signature Page Follows]

FRANCHISEE:	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

WASHINGTON ADDENDUM TO THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE, AND RELATED AGREEMENTS

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this _	, 20, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability co	
6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las	Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("Franchisor"), and
, a c	orporation having its principal place of business
at("	
·	,
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . Franchisor and	Franchisee are parties to that certain Franchise
Agreement dated	_, 20 that has been signed at the same time as
this Rider (the "Franchise Agreement"). This Rid	
Agreement. This Rider is being signed because	e (a) the offer or sale of the franchise for the
Franchised Business that Franchisee will operate	e under the Franchise Agreement was made in
Washington, and/or (b) the Franchisee is a residual	<u>e</u>
Business will be located in Washington.	<i>5</i> ,
\mathcal{E}	
2. Addition of Paragraphs. The fo	ollowing is added to the end of the Franchise
Agreement:	8
6 ** * * **	

In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW will prevail.

RCW 19.100.180 may supersede the Franchise Agreement in your relationship with the Franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise. There may also be court decisions which may supersede the Franchise Agreement in your relationship with the Franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise.

In any arbitration or mediation involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In addition, if litigation is not precluded by the Franchise Agreement, a franchise may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.

A release or waiver of rights executed by a franchisee may not include rights under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rule or order thereunder except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel. Provisions such as those which unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period for claims under the Act, or rights or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable. Transfer fees are collectable to the extent that they reflect the Franchisor's reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.

Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of a franchisee, unless the employee's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$100,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of a franchisee under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent contractor's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). As a result, any provisions contained in the Franchise Agreement or elsewhere that conflict with these limitations are void and unenforceable in Washington.

RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining, or prohibiting a franchisee from (i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a franchisee of the same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the Franchise Agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.

FRANCHISEE:	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

THE FOLLOWING PAGES IN THIS EXHIBIT ARE STATE-SPECIFIC RIDERS TO THE DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT FOR USE IN ILLINOIS

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this	, 20, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability co 6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vega, a ("yo	as, Nevada 89113 ("we," "us," or "our"), and
	re parties to that certain Development Rights, 20_ (the "Development Rights Agreement"). It is to that certain Franchise Agreement dated ranchise Agreement") that is being signed ment. This Rider is annexed to and forms part of its being signed because (a) any of the franchise it Rights Agreement occurred in Illinois and the under the Development Rights Agreement will
2. WAIVER OF PUNITIVE AND EXTRA The following language is added to the end of incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Devi	
However, any waiver shall not apply to the the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act of 260.609.	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
3. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u> . The following the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by refer Agreement:	ng language is added to the end of Section 21 of rence in Section 11 of the Development Rights
Except for the Federal Arbitration Act t governs the Development Rights Agreeme	
4. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u> . Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement, as inconversely Development Rights Agreement:	The following language is added to the end of corporated by reference in Section 11 of the
In conformance with Section 4 of the I provision in a Development Rights Agreeue in a forum outside of the State of III Rights Agreement may provide for arbitrate	ement that designates jurisdiction and linois is void. However, a Development

ILLINOIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE ACT. The following language is added

as new Section 12 of the Development Rights Agreement.

12 Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act.

In conformance with Section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition, stipulation, or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with any provision of the Act or any other law of Illinois is void. However, that Section shall not prevent any person from entering into a settlement agreement or executing a general release regarding a potential or actual lawsuit filed under any provision of the Act, nor shall it prevent the arbitration of any claim pursuant to the provisions of Title 9 of the United States Code.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER
By:Name:	[Name]
Title:	
Date:, 20**	By:
	Name:
**Effective Date	Title:
	Date:

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT FOR USE IN MARYLAND

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20, b	y and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its principal	place of business at
6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("we,"	
, a having its principal plants	ace of business at
("you" or "your").	
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . We and you are parties to that certain I	1 0
Agreement dated	Rights Agreement").
We and you (or your affiliate) also are parties to that certain Franchis	se Agreement dated
concurrently with the Development Rights Agreement. This Rider is annexed	
the Development Rights Agreement. This Rider is being signed because (a)	-
the State of Maryland, and/or (b) the WING ZONE Restaurants that you wi	•
Development Rights Agreement will be located or operated in Maryland.	1
2. <u>FEES</u> . Section 4 of the Development Rights Agreement is am	ended by adding the
following:	
Despite the payment provisions above, we will defer your pay	ment of the
development fee due under this Agreement until we have fulfilled all	
obligations to you under this Agreement and you have commenced do	
You must pay us the full development fee on the day you open your	_
ZONE Restaurant for business.	i ilist who
Zord Restaurant for business.	

3. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. The following language is added to the end of Section 21 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement:

Despite anything to the contrary stated above, Maryland law will apply to claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

4. <u>NON-WAIVER</u>. The following language is added to the end of Section 33 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement:

Such representations are not intended to nor shall they act as a release, estoppel, or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

5. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u>. The following language is added to the end of Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement:

However, subject to your arbitration obligations, nothing in this Section affects your right under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law to bring a lawsuit in Maryland for claims arising under that law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused its duly authorized representative to sign and deliver this Rider on the date first above written.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER	
Ву:	[Name]	_
Name:		
Title:		
Date:	Ву:	
	Name:	
**Effective Date	Title:	
	Date:, 20	

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT FOR USE IN MINNESOTA

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this	, 20, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having 6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89, a having its p ("you" or "your").	its principal place of business at 113 ("we," "us," or "our"), and
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . We and you are parties to the Agreement dated	evelopment Rights Agreement"). ain Franchise Agreement dated tement") that is being signed er is annexed to and forms part of d because (a) the WING ZONE pment Rights Agreement will be
2. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u> . The following language is a the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Section Agreement:	
Nothing in this Agreement will abrogate or reduce as Minnesota Statutes Chapter 80c or your right to any proceed that the laws of the jurisdiction provide.	
3. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u> . The following Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by Development Rights Agreement:	
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Minn. Stat. Sec. 80c.21 an prohibit us, except in certain specified cases, from reconducted outside of Minnesota. Nothing in this Agreement any of your rights under Minnesota Statutes Chapter 80 procedure, forum, or remedies that the laws of the jurisdiction	equiring litigation to be nt will abrogate or reduce Oc or your rights to any
4. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. If and then only	to the extent required by the

5. <u>REMEDIES</u>. The following language is added to the end of Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement

Minnesota Franchises Law, the last paragraph of Section 26 of the Franchise Agreement, as

incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement, is deleted.

WE AND YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT CERTAIN PARTS OF THIS SECTION MIGHT NOT BE ENFORCEABLE UNDER MINN. RULE PART

2860.4400J. HOWEVER, WE AND YOU AGREE TO ENFORCE THE PROVISION TO THE EXTENT THE LAW ALLOWS.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused its duly authorized representative to sign and deliver this Rider on the date first above written.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER
By:	[Name]
Name:	
Title:	
Date:, 20**	By:
	Name:
**Effective Date	Title:
	Date:, 20

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT FOR USE IN NEW YORK

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20_	_, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its princ	cipal place of business at
6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("w	e," "us," or "our"), and
, a having its principal	place of business at
, a having its principal("you" or "your").	•
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . We and you are parties to that certa	
Agreement dated	ent Rights Agreement").
We and you (or your affiliate) also are parties to that certain Fran	chise Agreement dated that is being signed
concurrently with the Development Rights Agreement. This Rider is anne	
the Development Rights Agreement. This Rider is being signed because	(a) any of the franchise
offer or sales activity relating to the Development Rights Agreement occur	
(b) you are a resident of New York and the WING ZONE Restaurants the	nat you will develop and
operate under the Development Rights Agreement will be located in New	York.
2. <u>TERMINATION</u> . The following language is added to the	e end of Section 7 of the
Development Rights Agreement:	
Voy may tampinate this Assessment on any analysis assistable h	1
You may terminate this Agreement on any grounds available by provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State	
provisions of Africie 33 of the General Business Law of the State	of New Tork.
3. <u>GOVERNING LAW/CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u> . TI	he following language is
added to the end of Sections 21 and 27 of the Franchise Agreement, as in	
in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement:	is or portation of reconstruction
However, to the extent required by Article 33 of the General Bus	iness Law of the
State of New York, this Section shall not be considered a wai	ver of any right
conferred upon you by the provisions of Article 33 of the General	Business Law of
the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder.	

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused its duly authorized representative to sign and deliver this Rider on the date first above written.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER	
By:	[Name]	
Name:		
Title:		
Date:, 20**	By:	
	Name:	
**Effective Date	Title:	
	Date:	, 20

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT FOR USE IN NORTH DAKOTA

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its principal place of business at 6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("we," "us," or "our"), and having its principal place of business at ("you" or "your").
1. BACKGROUND. We and you are parties to that certain Development Rights Agreement dated
2. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u> . The following language is added to the end of Section 21 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, North Dakota law will apply to this agreement.
3. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u> . The following language is added to the end of Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement:
However, to the extent required by applicable law, but subject to your arbitration obligations, you may bring an action in North Dakota.
4. <u>ARBITRATION</u> . The following language is added to the end of Section 26 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement:
All proceedings during the arbitration that require the parties' physical presence will be conducted at a suitable location the arbitrator chooses that is within ten (10) miles of where we have our principal business address when the arbitration demand is filed, provided, however, that to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law (unless such a requirement is preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act), arbitration proceedings will be held at a site to which we and you agree.

5. <u>WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL</u>. If and then only to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, the last paragraph of Section 26 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Section 11 of the Development Rights Agreement, is deleted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused its duly authorized representative to sign and deliver this Rider on the date first above written.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER	
Ву:	[Name]	_
Name:		
Title:		
Date:	Ву:	
	Name:	
**Effective Date	Title:	
	Date:, 20	

RIDER TO THE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT FOR USE IN RHODE ISLAND

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this	ng its principal place of business at 89113 ("we," "us," or "our"), and principal place of business at
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . We and you are parties to Agreement dated	Development Rights Agreement"). ertain Franchise Agreement dated greement") that is being signed ider is annexed to and forms part of ad because (a) you are domiciled in rill develop and operate under the
2. <u>GOVERNING LAW</u> . The following language i the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by reference in Sect Agreement:	
Except to the extent governed by the United States (Lanham act, 15 U.S.C. sections 1051 et seq.) or other fand all claims arising from the relationship between us by the laws of the state of Nevada, without regard to its except that: (1) any Nevada law regulating franchise of the franchisor-franchisee relationship will not apply requirements are met independently without reference to extent required by applicable law, Rhode Island law wunder the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act.	federal law, this Agreement s and you will be governed conflict of laws principles, fers and sales or governing y unless its jurisdictional o this section; and (2) to the
3. <u>CONSENT TO JURISDICTION</u> . The following Section 27 of the Franchise Agreement, as incorporated by Development Rights Agreement:	
Nonetheless, subject to your arbitration obligations, yo	ou have the right under the

[Signature Page Follows]

Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act to sue in Rhode Island for claims arising

under that law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused its duly authorized representative to sign and deliver this Rider on the date first above written.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER	
By:	[Name]	
Name:		
Title:		
Date:, 20**	By:	
	Name:	
**Effective Date	Title:	
	Date:	, 20

WASHINGTON ADDENDUM TO THE DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AGREEMENT, FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE, AND RELATED AGREEMENTS

This Rider (the "Rider") is made this, 20, by and between WZ
FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company having its principal place of business at
6056 South Durango Drive, Suite 100, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 ("we," "us," or "our"), and
, a having its principal place of business at
("you" or "your").
1. <u>BACKGROUND</u> . We and you are parties to that certain Development Rights
Agreement dated, 20 (the "Development Rights Agreement").
We and you (or your affiliate) also are parties to that certain Franchise Agreement dated
, 20 (the "Franchise Agreement") that is being signed
concurrently with the Development Rights Agreement. This Rider is annexed to and forms part of
the Development Rights Agreement. This Rider is being signed because (a) any of the franchise
offer or sales activity occurred in Washington, and/or (b) you are a resident of Washington, and/or
(c) the WING ZONE Restaurants that you will develop and operate under the Development Rights
Agreement will be located in Washington.
2. Addition of Paragraphs. The following is added to the end of the Developer

In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW will prevail.

RCW 19.100.180 may supersede the Development Rights Agreement in your relationship with the Franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise. There may also be court decisions which may supersede the Development Rights Agreement in your relationship with the Franchisor including the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise.

In any arbitration or mediation involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In addition, if litigation is not precluded by the Development Rights Agreement, a developer may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.

A release or waiver of rights executed by a developer may not include rights under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rule or order thereunder except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel. Provisions such as those which unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of

Rights Agreement:

limitations period for claims under the Act, or rights or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.

Transfer fees are collectable to the extent that they reflect the Franchisor's reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.

Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of a developer, unless the employee's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$100,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of a developer under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent contractor's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). As a result, any provisions contained in the Development Rights Agreement or elsewhere that conflict with these limitations are void and unenforceable in Washington.

RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining, or prohibiting a developer from (i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a developer of the same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the Development Rights Agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused its duly authorized representative to sign and deliver this Rider on the date first above written.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	DEVELOPER	
By:	[Name]	_
Name:		
Title:		
Date:, 20**	By:	
	Name:	
**Effective Date	Title:	
	Date: , 20	

EXHIBIT E

TABLE OF CONTENTS OF THE MANUAL



Operations

Standard	F	Page
Hours of Operation – Minimum Required Opera	ating Times	1.1
Restaurant Image & Curb Appeal		1.2
Security		1.3
Delivery Requirements		1.4
Menu Pricing		1.7
Online Orders		1.7
Fax orders		1.8
Team Deployment Guidelines		1.9
Scheduling Tools		1.10
Guest Service Guidelines	······································	1.19
Guest Complaints & Retention		1.23
Guest Resolution – CARE Promise		1.25
Suggestive Selling & Up-selling	,	1.26
Cash Controls		1.28
Cash Handling		1.30
Exception Reports	······································	1.33
Opening and Closing Procedures		1.36
Emergency Procedures	······································	1.40
Maintenance & Repairs		1.41
Managing Your Database		1.42

Section:



EXHIBIT F

INFORMATION REGARDING CURRENT AND PAST FRANCHISEES

LIST OF FRANCHISEES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022

Store Number	Franchisee	Principal	Principal	Address	City	State	Zip Code	Store Phone
Alabama – 1				•				
AL200007	Abercrombie Enterprises Inc.	Marty Abercrombie		1241 Mc Farland Blvd East	Tuscaloosa	AL	35209	202-342-2473
California – 2	•		•	•				
CA200259	Fernice Enterprises, Inc.***	Fernando Airada**		1755 E Lugonia Ave	Redlands	CA	92374	909-321-4746
CA200277	Adept Endeavors, LLC***	Brenda Torres	Cesar Torres	26889 Sierra Hwy	Santa Clarita	CA	91321	681-542-7023
CA200256	Not Sew So, Inc.	Jim Davis	Nicole Davis	1282 Stabler Ln	Yuba City	CA	95933	530-599-8201
Colorado - 0								
CO200324	Chelsey Plunkett***&	Chelsey Plunkett**		3670 Austin Bluffs Pkwy	Colorado Springs	СО	80918	
Florida – 1								
FL200020	Flordeliza's Wings of Pensacola, Inc.	Jerry Waynick		3960 W Navy Blvd, Unit#39	Pensacola	FL	32507	850-456-0071
Georgia – 2	•		•	•				
GA200209	LSGF Management	John Bedford		142 West Clayton Street	Athens	GA	30601	706-214-2536
GA200215	Dickson Restaurant Group LLC	Michael Dickenson		3052 Shallowford Rd	Marietta	GA	30075	770-977-3712
GA200322	S&N Market***	Sagar Patel**		1527 E Jackson St	Thomasville	GA	31792	229-236-2693
Indiana – 0	•			•				
IN200299	Asra Khan***	Asra Khan**		5527 N Keystone Ave	Indianapolis	IN	46220	
Kentucky - 5								
KY200010	LazTac Inc.	Mike Tackett		351 Southland Drive	Lexington	KY	40503	302-571-8929
KY200181	Wyatt Investments Inc.***	Adam Wyatt		3038 Hunsinger Lane	Lexington	KY	40517	859-259-1400
KY200167	LazTac Inc.	Mike Tackett		580-A Eureka Springs Drive	Lexington	KY	40517	302-479-9818
KY200101	Wyatt Investments Inc.***	Adam Wyatt		3505 Poplar Level Rd	Louisville	KY	40213	502-636-2445
KY200374	Wyatt Wings Dixie, LLC	Adam Wyatt		5210 Dixie Hwy	Louisville	KY	40216	502-409-7112
Louisiana - 1								
LA200046	Deuce Wings LLC	Peter Nicolosi		5128 Lapalco Boulevard	Marrero	LA	70072	504-328-9663
Maryland - 1	•	•	•					
MD200120	Ramesha Noor Inc.	Muhammad Ayub		6131 Highbridge Road	Bowie	MD	20715	301-805-9663

Store Number	Franchisee	Principal	Principal	Address	City	State	Zip Code	Store Phone
Nevada - 0	•							
NV209281	Bonanno Food Courts II, LLC***	Robb Bonanno**		3709 S Las Vegas Blvd	Las Vegas	NV	89109	
NV209292	Bonanno Food Courts II, LLC***	Robb Bonanno**		3555 S Las Vegas Blvd	Las Vegas	NV	89109	
NV200265	LV Zone 2, LLC	Corey Melendrez**	Thomas Gourley	Blue Diamond & Rainbow	Las Vegas	NV	89139	
NV200270	LV Zone, LLC	Corey Melendrez**	Thomas Gourley	7720 S Las Vegas Blvd	Las Vegas	NV	89123	
NV200289	Vangaurd Restaurant, LLC***	Chad Warner**	Todd Abbot	705 N Virginia St	Reno	NV	89501	
New York – 2								
NY200168	BATW, LLC***	Hammed Adeyemi	Nigel Myland	2760 Sunrise Hwy	Bellmore	NY	1170	516-679-9464
NY200278	Wingzone NY Three	Hammed Adeyemi**	Nigel Myland	304 E 204th	Bronx	NY	10467	
NY200251	The Bronx Wingzone, LLC	Hammed Adeyemi**	Nigel Myland	888 Utica Ave	Brooklyn	NY	11203	
NY200085	JayJ's Zone, LLC	Kimika Samms		1860 Front St	East Meadow	NY	11554	516-833-9464
North Carolina -	3							
NC200024	Asher-WZ Incorporated	Michael Mfonyem		9605 N Tryon Street	Charlotte	NC	28262	704-503-0707
NC200114	WIN NC, LLC	Shreyang Patel		215 Western Blvd	Jacksonville	NC	28545	910-355-9464
NC200216	JIYADIVYAKRUPA, LLC	Eddie Patel	Lucy Kabanjian	1478 Burgaw Hwy	Jacksonville	NC	28546	910-353-0145
Ohio - 2	·							
OH200096	Attaya Inc.	Ramzi Anubtawi		5568 Airway Rd	Dayton	ОН	45431	937-254-9464
OH200156	108 Wingz, Inc.	Amit Singh		654 E Dixie Drive	West Carrollton	ОН	45449	937-294-9663
South Carolina -	- 2							
SC200005	A&D Foods, LLC	Mita Patel		132 Assembly St	Columbia	SC	29601	803-993-9464
SC200305	WZ BS Loris***	Barry Suggs**		4165 Main St	Loris	SC	29569	
SC200242	Rhea Development. LLC	Dave Patel		1209 Hwy 17 S	N Myrtle Beach	SC	29582	909-324-5995
Texas – 2								
TX200268	WZ Maverick, LLC***	Scooter Owens**	Jeremy Robertson	12320 Barker Cypress Rd	Cypress	TX	77429	832-439-3211
TX009	AAFES	Army & Air Force Exchange Services		Building 1387, 3390 William Hardee Rd	Ft. Sam Houston	TX	78234	210-265-6543
TX200286	WZ Danger Zone, LLC	Scooter Owens**	Jeremy Robertson	22560 SH249	Houston	TX	77070	832-645-4529
TX241	Faith Brands, Inc.	Humberto Saenz	Jose Silva	1101/1103 W Business 83	McAllen	TX	78501	956-515-2010

Store Number	Franchisee	Principal	Principal	Address	City	State	Zip Code	Store Phone
TX200243	LFG Wings, LLC***	Chris Westbrook**	Rachel Westbrook	1400 W SW Loop 323	Tyler	TX	75703	
Virginia - 4								
VA035	NZK Wings, LLC	Miko Kostadinov		3817 Mount Vernon Ave	Alexandria	VA	22305	703-299-9464
VA239	Q and Khan 36, Inc.	Murad Khan		8634 Richmond Hwy	Alexandria	VA	22309	703-844-1437
VA240	ISG Holdings, Inc.	Richard Burgos		5 th Street Station	Charlottesville	VA	22902	434-661-2460
VA128	Hairiz, Inc.	Saima Haider		3810 Staples Mill Rd	Richmond	VA	23228	804-553-1515

^{**} Denotes Franchise Agreement signed but not yet open as of 12/31/2022

^{***} Denotes Franchisees with Development Rights

LIST OF FRANCHISEES WHO LEFT THE SYSTEM

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

Alabama

AFM Korporation, Inc. Amin Karmali Hoover, AL 35216 205-978-4946 *Closed, left the system

Florida

Aramark Corporation
Gainesville, FL
352-273-4762
*Closed, non-traditional, left the system

Mississippi

Red Daddie, Inc Don Dupuis Biloxi, MS 70001 228-435-9464 *Closed, left the system

North Carolina

Todd Waldemar Jacksonville, NC 28456 910-355-9464 *Transfer, left the system

Virginia

Shivam, LLC Pinal Patel Fairfax, VA 22030 240-401-9545 *Closed, non-traditional, left the system

Virginia (cont'd)

RSB Food Services, LLC Rodney McKnight Hampton, VA 23665 404-593-5039 *Closed, left the system

Hairiz, Inc. Sheraz Maneka Richmond, VA 804-553-1515 *Transfer, left the system

EXHIBIT G

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Financial Statements

Year Ended December 25, 2022

Consolidated Financial Statements Year Ended December 25, 2022

Contents

Independent Auditor's Report	3-4
Consolidated Financial Statements	
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 25, 2022	5
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 25, 2022	6
Consolidated Statement of Members' Equity for the Year Ended December 25, 2022	7
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 25, 2022	8
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	9-20



Tel: 214-969-7007 Fax: 214-953-0722 www.bdo.com

Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Members Wing Zone Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wing Zone Holding, LLC and Subsidiaries (collectively, the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 25, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in members' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Wing Zone Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries as of December 25, 2022, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its accounting policy related to leases utilizing the modified retrospective approach due to the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, and the associated amendments (Topic 842). Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued or available to be issued.



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with U.S. GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with U.S. GAAS, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
 procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
 an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
 is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
 accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of
 the consolidated financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
 aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going
 concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

June 29, 2023

3DO USA LLP

Consolidated Balance Sheet

	De	cember 25, 2022
Assets		
Current Assets Cash Royalties receivable, net Trade and other receivables, net Inventory Prepaid expenses and other current assets	\$	811,607 98,624 49,357 8,462 17,428
Total Current Assets		985,478
Other Assets Property and equipment, net Operating lease right-of-use asset, net Goodwill, net Intangible assets, net		826,628 716,095 187,451 5,271,934
Total Assets	\$	7,987,587
Liabilities and Members' Equity		
Current Liabilities Accounts payable Accrued expenses and other current liabilities Current portion of operating lease obligations Deferred revenue, current portion Due to Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries	\$	214,265 70,120 34,286 621,524 940,316
Total Current Liabilities		1,880,511
Long-Term Liabilities Long-term debt Operating lease obligations, net of current		1,358,333 734,258
Total Liabilities		3,973,102
Commitments and Contingencies		
Members' Equity Contributed capital Accumulated deficit		8,758,525 (4,744,040)
Total Members' Equity		4,014,485
Total Liabilities and Members' Equity	\$	7,987,587

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Year ended	December 25, 2022
Revenues	
Franchise royalties and advertising contributions	\$ 1,979,885
Sales by Company-owned restaurant	527,185
Franchise fees	218,000
Other revenues	69,914
Total Revenues	2,794,984
Expenses	
Cost of sales by Company-owned restaurants	200,764
General and administrative expenses	4,633,108
Total Expenses	4,833,872
Loss before depreciation and amortization expense	(2,038,887)
Depreciation and Amortization Expense	520,997
Operating Loss	(2,559,884)
Other Income (Expense)	
Loss on disposal of assets	(20,118)
Interest expense	(148,209)
Other income	97,666
Total Other Expense	(70,661)
Net Loss	\$ (2,630,545)

Consolidated Statement of Members' Equity

	Class A Units	Accumulated Deficit	Total
Balance, December 26, 2021 Net loss	\$ 8,758,525 -	\$ (2,113,495) \$ (2,630,545)	6,645,030 (2,630,545)
Balance, December 25, 2022	\$ 8,758,525	\$ (4,744,040) \$	4,014,485

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended	D	ecember 25, 2022
Cash Flows from Operating Activities		
Net loss		(2,630,545)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash		(_,;;;;;;;
used in operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization		520,997
Loss on disposal of assets		20,119
Note payable discount amortization		64,000
Amortization of right-of-use asset		40,952
PPP loan forgiveness		(43, 295)
Changes in working capital components:		` , ,
Accounts receivable, net		96,469
Royalties receivable, net		59,525
Inventory		7,160
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		(3,434)
Accounts payable		144,784
Deferred revenue		474,218
Operating lease obligation		(37,717)
Due to Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and		(37,717)
		(526 706)
Subsidiaries, net		(526,796)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		(646,313)
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities		(2,459,876)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities		
Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements		(764,897)
Measurement period collections from prior year acquisition		81,321
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities		(683,576)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities		
Proceeds from long-term borrowings		550,333
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities		550,333
Net Decrease in Cash		(2,593,119)
Cash, beginning of year		3,404,726
Cash, end of year	\$	811,607
	Ť	011,007
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information	\$	92 446
Cash paid for interest	\$	82,446
Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities		
Recognition of lease liability upon adoption of ASC 842	\$	806,260
Recognition of right-of-use assets upon adoption of ASC 842	•	(757,047)
Recognition of lease incentive receivable		(49,213)
recognition of tease incentive receivable		(77,213)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business

Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its wholly owned subsidiaries including WZ Franchise Corporation, WZ International Corp., Wing Enterprises Inc., and Zone 203 Holdings, LLC (collectively, the "Company") is a global quick-service restaurant company that develops and manages brand locations that serve various chicken wing related items in a casual sit-down and/or take-out format under the name Wing Zone.

Wing Zone Holdings, LLC was formed by Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. on December 16, 2020. On December 28, 2020, Wing Zone Holdings, LLC purchased 100% of equity interests of WZ Franchise Corporation, WZ International Corp., Wing Enterprises Inc., and Zone 203 Holdings, LLC.

At December 25, 2022, the Company has one corporate-owned and operated location. In addition, there was a total of 53 franchised locations operated throughout the United States including Florida, Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina, Mississippi, Alabama, Kentucky, Louisiana, Texas, Ohio, New York, Maryland, and Virginia as well as internationally including Philippines, Panama, Malaysia, and Singapore at December 25, 2022.

A summary of the Company's significant accounting policies follows:

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates and assumptions include fair value of asset acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Fiscal Year

The Company has a 52/53-week fiscal year that ends on the last Sunday in December. The 2022 fiscal year consisted of 52 weeks.

Cash

At various times throughout the year, the Company maintains cash balances in excess of federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on these accounts.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Accounts and Royalties Receivable

Accounts and royalties receivable are recorded at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts on a monthly basis. Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating individual receivables and considering the financial condition of the customer or franchise, credit history, and current economic conditions. Accounts and royalties receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of receivables previously written off are recorded when received. The allowance for doubtful accounts for royalties receivable and accounts receivable was \$37,854 and \$0, respectively, as of December 25, 2022.

Inventory

Inventory is comprised of groceries, food stocks and saleable paper products, and is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value using the first-in, first-out costing method. Unsold perishables are discarded or donated daily and charged to cost of goods sold or selling expenses as appropriate.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are stated at cost. Major expenditures for additional property and those that substantially increase the useful lives or values of existing assets are capitalized. Costs incurred to repair and maintain the Company's operations and equipment are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, their cost and related reserves for depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any gain or loss on retirements is reflected in the statement of operations in the year of disposition.

After the asset has been placed into service, depreciation is based on the estimated useful life of the asset using the straight-line method. Computers and equipment as well as furniture and fixtures, are depreciated over their useful lives from five to ten years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the life of the lease or life of the improvements. Lease terms begin on the date the Company takes possession under the lease and include option periods where failure to exercise such options would result in an economic penalty. Depreciation expense for the years ended December 25, 2022, was \$81,867.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 360, *Property, Plant and Equipment*, long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. The Company recorded no impairment charges for the years ended December 25, 2022.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company has elected the accounting alternatives provided in Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Identifiable Intangible Assets in a Business Combination, and ASU 2014-02, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Accounting for Goodwill, issued by the FASB. Pursuant to these elections, the Company (a) subsumed

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

into goodwill (i.e., did not separately recognize) noncompete agreements and customer-related intangible assets acquired in the business combination that were not capable of being sold or license independently from other assets of the business; and (b) adopted the method of accounting for goodwill as described below.

Under the goodwill accounting alternative, goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over a period not to exceed ten years, the Company only tests its recorded goodwill for impairment if indicators of potential impairment exist and goodwill is evaluated at the entity level versus the reporting-unit level. Factors that could trigger an impairment test include, but are not limited to, underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use in the acquired assets or the Company's overall business, and significant negative industry or economic trends, If events or circumstances are present that may indicate the fair value of the Company is less than its' carrying value, the estimated fair value of the Company is compared to its carrying amount and an impairment loss is recorded for any excess of the carrying amount over fair value up to the recorded value of goodwill. The Company recorded no goodwill impairment for the years ended December 25, 2022.

Intangible assets consist of the "Wing Zone" trade name and franchise contracts stated at their fair value on the date of acquisition and amortized over 15 years using a method that is consistent with the assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the trademark and franchise contracts. This method results in proportionately more of the assets being amortized earlier in the life of the assets. The Company recorded no impairment for intangible assets for the years ended December 25, 2022.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenue consists of sales at Company-owned restaurants, gift cards and franchise revenue, which includes franchise royalties, advertising fund contributions, initial and renewal franchise fees, and upfront fees from development agreements. The Company's products and services are marketed and sold to customers in the United States and overseas. The results of operations are substantially affected by economic conditions, which can vary significantly by market and can be impacted by consumer disposable income levels and spending habits.

Sales at Company-Owned Restaurants

The Company records food and beverage revenue from the only Company-owned store upon delivery of the food or beverage to the customer (the consumer), which is when the performance obligation was satisfied. The Company collects and remits sales, food and beverage, and hospitality taxes on transactions with customers and reports such amounts under the net method on the consolidated statement of operations. Accordingly, these taxes are not included in gross revenue.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Franchise Agreements

The Company's franchise agreements include (a) the right to use the Company's symbolic intellectual property over the term of each franchise agreement ("Franchise Right"); (b) preopening services, such as training; and (c) ongoing services, such as management of the advertising fund contributions, development of training materials and menu items, and restaurant monitoring.

FASB issued ASU 2021-02, Franchisors - Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Subtopic 952-606), creating a practical expedient that simplifies the identification of performance obligations for private company franchisors for certain pre-opening services. If the practical expedient is elected, the pre-opening services provided by a franchisor to a franchisee can be accounted for as a single performance obligation, distinct from the franchise license. Pre-opening services per ASU 2021-02 are defined as follows:

- 1. Assistance in the selection of a site
- 2. Assistance in obtaining facilities and preparing the facilities for their intended use, including related financing, architectural, and engineering services, and lease negotiation
- 3. Training of the franchisee's personnel or the franchisee
- 4. Preparation and distribution of manuals and similar material concerning operations, administration, and record keeping
- 5. Bookkeeping, information technology, and advisory services, including setting up the franchisee's records and advising the franchisee about income, real estate, and other taxes or about regulations affecting the franchisee's business
- 6. Inspection, testing, and other quality control programs

The Company elected to apply the practical expedient allowed by ASU 2021-02 and has elected to account for all qualifying pre-opening activities as a single performance obligation.

Recognition of initial franchise fees is deferred and recognized at a point in time when the preopening services have been provided to the franchisees and upon the store opening. In the event a franchise agreement is terminated, any remaining deferred fees are recognized in the period of termination.

The components of the change in deferred franchise fee revenue are as follows.

	 ecember 25, 2022
Balance at beginning of period	\$ 147,524
Fees received from franchise owners	692,000
Franchise fee revenue recognized	(218,000)
Balance at end of period	\$ 621,524

Royalty fees and advertising fund contributions

Royalty fees and advertising fund contribution revenues represent sales-based royalties that are related entirely to performance obligations under the franchise agreement and are recognized in the period in which the sales occur. Sales-based royalties are variable consideration related to

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

performance obligations to franchise owners to maintain the intellectual property being licensed. The Company collects these fees from existing franchise owners.

Area Development Agreements

Development agreements generally grant development rights for a specified number of restaurants in a defined area over a stated term. For each location opened, a separate franchise agreement is executed. The Company believes that the development rights are not distinct from franchise agreements.

Gift Cards

Sales by Company-owned restaurants include the amortization of gift card breakage and fees associated with third-party gift card sales. The Company records a liability in the period in which a gift card is sold. As gift cards are redeemed at Company-owned restaurants, the Company recognizes restaurant sales and related administrative costs and reduces the liability. When gift cards are redeemed at a franchisee-operated restaurant, the Company reimburses the franchisee for the gift card value net of any administrative costs and derecognizes the related liability.

Revenue from restaurant sales, gift cards and pre-opening services is recognized at a point in time, whereas franchise revenue is recognized over time. Total revenue recognized at a point in time and over time was as follows:

Year ended	December 25, 2022
Revenue recognized at a point in time Revenue recognized over time	\$ 815,099 1,979,885
Total revenue	\$ 2,794,984

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Impact of Payment Terms

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods and services to the customer. Agreements may include initial and renewal franchise fees, development fees, and sales-based royalties.

Initial franchise fees are recognized as revenue as the pre-opening services are satisfied when the restaurant opens. Payments received before the restaurant opens are recorded as deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheet.

Continuing royalties are calculated as a percentage of franchise restaurant sales that are related entirely to our performance obligation under the franchise agreement. These royalties are considered variable consideration, however, because they relate to a license of intellectual property, they are not included in the transaction price. Instead, royalty revenue is recognized as franchised restaurant sales occur. Advertising contributions received from franchisees are recorded as a component of franchise contributions for advertising services on the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company believes its franchising and area development agreements do not contain a significant financing component because (a) the timing of the upfront payment does not arise for the reason of provision of financing to the Company, and (b) the sales-based royalty is variable and based on factors outside the Company or the franchisee's control.

Contract Balances

The Company records accounts receivable when it has the unconditional right to issue an invoice and receive payment, regardless of whether revenue has been recognized. If revenue has not yet been recognized, a contract liability (deferred revenue) is recorded. The Company does not recognize revenue in advance of the right to invoice and, therefore, has not recorded a contract asset.

Advertising Costs

All advertising expenditures are charged to selling, general and administrative expenses as incurred. Advertising costs were \$610,624, for the year ended December 25, 2022.

Income Taxes

The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes with all income tax liabilities and/or benefits of the Company being passed through to the member. As such, no recognition of federal or state income taxes for the Company or its subsidiaries that are organized as a limited liability companies have been provided for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Any uncertain tax position taken by the member is not an uncertain position of the Company.

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities

Effective December 27, 2021, the Company adopted FASB ASU No. 2016-02, *Leases ("Topic 842")*, and all related amendments using the modified retrospective approach.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Topic 842 requires lessees to recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases on the balance sheet. At lease inception, leases are classified as either finance leases or operating leases with the associated right-of-use asset and lease liability measured at the net present value of future lease payments. Operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis as lease expense over the non-cancelable lease term. Expenses for finance leases are comprised of the amortization of the right-of-use asset and interest expense recognized based on the effective interest method.

The new standard provides for several optional practical expedients. Upon transition to Topic 842, the Company elected:

• The package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance which does not require the Company to reassess prior conclusions regarding whether contracts are or contain a lease, lease classification and initial direct lease costs.

The new standard also provides for several accounting policy elections, as follows:

• When the rate implicit in the lease is not determinable, rather than use the Company's incremental borrowing rate, the Company elected to use a risk-free discount rate for the initial and subsequent measurement of lease liabilities for all leases.

Additional required disclosures for Topic 842 are contained in Note 8.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-05, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief (ASU 2019-05), which provides an option to irrevocably elect to measure certain individual financial assets at fair value instead of amortized cost. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-11, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (ASU 2019-11), which provides guidance around how to report expected recoveries. ASU 2016-13, ASU 2018-19, ASU 2019-04, ASU 2019-05 and ASU 2019-11 (collectively, ASC 326) are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.

2. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the balances and changes in intangible assets:

Year ended	December 25, 2022	
Franchise contracts Less: franchise contracts accumulated amortization	\$	2,525,000 (336,666)
Franchise Contracts, Net	\$	2,188,334
Trade name	\$	3,558,000
Less: trade name accumulated amortization		(474,400)
Trade Name, Net	\$	3,083,600

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Goodwill consists of the following:

Year ended	December 25, 2022
Goodwill Less: goodwill accumulated amortization	\$ 254,645 (67,194)
Goodwill, Net	\$ 187,451

Changes in goodwill for the year ended December 25, 2022, consisted of amortization noted below and a measurement period adjustment arising from the acquisition of Wing Zone in 2021.

The following table aggregates amortization expense of the Company's intangible assets:

Year ended	De	cember 25, 2022
Goodwill assets amortization	\$	33,597
Franchise contracts amortization		168,333
Trade name amortization		237,200
Total Amortization Expense	\$	439,130
The weighted-average remaining useful lives are the following:		
		Years

8
13
13

Estimated amortization expense of goodwill and intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

Years ending	
2023	\$ 428,964
2024	428,964
2025	428,964
2026	428,964
2027	428,964
Thereafter	3,314,563
	\$ 5,459,385

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment as of December 25, 2022 is comprised of the following:

Computers and software	\$ 241,215
Furniture and fixtures	221,411
Leasehold Improvements	302,496
Machinery and equipment	22,293
Construction in process	122,758
Total cost	910,173
Less accumulated depreciation and	
amortization	(81,545)
Property and Equipment, Net	\$ 828,628

Property and equipment depreciation and amortization expense totaled \$81,867 year ended December 25, 2022.

4. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The Company is subject to lawsuits and claims that arise out of the normal course of business. It is the opinion of management, based on consultation with legal counsel, the disposition of any actions of which they are aware will not have a material effect on the financial position, results of operations or liquidity of the Company.

Future Sale Contingency

Under the terms of an agreement entered between Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, on December 28, 2020, Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. will pay Wing Zone Holdings, LLC the amount of \$1,393,250 and any accrued interest, which is de minimis at yearend, on the unpaid amount upon the sale of Wing Zone Holdings, LLC. Interest shall accrue on the unpaid principal amount of this note at the then-applicable long-term adjusted applicable federal rate per annum. At December 25, 2022, the Company does not have plans nor anticipates the sale of the Company.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

5. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

	D	ecember 25, 2022
Notes payable to WZ Friedman & Scott (A)	\$	1,000,000
Discount on WZ Friedman & Scott note		(192,000)
Note payable to JLJS Holdings, LLC (B)		183,333
Note payable to Zeus Holdings LLC, interest only payable monthly at		•
8.00%, due in December 31, 2025, collateralized by the Company's		
assets, guaranteed by certain stockholders.		367,000
Long-Term Debt	\$	1,358,333

- (A) On December 28, 2020, Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, entered into an agreement with a related party for a subordinated promissory note in the amount of \$1,000,000, which shall be due and payable on the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the date of the agreement and the consummation of a change in ownership. Interest accrues on a quarterly basis on the unpaid principal amount at the rate of 8%, which shall be paid on a quarterly basis on the 15th of March, June, and December of each year, commencing with March 15, 2021. The discount to record the note at fair value is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the note. At December 25, 2022, the remaining note payable has a face amount of \$1,000,000, respectively. The remaining unamortized discount on the note is \$192,000, respectively.
- (B) To finance restaurant acquisitions, build out and provide additional working capital, Wing Zone Craig, LLC entered into financing transactions with JLJS Holdings, LLC, a related-party lender. The agreements are in the form of Convertible Promissory Notes that provide for the quarterly period-end, period-end defined as every four weeks from the fiscal year-end, payments of 50% of the borrower's EBITDA until such time as the instrument is fully repaid or redeemed (as more fully described below), or the borrower is liquidated. Beginning in the fifth year after issuance, the lender is also entitled to an additional 25% of the borrower's EBITDA as payment of the outstanding principal until such time as the lender recovers 50% of the original loan proceeds. On the ten year anniversary of the note, a balloon payment is due in an amount sufficient to pay the outstanding principal down to 50% of the original note proceeds. The remaining 50% of the note proceeds is due on the 15-year anniversary of the note, and the anniversary date is June 2038. At any time prior to maturity, the loan can be extended for additional one-year terms with the mutual consent of the parties. Also, at any time prior to maturity, 50% of the original note proceeds is convertible into a 50% nonvoting equity interest in the borrower.

Interest cost incurred and recognized expense during the year ended December 25, 2022, was \$148,204, including \$64,000, in amortization of the discount on the note.

Paycheck Protection Program Loans and Economic Injury Disaster Loan

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted to, amongst other provisions, provide emergency assistance for individuals, families, and businesses affected by the coronavirus pandemic. The Paycheck Protection Program and Economic Injury Disaster loans were established by the CARES Act are implemented by the U.S. Small Business Administration.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The Paycheck Protection Program provides small businesses with funds to pay up to eight weeks of payroll costs, including benefits, interest on mortgages, rent and utilities. In March 2021, Wing Zone International was approved to receive a draw of \$43,295 through the Paycheck Protection Program. The Company elected to account for the loan as a financial liability in accordance with ASC 470, *Debt*. As of December 25, 2022, the Company has a loan outstanding of \$0 as the Company was granted forgiveness for the loan on July 20, 2022 with a gain of \$43,295 included in other income in the statement of operations.

6. Members' Equity

Class A Units

The Company has one class of common units issued, Class A Units, with each unit representing the pro rata capital contribution and ownership in the Company's capital, profits, losses, and distributions. Income and losses are allocable to all members based upon their respective percentage of units held. As of December 25, 2022, the Company has 1,464,286, Class A Units authorized, issued, and outstanding.

7. Leases (Change in Accounting Principle)

The Company leases retail space under an operating lease with terms ending in December 2036. Total operating lease cost approximated \$63,891 for the year ended December 25, 2022, and is included within general and administrative expenses on the accompanying statements of operations. Total payments on operating leases approximated \$58,094 for the year ended December 25, 2022. Amortization of the Company's operating lease right-of-use asset was \$40,952 for the year ended December 25, 2022. The weighted-average remaining lease term as of December 25, 2022 was approximately 14 years.

On December 27, 2021, the Company recognized a right-of-use asset and lease obligation of \$757,047 and \$806,260, respectively, as a result of the change in accounting principle.

The future payments due on operating leases is as follows:

December 31,	
2023	\$ 53,625
2024	53,625
2025	53,625
2026	54,295
2027	61,669
<u>Thereafter</u>	602,059
Subtotal	878,898
Less: imputed interest	(121,851)
Lease liabilities recognized	757,047
Current portion	34,286
Long term portion	\$ 729,623

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Because the Company generally does not have access to the rate implicit in the lease, the Company elected to use the risk-free discount rate in lieu of its incremental borrowing rate when measuring lease liabilities. The weighted average discount rate utilized for the operating leases as of December 27, 2021, was 1.84%.

8. Related-Party Transactions

The Company receives financial support from, and shares administrative resources with, its majority owner, Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries. Amounts due to and from related party consist of informal, noninterest-bearing, unsecured advances due on demand. At December 25, 2022, amounts due from the Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries is \$140,098 and amounts due to Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries is \$1,080,414.

9. Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through June 29, 2023, the date the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance.

Consolidated Financial Report December 26, 2021

Contents

Independent auditor's report	1-2
Financial statements	
Consolidated balance sheet	3-4
Consolidated statement of operations	5
Consolidated statement of members' equity	6
Consolidated statement of cash flows	7
Notes to consolidated financial statements	8-17
Supplementary information	
Consolidated statement of revenues, cost of sales, and general and administrative expenses	18
Consolidated schedule of EBITDA before officer salaries	19



Independent Auditor's Report

RSM US LLP

Board of Members Wing Zone Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wing Zone Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 26, 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, members' equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 26, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued or available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

- ï Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- i Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- ï Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

RSM US LLP

Las Vegas, Nevada June 10, 2022

Consolidated Balance Sheet December 26, 2021

Assets	
Current assets:	
Cash	\$ 3,404,726
Royalties receivable, net	158,149
Accounts receivable, net	96,612
Inventory	15,622
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	13,996
Due from Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries	46,104
Total current assets	3,735,209
Property and equipment:	
Computers and software	39,657
Furniture and fixtures	18,138
Machinery and equipment	2,978
Construction in process	110,541
	171,314
Less accumulated depreciation	7,597
Total property and equipment, net	163,717
Other assets:	
Goodwill, net	302,369
Intangible assets, net	5,677,467
Total other assets	5,979,836
Total assets	\$ 9,878,762

Liabilities and Members' Equity	
Current liabilities:	
Accounts payable	\$ 69,482
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	716,433
Deferred revenue, current portion	147,306
Due to Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries	1,513,216
Total current liabilities	 2,446,437
Long-term liabilities:	
_	707 205
Long-term debt	 787,295
Total liabilities	 3,233,732
Commitments and contingencies	
Members' equity:	
Contributed capital	8,758,525
Accumulated deficit	(2,113,495)
Total members' equity	 6,645,030
Total liabilities and members' equity	\$ 9,878,762

Consolidated Statement of Operations Year Ended December 26, 2021

Revenues:		
Franchise royalties and advertising contributions	\$	1,497,036
Sales by Company-owned restaurant		231,290
Franchise fees		166,478
Total revenues		1,894,804
Expenses:		
Cost of sales by Company-owned restaurants		81,115
General and administrative expenses		3,022,895
Total expenses		3,104,010
Loss before depreciation and amortization expense		(1,209,206)
Depreciation and amortization expense		446,727
Operating loss		(1,655,933)
Nonoperating income (expense):		
Loss on disposal of Company-owned restaurant		(18,194)
Interest expense		(211,201)
Other income		69,027
Transaction expense		(297,194)
Total nonoperating income		(457,562)
Net loss	_\$_	(2,113,495)

Consolidated Statement of Members' Equity Year Ended December 26, 2021

		Class A Units	F	Accumulated Deficit	Total
Balance, December 28, 2020 Contributions Net loss	\$	- 8,758,525 -	\$	- - (2,113,495)	\$ - 8,758,525 (2,113,495)
Balance, December 26, 2021	_\$_	8,758,525	\$	(2,113,495)	\$ 6,645,030

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Year Ended December 26, 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net loss	\$	(2,113,495)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:	•	(=, : : 0, : 00)
Depreciation and amortization		446,727
Loss on disposal of Company-owned restaurant		18,196
Note payable discount amortization		64,000
Earnout discount amortization		70,000
Changes in working capital components, net of effects from acquisitions:		70,000
Accounts receivable, net		57,801
Royalties receivable, net		(158,149)
Inventory		(9,571)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		(13,996)
Accounts payable		(59,540)
Deferred revenue		147,306
Due from/to Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries, net		1,467,112
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		55,484
Net cash used in operating activities		(28,125)
Net cash used in operating activities		(20,123)
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements		(144,709)
Purchase of WZ Franchise Corporation, WZ International Corp., Wing Enterprises Inc.,		
and Zone 203 Holdings, LLC, net of cash acquired of \$543,250		(3,874,260)
Net cash used in investing activities		(4,018,969)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Proceeds from long-term borrowings		43,295
Proceeds from capital contributions		7,408,525
Net cash provided by financing activities		7,408,323
Net cash provided by illianting activities		7,431,020
Net increase in cash		3,404,726
Cash		
Beginning of year		-
End of year	\$	3,404,726
Ourselves and all lived accounts of small flowers that		
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow of information:	•	77.004
Cash paid for interest	\$	77,201
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities: Acquisition of WZ Franchise Corporation, WZ International Corp., Wing Enterprises Inc., and Zone 203 Holdings, LLC:		
Fair value of promissory note to sellers	\$	680,000
Fair value of earnout liability included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities	\$	580,000
·		
Equity issued in connection with acquisition	<u>\$</u>	1,050,000
Issuance of Class A share in settle of earnout liability of \$300,000 to sellers	\$	300,000

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of business: Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its wholly owned subsidiaries including WZ Franchise Corporation, WZ International Corp., Wing Enterprises Inc., and Zone 203 Holdings, LLC (collectively, the Company) is a global quick-service restaurant company that develops and manages brand locations that serve various chicken wing related items in a casual sit-down and/or take-out format under the name Wing Zone.

Wing Zone Holdings, LLC was formed by Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. on December 16, 2020. On December 28, 2020, Wing Zone Holdings, LLC purchased 100% of equity interests of WZ Franchise Corporation, WZ International Corp., Wing Enterprises Inc., and Zone 203 Holdings, LLC. The purchase price was \$7,027,510, which included cash payment, notes payable and rollover equity, as fully described in Note 7.

The Company had one wholly owned subsidiary located in Atlanta, Georgia, and was permanently closed in May 2021. At December 26, 2021, the Company has no corporate-owned and operated locations. In addition, there was a total of 56 franchised locations operated throughout the United States including Florida, Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina, Mississippi, Alabama, Kentucky, Louisiana, Texas, Ohio, New York, Maryland, and Virginia as well as internationally including Philippines, Panama, Malaysia and Singapore at December 26, 2021.

A summary of the Company's significant accounting policies follows:

Basis of consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates: The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates and assumptions include fair value of asset acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Due to the COVID-19 global pandemic, there is significant uncertainty as to the likely effects of the virus, which may, among other things, reduce future revenues of the Company. At this time, the Company is unable to quantify the potential effect of this pandemic on future consolidated financial statements. Management will continue to monitor the economic environment and evaluate potential impacts on the consolidated financial statements.

Fiscal year: The Company has a 52/53-week fiscal year that ends on the last Sunday in December. The 2021 fiscal year consisted of 52 weeks.

Cash: At various times throughout the year, the Company maintains cash balances in excess of federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on these accounts.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Accounts and royalties receivable: Accounts and royalties receivable are recorded at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts on a monthly basis. Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating individual receivables and considering the financial condition of the customer or franchise, credit history, and current economic conditions. Accounts and royalties receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of receivables previously written off are recorded when received. The allowance for doubtful accounts for royalties receivable was \$37,854 as of December 26, 2021.

Inventory: Inventory is comprised of groceries, food stocks and saleable paper products, and is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value using the first-in, first-out costing method. Unsold perishables are discarded or donated daily and charged to cost of goods sold or selling expenses as appropriate.

Property and equipment: Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are stated at cost. Major expenditures for additional property and those that substantially increase the useful lives or values of existing assets are capitalized. Costs incurred to repair and maintain the Company's operations and equipment are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, their cost and related reserves for depreciation are from the accounts, and any gain or loss on retirements is reflected in operating income loss in the year of disposition.

After the asset has been placed into service, depreciation is based on the estimated useful life of the asset using the straight-line method. Computers and equipment as well as furniture and fixtures are depreciated over their useful lives from five to ten years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the life of the lease or life of the improvements. Lease terms begin on the date the Company takes possession under the lease and include option periods where failure to exercise such options would result in an economic penalty. Depreciation expense for the year ended December 26, 2021, was \$7,597.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 360, Property, Plant and Equipment, long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. The Company recorded no impairment charges for the year ended December 26, 2021.

Goodwill and intangible assets: The Company has elected the accounting alternatives provided in Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-08, *Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Identifiable Intangible Assets in a Business* Combination, and ASU 2014-02, *Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Accounting for Goodwill*, issued by the FASB. Pursuant to these elections, the Company (a) subsumed into goodwill (i.e., did not separately recognize) noncompete agreements and customer-related intangible assets acquired in the business combination that were not capable of being sold or license independently from other assets of the business; and (b) adopted the method of accounting for goodwill as described below.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Under the goodwill accounting alternative, goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over a period not to exceed 10 years, the Company only tests its recorded goodwill for impairment if indicators of potential impairment exist and goodwill is evaluated at the entity level versus the reporting-unit level. Factors that could trigger an impairment test include, but are not limited to, underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use in the acquired assets or the Company's overall business, and significant negative industry or economic trends, If events or circumstances are present that may indicate the fair value of the Company is less than its' carrying value, the estimated fair value of the Company is compared to its carrying amount and an impairment loss is recorded for any excess of the carrying amount over fair value up to the recorded value of goodwill. The Company recorded no goodwill impairment for the year ended December 26, 2021.

Intangible assets consist of the "Wing Zone" trade name and franchise contracts stated at cost and amortized over 15 years using a method that is consistent with the assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the trademark and franchise contracts. This method results in proportionately more of the assets being amortized earlier in the life of the assets. The Company recorded no impairment for intangible assets for the year ended December 26, 2021.

Revenue recognition: The Company's revenue consists of sales at Company-owned restaurants, gift cards and franchise revenue, which includes franchise royalties, advertising fund contributions, initial and renewal franchise fees, and upfront fees from development agreements. The Company's products and services are marketed and sold to customers in the United States and overseas. The results of operations are substantially affected by economic conditions, which can vary significantly by market and can be impacted by consumer disposable income levels and spending habits.

Sales at Company-owned restaurants: The Company records food and beverage revenue from the only Company-owned stores until closure of the store in May 2021 upon delivery of the food or beverage to the customer (the consumer), which is when the performance obligation was satisfied. The Company collects and remits sales, food and beverage, and hospitality taxes on transactions with customers and reports such amounts under the net method on the consolidated statement of operations. Accordingly, these taxes are not included in gross revenue.

Franchise agreements: The Company's franchise agreements include (a) the right to use the Company's symbolic intellectual property over the term of each franchise agreement (Franchise Right); (b) pre-opening services, such as training; and (c) ongoing services, such as management of the advertising fund contributions, development of training materials and menu items, and restaurant monitoring. The pre-opening services were determined to transfer a benefit to the franchisee directly without use of the license, so they are considered to be individually distinct, and therefore, accounted as a single performance obligation. The Company records pre-opening services revenue when the stores open, as substantially all pre-opening performance obligations are satisfied within the month of the store opening. The ongoing promises are highly dependent upon and interrelated with the Franchise Right granted in the franchise agreement, so they are not considered to be individually distinct and, therefore, combined with the Franchise Right and treated as a single performance obligation. The performance obligation under the franchise agreement is the promise to provide daily access to the symbolic intellectual property over the term of each franchise agreement, which is a series of distinct services that represents a single performance obligation. Although the franchisor's underlying activities associated with the symbolic intellectual property will vary both within a day and day-to-day, the symbolic intellectual property is accessed over time and the customer (the franchisees) simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit from the franchisor's performance of providing access to the symbolic intellectual property (including other related activities).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Area development agreements: Development agreements generally grant development rights for a specified number of restaurants in a defined area over a stated term. For each location opened, a separate franchise agreement is executed. The Company believes that the development rights are not distinct from franchise agreements.

Gift cards: Sales by Company-owned restaurants include the amortization of gift card breakage and fees associated with third-party gift card sales. The Company records a liability in the period in which a gift card is sold. As gift cards are redeemed at Company-owned restaurants, the Company recognizes restaurant sales and related administrative costs and reduces the liability. When gift cards are redeemed at a franchisee-operated restaurant, the Company reimburses the franchisee for the gift card value net of any administrative costs and derecognizes the related liability.

Revenue from restaurant sales, gift cards and pre-opening services is recognized at a point in time, whereas franchise revenue is recognized over time. Total revenue recognized at a point in time and over time was as follows for the year ended December 26, 2021:

Revenue recognized at a point in time	\$ 397,768
Revenue recognized over time	1,497,036
	\$ 1,894,804

Impact of payment terms: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods and services to the customer. Agreements may include initial and renewal franchise fees, development fees, and sales-based royalties.

Initial franchise fees are recognized as revenue as the pre-opening services are satisfied when the restaurant opens. Payments received before the restaurant opens are recorded as deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheet.

Continuing royalties are calculated as a percentage of franchise restaurant sales that are related entirely to our performance obligation under the franchise agreement. These royalties are considered variable consideration, however, because they relate to a license of intellectual property, they are not included in the transaction price. Instead, royalty revenue is recognized as franchised restaurant sales occur. Advertising contributions received from franchisees are recorded as a component of franchise contributions for advertising services on the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company believes its franchising and area development agreements do not contain a significant financing component because (a) the timing of the upfront payment does not arise for the reason of provision of financing to the company, and (b) the sales-based royalty is variable and based on factors outside the company or the franchisee's control.

Contract balances: The Company records accounts receivable when it has the unconditional right to issue an invoice and receive payment, regardless of whether revenue has been recognized. If revenue has not yet been recognized, a contract liability (deferred revenue) is recorded. The Company does not recognize revenue in advance of the right to invoice and, therefore, has not recorded a contract asset. Opening balances were \$0 as of December 28, 2020 for royalties receivable, net and deferred revenue.

Income taxes: The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes with all income tax liabilities and/or benefits of the Company being passed through to the member. As such, no recognition of federal or state income taxes for the Company or its subsidiaries that are organized as a limited liability companies have been provide for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Any uncertain tax position taken by the member is not an uncertain position of the Company.

Note 1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Recent accounting pronouncements: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-10. Codification Improvements to Topic 842. Leases, which makes narrow-scope improvements to the standard for specific issues. In July 2018, the FASB also issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, which provides an optional transition method allowing the standard to be applied at the adoption date. A modified retrospective transition approach is required. An entity may adopt the guidance either (1) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented in the financial statements with a cumulative-effect adjustment recognized at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, or (2) retrospectively at the beginning of the period of adoption through a cumulative-effect adjustment. ASU 2016-02 is effective for the Company on December 27, 2021. The new standard provides a number of practical expedients. Upon adoption, the Company expects to elect all the practical expedients available. The adoption of ASU 2016-02 is expected to have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, *Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government Assistance*, which is intended to increase transparency in financial reporting by requiring business entities to disclose information about certain types of government assistance they receive. ASU 2021-10 requires business entities to make certain annual disclosures about transactions with a government that are accounted for by applying a grant or contribution accounting model by analogy to other accounting guidance. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The adoption of ASU 2021-10 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Note 2. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The following tables summarize the balances and changes in intangible assets as of and for the year ended December 26, 2021:

Franchise contracts Less franchise contracts accumulated amortization	\$ 2,525,000 (168,333)
Franchise contracts, net	\$ 2,356,667
Trade name Less trade name accumulated amortization Trademark, net	\$ 3,558,000 (237,200) 3,320,800
Goodwill consists of the following at December 26, 2021:	
Goodwill Less goodwill accumulated amortization	\$ 335,966 (33,597)
Goodwill, net	\$ 302,369

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2. Intangible Assets and Goodwill (Continued)

The following table aggregates amortization expense of the Company's intangible assets for the year ended December 26, 2021:

Goodwill assets amortization	\$ 33,597
Franchise contracts amortization	168,333
Trade name amortization	 237,200
Total amortization expense	\$ 439,130

The weighted-average useful lives are the following:

Goodwill	9 years
Franchise contracts	14 years
Trade name	14 years

Estimated amortization expense of goodwill and intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

Years ending:	
2022	\$ 439,130
2023	439,130
2024	439,130
2025	439,130
2026	439,130
Thereafter	3,784,186
	\$ 5,979,836

Note 3. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating leases: The Company rented office and restaurant space in Georgia pursuant to commercial leases with initial terms that expired in April 2021. Base rent expense for the years ended December 26, 2021, was \$67,806. The Company is also responsible for common area maintenance expenses as a part of the lease agreement. Expenses are included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations.

Litigation: The Company is subject to lawsuits and claims that arise out of the normal course of business. It is the opinion of management, based on consultation with legal counsel, the disposition of any actions of which they are aware will not have a material effect on the financial position, results of operations or liquidity of the Company.

Future sale contingency: Under the terms of an agreement entered between Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, on December 28, 2020, Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. will pay Wing Zone Holdings, LLC the amount of \$1,393,250 and any accrued interest on the unpaid amount upon the sale of Wing Zone Holdings, LLC. Interest shall accrue on the unpaid principal amount of this note at the then-applicable long-term adjusted applicable federal rate per annum. At December 26, 2021, the Company does not have plans nor anticipates the sale of the Company.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 4. Long-Term Debt

On December 28, 2020, Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, entered into an agreement with a minority owner for a subordinated promissory note in the amount of \$1,000,000, which shall be due and payable on the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the date of the agreement and the consummation of a change in ownership. Interest accrues on a quarterly basis on the unpaid principal amount at the rate of 8%, which shall be paid on a quarterly basis on the 15th of March, June and December of each year, commencing with March 15, 2021. The discount to record the note at fair value is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the note. At December 26, 2021, the remaining note payable has a face amount of \$1,000,000. The remaining unamortized discount on the note is \$256,000.

Promissory note consists of the following at December 26, 2021:

Outstanding principal balance	\$ 1,000,000
Remaining unamortized discount	(256,000)
Net carrying amount	\$ 744,000

Interest cost incurred and recognized expense during the year ended December 26, 2021, was \$211,201, including \$64,000 in amortization of the discount on the note.

Paycheck Protection Program loans and Economic Injury Disaster Loan: On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted to, amongst other provisions, provide emergency assistance for individuals, families, and businesses affected by the coronavirus pandemic. The Paycheck Protection Program and Economic Injury Disaster loans were established by the CARES Act are implemented by the U.S. Small Business Administration.

The Paycheck Protection Program provides small businesses with funds to pay up to eight weeks of payroll costs, including benefits, interest on mortgages, rent and utilities. In March 2021, Wing Zone International was approved to receive a draw of \$43,295 through the Paycheck Protection Program. The Company elected to account for the loan as a financial liability in accordance with ASC 470, Debt. The proceeds from the loan will remain recorded as a liability until either (1) the loan is, in part or wholly, forgiven and the Company has been legally released, or (2) the Company pays off the loan to the creditor. Once the loan is, in part or in whole, forgiven and legal release is received, the Company will reduce the liability by the amount forgiven and record a gain on extinguishment. As of December 26, 2021, the Company has a loan outstanding of \$43,295, issued as a promissory note to the U.S. Small Business Administration, with Bank of America as the lender. The note is unsecured and has a maturity date of March 19, 2026, with an annual interest rate of 1.00%. The Company has not yet filed for forgiveness as year-end.

Future maturities of long-term debt for the years ending after December 26, 2021, are as follows:

Years ending:	
2025	\$ 744,000
2026	 43,295
	\$ 787,295

Note 5. Franchise Royalties and Deferred Revenue

During the year ended December 26, 2021, new franchise agreements were signed in specifically identified areas of Ohio, New York, Georgia and California. For the year ended December 26, 2021, fees received as a result of these agreements totaled \$147,306 which were recorded as deferred revenue.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 6. Members' Equity

Class A Units: The Company has one class of common units issued, Class A Units, with each unit representing the pro rata capital contribution and ownership in the Company's capital, profits, losses, and distributions. Income and losses are allocable to all members based upon their respective percentage of units held. As of December 26, 2021, the Company has 1,464,286 Class A Units authorized, issued and outstanding.

Capital contributions: On December 23, 2021, Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. contributed an additional \$2,950,000 to Wing Zone Holdings, LLC for 421,429 Wing Zone Holdings, LLC Class A Units and the minority owner converted \$300,000 of the earnout liability to 42,857 of Wing Zone Holdings, LLC Class A Units, which are included in contributions on the consolidated statement of equity and the consolidated balance sheet.

Note 7. Business Combinations

On December 28, 2020, Wing Zone Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (Wing Zone) entered into a stock purchase agreement to acquire 100% of the equity interest in exchange for total consideration of \$7,027,510. The acquisition included 15% of rollover equity in exchange for 150,000 shares of Wing Zone Class A Units. The fair value of the rollover equity units, totaling \$1,050,000, was determined based on the same per unit price as the other member on the acquisition date with similar rights.

Consideration:

Base cash consideration	\$ 4,000,000
Promissory note	680,000
Earnout payment	880,000
Rollover consideration	1,050,000
Closing cash in excess of working capital	 417,510
	\$ 7,027,510

The transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method required by ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations. Accordingly, goodwill has been measured as the excess of the total consideration over the amounts assigned to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The excess of the purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill from the acquisition is expected to be deductible for federal income tax purposes.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 7. Business Combinations (Continued)

The following table summarizes the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date:

Assets acquired:	
Cash	\$ 543,250
Accounts receivable	154,413
Inventories	6,051
Property and equipment	44,800
Intangible—trade name	3,558,000
Intangible—franchise agreements	2,525,000
Goodwill	335,966
Total assets acquired	7,167,480
Liabilities assumed:	
Accounts payable	129,022
Accrued expenses	10,948
Total liabilities assumed	139,970
Total purchase price	\$ 7,027,510

The gross contractual value of the acquired accounts receivable approximates the fair value and the estimate of cash flows to be collected as of the acquisition date.

The fair values of the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed represent management's estimate of fair values at the acquisition date. Management hired an independent valuation firm to assist in the determination of fair value of identified intangible assets. Fair value was determined through the use of a discounted cash flow model and consideration of market conditions.

Intangible assets that were separately valued in the transaction were trade names and franchise agreements. Both trade name and franchise agreements were valued using the relief from royalty method, which is a form of the income approach. The royalty rate of 30% was based on an analysis of the net after-tax royalty savings calculated for each year during the remaining economic life of the asset, which is 15 years, and discounted to present value resulting in a current fair value of \$3,558,000 and \$2,525,000 for trade names and franchise agreements, respectively. The after-tax cash flows were discounted to present value using a 21.5% and 19.5% discount rate for trade names and franchise agreements, respectively.

The goodwill of \$335,996 arising from the acquisition consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale expected from combining the operations of Wing Zone. Transaction costs incurred by the Company in connection with the acquisition were \$297,194, which are expensed as incurred in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 26, 2021.

Note 8. Related-Party Transactions

The Company has transactions with the related-party, Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries. Amounts due to and from related party consist of informal, noninterest-bearing, unsecured advances due on demand. Management assesses the collectibility of amounts due from the related party based on estimated net cash flows to be generated by the related parties and has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts is required. At December 26, 2021, amounts due from the Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries is \$46,104 and amounts due to Capriotti's Sandwich Shop, Inc. and Subsidiaries is \$1,513,216.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 9. Subsequent Events

In connection with the purchase agreement, a minority owner is entitled to an earnout payment in an amount of \$950,000 on the first anniversary of the closing date, as described on Note 7. On December 23, 2021, the \$300,000 of the earnout was converted to a capital contribution, resulting in an earnout liability of \$650,000 as of December 26, 2021. The liability is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Subsequent events have been evaluated through June 10, 2022, the date the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance.



Consolidated Statement of Revenues, Cost of Sales, and General and Administrative Expenses Year Ended December 26, 2021

Revenues:		
Franchise royalties and advertising contributions	\$	1,497,036
Sales by Company-owned restaurants		231,290
Franchise fees		166,478
Total revenues	\$	1,894,804
Cost of sales by Company-owned restaurants	<u>\$</u>	81,115
General and administrative expenses:		
Salary and wages	\$	1,301,817
Professional fees		528,325
Rent		67,805
Marketing and advertising		282,243
Salary and wages, officers		343,423
Payroll taxes		73,675
Utilities		12,816
Benefits		95,651
Technology		14,733
Bank and credit card fees		8,132
Supplies		19,937
Repairs and maintenance		1,524
Travel		93,862
Insurance		12,279
Bad debt expense		152
Taxes and licenses		8,810
Dues and subscriptions		15,704
Automobile		30,262
Meals and entertainment		7,731
Research and development		7,523
Employee recruitment		7,554
Training		16,443
Miscellaneous		38,402
Equipment rental		442
International taxes		33,650
Total general and administrative expenses	\$	3,022,895

Consolidated Schedule of EBITDA Before Officer Salaries Year Ended December 26, 2021

Net loss Interest expense Depreciation and amortization EBITDA	\$ (2,113,495) 211,201 446,727 (1,455,567)
Addback: Officer salaries and benefits	343,423
EBITDA before officer salaries and consulting fees	\$ (1,112,144)



Balance Sheet As of 6/11/2023

Wing Zone Holdings, LLC

	YTD
ASSETS	
Current Asset	
Total Cash	644,421
Royalty Receivable	141,151
Total Accounts Receivables - Other	213,182
1310 - Inventory	8,516
Total Prepaid Expenses	30,534
Total Current Asset	1,037,804
Fixed Asset	
1510 - Leasehold Improvements	302,496
1520 - Furniture and Equipment	224,745
1525 - Opening Smallwares	12,304
1530 - Office Equipment	9,989
1540 - Software	241,216
1560 - CIP	193,191
1590 - Accumulated Depreciation	-159,502
Total Fixed Asset	824,440
Other Asset	
Total Intangible Assets	4,370,732
1635 - ROU Asset	590,912
Total Deposits	10,233
1676 - Investment in Wing Zone	-0
Total Other Asset	4,971,877
Total ASSETS	6,834,120
IABILITIES & EQUITY	
Liabilities	
Current Liability	
Total Accounts Payable	405,301
Total Other Payables	4,694
Total Deferred Revenue	675,500
2395 - Adv Deposits - Franchisee Marketing	31,864

THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WERE PREPARED WITHOUT AN AUDIT. INVESTORS IN OR SELLERS OF FRANCHISES SHOULD BE ADVISED THAT NO CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT HAS AUDITED THESE FIGURES OR EXPRESSED HIS OPINION WITH REGARD TO THEIR CONTENTS OR FORM.

Total Accrued Expenses	39,420
2565 - ST Lease Liability	29,915
Total Current Liability	1,186,694
Long Term Liability	
Total Long Term Debt	1,755,719
2840 - Unclaimed Property	178
2855 - LT Lease Liability	613,711
Total Long Term Liability	2,369,608
Total Liabilities	3,556,301
Equity	
Equity	
3200 - APIC	0
3255 - Capital Contributions - Wing Zone	7,708,525
3300 - Retained Earnings	-4,744,040
3400 - Rollover Equity	1,050,000
YTD Income	-736,667
Total Equity	3,277,819
Total Equity	3,277,819
Total LIABILITIES & EQUITY	6,834,120

Wing Zone Holdings, LLC

	YTD			
Ordinary Income				
4100 - Sales	422,475	24.36%	Franchise royalties and advertising contri	969,080
4400 - Income	1,311,701	75.64%	Sales by Company-owned restaurant	422,475
Total Ordinary Income	1,734,175	100.00%	Franchise fees	281,761
Prime Cost			Other revenues	60,860
5000 - Cost of Goods Sold	143,989	8.30%	Total revenues	1,734,175
6000 - P/R & Related	104,439	6.02%		
Total Prime Cost	248,428	14.33%	Cost of sales by Company-owned restaura	143,989
Operating Expense			General and administrative expenses	2,225,952
7100 - Direct Operating Expense	92,616	5.34%	Total expenses	2,369,941
7400 - General and Administrative	15,799	0.91%		
Total Operating Expense	108,415	6.25%	Loss before depreciation and amortizatio	-635,765
Non Controllable Expense			Depreciation and amortization expense	50,566
8100 - Non Controllable Expense	104,079	6.00%	Operating loss	-686,331
8400 - Interest Expense - Location	13,514	0.78%		
8500 - Depreciation and Amortization - Location	43,409	2.50%	Loss on disposal of Company-owned restaurant	
Total Non Controllable Expense	161,002	9.28%	Interest expense	50,336
Corporate Overhead & Other			Other income	
9001 - Corporate Overhead	1,892,333	109.12%	Transaction expense	
9600 - Interest Expense	36,822	2.12%	Total nonoperating income	50,336
9650 - Depreciation and Amortization - Corp	7,157	0.41%		
Total Corporate Overhead & Other	1,936,312	111.66%	Net Loss	-736,667
Income Tax	40,000	0.000/	International Income towar	
9830 - International Taxes Total Income Tax	16,686 16,686	0.96% 0.96%	International Income taxes	
Net Profit	I —	-42.48%		
	. 55,001			

GUARANTEE OF PERFORMANCE

For value received, WING ZONE HOLDINGS, LLC., a Delaware limited liability company located at 6056 S. Durango Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 (the "Guarantor"), absolutely and unconditionally guarantees to assume the duties and obligations of WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company located at 6056 S. Durango Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 (the "Franchisor"), under its franchise registration in each state where the franchise is registered, and under its Franchise Agreement identified in its 2023 Franchise Disclosure Document, as it may be amended, and as that Franchise Agreement may be entered into with franchisees and amended, modified or extended from time to time. This guarantee continues until all such obligations of the Franchisor under its franchise registrations and the Franchise Agreement are satisfied or until the liability of Franchisor to its franchisees under the Franchise Agreement has been completely discharged, whichever first occurs. The Guarantor is not discharged from liability if a claim by a franchisee against the Franchisor remains outstanding. Notice of acceptance is waived. The Guarantor does not waive receipt of notice of default on the part of the Franchisor. This guarantee is binding on the Guarantor and its successors and assigns.

successors and assigns.		11
The Guarantor signs this guarantee	at 12:00 Mm in Las Vegas	on the
day of, 2023.	/	
	Guarantor:	
	WING ZONE HOLDINGS, LLC	
	By:	
	Brent Erwin:	
	Title: Chief Financial Officer	

EXHIBIT H

MUTUAL RELEASE

MUTUAL RELEASE WZ FRANCHISE, LLC

WHEREAS ("Franchisee"), wishes to terminate its agreement with WZ Franchise, LLC ("Franchisor") and cease and desist operation of all business under that agreement, and as a condition of releasing Franchisee of its obligations under its franchise agreement with Franchisor, the parties agree as follows:

<u>Release – General Provisions</u>. The Franchisee and Franchisor, jointly and severally, hereby release and forever discharge each other of and from any and all causes of action, in law or in equity, suits, debts, liens, defaults under contracts, leases, agreements or promises, liabilities, claims, demands, damages, losses, costs or expenses, of any nature whatsoever, howsoever arising, **known or unknown**, fixed or contingent, past or present, that they have or may hereafter have against each other by reasons of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever from the beginning of time to the date hereof (the "Claims"), it being the mutual intention of the parties that this release be unqualifiedly general in scope and effect and that any Claims against any of the are hereby forever canceled and forgiven.

[NOTE: The following language in brackets and bold type applies only when the franchisee operates in California or California law is deemed to apply. Remove the language in all other circumstances.]

[Each of the parties granting a release acknowledges a familiarity with Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California, which provides as follows:

"A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release and that, if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or releasing party."

Each party granting a release and its authorized signatories hereto recognize that he, she, or it may have some claim, demand, or cause of action against the released parties of which he, she, or it is unaware and unsuspecting, and which he, she, or it is giving up by signing this Addendum. Each party granting a release and its authorized signatories hereby waive and relinquish every right or benefit which he, she or it has under Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California, and any similar statute under any other state or federal law, to the fullest extent that such right or benefit may lawfully be waived.]

The Franchisee and Franchisor expressly assume the risk of any mistake of fact or fact of which they may be unaware or that the true facts may be other than any facts now known or believed to exist by Franchisee and Franchisor, and it is the Franchisee and Franchisor's intention to forever settle, adjust and compromise any and all present and/or future disputes with respect to all matters from the beginning of time to the date of this document finally and forever and without regard to who may or may not have been correct in their understanding of the facts, law or otherwise. All releases given by the Franchisee and Franchisor are intended to constitute a full, complete, unconditional and immediate

substitution for any and all rights, claims, demands and causes of action whatsoever which exist, or might have existed, on the date of this document. The Franchisee and Franchisor represent and warrant that they have made such independent investigation of the facts, law and otherwise pertaining to all matters discussed, referred to or released in or by this document as they in their independent judgment, believe necessary or appropriate. The Franchisee and Franchisor have not relied on any statement, promise, or representation, whether of fact, law or otherwise, by the other party or anyone else, not expressly set forth herein, in executing this document and/or the related releases.

No Assignment or Transfer of Interest. Franchisee and Franchisor represent and warrant that there have been, and there will be, no assignment or other transfer of any interest in any Claims that the Franchisee and Franchisor may have against any the other, all Claims having been fully and finally extinguished. The Franchisee and Franchisor agree to forever indemnify and hold each other harmless from any liability, claims, demands, damages, losses, costs, expenses or attorneys' fees incurred by either party as a result of any person asserting any interest in any of the Claims and/or any voluntary, involuntary or other assignment or transfer thereof. It is the intention of the parties that this indemnity does not require payment by either party as a condition precedent to recovery against the other party under this indemnity.

Attorneys Fees. If the Franchisee and Franchisor, or anyone acting for, or on behalf of, the Franchisee and Franchisor or claiming to have received, by assignment or otherwise, any interest in any of the Claims, commences, joins in, or in any manner seeks relief through any suit (or otherwise) arising out of, based upon or relating to any of the Claims released hereunder, or in any manner asserts against either of the parties any of the Claims released hereunder, each party agrees to pay its own attorneys' fees and other costs incurred in defending or otherwise responding to said suit or assertion.

<u>Date of Releases</u>, <u>Joint and Several Liability</u>. The releases granted hereunder shall be deemed effective as of the date hereof. The liabilities and obligations of the Franchisee and Franchisor shall be joint and several.

<u>Severability</u>. In event that any provision or portion of this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be unaffected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect to the fullest extent permitted by law.

<u>Governing Law/Jurisdiction</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of Nevada without reference to principles of conflict of laws.

MZ ED ANGINGE LLO

[FRANCHISEE]	WZ FRANCHISE, LLC
By:	By:

IED ANGUIGEEL

EXHIBIT I

ACH TRANSFER AGREEMENT



ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER AUTHORIZATION TO HONOR CHARGES DRAWN BY AND PAYABLE TO

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC/PAYEE

BANK NAME	ACCOUNT #	ABA#
The undersigned Depositor hereby authorizes and request	ts the Depository designat	ed below to honor
and to charge to the following designated account, checks	, and electronic debits (co	llectively, "debits")
drawn on such account which are payable to the above-nam	ned Payee. It is agreed that	Depository's rights
with respect to each such debit shall be the same as if it we	re a check drawn and signe	ed by the Depositor.
It is further agreed that if any such debit is not honored	, whether with or without	cause and whether

intentionally or inadvertently, Depository shall be under no liability whatsoever. This authorization shall continue in force until Depository and Payee have received at least thirty (30) days written notification from

The Depositor agrees with respect to any action taken in reliance on the above authorization:

- (1) To indemnify the Depository and hold it harmless from any loss it may suffer resulting from or in connection with any debit, including, without limitation, execution and issuance of any check, draft, or order, whether or not genuine, purporting to be authorized or executed by the Payee and received by the Depository in the regular course of business for the purpose of payment, including any costs or expenses reasonably incurred in connection therewith.
- (2) To indemnify Payee and the Depository for any loss arising in the event that any such debit shall be dishonored, whether with or without cause and whether intentionally or inadvertently.
- (3) To defend at Depositor's own cost and expense any action which might be brought by a depositor or any other persons because of any actions taken by the Depository or Payee in reliance on to the foregoing request and authorization, or in any manner arising by reason of the Depository's or Payee's participation therein.

Name on Account:	
Name of Depositor & Signature:	
Location/Number & Tax ID:	
Designated Bank Acct:	

(Please attach one voided check for the above account.)

MUST BE SUBMITTED WITH ALL REQUIRED INFORMATION VIA FACSIMILE (702) 736-9878 OR EMAIL, TO BRUCE.EVANS@CAPRIOTTIS.COM

Depositor of its termination.

EXHIBIT J

FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE

(This Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire will not be used if the franchise is to be operated in, or you are a resident of, California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, or Wisconsin)

FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE

DO NOT SIGN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE IF THE FRANCHISE IS TO BE OPERATED IN, OR YOU ARE A RESIDENT OF, CALIFORNIA, HAWAII, ILLINOIS, INDIANA, MARYLAND, MICHIGAN, MINNESOTA, NEW YORK, NORTH DAKOTA, RHODE ISLAND, SOUTH DAKOTA, VIRGINIA, WASHINGTON, OR WISCONSIN.

Do not sign this Questionnaire if you are a resident of Maryland or the business is to be operated in Maryland.

As you know, WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, and you are preparing to enter into a Franchise Agreement for the operation of a Wing Zone franchise. The purpose of this Questionnaire is to determine whether any statements or promises were made to you that WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, has not authorized or that may be untrue, inaccurate or misleading. Its purpose is also to be certain that you understand the limitations on claims that may be made by you by reason of the purchase and operation of your franchise. The questionnaire cannot be signed and dated the same day as the Acknowledgment of Receipt of the Franchise Disclosure Document (FDD), but must be signed and dated the same day you remit your franchise fee. Please review each of the following questions carefully and provide honest responses to each question. If you answer "NO" to any of the questions below, please explain your answer on the back of this sheet.

- 1. Have you received and personally reviewed the Franchise Agreement and each exhibit or schedule attached to it?
- 2. Have you received and personally reviewed the WZ FRANCHISE, LLC Franchise Disclosure Document ("Disclosure Document") we provided you?
- 3. Did you sign a receipt for the Disclosure Document indicating the date you received it?
- 4. Do you understand all the information contained in the Disclosure Document and the Franchise Agreement?
- 5. A) Have you reviewed the Disclosure Document and Franchise Agreement with an attorney, accountant or other professional advisor?
 - B) Have you discussed the benefits and risks of operating a Wing Zone franchise with your professional advisor?
 - C) Did you discuss the benefits and risks of operating a Wing Zone franchise with an existing Wing Zone franchisee?
 - D) Do you understand the risks of operating a Wing Zone franchise?
- 6. Do you understand the success or failure of your franchise will depend in large part upon your skills, abilities and efforts and those of the persons you employ, as well as many factors beyond your control such as competition, interest rates, the economy, inflation, labor and supply costs, lease terms and the marketplace?
- 7. Is it true that no employee or other person speaking on behalf of WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, made any statement or promise regarding the costs involved in operating a Wing Zone franchise

that is not contained in the Disclosure Document or that is contrary to, or different from, the information contained in the Disclosure Document?

- 8. Is it true that no employee or other person speaking on behalf of WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, made any statement or promise regarding the actual, average or projected profits or earnings, the likelihood of success, the amount of money you may earn, or the total amount of revenue a Wing Zone franchise will generate that is not contained in the Disclosure Document or that is contrary to or different from the information contained in the Disclosure Document?
- 9. Is it true that no employee or other person speaking on behalf of WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, made any statement or promise or agreement, other than those matters addressed in your Franchise Agreement, concerning advertising, marketing, media support, marketing penetration, training, support service or assistance that is contrary to, or different from, the information contained in the Disclosure Document?

YOU UNDERSTAND THAT YOUR ANSWERS ARE IMPORTANT TO US AND THAT WE WILL RELY ON THEM. BY SIGNING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE, YOU ARE REPRESENTING THAT YOU HAVE CONSIDERED EACH QUESTION CAREFULLY AND RESPONDED TRUTHFULLY TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS.

Signature of Franchise Applicant	Date
Name (please print)	
Signature of Franchise Applicant	Date
Name (please print)	
Signature of Franchise Applicant	Date
Name (please print)	

EXPLANATION OF AN FOLLOWS:	Y NEGATIVE RES	SPONSES (please ref	er to applicable questi	ion #) ARE AS

EXHIBIT K

RENEWAL RIDER TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

RENEWAL RIDER TO WZ FRANCHISE, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

1. **Background**. This Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement (the "Rider") is between WZ Franchise, LLC ("**Franchisor**") and << *Insert Franchisee Name*>> ("**Franchisee**"). This Rider will be deemed effective as of << *Insert Date*>> (the "Effective Date").

Simultaneously with signing this Rider, Franchisor and Franchisee are signing a Franchise Agreement (the "Renewal Franchise Agreement") to govern Franchisee's continued operation of its franchised WING ZONE Restaurant located at <\left \left \left \textit{Insert Restaurant's Address} \right \right (the "Franchised Restaurant"). (All initial capitalized terms used but not defined in this Rider will have the meanings given to those terms in the Renewal Franchise Agreement). Franchisor and Franchisee acknowledge that the Renewal Franchise Agreement is the successor to the Franchise Agreement between Franchisor and Franchisee dated as of <\left \left \left \textit{Insert Effective Date of Original Franchise} Agreement Agreement"), under which Franchisee has operated the Franchised Restaurant at the Approved Location during the Expiring Franchise Agreement will expire shortly, and Franchisor has agreed to grant Franchisee a renewal franchise for the Franchised Restaurant by signing the Renewal Franchise Agreement. This Rider modifies certain provisions of the Renewal Franchise Agreement that do not apply to Franchisee's operation of the Franchised Restaurant during the renewal franchise term.

- 2. <u>Expiration of Expiring Franchise Agreement</u>. The Expiring Franchise Agreement's term expires on the day before the Effective Date. Franchisee has no further rights under the Expiring Franchise Agreement on or following the Effective Date.
 - 3. **Term**.
 - (a) Section 2 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is amended to read as follows:

This Agreement shall be effective for a period of ten (10) years from the date of this Agreement (the "Renewal Term"). Franchisee agrees to operate the Franchised Restaurant in compliance with this Agreement for the entire Renewal Term unless this Agreement is properly terminated under Section 10. When this Agreement expires, Franchisee will have no right to acquire a successor franchise to continue operating the Franchised Restaurant as a WING ZONES Restaurant and must immediately cease operating the Franchised Restaurant.

- (b) All references in the Renewal Franchise Agreement to "Initial Term" are modified to state "Renewal Term."
- 4. **Franchise Fee and Royalties**. Section 4.1 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is amended to read as follows:

A one-time nonrefundable renewal franchisee fee of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) to be paid simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement;

5. **Obligations of Franchisor.**

(a) Section 7.2 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

To make available to the Franchised Restaurant the benefit of its knowledge and experience in: (i) selection and installation of equipment and furnishings; (ii) appropriate décor and restaurant layout; (iii) purchase, location and installation of signs identified with the operation of the Franchised Restaurant; and (iv) the System.

- (b) Section 7.6 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety.
- (c) The following sentence after Section 7.10 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety:

In the event Franchisor is required to expend more than two (2) weeks of effort in assisting Franchisee in opening the Franchised Restaurant (other than training and pre-opening events), Franchisor reserves the right to invoice Franchisee for the additional time at Franchisor's then-current rate for additional training as set forth in the Operations Manual.

6. **Obligations of Franchisee**.

- (a) Section 8.6 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety.
- (b) Section 8.7 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

During this Agreement's term, Franchisor requires that the Franchisee spend at least one and one half percent (1.5%) of the Franchised Restaurant's total Gross Sales each month towards local marketing efforts in the area around the Franchised Restaurant (although Franchisor recommends that the Franchisee spend up to four percent (4%) of the Franchised Restaurant's monthly Gross Sales for such purpose). Upon request, Franchisee agrees to supply Franchisor with documented proof of its spend towards local marketing efforts.

(c) The beginning portion of Section 8.8 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

To obtain and maintain required insurance coverage for the Franchised Restaurant from an insurer company with an A.M. Best's Review rating of not less than A-VII, and otherwise acceptable to Franchisor, to insure the premises and cover business operations and product liability with the following minimum limits:

(d) Section 8.19 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

That Franchisee will, within nine (9) months from the date of written notice from Franchisor, remodel or re-equip the Franchised Restaurant in accordance with the specifications provided by Franchisor. This remodeling and re-equipping may include replacing worn out, obsolete or dated equipment, fixtures, furnishings and signs; structural modifications; redecorating; or purchasing more efficient or improved equipment. Franchisor may require Franchisee to perform remodeling and to purchase equipment at those times as Franchisor, in Franchisor's sole discretion, deems necessary and reasonable; provided, that Franchisor may not require any remodeling requiring an expenditure in excess of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00) in any five (5) year period (although this cost limitation does not apply either to any remodeling that Franchisor required Franchisee to undertake as a condition of signing this Agreement or in connection with a Transfer, updates or changes to the Information System and Computer System, and Required Software upgrades). FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT EQUIPMENT, ALTERATIONS AND FRANCHISOR RENOVATIONS REQUIRED BYMAY **INVOLVE** SUBSTANTIAL ADDITIONAL INVESTMENT BY FRANCHISEE DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT.

(d) Section 8.20 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

At least two people must complete the full Capriotti's training program (including Franchisee's Managing Owner). In addition, two additional employees must complete an hourly-team-member training program. The training program is a blended learning training program including internet-based, classroom and on-site training at an approved training restaurant. Each training program may include instruction on sales techniques, products orientation, accounting procedures, ordering and inventory controls, food preparation and operations management. The training shall be provided at Franchisor's headquarters or designated location(s) and shall also include uncompensated on-the-job training at an approved training restaurant. Franchisor may substitute virtual learning and "e-learning" for any training that otherwise would occur in person. Franchisee must obtain, at Franchisee's expense, access to a computer and high-speed Internet connection to access the online training portal. The training may be presented in installments and Franchisee's Managing Owner and other personnel will be required to attend all installments. Franchisee shall bear and pay all training costs and expenses, including any salary expenses of its employees and all expenses of travel, lodging, meals and other living expenses that Franchisee's Managing Owner and other personnel incur in attending the training program.

Franchisor has the right to charge the Franchisee for additional or supplemental support or refresher training, as outlined in the Manual.

In addition, Franchisor has the right to require Franchisee's Managing Owner and other managerial personnel to participate in and successfully complete an extensive onsite training program at the Franchised Restaurant for up to six (6) weeks after the

Franchised Restaurant has opened for business. Franchisor may charge Franchisee Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000). Franchisee must pay this amount on demand.

- 7. <u>Termination Without Right to Cure</u>. Section 10.1(j) of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety.
- 8. <u>Termination With Right to Cure</u>. Section 10.2(a) of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

Franchisee fails to construct or remodel the Franchised Restaurant in accordance with this Agreement;

9. **Franchisee Information.** Section 17 of the Renewal Franchise Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

Franchisee shall furnish to Franchisor the names, addresses and telephone numbers of all shareholders, members, partners, executive officers, members of the Board of Directors and managers (including the Managing Owner), as the case may be, to be included in the Franchise Agreement Summary Pages. In the event that Franchisee is an entity, before or simultaneous with the date of execution of this Agreement, Franchisee shall provide Franchisor with appropriate minutes and/or resolutions of Franchisee setting forth authority of Franchisee to enter into this Agreement and the acceptance of all of the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

Release. As consideration for Franchisor's granting Franchisee the rights under the 10. Renewal Franchise Agreement, Franchisee and its affiliates, on behalf of themselves and their respective successors, heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, agents, assigns, partners, owners, directors, officers, principals, and employees (collectively, the "Releasing Parties"), hereby forever release and discharge Franchisor and its affiliates, and their respective current and former partners, owners, directors, officers, principals, employees, agents, representatives, successors, and assigns (collectively, the "Released Parties"), from any and all claims, damages, demands, causes of action, suits, duties, liabilities, and agreements of any nature and kind, whether known or unknown, vested or contingent (for purposes of this Section 10, collectively, "Claims"), that Franchisee and any of the other Releasing Parties now have, ever had, or, but for this Section 10, hereafter would or could have against any of the Released Parties (a) arising from or related to the Released Parties' performance of or failure to perform obligations under the Expiring Franchise Agreement, or (b) otherwise arising from or related in any way to Franchisee's and the other Releasing Parties' relationship, from the beginning of time to the Effective Date, with any of the Released Parties, excepting only any Claims arising exclusively from or related exclusively to the grant of the franchise under the Renewal Franchise Agreement.

Franchisee, on behalf of itself and the other Releasing Parties, further covenants not to sue any Released Party on any Claim released by this Section and represents that it has not assigned any such Claim to any individual or entity that is not bound by this Section.

[NOTE: The following language in brackets and bold type applies only when the franchisee operates in California or California law is deemed to apply. Remove the language in all other circumstances.]

[Each of the parties granting a release acknowledges a familiarity with Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California, which provides as follows:

"A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release and that, if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or releasing party."

Each party granting a release and its authorized signatories hereto recognize that he, she, or it may have some claim, demand, or cause of action against the released parties of which he, she, or it is unaware and unsuspecting, and which he, she, or it is giving up by signing this Addendum. Each party granting a release and its authorized signatories hereby waive and relinquish every right or benefit which he, she or it has under Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California, and any similar statute under any other state or federal law, to the fullest extent that such right or benefit may lawfully be waived.]

11. **Rider to Control**. Except as provided in this Rider, the Renewal Franchise Agreement remains in full force and effect as originally written. If there is any inconsistency between the Renewal Franchise Agreement and this Rider, this Rider's terms will control.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC	FRANCHISEE:
	< <insert franchisee="" name="">></insert>
By:	By:
Name: << Insert Name>>	Name: << Insert Name>>
Title: << <i>Insert Title</i> >>	Title: << <i>Insert Title>></i>
Date: << Insert Date>>	Date: << Insert Date>>

EXHIBIT L

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT AMENDMENT FOR VIRTUAL KITCHEN OPERATIONS

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT AMENDMENT FOR <u>VIRTUAL KITCHEN OPERATIONS</u>

	T	HIS	FRANCI	HISE A	AGREEMENT	AMEND	M	ENT (th	is "Amen	idment")	is entered
into	by	and	between	WZ	FRANCHISE,	LLC,	a	Georgia	limited	liability	company
("Fr	anch	isor'), and	<<		>	>,	a <	<<		>>
("Fr	anch	isee"	·).								

1. <u>Background</u>. Simultaneously with signing this Amendment, Franchisor and Franchisee are signing a certain Franchise Agreement (the "Franchise Agreement") granting Franchisee the right to develop and operate a "WING ZONE" Restaurant (the "Franchised Restaurant") at the Approved Location. Franchisor and Franchisee acknowledge that the Approved Location is considered to be a non-traditional location commonly known as a "ghost kitchen," "virtual kitchen," "shared kitchen," or other type of mobile kitchen (collectively, "Mobile Kitchen"). A Mobile Kitchen is characterized by, among other things, the preparation of diverse products under one or more brands in a common venue (which may be stationary or mobile) and the sale and delivery of such products principally or exclusively off-premises through third-party delivery systems. This Amendment reflects certain changes to the Franchise Agreement, upon which Franchisor and Franchisee have agreed, to reflect that the Approved Location is a Mobile Kitchen. (Initial-capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment have the meanings set forth in the Franchise Agreement.)

2. Restrictive Covenant.

In addition to Franchisee's obligations under Section 6 of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee agrees to comply with the following:

- (a) During the Franchise Agreement's term, neither Franchisee, its owners, nor any members of Franchisee's or its owners' Immediate Families will, directly or indirectly, through any ownership interest or in any other capacity or role, offer, prepare, or sell at or from the Approved Location any food products or beverages other than those food products and beverages that Franchisor expressly requires or authorizes Franchisee to offer, prepare, and sell at the Approved Location, even if such food products and beverages are not associated directly with the "WING ZONE" Mark or are not encompassed within the definition of the term "Competitive Business" (such food products and beverages are referred to collectively as the "Non-Core Products").
- (b) Upon Franchisor's termination of the Franchise Agreement for any reason, Franchisee's termination of the Franchise Agreement without cause, or expiration of the Franchise Agreement (without the grant of a renewal franchise), Franchisee and its owners agree that neither they nor any member of their Immediate Families will for one (1) year beginning on the effective date of the Franchise Agreement's termination or expiration, directly or indirectly, through any ownership interest or in any other capacity or role, offer, prepare, or sell any Non-Core Products at or from either the Approved Location or another Mobile Kitchen physically located within three (3) miles of the Approved Location.

- 3. Obligations of Franchisee. Franchisee agrees that Franchisor may require Franchisee to comply with certain operating standards at the Approved Location that differ from those that Franchisor has implemented for WING ZONE Restaurants that are not operated at Mobile Kitchens. For example, and without limitation, Franchisor may (a) require Franchisee to offer, prepare, and sell Non-Core Products at the Approved Location, and such Non-Core Products may change rapidly in the foreseeable future, (b) set certain minimum hours of operation, and (c) require Franchisee to use vendors and pay for technologies and services that are not standard for WING ZONE Restaurants that are not operated at Mobile Kitchens (subject in all cases to any restrictions imposed on Franchisee by the services agreement, occupancy agreement, or other agreement pursuant to which Franchisee has the right to possess and operate the Franchised Restaurant at the Approved Location).
- 4. <u>Cross-Default</u>. Franchisee agrees that Franchisor has the right to terminate the Franchise Agreement upon written notice to Franchisee if Franchisee (a) breaches any services agreement, occupancy agreement, or other agreement pursuant to which it has the right to possess and operate the Franchised Restaurant at the Approved Location and fails to cure the breach within any applicable cure period under such agreement or (b) loses the right (for whatever reason) to operate the Franchised Restaurant at the Approved Location.
- 5. <u>Acknowledgment of Risk</u>. Franchisee acknowledges that the duration of the services agreement, occupancy agreement, or other agreement pursuant to which Franchisee has the right to possess and operate the Franchised Restaurant at the Approved Location is likely to be materially shorter than the term of the Franchise Agreement and that, as a result, the profitability and continuity of operations of the Franchised Restaurant are likely to impacted adversely. Notwithstanding such risks, Franchisee desires to develop and operate the Franchised Restaurant at the Approved Location for as long as it is authorized to do so.
- **6.** <u>Miscellaneous</u>. This Amendment is an amendment to, and forms a part of, the Franchise Agreement. Except as amended by this Amendment, the Franchise Agreement remains in full force and effect. If there is a conflict between any provision of the Franchise Agreement and a provision of this Amendment, the provision of this Amendment controls.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this Amendment as of the dates below, to be effective on the Effective Date stated in the Franchise Agreement.

WZ FRANCHISE, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company	FRANCHISEE	
Ву:	[Name]	
Name:		
Title:	By:	
Date:, 20**	Name:	
	Title:	
**Effective Date	Date:	, 20

NEW YORK REPRESENTATIONS PAGE

THE FRANCHISOR REPRESENTS THAT THIS PROSPECTUS DOES NOT KNOWINGLY OMIT ANY MATERIAL FACT OR CONTAIN ANY UNTRUE STATEMENT OF A MATERIAL FACT.

State Effective Dates

The following states have franchise laws that require that the Franchise Disclosure Document be registered or filed with the state, or be exempt from registration: California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin.

This document is effective and may be used in the following states, where the document is filed, registered or exempt from registration, as of the Effective Date stated below:

State	Effective Date
California	Pending
Illinois	August 9, 2023
Indiana	August 9, 2023
Maryland	Pending
Michigan	August 3, 2023
Minnesota	Pending
New York	Pending
North Dakota	Pending
Rhode Island	Pending
South Dakota	August 9, 2023
Virginia	Pending
Washington	Pending
Wisconsin	August 9, 2023

Other states may require registration, filing, or exemption of a franchise under other laws, such as those that regulate the offer and sale of business opportunities or seller-assisted marketing plans.

RECEIPT

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If WZ Franchise, LLC offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendardays before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.

[Michigan requires that we give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first. New York requires that we give you this disclosure document at the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days before the execution of the franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship.]

If WZ Franchise, LLC does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C. 20580 and the appropriate state agency identified on Exhibit A.

The franchisor is WZ Franchise, LLC located at 6056 S. Durango Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113. Its telephone number is (702) 736-3878.

The:	franchise s	seller	s for t	this	offering are	Ashley	Morr	is, Jason	Smylie,	David B	loom, E	Bruce Evans,	and
Julia	Ledford	at	6056	S.	Durango	Drive,	Las	Vegas,	Nevada	89113,	(702)	736-3878	and
				<u></u> ·									
Issua	ince Date:	Aug	ust 3, 2	2023	3								

We authorize the respective state agents identified on Exhibit A to receive service of process for us in the particular states. I received a disclosure document from WZ Franchise, LLC issued as of August 3, 2023, that included the following Exhibits:

- A. State Franchise Regulators and Agents for Service of Process
- B. Franchise Agreement
- C. Development Rights Agreement
- D. State-Specific Information
- E. Table of Contents of the Manual
- F. Information Regarding Current and Past Franchisees
- G. Financial Statements
- H. Mutual Release
- I. ACH Transfer Agreement
- J. Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire
- K. Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement
- L. Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations

DATED:			
SIGNED:	, individually		
as an officer or partner of		_ (a	company,
corporation, partnership)			
NAME:			
ADDRESS:			
PHONE:			

RECEIPT

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If WZ Franchise, LLC offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendardays before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.

[Michigan requires that we give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first. New York requires that we give you this disclosure document at the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days before the execution of the franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship.]

If WZ Franchise, LLC does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C. 20580 and the appropriate state agency identified on Exhibit A.

The franchisor is WZ Franchise, LLC located at 6056 S. Durango Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113. Its telephone number is (702) 736-3878.

The franchise sellers for this offering are Ashley Morris, Jason Smylie, David Bloom, Bruce Evans, and Julia Ledford at 6056 S. Durango Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113, (702) 736-3878 and

Issuance Date: August 3, 2023

We authorize the respective state agents identified on Exhibit A to receive service of process for us in the particular states. I received a disclosure document from WZ Franchise, LLC issued as of August 3, 2023, that included the following Exhibits:

- A. State Franchise Regulators and Agents for Service of Process
- B. Franchise Agreement
- C. Development Rights Agreement
- D. State-Specific Information
- E. Table of Contents of the Manual
- F. Information Regarding Current and Past Franchisees
- G. Financial Statements
- H. Mutual Release
- I. ACH Transfer Agreement
- J. Franchise Disclosure Questionnaire
- K. Renewal Rider to Franchise Agreement
- L. Franchise Agreement Amendment for Virtual Kitchen Operations

DATED:			
SIGNED:	, individually		
as an officer or partner of		_ (a	company,
corporation, partnership)			
NAME:			
ADDRESS:			
PHONE:			